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Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements

For purposes of this Annual Report, the terms “@racwe,” “us” and “our” refer to Oracle Corporati and its consolidated subsidiaries. This
Annual Report on Form 10-K contains statementsahanot historical in nature, are predictive itun@, or that depend upon or refer to future
events or conditions or otherwise contain forwaroking statements within the meaning of Sectio®the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

as amended, and the Private Securities LitigatiefofRn Act of 1995. These include, among other thjrsiatements regarding:

our expectation to continue to acquire companiesjyrts, services and technologi

our intention that our direct sales force will ggibportionately more of our hardware systems petxlin the future
continued realization of gains or losses with resp@ our foreign currency exposur:

our expectation that our software and cloud bus’ total revenues generally will continue to incre:

our belief that software license updates and prosluggport revenues and margins will gre

our expectation that our hardware business wileHawer operating margins as a percentage of regethan our software and cloud
business

our international operations providing a significportion of our total revenues and expen

our expectation to continue to make significanestments in research and development and relabeldigtropportunities, including
those related to hardware products and serv

our expectation that future devaluations of thea&zrmlan currency will not have a significant impactour consolidated financial
statements

the sufficiency of our sources of funding for aaiions or other matter
our expectation to continue paying comparable dagtlends on a quarterly bas

our belief that we have adequately provided for @asonably foreseeable outcomes related to ownudits and that any tax
settlement will not have a material adverse effecbur consolidated financial position or resuftejgerations

our belief that the outcome of certain legal praoiegs and claims to which we are a party will modividually or in the aggregate,
result in losses that are materially in excesswdunts already recognized, if ar

our expectation to incur the majority of the reni@gnexpenses pursuant to the Fiscal 2013 Oraclglésring Plan through the end
fiscal 2015 and our expectation to improve efficies in our operations that will impact our Fis2@ll3 Oracle Restructuring Ple

our expectation that seasonal trends will continuescal 2015;

our expectation to continue to depend on thirdypewranufacturers to build certain hardware systerodyxts and third party logistics
providers to deliver our produci

our expectation that to the extent customers rengwort contracts or cloud software-as-a-servicepatform-as-a-service contracts,
we will recognize revenues for the full contri values over the respective renewal perit

our ability to predict quarterly hardware systemsenues

the timing of customer orders and delays in oulitglid manufacture or deliver a few large trangats substantially affecting the
amount of hardware systems products revenues, sgp@md operating margins that we will rep

as well as other statements regarding our futuesatipns, financial condition and prospects, argir®ss strategies. Forward-looking

statements may be preceded by, followed by or decthe words “expects,” “anticipates,” “intendsgldns,

“will,

believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,”

is designed to” and similar
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expressions. We claim the protection of the safbdrafor forward-looking statements contained ie Brivate Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995 for all forward-looking statements. We haased these forward-looking statements on ouenugaxpectations and projections about
future events. These forward-looking statementsabgect to risks, uncertainties and assumptiopsitatiur business that could affect our
future results and could cause those results @r athtcomes to differ materially from those expeelssr implied in the forward-looking
statements. Factors that might cause or contriowech differences include, but are not limitecthose discussed in “Risk Factors” included
elsewhere in this Annual Report and as may be epdatfilings we make from time to time with the3J Securities and Exchange Commis
(the SEC), including the Quarterly Reports on FAG¥Q to be filed by us in our fiscal year 2015, gthiuns from June 1, 2014 to May 31,
2015.

We have no obligation to publicly update or re\asg forward-looking statements, whether as a reguiew information, future events or
risks, except to the extent required by applicakleurities laws. If we do update one or more fodAaoking statements, no inference shoul
drawn that we will make additional updates withpess to those or other forward-looking statemelesw information, future events or risks
could cause the forward-looking events we discnghis Annual Report not to occur. You should natp undue reliance on these forward-
looking statements, which reflect our expectationly as of the date of this Annual Report.

2
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PART |
ltem 1. Business
General

We are the world largest provider of enterprise software and ditggprovider of computer hardware products andises that are engineel

to work together in the cloud and in the data aei@er offerings include Oracle database and middie software, application software, cloud
infrastructure, hardware systems—including compséever, storage and networking products—and itlstevices. We develop and maintain
our products and services to be enterprise-gratleble, secure and interoperable while offeringtomers a choice in deployment models tha
best meet their information technology (IT) neddsr customers can subscribe to use many Oracla@ftand hardware products through
Oracle Cloud offerings, or purchase our softwarm lzardware products and related services to biuda bwn internal clouds or on-premise IT
environments.

Cloud computing IT environments, including thoster#d through our Oracle Cloud Software-as-a-Ser(@aas), Platform-as-a-Service
(PaaS) and Infrastructure-as-a-Service (laaS)ioffer are designed to be attractive and cost-@ffeciptions for our customers as we integrate
the software and hardware on the customers’ ba@h&lf environments that we deploy, support and ngan&Ve are a leader in the core
technologies of cloud computing, including databarsg middleware software as well as web-based@gijahs, virtualization, clustering,
large-scale systems management and related infcaste. Our products and services are the buildiagks of our own cloud services, our
partners’ cloud services and our customers’ cldudrivironments. An important element of our corpesdrategy is to deliver reliable, secure
and scalable products and services that are poit industry standards and are engineered to wattktbgether or independently, regardless
of the deployment model selected.

We believe that our investments in, and continmeavation with respect to, our software and cldwddware, and services businesses are th
foundation of our londerm strategic plans. In fiscal 2014, 2013, and220# invested $5.2 billion, $4.9 billion and $4i8idn, respectively, ir
research and development to enhance our existirtfpli@ of products and services and to develop pesducts and services. We have
expanded our enterprise-grade cloud computingiafferthrough our continued investments in reseanthdevelopment and through targeted
acquisitions in order to broaden our Oracle Cloffdrings. For example, our Oracle Cloud Software&ervice offerings, including our sali
marketing, customer service, financials, projechaggement, human capital and talent management stutions, among others, enable us to
provide IT functionality that customers can usena@nage critical business functions in a rapidlylolggble delivery model with lower upfront
customer investment. Certain of our enterprise-gaddud computing offerings include infrastructbesed upon our Oracle Engineered
Systems, including our Oracle Exadata Database Mac®racle Exalogic Elastic Cloud and Oracle SGhester products, among others. We
designed our Oracle Engineered Systems to comkitaic of our hardware and software offerings tyéase computing performance relative
to our competitors’ products, creating cost efficies, time savings and operational cost advanfagesir customers. Our Oracle Engineered
Systems provide the core infrastructure for our awspremise IT data centers and those of our cust®mnd for cloud IT environments,
including our own Oracle Cloud services, our partheloud services and our customers’ cloud envitents. We also continue to demonstrate
our commitment to customer choice through ongomgaacements to our Oracle E-Business Suite, SiekepleSoft and JD Edwards
application software products and services, amaonifstrs.

We believe that an active acquisition program istla@r important element of our corporate strategif anhances the products and services
we can offer to customers, expands our custome, Ipagvides greater scale to accelerate innovagianys our revenues and earnings and
increases stockholder value. In recent years, we imwvested billions of dollars to acquire a numbiecompanies, products, services and
technologies that add to, are complementary thage otherwise enhanced our existing offerings éWfeect to continue to acquire companies
products, services and technologies to furthercoyporate strategy.

Our software and cloud, hardware systems, andcg=rusinesses are divided into certain operadigments. Our software and cloud busir
is comprised of three operating segments: (1) redtware licenses and cloud software subscriptiaéch includes our SaaS and PaaS
offerings, (2) cloud infrastructure-as-a-service §B) software license updates and product sup@anthardware systems business is
comprised of two operating
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segments: (1) hardware systems products and (8Maae systems support. Our services business ipresed of the remainder of our
operating segments and offers consulting server@sanced support services and education servieesdftware and cloud, hardware system:
and services businesses represented 76%, 14% &ndfldur total revenues, respectively, in fiscal 2075%, 14% and 11% of our total
revenues, respectively, in fiscal 2013; and 72%% Bhd 11% of our total revenues, respectivelyiscal 2012. Our cloud infrastructure-as-a-
service segment was established during our fiscaitgr ended May 31, 2014. Our fiscal 2014 resalhid, historical results for fiscal 2013 and
2012, reflect this new segment structure and wilitmue prospectively in our future filings. Seetdl@6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, included elsewhere in this Annual Refmradditional information related to our opémgtsegments.

Oracle Corporation was incorporated in 2005 aslawere corporation and is the successor to opastioiginally begun in June 1977.

Recent Trends and Focus Areas
Oracle and Cloud Computing

Oracle’s cloud solutions include a broad suiteutfseription-based, enterprise-grade cloud senaodsa portfolio of products and services to
build and manage various cloud deployment modals.ddmprehensive cloud strategy enables custoroefsaose the right approach for
them, whether it is a cloud environment throughube of Oracle Cloud or through customers sele@iragle products and services for their
cloud infrastructures, including the use of Ordetgyineered Systems.

Oracle Cloud

Oracle Cloud is a comprehensive set of cloud aftgrithat is designed to provide customers and @@rtmith access to application services,
platform services and infrastructure services salzscription basis that we host, manage and suppratle Cloud is built upon open industry
standards such as SQL, Java and HTML5 for easpication portability, integration and development.

Oracle Cloud Software-as-a-Service includes a bpmatfolio of enterprise SaaS applications thatdasigned to deliver mission-critical
business functions including: sales; marketingjsd@mgagement, monitoring, marketing, and dataiasight; service and supply chain
management; human capital; talent management;gisteresource planning; performance managemedtiaancial reporting, among othe

We believe the comprehensiveness of our OracledCEmitware-as-a-Service offerings provides grelageefit to our customers and
differentiates us from many of our competitors thifér more limited or specialized cloud-based &apions. Our Oracle Cloud Software-as-a-
Service offerings are designed to be interopenaiite one another, thereby limiting the integratamd tuning of multiple cloud applications
from multiple vendors. Oracle Cloud is designeddtiver data isolation and flexible upgrades, selfvice control for users, a Servitgiented
Architecture (SOA) for integration with on-premisgstems, built-in social, mobile and business imsigpabilities; and a high performance,
high availability infrastructure based on OracleglBeered Systems. These capabilities are designgchplify IT environments and enable
customers to focus resources on business growthriypities.

Oracle Cloud Platform-as-a-Service is designecketivelr Oracle Database and Java services in theldo that developers can extend Oracle
Cloud Applications or build new applications. Cunaters and partners can use our open, standards-baseglatform based on Oracle
WebLogic Server and our Oracle Database as a deuice, including tools for rapid application disgment; flexible cloud-based file
sharing and collaboration; intuitive business tdofsanalysis and reporting; and mobile device emtinity.

Oracle Cloud Infrastructure-as-a-Service includesial machine instances that are designed for enimgy and reliable and secure object
storage; Oracle Engineered Systems hardware astg@dedupport that are deployed in our customets’ denters for a monthly fee; and
comprehensive software and hardware managememhaimienance services for customer IT infrastructiba¢ is hosted at our data center
facilities, select partner data centers or phykical-premise at customer facilities.

4
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We also offer Oracle Cloud Marketplace, which gl@al marketplace that is designed to allow pastte publish applications and for
customers to browse through and discover new soisitio address their business needs.

Oracle and Customer Cloud Environments

Oracle database and middleware software, applitatftware, cloud infrastructure, hardware systantsrelated services are the building
blocks of our own cloud services, our partnersudigervices and our customers’ cloud IT environsmedur software and hardware products
and services—including Oracle Database, OracleoRudiddleware, Java, and Oracle Engineered Systesns-used for cloud platforms and
are designed to be interoperable and provide &dhaard elastically scalable platform for consolittaexisting applications and developing
deploying new applications. Our software and hardvproducts are also used for cloud infrastructaresare designed to support diverse
application requirements, dynamic resource pookagstic scalability and rapid application deployinarough application-aware
virtualization and management capabilities. Or&gieerprise Manager is one of our offerings usemamage cloud environments.

Oracle Engineered Systems

Oracle Engineered Systems are core building bltmk®racle’s data center and cloud computing ofiigsi These pre-integrated products are
designed to be upgraded effectively and efficieatig to simplify routine maintenance by providingirgle solution for software patching.
They are tested before they are shipped to custoamet delivered ready-to-run, enabling customeshitoten the time to production. Oracle’s
Engineered Systems include:

» Oracle Exadata Database Machirefamily of integrated software and hardware praesltitat combines our database, storage and
operating system software with our server, stoeagknetworking hardware and is designed to proaitligh performance database
system for online transaction processing and dat@kousing application

» Oracle Exalogic Elastic Cloud&n engineered system that combines Oracle FusiddI®iare software with our server, storage and
networking hardware to run Java and -Java applications and provide customers with atiggtipns platform for cloud computin

» Oracle Exalytics In-Memory Machina,single server that is designed to be configuneéhfmemory analytics for business intellige
workloads;

» Oracle SuperClusten general purpose engineered system that comliiaemptimized database performance of Oracle Exatatag:
and the accelerated middleware and applicationgssiog of the Oracle Exalogic Elastic Cloud on AB@/Solaris platform

» Oracle Virtual Compute Appliangean engineered system delivering converged infresstre for virtualized environments that is
designed to be simple to use, rapidly deployabtecapable of running almost any application bylbm Linux, Microsoft Windows ¢
Oracle Solaris operating syster

» Oracle Database Appliancan integrated, fault resilient system of databaperating system and virtualization software, sexve
storage and networking hardware in a single bokithdesigned to deliver high-availability databasevices for a wide range of
homegrown and packaged online transaction proag$8hTP) and data warehousing applicatic

» Oracle Big Data Applianceg scalable, engineered system designed for acquoinganizing and loading unstructured data into an
Oracle database and integrating the key compoid¢iatbig data platform such as Hadoop and Oracte@oDatabase in order to
reduce data risks in comparison to cus-built solutions; anc

» Oracle ZFS Storage ZS3-BA purposeésuilt backup appliance, specifically tuned for exegired systems, that is designed to ensul
highest levels of backup and recovery performancdewemoving the need for thi-party software and data reduction syste

5
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Oracle and Big Data

Big data generally refers to a massive amount efruntured, streaming and structured data that iarge that it is difficult to process using
traditional IT techniques. As businesses drive noditheir critical operations and information maaagent through IT solutions, the volume of
data generated by businesses is increasing ataegmeted levels. We believe most businesses vigwdia as a high-value opportunity
because effective technologies can leverage baytdallow those businesses to gain new insighastireir customers’ behavior, anticipate
future demand more accurately, align workforce dgplent with businesaetivity forecasts, and accelerate the pace ofatipeis. Oracle offel

a comprehensive portfolio of products and serviodlp enterprises capture, manage, and analgzgaltd alongside an enterprise’s existing
enterprise and streaming data.

Our big data solutions for capturing unstructusttbaming and structured data complement existitagl® Database environments and includ
Oracle NoSQL Database, embedded Java and MySQlugiodracle Big Data Appliance, a pre-integratediébp appliance that is designed
to cost less and be easier to implement than cuiatoop solutions, manages big data alongsidep@igerdata. Oracle Data Integration and
Oracle Big Data Connectors are designed to easdynaninvasively integrate data from the Oracle Big Dappliance and Oracle Databast
Oracle Exadata Database Machine to enable a da&hwse to further organize, analyze, interpr@ipmeon and act on information from these
high volume data sources.

Oracle also offers Analytics software that is desijto leverage big data and enterprise data folenaganizations to analyze the data and
discover new ways to strategize, plan, optimizér®ss operations, and capture new market oppaeaniracle Business Analytics products
include data discovery software, enterprise peréorce management and analytic applications softiasgness intelligence software, and
predictive analytics and self-learning decisionmjation software. Oracle Exalytics In-Memory Mauhis designed to run analytic
environments at optimal performance and scale ibealse with big data environments.

Oracle and Mobile Computing

Oracle provides a wide range of software for mobimputing. For example, Oracle Mobile Platformid#aa developers to build and extend
enterprise applications for popular mobile devitem a single code base. Oracle Mobile Platfornpsuis access to native device services,
enables offline applications and is designed tagmtaenterprise investments from future technolslyjts. Oracle Mobile Security offers
comprehensive mobile identity and application mamagnt for provisioning of trusted access. Oraclsifss Intelligence Mobile provides
business intelligence functionality, from interaetdashboards to location intelligence, while eimgblisers to initiate business processes fr
mobile device.

Software and Cloud, Hardware Systems, and Servic&usinesses
Software and Cloud Business

Our software and cloud business consists of oursadtware licenses and cloud software subscripti@ggnent, which includes our SaaS and
PaaS offerings, our cloud infrastructure-as-a-sergegment and our software license updates addgirsupport segment.

New Software Licenses and Cloud Software Subscoipsi

The new software licenses and cloud software sigignrs operating segment includes database, migakeand application software licenses
as well as our Oracle Cloud Software-as-a-ServickRlatform-as-a-Service offerings.

Our software solutions are built on a standardethaschitecture that is designed to help customeehsce the cost and complexity of their IT
infrastructure. Our commitment to industry standabults in software that works in customer emritents with Oracle or non-Oracle
hardware or software components and that can h@edlto meet specific industry or business neelis. 8pproach is designed to support
customer choice and reduce customer risk. Our softywroducts are designed to operate on both ssegler and clustered server
configurations for cloud or on-premise IT enviromtgeand to support a choice of operating systeriading Oracle Solaris, Oracle Linux,
Microsoft Windows and third party UNIX products, ang others.
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New software licenses and cloud software subsoriptrevenues represented 28% of total revenuexcnaf fiscal 2014 and 2013 and 27%
fiscal 2012.

Database and Middleware Software

Our database and middleware software consist afiger of license and subscription based offeringsate designed to provide a cost-
effective, highperformance platform for running and managing bessnapplications for midsize businesses, as wédirgs, global enterprise
Our customers are increasingly focused on redutiagotal cost of their IT infrastructure and wdidee that our software offerings help them
achieve this goal. Our software is designed to moeodate demanding, non-stop business environmsing olustered middleware and
database servers and storage. These clusterssigeetbto scale incrementally as required to addoas customers’ IT capacity, satisfy their
planning and procurement needs, support their basiapplications with a standardized platform &echire, reduce their risk of data loss and
IT infrastructure downtime and efficiently utilizzvailable IT resources to meet quality of serviggeetations.

Database Softwar

Oracle Database software is the world’s most popniterprise database software. It is designedable reliable and secure storage, retrieval
and manipulation of all forms of data, includingartsactional data, business information and aratysiemi-structured and unstructured data il
the form of weblogs, text, social media feeds, Xfilks, office documents, images, video and spatialges; and other specialized forms of
data, such as graph data. Oracle Database sofisvased for a variety of purposes, including paekbgpplications and custom application
development for transaction processing, data wairgihg and business intelligence and as a docurepository or specialized data store.

A number of optional addn products are available with Oracle Databaserprise Edition software to address specific custoraguirements
In the areas of cloud computing and consolidaties pffer a new Oracle Multitenant software optibnthe areas of performance and
scalability, we offer Oracle Real Application Clet, Oracle In-Memory Database Cache, Oracle Add@mmpression and Oracle
Partitioning software options. In the area of daeurity, we offer Oracle Advanced Security, Ordasabase Vault, Oracle Audit Vault and
Database Firewall software options.

In addition to Oracle Database, we also offer dfpliw of specialized database software productsddress particular customer requirements,
including:

* MySQL, the world’s most popular open source datapdssigned for high performance and scalabilitwelb applications and
embedded applications, available in Enterpriseyd&ted, Classic, Cluster and Community editic

» Oracle TimesTen In-Memory Database, designed twataleal-time data management and transactionegeieg speeds for
performance-critical applications. Oracle TimesTeiMemory Database can serve as a cache to acieef@racle Database and can
work as a standalone database at the applicadn!

» Oracle Berkeley DB, a family of open source, emladdiel relational, XML and key-value (NoSQL) datadmdesigned for developers
to embed within their applications and devices;

» Oracle NoSQL Database, a distributed key-valuetdesta designed for high availability and massivéabdéy of high volume
transaction processing with predictable -latency.

Middleware Softwar:

Oracle Fusion Middleware software is a broad famfljntegrated application infrastructure softwpreducts that we offer via license and
subscription based arrangements. These productieaigned to form a reliable and scalable foundatio which customers can build, deploy,
secure, access and integrate business applicatimhautomate their business processes. Built widtl®&s Java technology platform, Oracle
Fusion Middleware products can be used as a foiomdftir custom, packaged and composite applicatiemsapplications that can be deplo
in cloud environments.
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Oracle Fusion Middleware software is designed taqmt customers’ IT investments and work with b@tlacle and non-Oracle database,
middleware and application software through itsropechitecture and adherence to industry stand&mixcifically, Oracle Fusion Middleware
software is designed to enable customers to inte@eacle and non-Oracle business applicationsy@ate business processes, scale
applications to meet customer demand, simplify sgcand compliance, manage lifecycles of documant$ get actionable, targeted business
intelligence; all while continuing to utilize thedxisting IT systems. In addition, Oracle Fusiordieware software supports multiple
development languages and tools, which enabledafsrs to build and deploy web services, websfiegals and web-based applications.

Oracle Fusion Middleware software is availableamious software products and suites, includingolewing:

» Oracle WebLogic Server and Oracle Cloud Applicat@undation, designed to be the most complete;diasteed platform for
developing cloud application

e Oracle SOA Suite of software products used to eregploy and manage applications on a Se-Oriented Architecture

» Oracle Data Integration software products, whighdasigned to enable pervasive and continuoussatzéisnely and trusted data
across heterogeneous systems, including real-tmddalk data movement, transformation, bi-direciaeplication, data services and
data quality for customer and product doma

» Oracle Business Process Management Suite softwadeigts that are designed to enable businesseld qandfessionals to design,
implement, automate and evolve business processiesarkflows within and across organizatio

» Oracle WebCenter software products, a completefaéteb Experience Management, Portals, Content Bemant and Social
Networks software, helping people work togetherengfficiently through contextual collaboration ted¢that optimize connectiol
between people, information and applications anehure users have access to the right informatitre context of the business
process in which they are engag

» Oracle Business Intelligence Suite, a comprehersavef analytic software products designed to igeeustomers with the
information they need to make better business merss

» Oracle Identity Management software, which is destyto enable customers to manage internal andhekigsers, to secure corporate
information from potential software threats andti@amline compliance initiatives while lowering ttotal cost of their security and
compliance initiatives; an

» Development Tools for application development, base development and business intelligence, intdu@iracle JDeveloper, an
integrated software environment designed to fatdirapid development of applications using Or&cision Middleware and popular
open source technologie

Java

Java is the computer industry’s most widely-usdtivare development language and is viewed as aagkibndard. The Java programming
language and platform together represent one ahitbet popular and powerful development environmantse world, one that is used by
millions of developers globally to develop businapglications. Oracle Fusion Middleware softwaredoicts and Oracle Fusion Applications
are built using our Java technology platform, whighbelieve is a key advantage for our business.

Java is designed to enable developers to writevacdton a single platform and run it on many otfiferent platforms, independent of
operating system and hardware architecture. Javhden adopted by both independent software verii®v3 that have built their products on
Java and by enterprise organizations building eastpplications or consuming Java-based ISV products

Management Software

Oracle Enterprise Manager is Oracle’s integratedrpnise IT management and cloud management farhityoducts. Oracle Enterprise
Manager is designed to combine the self-manageoagatbilities built into Oracle

8



Table of Contents

products with its business-driven IT managemenabdities to deliver a holistic approach to IT mgament across the entire Oracle
technology portfolio, including Oracle Database @rdcle Exadata, Oracle Fusion Middleware and @raghlogic Elastic Cloud, Oracle
Applications, Oracle Solaris, Oracle Linux, Orael and our complete hardware portfolio. Oracle Eptise Manager is designed to manage
Oracle’s software and hardware portfolio whethgrldged using traditional IT architectures or inudlocomputing architectures. In both cases
Oracle Enterprise Manager is designed to providenaplete IT lifecycle management approach, inclgaionfiguring elements of an IT
environment, monitoring service levels, diagnosang troubleshooting problems, patching and promis IT environments, managing
compliance reporting and providing change managémemunified way across physical and virtualif€a&nvironments.

Application Software

Oracle Applications are designed using an industampdards-based, integrated architecture to maradyautomate core business functions
across the enterprise, as well as to help custodifféesentiate and innovate in those processesugniq their industries or organizations. In
addition to applications that are deployable to thaeeumber of business automation requirementsaedroad range of industries, we also
offer a number of industry-specific applicationsotigh a focused strategy of investments in interes¢arch and development and strategic
acquisitions. We provide industry-specific solugdor customers in a number of different industimtuding communications, engineering
and construction, financial services, healthcamufacturing, public sector, retail and utilitiaspong others. Oracle Applications are offered
via license and subscription based arrangementsi@ndesigned to reduce the risk, cost and contplekibur customers’ IT infrastructures,
while supporting customer choice with flexible dgphent models and upgrade paths.

Our applications strategy is designed to providgamers with complete choice and a secure pateriefii from the latest technology
advances. Our Oracle Applications Unlimited progdemonstrates our commitment to customer choi@igir ongoing investment and
innovation in current applications offerings indiugl our Oracle E-Business Suite, Siebel, PeopleSuitJD Edwards applications software
products, among others. Since announcing our Aaitics Unlimited program in 2005, we have delivemejor releases of all applications
product lines by combining business functionalif$hvinnovative technologies, providing customerghwnore adaptive industry processes,
business intelligence and optimal end-user proditgti

We continue to expand our enterprise-grade cloftevace subscription offerings such as those offehedugh our Oracle Cloud Software-as-a
Service in order to provide customers a broad &hofcsoftware applications within a cloud-basea@fivironment. These include a
comprehensive suite of modular, ngedneration cloud software applications that spaa basiness functions including sales, marketingias,
service, supply chain management, human capitahttsmanagement, enterprise resource planningrige planning, and financial reporting,
among others.

Oracle Applications address specific business addstry requirements including:
« Human Capital and Talent Manageme
e Customer Experience and Customer Relationship Mamagt;
« Financial Management and Governance, Risk and Ganud;
* Procurement
» Project Portfolio Managemer
e Supply Chain Managemer
» Business Analytics and Enterprise Performance Mamagt; anc
 Industry-Specific Applications

Human Capital and Talent Managem

Our complete and integrated suite of human capitalagement application software is designed to trgjanizations manage their human
resource operations and attract, develop, motamatkeretain human capital.
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Oracle Human Capital Management delivers core humsmurce transactions, workforce service delieary complete enterprise talent
management via our Oracle Cloud Software-as-a-&zwfferings and on-premise solutions.

Customer Experience and Customer Relationship Memagt

Our complete customer experience software solutiansluding customer relationship management—argdes to help organizations
deliver simple, consistent, and relevant experigraaoss all channels, touch points and interagtidfe provide customer experience solution
for marketing, sales, commerce, service, social,iadustry requirements. We recently broadeneddvacle Cloud’s marketing offerings via
the acquisitions of Responsys, Inc., a leadingidenof enterprise-scale cloud-based business+tstcoer marketing software, and BlueKai,
Inc., a leading data management platform provideduo personalize marketing programs and custerparience.

Financial Management and Governance, Risk and Ciaimgx

Our complete and integrated financial managemeftwarce solutions are designed to help organizatioast fiduciary and statutory
requirements, manage risk across the global emerand achieve business performance and socmnsibilities. We offer solutions for
finance operations, risk management and advannaddial controls.

Procuremen

We offer integrated procurement software suitesdhadesigned to provide packaged integratiorattkinffice applications in order to support
the complete source-to-settle process. Our proaemeapplications also provide industry-specificataifties.

Project Portfolio Managemet

Our broad range of offerings for project portfaimnagement application software is designed to ¢wigpanies propose, prioritize and select
project investments as well as plan, manage antiaidhe most complex projects and project portfeliAdditionally, we provide industry-
specific solutions for project-intensive industreesch as oil and gas, utilities, engineering antstraction, aerospace and defense and public
sector.

Supply Chain Management

Our supply chain management software applicatierioigs are designed to help organizations achialge chain transformation. Oracle
offers a broad portfolio of supply chain managenaglications that customers can adopt as an entite or individual applications, includil
value chain planning, value chain execution, protlfecycle management, asset lifecycle managenuedéer orchestration and fulfillment and
manufacturing solutions.

Business Analytics and Enterprise Performance Managni

Our business analytics software solutions includerprise performance management and analyticagigns that are designed to help
organizations discover new ways to strategize, plahoptimize business operations and capture nekanopportunities. Our integrated suite
of enterprise performance management applicatiam&swvith both Oracle and non-Oracle transactisyatems and supports strategic
planning and goal setting, financial and operatigtenning, financial close and reporting and pgaddility management. We also deliver
packaged business intelligence applications thapat business functions and industry-specific psses.

Industry-Specific Applications

Oracle Applications can be tailored to offer custesna variety of industry-specific solutions. Agaat of our strategy, we strive to ensure that
our application software portfolio addresses thgomadustry-influenced technology challenges a$tomners in key industries that we view as
strategic to our future growth, including
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communications, consumer goods, education, energgineering and construction, financial serviceslthcare, life sciences, manufacturing,
professional services, public sector, retail, ttatvansportation and utilities. Our ability to effapplications to address industry-specific
complex processes provides us an opportunity tamkpur customers’ knowledge of our broader prodtfetings and address customer
specific technology challenges.

Cloud Infrastructure-as-a-Service

Our cloud infrastructure-asservice segment, which represented 1% of our teta&nues in each of fiscal 2014 and 2013 and 2fisdal 201z
provides deployment and management offerings foisofiware and hardware and related IT infrastmgctincluding:

 our virtual machine instance services in which wpldy, secure, provision, manage and maintain iceofeour hardware products for
our customers to provide them with a set of cloaddal core infrastructure capabilities like elastimpute and storage services to run
workloads in the clouc

» our hardware and related support services offeffioigsertain of our hardware products that are olggdl at our customerdata centel
for a monthly fee that includes the option of étasbmpute capacity on demand and Oracle PlatimuonPdatinumPlus Services for a
higher level of support and advisory services desigto ensure these hardware products remain emafigand tuned correctly with
quarterly automated assessments for performanadahbnity and security; an

» our comprehensive software and hardware manageandmnaintenance services for customers hosted @migle data center
facilities, select partner data centers or phybicat-premise at customer facilitie

Software License Updates and Product Supg

We seek to protect and enhance our customers’raumeestments in Oracle software by offering ptoecand personalized support services,
including Oracle Lifetime Support and product erteanents and upgrades. Software license updateslprowstomers with rights to software
product upgrades and maintenance releases andcepatitbased during the term of the support peRoaduct support includes internet and
telephone access to technical support personretidldén our global support centers, as well agnieteaccess to technical content through “My
Oracle Support”. Software license updates and ptogluypport contracts are generally priced as agpéaige of the net new software license
fees. Substantially all of our customers purchassvare license updates and product support castileen they acquire new software licer
and renew their software license updates and ptadyoport contracts annually. Our software licamséates and product support revenues
represented 47%, 46% and 43% of our total reveimugscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Hardware Systems Business
Our hardware systems business consists of our laaedsystems products segment and hardware syst@msrssegment.

Hardware Systems Produc

We provide a broad selection of hardware systerdgeated services including servers, storage, owkiwng, virtualization software, operating
systems and management software to support diVErsevironments, including cloud computing enviramts. We engineer our hardware
systems with virtualization and management cagadsilio enable the rapid deployment and efficieahagement of cloud and on-premise IT
infrastructures. Our hardware products support nadrilie world’s largest cloud infrastructures, irdihg the Oracle Cloud.

Our hardware products and services are designedroin customer environments that may include o@eacle or non-Oracle hardware or
software components. This flexible and open appgrgeiovides Oracle’s customers with a broad rangghofces in deploying hardware
systems, which we believe is a priority for ourtonsers. Our hardware products and services algotbeheet customers’ demands to manage
growing amounts of data and business requirement®ett increasing compliance and regulatory demandgo reduce
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energy, space and operational costs. We have iadgoezred our hardware systems products to crestermance and operational cost
advantages for customers when our hardware andaefiproducts are combined as Oracle Engineeradi8ggrefer to discussion above).

Our hardware systems products revenues repres@¥ted our total revenues in each of fiscal 2014 203 and 10% in fiscal 2012.

Servers

We offer a wide range of server systems using ®&FRC microprocessor, which are designed to beréifféated by their reliability, security
and scalability. Our SPARC-based T5 mid-range seamd M6 high-end servers, for example, are desigo®ffer greater performance and
lower total cost of ownership than mainframe systéon business critical applications and for custsrhaving more computationally intens
needs. Measurably increasing computing performandereliability, these servers are ideal platfofarsuilding cloud computing IT
environments. We also offer servers using micropseor platforms from Intel Corporation (Intel). Bffering customers choices across a r:
of microprocessors, we intend to offer our custameaximum flexibility in choosing the types of hamte systems that they believe will be
most appropriate and valuable for their particlifaenvironments.

Our SPARC servers run the Oracle Solaris operatystem and are designed for mission critical enenvironments. SPARC servers are
also a core component of the Oracle SuperClusterobour Oracle Engineered Systems.

Our Intel-based enterprise x86 servers are compatiith Oracle Solaris, Oracle Linux, Microsoft Wliows and other operating systems. Our
x86 servers are also a core component of manyroDoacle Engineered Systems including Oracle ExabDatabase Machine, Oracle Exalogic
Elastic Cloud, Oracle Exalytics In-Memory Machimedahe Oracle Big Data Appliance.

Storage

Our storage products are designed to securely reapagtect, archive and restore customers’ missitical data assets and consist of tape,
disk, flash and hardware-related software includilegsystems software, back-up and archive sofveard storage management software and
networking for mainframe and open systems enviranimeéOur storage products are designed to imprate alvailability by providing fast da
access and dynamic data protection for back-ugestdration and secure archiving for compliance. €dorage products are co-engineered
with Oracle software and designed to provide perforce benefits for our customers in Oracle DatahadeOracle Applications environmer
as well as to work with multi-vendor applicationdasystems environments to maximize performancesfficdiency while minimizing
management overhead and lowering the total costvokrship.

Our Oracle ZFS Storage Appliance is designed todwg Network Attached Storage (NAS) performance madiageability and lower total
cost of ownership by combining our advanced stomgmating system with high-performance controllBi@AM and flash-based caches and
disks. The foundation of our Oracle Pillar Axionstm offering, targeted at Storage Area NetworkNB&nvironments, is a patented quality-
of-service architecture designed to meet businetsat service level agreements for dynamic, mafiplication workloads and enable
customers to consolidate storage applicationsdrgimgle data center storage solution.

Our tape storage product line includes Oracle §®Fak libraries, drives, virtualization systemsdiaeand associated software packages that
provide data lifecycle management, deep analydicd,file access through the familiar “drag-and-dnmpradigm. In addition to serving in
tape’s traditional role as enterprise data backwse products are intended to provide robustababolutions at a lower total cost of
ownership for long-term data archiving and prestowan vertical industries such as communicati@rergy, healthcare and internet, among
others.

Networking and Data Center Fabric Prodt

Our networking and data center fabric productduiiog Oracle Virtual Networking, and Oracle Inf8@nd and Ethernet technologies, are |
with our server and storage products and are iatedrinto our management
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tools to help enterprise customers improve infeecdtire performance, reduce cost and complexitysamglify storage and server connectivity.

We also offer hardware and software networking potsifor the communications industry. Our commutidces networks solutions for service
providers include signaling, policy, and subscrithaeta management solutions.

Oracle Solaris and Oracle Linux Operating Systévirsyalization and Other HardwaiiRelated Software

The Oracle Solaris operating system is designgudeide a reliable, secure and scalable operatisgem environment through significant
kernel feature development, networking, security] file system technologies as well as close imtégm with hardware features. This design
provides us with an ability to combine Oracle Sislarith our own hardware components to achieveageferformance and efficiency
advantages in comparison with our competitors. Ohacle Solaris operating system is based on theXUigkrating system, but is unique
among UNIX systems in that it is available on oBARC servers and x86 servers. We also support ©&xadhris deployed on other
companies’ hardware products.

The Oracle Linux operating system with Oracle’s téatkable Enterprise Kernel is a Linux operatingeysfor enterprise workloads including
databases, middleware and applications. Oracletgaskable Enterprise Kernel is designed to work wigh Oracle products and enables
users to patch core operating systems without dovent

Oracle provides a broad portfolio of virtualizatisolutions from the desktop to the data centercl@rdM is server virtualization software for
both Oracle SPARC and x86 servers and supports@tble and non-Oracle applications. Oracle VMwaft is designed to enable different
applications to share a single physical systenhifginer utilization and efficiency and simplify setire deployment by enabling pre-configured
software images to be created and rapidly depleyittbut installation or configuration errors. Indition, Oracle Solaris 11 provides
comprehensive, built-in virtualization capabilities both SPARC and x86 servers, networking antagi® resources.

In addition to Oracle Solaris and Oracle Linux @tierg systems and Oracle’s virtualization software,also develop a range of other
hardware-related software, including developmealstaccompilers, management tools for servers amdge, diagnostic tools and file systems.

Hardware Systems Suppc

Our hardware systems support offerings provideatusts with software updates for software compontatisare essential to the functionality
of our server and storage products, such as Ofmtéis and certain other software products, amdreelude product repairs, maintenance
services and technical support services. We coatiowvolve hardware systems support processearthaitended to proactively identify and
solve quality issues and to increase the amouhaafware systems support contracts sold and reniemahnection with the sales of our
hardware systems products. Hardware systems supgracts are generally priced as a percentatfeeafet hardware systems products fees
Our hardware systems support revenues represe¥ted 6ur total revenues in each of fiscal 2014 2083 and 7% in fiscal 2012.

Services Business

We offer services solutions to help customers arthprs maximize the performance of their investsi@nOracle technology. Our services
differentiated based on our focus on Oracle teduyglextensive experience and broad set of inteléég@roperty and best practices. Our
services business represented 10% of our totahtegein fiscal 2014 and 11% in each of fiscal 284& 2012. Our services business, which is
comprised of the remainder of our operating segmeriters:

» consulting services that are designed to help vstotmers and global system integrator partners swreessfully architect and deploy
our products including IT strategy alignment, eptise architecture planning and design, initialduret implementation and
integration, and ongoing product enhancements pgdades. We utilize a global, blended delivery niddl@ptimize value for our
customers and partners, consisting of on-premissuttants from local geographies, industry spestmknd consultants from our
global delivery and solution cente

13



Table of Contents

» advanced customer support services, which are gedvdn-premise and remotely to our customers tbleriacreased performance
and higher availability of their Oracle productslaervices; an

» education services for Oracle products and seryvioekiding training and certification programstthge offered to customers, partners
and employees through a variety of formats, ineigdnstructor-led classes at our education cenligesyirtual training, self-paced
online training, private events and custom train

Marketing and Sales

We directly market and sell our products and ses/to businesses of many sizes and in many indssgovernment agencies and educations
institutions. We also market and sell our prodticteugh indirect channels. No single customer actzifor 10% or more of our total
revenues in fiscal 2014, 2013 or 2012.

In the United States, our sales and services erapigire based in our headquarters and in fieldesfthroughout the country. Outside the
United States, our international subsidiaries seflbport and service our products in their locaintdes as well as within other foreign count
where we do not operate through a direct saleddiabs Our geographic coverage allows us to dravibesiness and technical expertise frc
global workforce, provides stability to our opeoais and revenue streams to offset geography-specifinomic trends and offers us an
opportunity to take advantage of new markets forpraducts. Our international operations subjedbusertain risks, which are more fully
described in “Risk Factors” included in Item 1Atbfs Annual Report. A summary of our domestic amédrinational revenues and long-lived
assets is set forth in Note 16 of Notes to Conatdid Financial Statements included elsewhere nthnual Report.

We also market our products worldwide through iedichannels. The companies that comprise ourdaidahannel network are members of
the Oracle Partner Network. The Oracle Partner Netis a global program that manages our busireationships with a large, broad-based
network of companies, including independent sofenaard hardware vendors, system integrators antiemssihat deliver innovative solutions
and services based upon our product offerings.fi&ying our partners access to our product offesjreglucational information, technical
services, marketing and sales support, the Oraotaér Network program extends our market reacprbyiding our partners with the
resources they need to be successful in delivaohgions to customers globally. The majority of bardware systems products are sold
through indirect channels including independentritlistors and value added resellers.

Seasonality and Cyclicality

Our quarterly revenues have historically been &féby a variety of seasonal factors, includingstmacture of our sales force incentive
compensation plans, which are common in the tedyydhdustry. Our total revenues and operating margre typically highest in our fourth
fiscal quarter and lowest in our first fiscal qeartThe operating margins of our businesses arergky affected by seasonal factors in a sin
manner as our revenues (in particular, our newso# licenses and cloud software subscriptions sagjnas certain expenses within our cost
structure are relatively fixed in the short terreeSSelected Quarterly Financial Data” in Item #ho$é Annual Report for a more complete
description of the seasonality and cyclicality af cevenues, expenses and margins.

Competition

We face intense competition in all aspects of ausitess. The nature of the IT industry createsnapetitive landscape that is constantly
evolving as firms emerge, expand or are acquireteehnology evolves and as customer demands amgetitive pressures otherwise change.

Our customers are demanding less complexity andrdetal cost in the implementation, sourcing, gméion and ongoing maintenance of t
enterprise software and hardware systems. Ourgigersoftware and cloud and hardware offeringspimdirectly with some offerings from
some of the largest and most competitive companigee world, including Microsoft Corporation (Misoft), International Business Machir
Corporation (IBM), Intel, Hewlett-Packard CompamiR) and SAP AG and smaller companies like salesfoeen, inc. and Workday, Inc., as
well as many others. In addition, due to the lovrikses to entry in
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many of our market segments, new technologies amdamd growing competitors frequently emerge tdlehge our offerings. Our
competitors range from companies offering broaddiltions across many of our lines of businessetalers providing point solutions, or
offerings focused on a specific functionality, pustiarea or industry. In addition, as we expand m@w market segments, we will face
increased competition as we will compete with éxgstompetitors, as well as firms that may be padnn other areas of our business and
other firms with whom we have not previously conggklike Amazon.com, Inc. Moreover, we or our contpet may take certain strategic
actions—including acquisitions, partnerships anntjeentures, or repositioning of product lines—ahinvite even greater competition in one
or more product categories.

Key competitive factors in each of the segmentshich we currently compete and may compete in tiré include: total cost of ownership,
performance, scalability, reliability, securitynfttionality, efficiency, ease of management andityuaf technical support. Our product and
service sales (and the relative strength of oudyets and services versus those of our competi#wesilso directly and indirectly affected by
the following, among other things:

» the adoption of cloud based IT offerings includgaftware-as-a-service, platforr-as-a-service and infrastructL-as-a-service offerings
» the adoption of commodity servers and microproass

 the broader “platformtompetition between our industry standard Javani@olgy platform and the .NET programming environt
Microsoft;

» operating system competition among our Oracle $oéard Linux operating systems, with alternativeduding Microsoft's Windows
Server, and other UNIX and Linux operating syste

 the adoption of open source alternatives to comiaesoftware by enterprise software custom
» products, features and functionality developedrivetly by customers and their IT sta

» products, features or functionality customized emplemented for customers by consultants, systategiators or other third parties;
and

* attractiveness of offerings from business procegssutsourcers
For more information about the competitive risksfage, refer to Item 1A. “Risk Factors” includedalhere in this Annual Report.

Manufacturing

To produce our hardware products, we rely on bathrdernal manufacturing operations as well asgltparty manufacturing partners. Our
internal manufacturing operations consist primaoflynaterials procurement, assembly, testing araditgicontrol of our Oracle Engineered
Systems and certain of our enterprise and dat@iceatvers, storage systems and networking pradeectsll other manufacturing, we
generally rely on third party manufacturing parg&r produce our hardware related components amivhee products and we may involve
internal manufacturing operations in the final asisly, testing and quality control processes fostheomponents and products. We distribute
most of our hardware products either from our faes or partner facilities. Our manufacturing peeses are based on standardization of
components across product types, centralizati@ssémbly and distribution centers and a “build+ied” methodology in which products
generally are built only after customers have pldoen orders. Production of our hardware produetguires that we purchase materials,
supplies, product subassemblies and full assenfintiesa number of vendors. For most of our hardvpmeoglucts, we have existing alternate
sources of supply or such sources are readilyahail However, we do rely on sole sources for oedhour hardware products. As a result,
continue to evaluate potential risks of disruptiorour supply chain operations. Refer to “Risk Begtincluded in Item 1A within this Annual
Report for additional discussion of the challengesencounter with respect to the sources and dilitijyeof supplies for our products and the
related risks to our business.
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Research and Development

We develop the substantial majority of our produtsrnally. In addition, we have extended our prcidbfferings and intellectual property
through acquisitions of businesses and technolofiesalso purchase or license intellectual propegtyts in certain circumstances. Internal
development allows us to maintain technical cortk@r the design and development of our producesh@éve a number of United States and
foreign patents and pending applications thatedtatarious aspects of our products and technolyle we believe that our patents have
value, no single patent is essential to us or yoadrour principal business segments. Researcldanelopment expenditures were $5.2 billion,
$4.9 billion and $4.5 billion in each of fiscal 2012013 and 2012, respectively, or 13% of totakreies in each of fiscal 2014, 2013 and 12%
in fiscal 2012. Rapid technological advances irdhare and software development, evolving standardemputer hardware and software
technology, changing customer needs and frequempneduct introductions and enhancements charaeténe software and cloud and
hardware markets in which we compete. We plan tdicoe to dedicate a significant amount of resositoaresearch and development efforts
to maintain and improve our current product andises offerings.

Employees

As of May 31, 2014, we employed approximately 100,€ull-time employees, including approximatelyBX) in sales and marketing,
approximately 9,000 in software license updatespnduct support, approximately 5,000 in our cl@&hS, PaaS, and laaS operations,
approximately 1,000 in the manufacturing of ourdweare systems products, approximately 6,000 invharel systems support, approximately
22,000 in services, approximately 36,000 in redearm development and approximately 11,000 in getaerd administrative positions. Of
these employees, approximately 45,000 were employdte United States and approximately 77,000 wenployed internationally. None of
our employees in the United States is representedi@bor union; however, in certain foreign sulzsiés labor unions or workers’ councils
represent some of our employees.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly ReporisForm 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amemdsito reports filed pursuant to
Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exch&wgef 1934, as amended, are available, free afgdy on our Investor Relations web site a
www.oracle.com/investor as soon as reasonablyipedié after we electronically file such materiathwor furnish it to, the SEC. The
information posted on or accessible through our sitghis not incorporated into this Annual Report.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant
Our executive officers are listed below.

Name Office(s)

Lawrence J. Ellisol Chief Executive Officer and Directi

Jeffrey O. Henle Chairman of the Board of Directo

Safra A. Cat: President, Chief Financial Officer and Direc

Mark V. Hurd President and Directt

John Fowlel Executive Vice President, Syste!

Thomas Kuriar Executive Vice President, Product Developrr

Dorian E. Daley Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr

William Corey Wes Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller ande€Accounting Officel

Mr. Ellison, 69, has been Chief Executive Officada Director since he founded Oracle in June 1B8é7served as Chairman of the Board
from May 1995 to January 2004.

Mr. Henley, 69, has served as Chairman of the Beaack January 2004 and as a Director since JW@& He served as Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer from Marct9190 July 2004.

Ms. Catz, 52, has been a President since Janu@dy @hief Financial Officer most recently since Ag011 and has served as a Director sinc
October 2001. She was previously Chief Financidicef from November 2005 until September 2008 artdrim Chief Financial Officer from
April 2005 until July 2005. Prior to being namedc$ident, she held various other positions withinsesjoining Oracle in 1999. She also
currently serves as a director of HSBC Holdings plc

Mr. Hurd, 57, has been a President and serveda®etor since September 2010. Prior to joininghesserved as Chairman of the Board of
Directors of HP from September 2006 to August 2840 as Chief Executive Officer, President and a begrof the Board of Directors of HP
from April 2005 to August 2010.

Mr. Fowler, 53, has been Executive Vice PresidSpstems since February 2010. Prior to joining us,Adwler served as Sun Microsystems,
Inc.’s Executive Vice President, Systems Group fiday 2006 to February 2010, as Executive Vice Eerdi Network Systems Group from
May 2004 to May 2006 and as Chief Technology OffiGoftware Group from July 2002 to May 2004.

Mr. Kurian, 47, has been Executive Vice PresidBmdduct Development since July 2009. He serveceapEVice President of Development
from February 2001 until July 2009. Mr. Kurian wetkin Oracle Server Technologies as Vice PresioieDevelopment from March 1999
until February 2001. He also held various otheiitfms with us since joining Oracle in 1996.

Ms. Daley, 55, has been Senior Vice President, Gé@munsel and Secretary since October 2007. &ived as Vice President, Legal,
Associate General Counsel and Assistant Secratamy June 2004 to October 2007, as Associate Ge@eralsel and Assistant Secretary fi
October 2001 to June 2004 and as Associate Gebeuasel from February 2001 to October 2001. She Veslious other positions with us
since joining Oracle’s Legal Department in 1992.

Mr. West, 52, has been Senior Vice President, GatpdController and Chief Accounting Officer sirfeebruary 2008 and was Vice President,
Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officesrh April 2007 to February 2008. His previous exgece includes 14 years with Arthur
Andersen LLP, most recently as a partner.
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ltem 1A. Risk Factors

We operate in rapidly changing economic and teatgichl environments that present numerous riskeyméwhich are driven by factors that
we cannot control or predict. The following disdoss as well as our “Critical Accounting PoliciesdaEstimates” discussion in Management'’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations (Iltem 7), highlights soméhese risks. The risks described below
not exhaustive and you should carefully considesérisks and uncertainties before investing inseaurities.

Economic, political and market conditions can adeety affect our business, results of operations dimdhncial condition, including our
revenue growth and profitability, which in turn cdd adversely affect our stock price. Our business is influenced by a range of factioat
are beyond our control and that we have no comparatlvantage in forecasting. These include:

» general economic and business conditi

» overall demand for enterprise software, cloud a@ffgs, hardware systems and servi
» governmental budgetary constraints or shifts inegoment spending prioritie

» general political developments; a

» currency exchange rate fluctuatio

Macroeconomic developments like the continued glaae of economic recovery in the United StatesEamdpe and in parts of Asia and
South America could negatively affect our businepgrating results, financial condition and outlowkich, in turn, could adversely affect our
stock price. Any general weakening of, and relateclining corporate confidence in, the global ecop@r the curtailment in government or
corporate spending could cause current or potetuigtomers to reduce or eliminate their informaterhnology (IT) budgets and spending,
which could cause customers to delay, decreasanmet purchases of our products and services @eagaustomers not to pay us or to delay
paying us for previously purchased products andces.

In addition, political unrest in places like Ukraiand its potential impact on global stabilityréeist attacks and the potential for other
hostilities in various parts of the world, potehpablic health crises and natural disasters castito contribute to a climate of economic and
political uncertainty that could adversely affeat oesults of operations and financial conditiawt|uiding our revenue growth and profitability.
These factors generally have the strongest effeciuo sales of new software licenses, hardwaresysproducts, hardware systems support
and related services and, to a lesser extentpadgoaffect our renewal rates for software licenseéates and product support and our
subscription-based cloud offerings.

We may fail to achieve our financial forecasts dt@inaccurate sales forecasts or other factors.Our revenues, particularly our new
software licenses revenues and hardware systerasues, are difficult to forecast. As a result, quarterly operating results can fluctuate
substantially.

We use a “pipeline” system, a common industry ficacto forecast sales and trends in our busirf@@gssales personnel monitor the status of
all proposals and estimate when a customer willereafurchase decision and the dollar amount cfdlee These estimates are aggregated
periodically to generate a sales pipeline. OurIpipeestimates can prove to be unreliable bothparsicular quarter and over a longer perior
time, in part because the “conversion rate” or Sal@ rate” of the pipeline into contracts can by @ifficult to estimate. A reduction in the
conversion rate, or in the pipeline itself, coutdise us to plan or budget incorrectly and adveisé#gt our business or results of operation:
particular, a slowdown in IT spending or econonuaditions generally can unexpectedly reduce theemion rate in particular periods as
purchasing decisions are delayed, reduced in anmw#ncelled. The conversion rate can also betaffieby the tendency of some of our
customers to wait until the end of a fiscal peliimthe hope of obtaining more favorable terms, Wwhian also impede our ability to negotiate,
execute and deliver upon these contracts in ayimenner. In addition, for newly acquired companies have limited ability to predict how
their pipelines will convert into sales or revenimsa number of quarters following the acquisiti@onversion rates post-acquisition may be
quite different from the acquired companies’ higtarconversion rates. Differences in conversides&an also be affected by changes in our
business practices that we implement with our neslyuired companies that may affect customer behavi
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A substantial portion of our new software licensmgnue contracts and hardware systems contramtsripleted in the latter part of a quarter
and a significant percentage of these are largharer Because a significant portion of our cosicstrre is largely fixed in the short-term, sales
and revenue shortfalls tend to have a dispropaty negative impact on our profitability. The rioen of large new software licenses
transactions and, to a lesser extent, hardwareragsproducts transactions increases the risk cfuiiions in our quarterly results because a
delay in even a small number of these transactionkl cause our quarterly sales, revenues andaidfty to fall significantly short of our
predictions.

Our cloud computing strategy, including our Oracléloud Software-as-a-Service, Platform-as-a-Servig®l Infrastructure-as-a-Service
offerings, may not be successful. We offer customers a broad portfolio of softeyasloud and hardware offerings and related ses\ize
enable customers to adopt a cloud computing stydted is right for them. These business modeldicoa to evolve, and we may not be able
to compete effectively, generate significant revenar maintain the profitability of our cloud ofiiegs. Additionally, the increasing prevalence
of cloud and SaaS delivery models offered by usamdcompetitors may unfavorably impact pricindwoth our onpremise enterprise softwe
business and our cloud business, as well as owalhnd for our on-premise software product andspfferings, which could reduce our
revenues and profitability. If we do not succedgfakecute our cloud computing strategy or antigghe cloud computing needs of our
customers, our reputation as a cloud services geoviould be harmed and our revenues and profttabduld decline.

Our cloud offerings are generally purchased byamsts on a subscription basis and revenues frose thiéerings are generally recognized
ratably over the term of the subscriptions. Theedtefl revenue that results from sales of our ctiftetings may prevent any deterioration in
sales activity associated with our cloud offerifigen becoming immediately observable in our cortiitd statement of operations. This is in
contrast to revenues associated with our new soétligenses arrangements whereby new softwaresi@serevenues are generally recognized
in full at the time of delivery of the related seftre licenses. We incur expenses associated vatinttastructures and marketing of our cloud
offerings in advance of our ability to recognize tievenues associated with these offerings. Tesxttent customer demand for our cloud
offerings increases, we could experience volatilitpur reported revenues and operating resultdaltiee differences in timing of revenue
recognition between our new software licenses gearents and cloud offering arrangements.

We have also acquired a number of cloud computimgpanies, and the integration of these companiesoir Oracle Cloud strategy may not
be as efficient or scalable as anticipated, whakictadversely affect our ability to fully realifee benefits anticipated from these acquisitions

Our success depends upon our ability to develop peaducts and services, integrate acquired produatsl services and enhance our
existing products and services. Rapid technological advances and evolving standardsmputer hardware and software development and
communications infrastructure, changing and inénegy sophisticated customer needs and frequentpreduct introductions and
enhancements characterize the industries in whechampete. If we are unable to develop new orGefitly differentiated products and
services, enhance and improve our products andsuggrvices in a timely manner or position andgour products and services to meet
demand, customers may not purchase or subscrilmif@oftware, hardware or cloud offerings or reseftware or hardware support
contracts. Renewals of these contracts are impadahe growth of our business. In addition, laretards from both consortia and formal
standards-setting forums as well as de facto mpldes standards are rapidly evolving. We cannotigeoany assurance that the standards or
which we choose to develop new products will allsssto compete effectively for business opportusitieemerging areas.

We have continued to refresh and release new offef our software and hardware products andasyincluding our Database Memory,
Oracle Cloud and Oracle Engineered Systems offeri@gr business may be adversely affected if:

» we do not continue to develop and release thesther new or enhanced products and services witleimnticipated time frame
» there is a delay in market acceptance of a newgrergd or acquired product line or servi
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* there are changes in information technology trehdswe do not adequately anticipate or addreds auit product development
efforts;

» we do not timely optimize complementary produce$irand services;
» we fail to adequately integrate, support or enhamcpiired product lines or servic

If our security measures for our software, hardwarservices or Oracle Cloud offerings are comprondsend as a result, our data, ot
customers’ data or our IT systems are accessed opprly, made unavailable, or improperly modifiedjroproducts and services may be
perceived as vulnerable, our brand and reputatiooutd be damaged, the IT services we provide to austomers could be disrupted, ai
customers may stop using our products and serviedispf which could reduce our revenue and earningacrease our expenses and expose
us to legal claims and regulatory actions. We are in the information technology businesg| our products and services, including our O1
Cloud offerings, store, retrieve, manipulate andhagge our customergiformation and data as well as our own. We hakepatation for secul
and reliable product offerings and related servareswe have invested a great deal of time andiress in protecting the integrity and sect
of our products, services and the internal andreatelata that we manage.

Nevertheless, we encounter attempts by third martiédentify and exploit product and service vutindlities, penetrate or bypass our sect
measures, and gain unauthorized access to ourageftivardware and cloud offerings, networks antkays, any of which could lead to the
compromise of the confidential information or dafaracle or our customers. Computer hackers amerstmay be able to develop and deplo
IT related viruses, worms, and other maliciousvgafe programs that could attack our products andcss, exploit potential security
vulnerabilities of our products and services, ereyistem disruptions and cause shutdowns or dexfiakxvice. This is also true for third party
products or services incorporated into our ownalaay also be accessed or modified improperlyrasudt of employee or supplier error or
malfeasance and third parties may attempt to friemdy induce employees or customers into disclpsiensitive information such as user
names, passwords or other information in ordeiain gccess to our data, our customers’ data ofTosystems.

Although this is an industry-wide problem that affeother software and hardware companies, it &ff®cacle in particular because computer
hackers tend to focus their efforts on the mostrijnent IT companies, and they may focus on Oraetabse of our reputation for, and
marketing efforts associated with, having secucglpcts and services. These risks will increaseeasomtinue to grow our cloud offerings and
store and process increasingly large amounts ofastomers’ confidential information and data andtlor manage parts of our customers’
businesses in cloud-based IT environments, espetiatustomer sectors involving particularly seive data such as health sciences, financie
services and the government. We also have an amtiygisition program and have acquired a numbeowipanies, products, services and
technologies over the years. While we make sigaifiefforts to address any IT security issues véfipect to our acquisitions, we may still
inherit such risks when we integrate these acdoistwithin Oracle.

If a cyber attack or other security incident ddsedi above were to allow unauthorized access toodgiifioation of our customers’ data or our
own data or our IT systems or if the services we/igle to our customers were disrupted, or if owdpicts or services are perceived as having
security vulnerabilities, we could suffer signifitalamage to our brand and reputation. Customersl émse confidence in the security and
reliability of our products and services, includiogr cloud offerings, and perceive them to be motige. This in turn could lead to fewer
customers using our products and services and ias@duced revenue and earnings. The costs wédviroeur to address and fix these sect
incidents would increase our expenses. These tfpsecurity incidents could also lead to lawsuigulatory investigations and claims and
increased legal liability, including in some casestractual costs related to customer notificatiod fraud monitoring.

Further, as regulatory focus on privacy issuesioaas to increase and worldwide laws and regulat@mcerning the protection of personal
information expand and become more complex, thesmnfial risks to our business will intensify. Chyas in laws or regulations associated
with the enhanced protection of certain types obgive data, such as healthcare data or otheopeally identifiable information, could greatly
increase our cost of providing our products angises.
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We might experience significant coding, manufactng or configuration errors in our software, hardwarand cloud offerings. Despite
testing prior to their release and throughout tfeeycle of a product or service, software, hardwand cloud offerings sometimes contain
coding or manufacturing errors that can impactrtheiction, performance and security, and resutithrer negative consequences. The
detection and correction of any errors in releasdtivare, hardware or cloud offerings can be timescming and costly. Errors in our
software, hardware or cloud offerings could aftbetr ability to properly function or operate witkher software, hardware or cloud offerings,
could delay the development or release of new misdor services or new versions of products orisesy could result in creating security
vulnerabilities in our products or services, andldadversely affect market acceptance of our prtsdar services. This includes third party
software products or services incorporated intocaum. If we experience errors or delays in relegsiar software, hardware or cloud offerings
or new versions thereof, our sales could be affeatel revenues could decline. In addition, we ruacl®’s business operations as well as ¢
and other services that we offer to our customarsuw products and networks. Therefore, any flamdd affect our ability to conduct our
business operations and the operations of our mes® Enterprise customers rely on our softwarehamdware products and services to run
their businesses and errors in our software, hanelaacloud offerings could expose us to prodwdiility, performance and warranty claims as
well as significant harm to our brand and reputgtighich could impact our future sales.

If we are unable to compete effectively, the reswf operations and prospects for our business cooé harmed. Many vendors develop
and market databases, middleware products, apphcdevelopment tools, business applications, boHation products and business
intelligence products, among others, that compdite our software and cloud offerings. These venduckide on-premise software companies
and companies that offer SaaS or cloud computidgoaisiness process outsourcing (BPO) as competitigenatives to buying software and
hardware. Our competitors that offer business apfitins and middleware products may influence éoowsr’'s purchasing decision for the
underlying database in an effort to persuade piaiesustomers not to acquire our products. We ctadd customers if our competitors
introduce new competitive products, add new fumatiity, acquire competitive products, reduce prigeorm strategic alliances with other
companies. We may also face increasing compefitam open source software initiatives in which catijors may provide software and
intellectual property for free. Existing or new coatitors could gain sales opportunities or custema¢iour expense.

Our hardware systems business competes with, agtbegs, (i) systems manufacturers and resellesgsiEms based on our own
microprocessors and operating systems and thasgr aompetitors, (ii) microprocessor/chip manufaets and (iii) providers of storage
products. Our hardware systems business causesompete with companies who historically have bmstners. Some of these competitors
may have more experience than we do in managirsgdwlare business. A large portion of our hardwaoelpcts are based on our SPARC
microprocessor and Oracle Solaris operating syglatform, which has a smaller installed base thetai of our competitors’ platforms and
which may make it difficult for us to win new custers that have already made significant investmiandsir competitorsplatforms. Certain ¢
these competitors also compete very aggressiveprior. A loss in our competitive position couldud in lower revenues or profitability,
which could adversely impact our ability to realthe revenue and profitability forecasts for ourdweare systems business.

Our international sales and operations subject wsadditional risks that can adversely affect ourenating results. We derive a substantial
portion of our revenues from, and have signifiagmerations, outside of the United States. Our lirational operations include software and
hardware systems development, manufacturing, adgesattes, customer support, consulting and otbeices and shared administrative
service centers.

Compliance with international and U.S. laws andutations that apply to our international operationgeases our cost of doing business in
foreign jurisdictions. These laws and regulatiordude U.S. laws and local laws which include gataacy requirements, labor relations laws,
tax laws, anteompetition regulations, prohibitions on paymentgdvernmental officials, import and trade resimics and export requiremer
Violations of these laws and regulations could ltasufines, criminal sanctions against us, ouiagfs or our employees, and prohibitions on
the conduct of our business. Any such violationg@doesult in prohibitions on our ability to offeur products and services in one or more
countries, could delay or prevent potential
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acquisitions and could also materially damage eputation, our brand, our international expansitores, our ability to attract and retain
employees, our business and our operating residtapliance with these laws requires a significanbant of management attention and ef
which may divert management’s attention from rugrimr business operations and could harm our aldigrow our business, or may
increase our expenses as we engage specializéldenraplditional resources to assist us with ourglamce efforts. Our success depends, in
part, on our ability to anticipate these risks amhage these difficulties. We monitor our operatiand investigate allegations of improprieties
relating to transactions and the way in which sinahsactions are recorded. Where circumstancesamtamwe provide information and report
our findings to government authorities, but no amsce can be given that action will not be takesiogh authorities.

We are also subject to a variety of other risks @mallenges in managing an organization operatingrious countries, including those related
to:

» general economic conditions in each country orameg
« fluctuations in currency exchange rates and relmgécts to our operating resul

- difficulties in transferring funds from or convexgj currencies in certain countries such as Venazhek have led to a devaluation of
our net assets, in particular our cash assethatrcbuntr’s currency

 regulatory changes, including government austenigyasures in certain countries that we may not ketatsufficiently plan for or
avoid that may unexpectedly impair bank depositstioer cash assets that we hold in these coumtritgat impose additional taxes
that we may be required to pay in these count

 political unrest, terrorism and the potential foner hostilities, including those in Ukrair

* natural disaster:

» longer payment cycles and difficulties in collegtiaccounts receivabl

» overlapping tax regime:

 our ability to repatriate funds held by our foregubsidiaries to the United States at favorabledtes;
* public health risks, particularly in areas in whigh have significant operations; a

» reduced protection for intellectual property rigimsome countries

The variety of risks and challenges listed abowddalso disrupt or otherwise negatively impactshpply chain operations for our hardware
systems products segment and the sales of our gieodnd services in affected countries or regions.

As the majority shareholder of Oracle FinanciaM8ms Software Limited (OFSS), a publicly tradediém software company focused on the
banking industry, we are faced with several addélaisks, including being subject to local segesitregulations and being unable to exert full
control that we would otherwise have if OFSS wevehally owned subsidiary.

Acquisitions present many risks and we may not iealthe financial and strategic goals that were ¢emplated at the time of a transactio

In recent years, we have invested billionsaifads to acquire a number of companies, prodsetsjices and technologies. An active
acquisition program is an important element of @egrall corporate strategy and we expect to coetiloumake acquisitions in the future. Risks
we may face in connection with our acquisition perg include:

» our ongoing business may be disrupted and our nesineigt’s attention may be diverted by acquisiticemgition or integration
activities;

e an acquisition may not further our business strategwe expected, we may not integrate an acquoetbany or technology as
successfully as we expected or we may overpayfartherwise not realize the expected return onjrauestments, which could
adversely affect our business or operating resmitspotentially cause impairment to assets thateeerded as a part of an acquisition
including intangible assets and goodw
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» we may have difficulties (i) managing an acquiredhpany’s technologies or lines of business; (iteegng new markets where we
have no or limited direct prior experience or whesenpetitors may have stronger market positiongijipretaining key personnel
from the acquired companie

* our operating results or financial condition mayaolwersely impacted by claims or liabilities tha assume from an acquired
company or technology or that are otherwise reltdezh acquisition, including claims from governrmagencies, terminated
employees, current or former customers, formerks$tolclers or other third parties; pre-existing cantual relationships of an acquired
company that we would not have otherwise enterey the termination or modification of which may dstly or disruptive to our
business; unfavorable revenue recognition or adbeounting treatment as a result of an acquirecpaonyis practices; and intellectual
property claims or dispute

« we may fail to identify or assess the magnitudeesfain liabilities, shortcomings or other circuargtes prior to acquiring a company
or technology, which could result in unexpectedéition or regulatory exposure, unfavorable acdogrireatment, unexpected
increases in taxes due, a loss of anticipatedearfits or other adverse effects on our busingssating results or financial conditic

* we may not realize the anticipated increase inrewenues from an acquisition for a number of reasimreluding if a larger than
predicted number of customers decline to renewwsoé or hardware support contracts or cloud-basgbksdcsiption contracts, if we are
unable to sell the acquired products or serviceroff)s to our customer base or if contract modetacquired company do not allc
us to recognize revenues on a timely be

» we may have difficulty incorporating acquired teclugies, products, services and their related sugiphin operations with our
existing lines of business and supply chain infrattire and maintaining uniform standards, architeg controls, procedures and
policies;

« we may have multiple product lines or servicesraffgs as a result of our acquisitions that arereffepriced and supported differen
which could cause customer confusion and de

« we may have higher than anticipated costs in cam@support and development of acquired productewices, in general and
administrative functions that support new busimasslels, or in compliance with associated regulatitiat are more complicated than
we had anticipatec

« we may be unable to obtain timely approvals fronthay otherwise have certain limitations, restoigt, penalties or other sanctions
imposed on us by, worker councils or similar bodirder applicable employment laws as a result acguisition, which could
adversely affect our integration plans in certaimsdictions and potentially increase our integnatand restructuring expens

« we may be unable to obtain required approvals fgjorernmental authorities under competition andiarsti laws on a timely basis, if
at all, which could, among other things, delay mvent us from completing a transaction, otherwéstrict our ability to realize the
expected financial or strategic goals of an actjaisior have other adverse effects on our currasirtess and operatior

» our use of cash to pay for acquisitions may lintliteo potential uses of our cash, including stoglirehases, dividend payments and
retirement of outstanding indebtedne

* we may significantly increase our interest expetesesrage and debt service requirements if we iadditional debt to pay for an
acquisition and we may have to delay or not proegéita substantial acquisition if we cannot obtie necessary funding to
complete the acquisition in a timely manner or avofable terms

 to the extent that we issue a significant amourdopfity securities in connection with future acgigss, existing stockholders may be
diluted and earnings per share may decrease

* we may experience additional or unexpected chaimgesw we are required to account for our acquisgipursuant to U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles, including arrangegmthat we assume from an acquisiti
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The occurrence of any of these risks could havaimnal adverse effect on our business, resultgpefations, financial condition or cash flo
particularly in the case of a larger acquisitiorseveral concurrent acquisitions.

We may experience foreign currency gains and lossedVe conduct a significant number of transactiand hold cash in currencies other
than the U.S. Dollar. Changes in the value of migjogign currencies, particularly the Euro, Japanésn and British Pound relative to the
U.S. Dollar can significantly affect our assetsereues and operating results. Generally, our rea®aand operating results are adversely
affected when the dollar strengthens relative beoturrencies and are positively affected wherdtilar weakens. Generally, our assets that
we report are adversely affected when the doltangthens relative to other currencies as a sa@nifiportion of our consolidated cash and
bank deposits, among other assets, are held igfocarrencies.

During fiscal 2014 and 2013, we incurred foreignrency losses associated with our Venezuelan sialbgidue to it being designated as
operating in a highly inflationary economy and doi¢he subsequent devaluation of the Venezuelaiv&alelative to the U.S. Dollar. We may
incur similar foreign currency losses for counttileat are dealing with similar risks of high inftat, such as in certain Latin American and
other emerging market countries where we do busines

In addition, we incur foreign currency transactgains and losses, primarily related to sublicerss ind other intercompany agreements
among us and our subsidiaries that we expect tostie in the near term, which are charged agearsings in the period incurred. We have
a program which primarily utilizes foreign currerfoyward contracts to offset the risks associaté these foreign currency exposures that
we may suspend from time to time. As a part of phhegram, we enter into foreign currency forwardtcacts so that increases or decreases ir
our foreign currency exposures are offset by gairlesses on the foreign currency forward contraccterder to mitigate the risks and volatility
associated with our foreign currency transactiangar losses. A large portion of our consolidaipdrations are international, and we expect
that we will continue to realize gains or lossethwispect to our foreign currency exposures, hgaims or losses from our foreign currency
forward contracts. For example, we will experiefareign currency gains and losses in certain iregarif it is not possible or cost effective to
hedge our foreign currency exposures or shoulduspend our foreign currency forward contract progr@ur ultimate realized loss or gain
with respect to currency fluctuations will geneyalepend on the size and type of cross-currencgsxps that we enter into, the currency
exchange rates associated with these exposureshandes in those rates, whether we have enter@ibirtign currency forward contracts to
offset these exposures and other factors. All eé¢hfactors could materially impact our resultepdrations, financial position and cash flows.

Our periodic workforce restructurings, including rganizations of our sales force, can be disruptive We have in the past restructured or
made other adjustments to our workforce, includingdirect sales force on which we rely heavilyrésponse to management changes, pr
changes, performance issues, acquisitions and ioieenal and external considerations. In the pghsse types of sales force restructurings
have resulted in increased restructuring costseased sales and marketing costs and temporargaéguoductivity while the sales teams
adjusted to their new roles and responsibilitinsaddition, we may not achieve or sustain the etgglegrowth or cost savings benefits of these
restructurings, or do so within the expected timefe. These effects could recur in connection withre acquisitions and other restructurings
and our revenues and other results of operationlsl tee negatively affected.

Our hardware systems revenues and profitability @bdecline if we do not manage the risks associangth our hardware systems business.

Our hardware systems business may adversegtaftir overall profitability if we do not effecély manage the associated risks. We ma
achieve our estimated revenue, profit or othemfiie projections with respect to our hardware eyst business in a timely manner or at all
due to a number of factors, including:

» as we develop and introduce new versions or nextrg¢ions of our hardware systems products, custmay defer or delay
purchases of existing hardware systems productsvaitdor these new releases, all of which couldeasely affect our hardware
systems revenues in the short te
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» our hardware systems business has higher expehsgsancentage of revenues, and thus has beeprdditable, than our software a
cloud business

» our focus on our more profitable Oracle Engine&gstems, such as our Oracle Exadata Database Machiacle Exalogic Elastic
Cloud and Oracle SuperCluster products, whichratbe relatively early stages of adoption by owstomers, and our de-emphasis of
our lower profit margin commaodity hardware systeansducts that historically constituted a largertipor of our hardware systems
revenues

« we face a greater risk of potential write-downs angairments of inventory, higher warranty expertbes in our software and cloud
and services businesses, higher amortization froéamgible assets, and potential impairment of igitzle assets and goodwiill
associated with our hardware systems businessofthese items could result in material chargesaharsely affect our operating
results;

e we may not be able to increase sales of hardwatersg support contracts or such increase may ¢éalget than we anticipate, which
could result in lower revenues and profitability stower than expected growth of such revenuesaoiitability; and

e we may acquire hardware companies that are stecatgimportant to us but operate in hardware besses with historically lower
operating margins than our own; that leverage diffeplatforms or competing technologies that we sracounter difficulties in
integrating; or that utilize uniqgue manufacturinggesses that affect our ability to scale theseiaed products within our own
manufacturing operation

Our hardware systems offerings are complex produetsd if we cannot successfully manage this comftigxthe results of our hardware
systems business will suffer. Designing, developing, manufacturing and introdgaiew hardware systems products are complicated
processes. The development process for our hardswyatems products is uncertain and requires albigh of innovation. After the
development phase, we must be able to forecasirnestdemand and manufacture new hardware systerdagis in sufficient volumes to
meet this demand and do so in a cost effective sra@ur “build-to-order” manufacturing model, in iwh our hardware systems products
generally are not built until after customers plaogers, may from time to time experience delaydelivering our hardware systems products
to customers in a timely manner. These delays coade our customers to purchase hardware proaindtservices from our competitors. We
must also manage new hardware product introductiodsransitions to minimize the impact of custoeayed purchases of existing
hardware systems products in anticipation of nemhliare systems product releases. It is also pesgibt we could experience design or
manufacturing flaws which could delay or prever pinoduction of the components for which we hawiausly committed to pay or need to
fulfill orders from customers and could also premvée production of our hardware products or causehardware products to be returned,
recalled or rejected resulting in lost revenuesrgases in warranty costs or costs related to riaiea efforts, damage to our reputation,
penalties and litigation.

We depend on suppliers to design, develop, manufaeind deliver on a timely basis the necessarypooents for our hardware products, anc
there are some components that can only be purtiiase a single vendor due to price, quality, temlbgy, availability or other business
constraints. As a result, our supply chain openaticould be disrupted or negatively impacted bymhdisasters, political unrest or other
factors affecting the countries or regions whesséhsingle source component vendors are locatedn&yde unable to purchase these items
from the respective single vendors on acceptabhest®r may experience significant delays or quadisyies in the delivery of necessary par
components from a particular vendor. If we hadnd & new supplier for these parts and componéatslware systems product shipments
could be delayed, which would adversely affectlmandware systems revenues. We could also experikrteations in component prices
which, if unanticipated, could negatively impact bardware systems business cost structure. Thetm$ may make it difficult for us to plan
and procure appropriate component inventory leivetstimely fashion to meet customer demand forlmrdware products. Therefore we may
experience component inventory shortages whichmaswit in production delays or customers choosingurchase fewer hardware products
from us or systems products from our competitors.nggotiate supply commitments with vendors earthé manufacturing process to ensure
we have sufficient components for our hardware petslto meet anticipated
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customer demand. We must also manage our levelslef component inventories used in our hardwapedymts to minimize inventory write-
offs or write-downs. If we have excess inventotynay be necessary to write-down the inventory ciwhwould adversely affect our operating
results. If one or more of the risks described &bmecurs, our hardware systems business and relpezdting results could be materially and
adversely affected.

We are susceptible to third party manufacturing akapistics delays, which could result in the losksales and customers. We outsource
the manufacturing, assembly and delivery of cerdiour hardware products to a variety of compameany of which are located outside the
United States. Our reliance on these third parédsices our control over the manufacturing andrdefiprocess, exposing us to risks, inclut
reduced control over quality assurance, produdsgcpsoduct supply and delivery delays as welhaspolitical and economic uncertainties anc
natural disasters of the international locationgrelcertain of these third party manufacturers tiasidities and operations. Any manufacturing
disruption or logistics delays by these third perttould impair our ability to fulfill orders fonése hardware systems products for extended
periods of time. If we are unable to manage owti@hships with these third parties effectivelyjfdhese third parties experience delays,
disruptions, capacity constraints, regulatory issorequality control problems in their operatioosfail to meet our future requirements for
timely delivery, our ability to ship and deliverrtain of our hardware systems products to our euste could be impaired and our hardware
systems business could be harmed.

We have simplified our supply chain processes dyeig the number of third party manufacturing pars and the number of locations where
these third party manufacturers build our hardvegstems products. We therefore have become moendept on a fewer number of these
manufacturing partners and locations. If thesengastexperience production problems or delays mnaameet our demand for products, we
may not be able to find alternate manufacturing@esiin a timely or cost effective manner, if atlilwe are required to change third party
manufacturers, our ability to meet our scheduladi\vare systems products deliveries to our custocmrkl be adversely affected, which cc
cause the loss of sales and existing or potenigtbmers, delayed revenue recognition or an inergasur hardware systems products
expenses, all of which could adversely affect tleegims of our hardware business.

These challenges and risks also exist when we @cgampanies with hardware products and relateglguhain operations. In some cases
may be dependent, at least initially, on these isedwcompanies’ supply chain operations that wdese familiar with and thus we may be
slower to adjust or react to these challenges iskd.r

Our mixed direct and indirect sales model for ouatdware systems products may not succeed and craddlt in lower hardware revenues
or profits. Disruptions to our software indirect #s channel could affect our future operating red¢sl  Although we sell our hardware
systems products through indirect channels, inolyédependent distributors and value added resellee have enhanced our direct sales
coverage for our hardware products and intenddhatirect sales force will sell a larger portidroar hardware products in the future than
they do now. These direct sales efforts, howeves; nmot be successful. Our relationships with soffmiochannel partners may deteriorate
because we have reduced our reliance on somess gatners for sales of our hardware producthamd modified our approach and timing
to the manufacturing of our products, which codsdult in reduced demand from the channel partrrecertain customer segments serviced by
these channel partners. Some hardware revenueshanmel partners may not be replaced by reveremsrgted from our own sales persol
or may not be replaced as quickly as we exped@dtiition, our sales personnel may not be ableh@gae our sales forecasts for our hardware
business. If we experience any of these riskshatoiware revenues and profits may decline.

Our software indirect channel network is compripdtharily of resellers, system integrators/impletees, consultants, education providers,
internet service providers, network integrators g pendent software vendors. Our relationshipls thiese channel participants are impot
elements of our software marketing and sales sff@ur financial results could be adversely affédteur contracts with channel participants
were terminated, if our relationships with chanpetticipants were to deteriorate, if any of our petitors enter into strategic relationships \
or acquire a significant channel participant, & fmancial condition or operations of our chanpeticipants were to weaken or if the level of
demand for our channel participants’ products and
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services were to decrease. There can be no assuhatave will be successful in maintaining, expagar developing our relationships with
channel participants. If we are not successfulmag lose sales opportunities, customers and regenue

We may not be able to protect our intellectual pesty rights. We rely on copyright, trademark, patent anddraecret laws, confidentiality
procedures, controls and contractual commitmenpsdtect our intellectual property rights. Despite efforts, these protections may be
limited. Unauthorized third parties may try to camyreverse engineer portions of our products betise obtain and use our intellectual
property. Any patents owned by us may be invalidiatecumvented or challenged. Any of our pendinfuture patent applications, whethe
not being currently challenged, may not be issuitd the scope of the claims we seek, if at alladidlition, the laws of some countries do not
provide the same level of protection of our intefilel property rights as do the laws and courthefUnited States. If we cannot protect our
intellectual property rights against unauthorizedying or use, or other misappropriation, we matyramain competitive.

Third parties have claimed and, in the future, majaim infringement or misuse of intellectual propsrrights and/or breach of license
agreement provisions. We periodically receive notices from, or haae$uits filed against us by, others claiming irdement or other
misuse of their intellectual property rights anddoeach of our agreements with them. These thirtigsainclude entities that do not have the
capabilities to design, manufacture, or distripigducts or services or that acquire intellectwapprty like patents for the sole purpose of
monetizing their acquired intellectual propertyoilngh asserting claims of infringement and misuse.ékpect the number of such claims will
increase as:

* we continue to acquire companies and expand intolnsinesses

» the number of products and competitors in our itrgusegments grow:

» the use and support of third party code (includipgn source code) becomes more prevalent in thustiry

» the volume of issued patents continues to incresss

« the proliferation of no-practicing entities asserting intellectual propentyingement claims increase
Responding to any such claim, regardless of itsligl could:

» be time consuming, costly and result in litigati

« divert manageme’s time and attention from developing our busin

* require us to pay monetary damages or enter iptaltsoand licensing agreements that we would notadly find acceptable

 require us to stop selling or to redesign certdiour products

* require us to release source code to third pag@ssibly under open source license tel

* require us to satisfy indemnification obligationsour customers; o

» otherwise adversely affect our business, resultpefations, financial condition or cash floy

We may lose key employees or may be unable todni@igh qualified employees. We rely on the continued service of our senior
management, including our Chief Executive Officed founder, members of our executive team and d&iineemployees and the hiring of n
qualified employees. In the technology industrgréhis substantial and continuous competition fohlly skilled business, product
development, technical and other personnel. Int@tdiacquisitions could cause us to lose key persbof the acquired companies or at
Oracle. We may also experience increased compensaists that are not offset by either improvedipotivity or higher sales. We may not
successful in recruiting new personnel and in nétgi and motivating existing personnel. With raxeeptions, we do not have long-term
employment or non-competition agreements with oopleyees. Members of our senior management team leévOracle over the years for a
variety of reasons, and we cannot assure youlteat till not be additional departures, which maydisruptive to our operations.
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We continually focus on improving our cost struetbly hiring personnel in countries where advaneetriical expertise and other expertise
available at lower costs. When we make adjustntentsir workforce, we may incur expenses associatttdworkforce reductions that delay
the benefit of a more efficient workforce structée may also experience increased competitioerfgsloyees in these countries as the trenc
toward globalization continues, which may affect employee retention efforts and increase our esgem an effort to offer a competitive
compensation program. Our compensation programdesl stock options, which are an important toaittracting and retaining employees in
our industry. If our stock price performs poorlyniay adversely affect our ability to retain oratt employees. In addition, because we
expense all stock-based compensation, we may ifuthee change our stock-based and other compengatactices. Some of the changes we
consider from time to time include a reductiontie humber of employees granted stock options, ictieh in the number of stock options
granted per employee and a change to alternativesfof stock-based compensation, all of which mayehan impact on our ability to retain
employees and also impact the amount of stock-bes@gensation expense that we record. Any chamgasricompensation practices or
changes made by competitors could affect our ghidiretain and motivate existing personnel anduieaew personnel.

Our sales to government clients subject us to besis volatility and risks, including government bueting cycles and appropriations, early
termination, audits, investigations, sanctions apénalties. We derive revenues from contracts with the lddvernment, state and local
governments, and foreign governments and theies@ agencies, which may terminate most of tleeséracts at any time, without cause.
There is increased pressure for governments amdatpencies, both domestically and internationatiyseduce spending. Further, our U.S.
federal government contracts are subject to theoappof appropriations being made by the U.S. Gesgto fund the expenditures under tt
contracts. Similarly, our contracts at the statg lacal levels in the U.S. and our contracts wittefgn governments and their agencies are
generally subject to government funding authoraati Additionally, government contracts are gemgrlbject to audits and investigations
which could result in various civil and criminalrgdties and administrative sanctions, includingnieation of contracts, refund of a portion of
fees received, forfeiture of profits, suspensiopafments, fines and suspensions or debarmentférure government business.

We may need to change our pricing models to competecessfully. The intense competition we face in the salesuofproducts and
services and general economic and business camglitin put pressure on us to change our pricear kompetitors offer deep discounts on
certain products or services or develop productsttie marketplace considers more valuable, wemeay to lower prices or offer other
favorable terms in order to compete successfully such changes may reduce margins and could adyeféect operating results.
Additionally, the increasing prevalence of cloudl &aaS delivery models offered by us and our catopgimay unfavorably impact pricing in
both our on-premise enterprise software busined®ancloud business, as well as overall demanddoon-premise software product and
service offerings, which could reduce our reverares profitability. Our software license updates pratluct support fees and hardware
systems support fees are generally priced as amage of our net new software licenses fees andawve hardware systems products fees,
respectively. Our competitors may offer lower prigion their support offerings, which could put gres on us to further discount our product
or support pricing.

Any broad-based change to our prices and pricitigipe could cause our revenues to decline or teeydd as our sales force implements and
our customers adjust to the new pricing policiesm8 of our competitors may bundle products for prthomal purposes or as a long-term
pricing strategy or provide guarantees of prices pnoduct implementations. These practices cowldr time, significantly constrain the prices
that we can charge for certain of our productsidfdo not adapt our pricing models to reflect clesnig customer use of our products or
changes in customer demand, our revenues couldaierThe increase in open source software distnibmay also cause us to change our
pricing models.

We may not receive significant revenues from ourri@nt research and development efforts for seveyahbrs, if at all. Developing
software, cloud and hardware offerings is expenanathe investment in the development of theserioffs often involves a long return on
investment cycle. We have made and expect to ammtim make significant investments in researchdsvetlopment and related product and
service opportunities both through internal investis and the acquisition of intellectual propergnf companies that we have acquired.
Accelerated product and service introductions drmdtsoftware and hardware life cycles
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require high levels of expenditures for researah @wvelopment that could adversely affect our dpegaesults if not offset by revenue
increases. We believe that we must continue tocdéelia significant amount of resources to our rebeand development efforts to maintain
our competitive position. However, we do not exgeateceive significant revenues from these invesits for several years, if at all.

Business disruptions could adversely affect our ogéng results. A significant portion of our research and depahent activities and

certain other critical business operations are entrated in a few geographic areas. We are a hagltlymated business and a disruption or
failure of our systems could cause delays in cotmgesales and providing services, including sofeun cloud offerings. A major earthqua
fire or other catastrophic event that results sndestruction or disruption of any of our critibalsiness or IT systems could severely affect oul
ability to conduct normal business operations asda result, our future operating results coulchbterially and adversely affected.

Adverse litigation results could affect our busire: We are subject to various legal proceedingsgafion can be lengthy, expensive and
disruptive to our operations, and can divert ounaggement’s attention away from the running of augibess. The results of our litigation also
cannot be predicted with certainty. An adversesdenicould result in monetary damages or injuncatelief that could affect our business,
operating results or financial condition. Additibir#formation regarding certain of the lawsuits are involved in is discussed under Note 1
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements incluesewhere in this Annual Repc

We may have exposure to additional tax liabilities.As a multinational corporation, we are subjedhcome taxes as well as non-income
based taxes, in both the United States and vaftwagyn jurisdictions. Significant judgment is réxpd in determining our worldwide provision
for income taxes and other tax liabilities. We aagularly under audit by tax authorities and thagthorities often do not agree with positions
taken by us on our tax returns.

Changes in tax laws or tax rulings may have a Bagritly adverse impact on our effective tax r&ter example, the United States, many
countries in the European Union, and other cousitiirere we do business, are actively consideriag@s in relevant tax, accounting and
other laws, regulations and interpretations, iniciga&thanges to tax laws applicable to corporateinatlonals, which, if enacted, could have a
significant adverse impact on our effective taer&urther, in the ordinary course of a global bess, there are many intercompany
transactions and calculations where the ultimataéiermination is uncertain. Our intercompany gfanpricing has been and is currently
being reviewed by the U.S. Internal Revenue Ser{tR€) and by foreign tax jurisdictions and wikdly be subject to additional audits in the
future. We have negotiated certain unilateral AdeaRricing Agreements with the IRS and certainctetebilateral Advance Pricing
Agreements that cover many of our intercompanysfiearpricing issues and preclude the relevant télxaities from making a transfer pricing
adjustment within the scope of these agreementseMer, these agreements do not cover substargialegits of our transfer pricing. In
addition, our provision for income taxes could beersely affected by earnings being lower thancgrdted in jurisdictions which we consider
to be indefinitely reinvested outside the Unitedt&s that have lower statutory tax rates and egsriring higher than anticipated in
jurisdictions that have higher statutory tax ra

We are also subject to non-income based taxes,asiphyroll, sales, use, valadeed, net worth, property and goods and servicest in bot
the United States and various foreign jurisdictioffe are regularly under audit by tax authoritiéthwespect to these non-income based taxe
and may have exposure to additional non-incomedbtseliabilities. Our acquisition activities hawereased our non-income based tax
exposures, particularly with our entry into thedvaare systems business, which increased the vaumi€omplexity of laws and regulations
that we are subject to and with which we must cgmpl

Although we believe that our income and rinoeme based tax estimates are reasonable, theoeaissurance that the final determination o
audits or tax disputes will not be different frorhat is reflected in our historical income tax psdwns and accruals.

Charges to earnings resulting from acquisitions maglversely affect our operating results. Under business combination accounting
standards pursuant to ASC 8®aisiness Combinationave recognize the identifiable assets acquireal|itibilities assumed and any non-
controlling interests in acquired companies geteedltheir
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acquisition date fair values and, in each caseraggly from goodwill. Goodwill as of the acquisitidate is measured as the excess amount
consideration transferred, which is also generalyasured at fair value, and the net of the actprisitate amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. Our estimeftésir value are based upon assumptions belikvé@ reasonable but which are inherently
uncertain. After we complete an acquisition, théofeing factors could result in material charges alversely affect our operating results and
may adversely affect our cash flows:

 costs incurred to combine the operations of congsawie acquire, such as transitional employee ergearsd employee retention,
redeployment or relocation expens

« impairment of goodwill or intangible assets, intadar within our hardware systems products orstiting reporting units, for which
the amounts of goodwill and intangible assetsweahave recorded increased in recent years anccardinue to increase in the
future, and for which we have experienced revemneior margin declines as compared to prior ye

» amortization of intangible assets acquir
« areduction in the useful lives of intangible assatquired

« identification of or changes to assumed contingjabtlities, both income tax and non-income tavatetl, after our final determination
of the amounts for these contingencies or the csimh of the measurement period (generally up yaar from the acquisition dat
whichever comes firs

» charges to our operating results to maintain aedaplicative pre-merger activities for an extengedod of time or to maintain these
activities for a period of time that is longer thaa had anticipated, charges to eliminate certaplicative pre-merger activities, and
charges to restructure our operations or to reduceost structure

» charges to our operating results due to expensesrad to effect the acquisition; a
» charges to our operating results due to the expgmdicertain stock awards assumed in an acquis

Substantially all of these costs will be accourftadas expenses that will decrease our net incardesarnings per share for the periods in
which those costs are incurred. Charges to ouratipgrresults in any given period could differ salpsially from other periods based on the
timing and size of our future acquisitions andéfeent of integration activities. A more detaild@daission of our accounting for business
combinations and other items is presented in th@it@l Accounting Policies and Estimates” sectairManagemeng Discussion and Analys
of Financial Condition and Results of Operatiorier(l 7).

There are risks associated with our outstanding afiudiure indebtedness. As of May 31, 2014, we had an aggregate ofZBdlion of
outstanding indebtedness that will mature betwbenémainder of calendar 2014 and calendar 204@vanday incur additional indebtedness
in the future. Our ability to pay interest and rgfze principal for our indebtedness is dependponwur ability to manage our business
operations, generate sufficient cash flows to serguch debt and the other factors discussedsrsé#ution. There can be no assurance that we
will be able to manage any of these risks succégsfu

We may also need to refinance a portion of ourtantling debt as it matures. There is a risk thamag not be able to refinance existing debt
or that the terms of any refinancing may not béaaerable as the terms of our existing debt. Furttoge, if prevailing interest rates or other
factors at the time of refinancing result in highderest rates upon refinancing, then the integgpense relating to that refinanced indebtec
would increase. Should we incur future increasestarest expense, our ability to utilize certafroor foreign tax credits to reduce our U.S.
federal income tax could be limited, which couldaworably affect our provision for income taxes affibctive tax rate. In addition, changes
by any rating agency to our outlook or credit rgttould negatively affect the value of both ourtdsid equity securities and increase the
interest amounts we pay on outstanding or futube. dehese risks could adversely affect our finanoiadition and results of operations.

Environmental and other related laws and regulatisisubject us to a number of risks and could redualsignificant liabilities and costs.
Some of our cloud and hardware systems operatiensudject to state, federal and international lgexserning protection of the environment,
proper handling and disposal of materials
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used for these offerings, human health and sadety regulating the use of certain chemical substar&e endeavor to comply with these
environmental and other laws, yet compliance witthslaws could increase our product design, dewedop, procurement, manufacturing,
delivery and administration costs, limit our alyilib manage excess and obsolete non-compliant ioierchange our sales activities, or
otherwise impact future financial results of owsud and hardware systems businesses. Any violafititese laws can subject us to significant
liability, including fines, penalties and possilplehibition of sales of our products and servicis bne or more states or countries and result
a material adverse effect on the financial conditio results of operations of our cloud and hardveyistems businesses. The U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission has adopted disclosur@eetgnts for companies that use certain “conflicierals” (commonly referred to as
tantalum, tin, tungsten and gold) in their produ€ar supply chain is multi-tiered, global and Higbomplex. As a provider of hardware
systems end products, we are several steps renfimradhe mining and smelting or refining of any fglict minerals” in our supply chain.
Accordingly, our ability to determine with certajrthe origin and chain of custody of “conflict mmaés” is limited. Our relationships with
customers and suppliers could suffer if we are lentbdescribe our products as “conflict-free.” Wiay also face increased costs in complying
with conflict mineral disclosure requirements. grsficant portion of our hardware systems reveraggse from international sales.
Environmental legislation within the European Un{&W), including the EU Directive on Restrictiontdhzardous Substances (RoHS) and
Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment Direc(WEEE Directive), as well as China’s regulationManagement Methods for Controlling
Pollution Caused by Electronic Information Produntsy increase our cost of doing business internalip and impact our hardware systems
revenues from EU countries and China as we endéavcamply with and implement these requirememsddition, similar environmental
legislation has been or may be enacted in oth&djgtions, the cumulative impact of which coulddignificant.

Our stock price could become more volatile and yauwestment could lose value. All of the factors discussed in this sectiomldoaffect ou
stock price. The timing of announcements in theipubarket regarding new products, product enhamegsor technological advances by our
competitors or us and any announcements by usqoiigitions, major transactions, or management absuguld also affect our stock price.
Changes in the amounts and frequency of sharealepses or dividends could adversely affect outkgtoice. Our stock price is subject to
speculation in the press and the analyst commuttignges in recommendations or earnings estimgtisancial analysts, changes in
investors’ or analysts’ valuation measures forgiock, our credit ratings and market trends unedléd our performance. A significant drop in
our stock price could also expose us to the riskecbirities class actions lawsuits, which couldltés substantial costs and divert
management’s attention and resources, which calvdraely affect our business.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2.  Properties

Our properties consist of owned and leased officdifies for sales, support, research and devetspintonsulting, manufacturing and
administrative personnel. Our headquarters fadilitysists of approximately 2.0 million square feeRedwood City, California, substantially
all of which we own. We lease our principal intdrmanufacturing facility for our hardware systemeducts in Hillsboro, Oregon. We also
own or lease other office facilities for curreneuwnsisting of approximately 24.1 million squagetfin various other locations in the United
States and abroad. We believe our facilities agoid condition and suitable for the conduct of lousiness. Approximately 2.9 million square
feet, or 11%, of total owned and leased spacehiesar is being actively marketed for subleasdisposition.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The material set forth in Note 18 of Notes to Cdigsted Financial Statements in Item 15 of this B&alnrReport on Form 10-K is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
None.
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PART Il

ltem 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stoc&hiaxge under the symbol “ORCL”. Prior to July 1612, our common stock traded on
the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symboR@L". According to the records of our transfer agere had 12,111 stockholders of
record as of May 31, 2014. The following table setth the low and high sale prices per share ofommmon stock, based on the last daily
sale, in each of our last eight fiscal quarters.

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013
Low Sale High Sale Low Sale High Sale
Price Price Price Price
Fourth Quarter $37.5( $42.2( $31.2¢ $ 36.3¢
Third Quartel $33.2¢ $ 39.11 $31.61] $ 36.21
Second Quarte $32.02 $ 35.2¢ $29.5¢ $ 33.1(
First Quarte! $29.9¢ $ 34.4( $26.0( $ 32.2(

We declared and paid cash dividends totaling $amB$0.30 per outstanding common share over theseat fiscal 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

In June 2014, our Board of Directors declared atqus cash dividend of $0.12 per share of our aunding common stock payable on July 30
2014 to stockholders of record as of the closeusfriess on July 9, 2014. We currently expect tdicoa paying comparable cash dividends

a quarterly basis; however, future declarationdiwflends and the establishment of future recod@ayment dates are subject to the final
determination of our Board of Directors.

For equity compensation plan information, pleagerr® Item 12 in Part IIl of this Annual Report.

Stock Repurchase Progran

Our Board of Directors has approved a program $aiourepurchase shares of our common stock. On2Iyr2g013, we announced that our
Board of Directors approved an expansion of outkstepurchase program by an additional $12.0 billlspproximately $4.3 billion remained
available for stock repurchases as of May 31, 2irduant to our stock repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not hawxpination date and the pace of our repurchaseitsatill depend on factors such as our
working capital needs, our cash requirements fquiastions and dividend payments, our debt repayrabligations or repurchases of our dt
our stock price and economic and market conditiGns.stock repurchases may be effected from tintierte through open market purchase
pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan. Our stock repucpasgram may be accelerated, suspended, delaybscontinued at any time.

The following table summarizes the stock repurcleasiwity for the three months ended May 31, 2044 the approximate dollar value of
shares that may yet be purchased pursuant to ack spurchase program:

Total Number of
Shares Purchased ¢

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares tha

Total Number of Average Price Part of Publicly May Yet Be
Shares Paid per Announced Purchased
(in millions, except per share amounts Purchased Share Program Under the Program
March 1, 201—March 31, 201« 16.¢ $ 38.7¢ 16.¢ $ 5,640.¢
April 1, 2014—April 30, 2014 16.: $ 40.14 16.2 $ 4,984.:
May 1, 201—May 31, 201 15.¢ $ 415i 15.¢ $ 4,328.:
Total 49.C $ 40.1- 49.C
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Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Rett

The graph below compares the cumulative total $toldler return on our common stock with the cumutatbtal return of the S&P 500 Index
and the S&P Information Technology Index for eatthe last five fiscal years ended May 31, 2014uasng an investment of $100 at the
beginning of such period and the reinvestment gfdividends. The comparisons in the graphs bel@based upon historical data and are nc
indicative of, nor intended to forecast, futurefpanance of our common stock.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"
Among Oracle Corporation, the 5&P 500 Index, and the S&P Information Technology Indeax
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*$100 INVESTED ON MAY 31, 2009 IN STOCK OR
INDEX-INCLUDING REINVESTMENT OF DIVIDENDS
5/09 5/10 5/11 5/12 5/13 5/14
Oracle Corporation 100.0¢ 116.2: 177.5. 138.4: 178.3t 224.9.
S&P 500 Inde) 100.0C 120.9¢ 152.3¢ 151.7¢ 193.1f 232.6¢
S&P Information Technology Inde 100.0¢ 128.47 155.6: 167.4( 192.7. 238.7¢t
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected financialalas of and for the last five fiscal years. Heitected financial data should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial stataetseand related notes included in Iltem 15 of tm&idal Report. Over the last five fiscal
years, we have acquired a number of companiesdmgusun Microsystems, Inc. in fiscal 2010, amotigees. The results of our acquir
companies have been included in our consolidatexthiial statements since their respective datasapfisition and have contributed to our
growth in revenues, income, earnings per shard¢aatiassets.

As of and for the Year Ended May 31

(in millions, except per share amounts 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Total revenue $ 38,27¢ $ 37,18( $ 37,12 $ 35,62: $ 26,82(
Operating incomi $ 14,75¢ $ 14,68 $ 13,70¢ $ 12,03 $ 9,062
Net income $ 10,95 $ 10,92t $ 9,981 $ 8547 $ 6,13t
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 23 $ 22 $ 19 $ 167 $ 1.21
Diluted weighted average common shares outstar 4,60¢ 4,84« 5,09t 5,12¢ 5,07:
Cash dividends declared per common s $ 048 $ 03C $ 022 $ 021 $ 0.2
Consolidated Balance Sheets Dati

Working capital® $ 33,74¢ $ 28,82( $ 24,63¢ $ 24,98. $ 12,31
Total asset $ 90,34« $81,81: $ 78,327 $ 73,53t $ 61,57¢
Notes payable and other borrowir® $ 24,17¢ $ 18,49: $ 16,47: $ 15,92 $ 14,65!

(@) Total working capital sequentially increased iastperiods primarily due to the favorable impaobtir net current assets resulting from our nedrine generated during these periods
and the issuances of long-term senior notes of Kiflién and $3.0 billion in fiscal 2014, $5.0 hdh in fiscal 2013 and $3.25 billion in fiscal 20Mhese increases were partially offset
by cash used for acquisitions, repurchases of canstark and dividend payments made in all perigdsgnted and repayments of certain of our seni@snio fiscal 2013, 2011 and
2010.

(2 Our notes payable and other borrowings, whichesgmted the summation of our notes payable, dumrehother current borrowings, and notes payatdeather non-current
borrowings as reported per our consolidated balaheets as of the dates listed in the table alhowesased between fiscal 2010 and 2014 due tstuances of long-term senior notes
of €2.0 billion and $3.0 billion in fiscal 2014 a®$8.0 billion in fiscal 2013, $1.7 billion and $5.billion of short-term borrowings made pursuanoim revolving credit agreements in
fiscal 2012 and 2011, respectively, and $3.25drillbf long-term senior notes in fiscal 2011. Se¢éeNbof Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateméntfided elsewhere in this
Annual Report, for additional information regardiogr notes payable and other borrowir
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ltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis &inancial Condition and Results of Operations

We begin Management’s Discussion and Analysis oéftial Condition and Results of Operations witltoaarview of our key operating
business segments and significant trends. Thisv/aaxeiis followed by a summary of our critical acoting policies and estimates that we
believe are important to understanding the asswmgtnd judgments incorporated in our reportechfiia results. We then provide a more
detailed analysis of our results of operations famehcial condition.

Business Overview

We are the world largest provider of enterprise software and diteggprovider of computer hardware products andises that are engineel

to work together in the cloud and in the data ae@er offerings include Oracle database and middte software, application software, cloud
infrastructure, hardware systems—including compséever, storage and networking products—and ilstevices. We develop and maintain
our products and services to be enterprise-gratleble, secure and interoperable while offeringtomers a choice in deployment models tha
best meet their information technology (IT) neddsr customers can subscribe to use many Oracla@ftand hardware products through
Oracle Cloud offerings, or purchase our softwarm lsrdware products and related services to biudat bwn internal clouds or on-premise IT
environments.

Cloud computing IT environments, including thosteodd through our Oracle Cloud Software-as-a-Ser{8asS), Platform-as-a-Service
(PaaS) and Infrastructure-as-a-Service offeringsdasigned to be attractive and cost-effectiveoaptfor our customers as we integrate the
software and hardware on the customers’ behalf ienvironments that we deploy, support and managb® customers’ behalf. We are a
leader in the core technologies of cloud computimguding database and middleware software asagelieb-based applications,
virtualization, clustering, large-scale systems aggment and related infrastructure. Our produddssarvices are the building blocks of our
own cloud services, our partners’ cloud services@ur customers’ cloud IT environments. An impottiement of our corporate strategy is to
deliver reliable, secure and scalable productssandces that are built upon industry standardsamadengineered to work both together or
independently, regardless of the deployment masletted.

We believe that our investments in, and continmeavation with respect to, our software and cldwddware, and services businesses are th
foundation of our londerm strategic plans. In fiscal 2014, 2013, and220# invested $5.2 billion, $4.9 billion and $4i8idn, respectively, ir
research and development to enhance our existirifpli@ of products and services and to develop pesducts and services. We have
expanded our enterprise-grade cloud computingiafferthrough our continued investments in reseanthdevelopment and through targeted
acquisitions in order to broaden our Oracle Cloffdrings. For example, our Oracle Cloud Software&ervice offerings, including our sali
marketing, customer service, financials, projechaggement, human capital and talent management stutions, among others, enable us to
provide IT functionality that customers can uset@nage critical business functions in a rapidlylojgble delivery model with lower upfront
customer investment. Certain of our enterprise-gaddud computing offerings include infrastructbased upon our Oracle Engineered
Systems, including our Oracle Exadata Database Mac®racle Exalogic Elastic Cloud and Oracle SGhester products, among others. We
designed our Oracle Engineered Systems to comkentaic of our hardware and software offerings tyéase computing performance relative
to our competitors’ products, creating cost efficies, time savings and operational cost advanfagesir customers. Our Oracle Engineered
Systems provide the core infrastructure for our awspremise IT data centers and those of our custemnd for cloud IT environments,
including our own Oracle Cloud services, our partheloud services and our customers’ cloud envitents. We also continue to demonstrate
our commitment to customer choice through ongomgaacements to our Oracle E-Business Suite, SiEkepleSoft and JD Edwards
application software products and services, amaonietrs.

We believe that an active acquisition program istla@r important element of our corporate strategif anhances the products and services
we can offer to customers, expands our custome, Ipagvides greater scale to accelerate innovagiaws our revenues and earnings and
increases stockholder value. In recent years, we imwvested billions of dollars to acquire a numbiecompanies, products, services and
technologies that add to, are complementary thage otherwise enhanced our existing offerings éWfeect to continue to acquire companies
products, services and technologies to furthercoyporate strategy.
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We are organized into three businesses—softwareland, hardware systems and services—which atkdudivided into certain operating
segments. Each of our businesses and operatingeségjitas unique characteristics and faces diffeqgmbrtunities and challenges. Although
we report our actual results in U.S. Dollars, wadigct a significant number of transactions in aueres other than U.S. Dollars. Therefore, we
present constant currency information to provideamework for assessing how our underlying busieegerformed excluding the effects of
foreign currency rate fluctuations. Our cloud isfracture-as-a-service segment was establishedglauir fiscal quarter ended May 31, 2014.
Our fiscal 2014 results, and historical resultsfiecal 2013 and 2012, reflect this new segmenicsitire and will continue prospectively in our
future filings. See Note 16 of Notes to Consolida&nancial Statements, included elsewhere in&hisual Report, for additional information
related to our operating segments. An overviewusftbree businesses and related operating segfiodntss.

Software and Cloud Busines

Our software and cloud business, which represertét], 75% and 72% of our total revenues in fiscd @013 and 2012, respectively, is
comprised of three operating segments: (1) newvsoét licenses and cloud software subscriptionsgl@®)d infrastructure-as-a-service and
(3) software license updates and product supparta Gonstant currency basis, we expect that otwacd and cloud business’ total revenues
generally will continue to increase due to contoshdemand for our software products and subscripiféarings, our software license updates
and product support offerings, including the highgentage of customers that renew their softwaes$ie updates and product support
contracts, and our acquisitions, which should alleto grow our profits and continue to make inwesits in research and development.

New Software Licenses and Cloud Software Subscoipsi:  We license our database and middleware, asaselur application software, €
provide access to a broad range of our softwareigir Oracle Cloud Software-as-a-Service (SaaSaadle Cloud Platform-as-a-Service
(PaaS) offerings (SaaS and PaasS collectively &eereel to as cloud software subscriptions). Outvgafe offerings are substantially built on a
standarddased, integrated architecture that is designdelmcustomers reduce the cost and complexityeif th infrastructure. Our softwa
offerings are substantially designed to operatbath single server and clustered server configumatfor cloud or opremise IT environment
and to support a choice of operating systems imogu@racle Solaris, Oracle Linux, Microsoft Windowusd third party UNIX products, among
others. Our customers include businesses of maeg,gjovernment agencies, educational institutmiasresellers. We market and sell our
software products and services to these customidrsavgales force positioned to offer the comboradithat best fit their needs. We enable
customers to evolve and transform to substantaally | T environment at whatever pace is most appatefor them.

The growth in our new software licenses and ouSSaad PaaS revenues that we report is affecteldebsttength of general economic and
business conditions, governmental budgetary cansdrahe competitive position of our software offfigs, our acquisitions and foreign
currency fluctuations. The substantial majorityoaf new software licenses transactions are chaiaetEby long sales cycles and the timing of
a few large software license transactions can auohbatly affect our quarterly new software licensegenues. New software licenses and clouc
software subscriptions revenues represented 28%rdbtal revenues in each of fiscal 2014 and 201827% in fiscal 2012. Our cloud
software subscriptions contracts, which consiSadS and PaaS arrangements, are generally orregoytfars in duration and we strive to
renew these contracts when they are eligible foewal. Our new software licenses and cloud softwabescriptions segment’s margin has
historically trended upward over the course offthe quarters within a particular fiscal year dadhe historical upward trend of our new
software licenses revenues over those quarterlggeand because the majority of our costs forghgment are predominantly fixed in the
short-term. However, our new software licensesadodd software subscriptions segment’s margin leenland will continue to be affected by
the fair value adjustments relating to the clouitvgare subscriptions obligations that we assumealinbusiness combinations (described
further below) and by the amortization of intangilblssets associated with companies and technolbgiese have acquired.

For certain of our acquired businesses, we recaad@ggstments to reduce the cloud SaaS and Paagabditis to their estimated fair values at

the acquisition dates. As a result, as requiredusiness combination accounting rules, we did @bgnize cloud SaaS and PaaS revenues

related to acquired contracts that would have lotkeerwise recorded by the acquired businesseslapémdent entities in the amounts of $17
million, $45 million
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and $22 million in fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, extjvely. To the extent underlying cloud SaaS aad3contracts are renewed with us
following an acquisition, we will recognize the exwes for the full values of these contracts dveir respective contractual periods.

Cloud Infrastructure-as-a-Service: Our cloud infrastructure-as-a-service offeringa@a which represented 1% of our total revenuesah
of fiscal 2014 and 2013 and 2% in fiscal 2012, rexdeployment and management offerings for oumsot and hardware and related IT
infrastructure including virtual machine instantlest are subscription-based and designed for cangpand reliable and secure object storage
Oracle Engineered Systems hardware and relatedduppt are deployed in our customers’ data cerftara monthly fee; and comprehensive
software and hardware management and maintenandeesearrangements for customer IT infrastrucfarea stated term that is hosted at our
data center facilities, select partner data cemtephysically on-premise at customer facilities.

Software License Updates and Product Suppt Customers that purchase software license updaite product support are granted rights to
unspecified product upgrades and maintenance eseasl patches released during the term of theostupgriod, as well as technical support
assistance. Our software license updates and predpport contracts are generally one year in curatnd substantially all of our customers
renew their software license updates and prodygiat contracts annually. The growth of softwacetise updates and product support
revenues is primarily influenced by three fact¢t3:the percentage of our software support contrastomer base that renews its software
support contracts, (2) the amount of new softwappert contracts sold in connection with the séleew software licenses and (3) the amoun
of software support contracts assumed from compaméhave acquired.

Software license updates and product support regenuhich represented 47%, 46% and 43% of our tet@nues in fiscal 2014, 2013 and
2012, respectively, is our highest margin busingss Our software support margins during fiscal2@vere 89% and accounted for 77% of
our total margins over the same period. Our softvliaense updates and product support margins lheee affected by fair value adjustments
relating to software support obligations assumealisiness combinations (described further belowl)namortization of intangible assets.
However, over the longer term, we believe thatvgarfe license updates and product support revemeemargins will grow for the following
reasons:

 substantially all of our customers, including cuséwss from acquired companies, renew their soft@apport contracts when eligible
for renewal;

» substantially all of our customers purchase sofi@ense updates and product support contracta Wisy buy new software licens
resulting in a further increase in our softwarepsurpcontract base. Even if new software licensgsmues growth was flat, software
license updates and product support revenues veouttinue to grow in comparison to the correspongirigr year periods assuming
contract renewal and cancellation rates and foreigrency rates remained relatively constant sgutestantially all new software
licenses transactions result in the sale of sofiaense updates and product support contracishvelld to our software support
contract base; ar

* our acquisitions have increased our software sugooitract base, as well as the portfolio of prasawailable to be licensed and
supported

We recorded adjustments to reduce software suppéigations assumed in business combinations io ¢ésémated fair values at the
acquisition dates. As a result, as required byrtass combination accounting rules, we did not reizegsoftware license updates and product
support revenues related to software support coistthat would have been otherwise recorded bwadheired businesses as independent
entities in the amounts of $3 million, $14 milliand $48 million in fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, exsjvely. To the extent underlying software
support contracts are renewed with us followingequisition, we will recognize the revenues forfillevalues of the software support
contracts over the respective support periodsyiierity of which are one year.

Hardware Systems Busine:

Our hardware systems business is comprised of peoating segments: (1) hardware systems produdt¢2amardware systems support. Our
hardware business represented 14% of our totahtegein each of fiscal 2014 and 2013 and 17% @afi2012. We expect our hardware
business to have lower operating margins as a
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percentage of revenues than our software and ¢lasithess due to the incremental costs we incuradyze and distribute these products and
to provide support services, including direct miatsrand labor costs. We expect to make investniemesearch and development to improve
existing hardware products and services and toldpveew hardware products and services.

Hardware Systems Product We provide a broad selection of hardware systend related services including servers, storagtejorking,
virtualization software, operating systems, and ag@ment software to support diverse IT environmenttuding cloud computing
environments. We engineer our hardware systemswivitialization and management capabilities to éné#the rapid deployment and efficient
management of cloud and on-premise IT infrastrestu®ur hardware products support many of the veolddgest cloud infrastructures,
including the Oracle Cloud.

Our hardware products and services are designedroin customer environments that may include o@eacle or non-Oracle hardware or
software components. This flexible and open appgrgeiovides Oracle’s customers with a broad rangehofces in deploying hardware
systems, which we believe is a priority for ourtonsers. Our hardware products and services algotbeheet customers’ demands to manage
growing amounts of data and business requirementgeet increasing compliance and regulatory demanddgo reduce energy, space and
operational costs. We have also engineered ounaaedsystems products to create performance arrdtapeal cost advantages for customers
when our hardware and software products are cordl@aeéOracle Engineered Systems.

We offer a wide range of server systems using ®&FRC microprocessor. Our SPARC servers run thel®&alaris operating system and are
designed to be differentiated by their reliabil#gcurity, and scalability. Our mid-size and lasgevers are designed to offer greater
performance and lower total cost of ownership tmainframe systems for business critical applicatidor customers having more
computationally intensive needs, and as platfomn®fiilding cloud computing IT environments. OurAREC servers are also a core compo

of the Oracle SuperCluster, one of our Oracle Eewyiad Systems.

We also offer enterprise x86 servers. These x8G&seare based on microprocessor platforms froel @drporation and are compatible with
Oracle Solaris, Oracle Linux, Microsoft Windows asttier operating systems. Our x86 servers areaatswme component of many of our Or:
Engineered Systems including Oracle Exadata Dagaldashine, Oracle Exalogic Elastic Cloud, Oraclaltics In-Memory Machine and the
Oracle Big Data Appliance.

Our storage products are designed to securely neapagtect, archive and restore customers’ missitical data assets and consist of tape,
disk, flash and hardware-related software includilegsystems software, back-up and archive softveard storage management software and
networking for mainframe and open systems enviranme

Our networking and data center fabric productduitiog Oracle Virtual Networking, and Oracle Infd@nd and Ethernet technologies, are |
with our server and storage products and are iatediinto our management tools to help enterprstomers improve infrastructure
performance, reduce cost and complexity and sinptifirage and server connectivity. We also offedWware and software products and
services for communications networks including retsignaling, policy control and subscriber datnegement solutions, and session bc
control technology, amongst others.

The majority of our hardware systems products ale@ through indirect channels, including independ#stributors and value added resellers.

To produce our hardware products, we rely on bathrdernal manufacturing operations as well asgltparty manufacturing partners. Our
internal manufacturing operations consist primaoflynaterials procurement, assembly, testing araditgjucontrol of our Oracle Engineered
Systems and certain of our enterprise and dat@iceatvers and storage systems. For all other raetwing, we generally rely on third party
manufacturing partners to produce our hardwarg¢agleomponents and hardware products and we maijvaour internal manufacturing
operations in the final assembly, testing and ¢yiabntrol processes for these components and ptedwe distribute most of our hardware
products either from our facilities or partner fiigis. We strive to reduce costs by simplifying emanufacturing processes through increased
standardization of components across product tgpdsa “build-to-order” manufacturing process in ethproducts generally are built only
after customers have placed firm orders.
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Our hardware systems products revenues, cost diaae systems products and hardware systems apgemtirgins that we report are affec
by our strategy for and the competitive positiomof hardware systems products, the strength afrgeaconomic and business conditions,
governmental budgetary constraints, certain ofamguisitions and foreign currency rate fluctuatidnsaddition, our operating margins for our
hardware systems products segment have been drzbwiffected by the amortization of intangibleedss

Our quarterly hardware systems products revenweditiicult to predict. The timing of customer ordeand delays in our ability to timely
manufacture or deliver a few large hardware traiisas could substantially affect the amount of etk systems products revenues, expens
and operating margins that we report.

Hardware Systems Support: Our hardware systems support offerings provideotusts with software updates for software componitatis
are essential to the functionality of our servearage and networking products, such as OracleiSaad certain other software products, and
can include product repairs, maintenance serviaddechnical support services. Typically, our haadwsystems support contract arrangen
are invoiced to the customer at the beginning efstiippport period and are one year in duration. ¥éirue to evolve hardware systems
support processes that are intended to proactistehtify and solve quality issues and to increageamount of new and renewed hardware
systems support contracts sold in connection \kighsiles of our hardware systems products. Ounaaedsystems support revenues that we
report are influenced by a number of factors, iditlg the volume of purchases of hardware prodtieésmix of hardware products purchased,
whether customers decide to purchase hardwarensysigpport contracts at or in close proximity t® tiime of hardware product sale, the
percentage of our hardware systems support corwatdmer base that renews its support contradt®anacquisitions. Substantially all of
these factors are heavily influenced by our custshtiecisions to either maintain or upgrade thgisting hardware systems’ infrastructure to
newly developed technologies that are available.

Our hardware systems support margins have beewidirzk affected by certain of our acquisitions amthted accounting, including fair value
adjustments relating to hardware systems supptigations assumed, and by the amortization of igitale assets. As required by business
combination accounting rules, we recorded adjuststenreduce our hardware systems support revdouesntracts assumed from our
acquisitions to their estimated fair values. Thas®unts would have been recorded as hardware sysigoport revenues by the acquired
businesses as independent entities in the amotififislamillion, $14 million and $30 million for fisd 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. To
the extent underlying hardware systems supportactstare renewed with us following an acquisitiwa,will recognize the revenues for the
full values of the hardware systems support cotgrager the respective support periods.

Services Busines

Our services business, which represented 10% dbtairrevenues in fiscal 2014 and 11% in eachsohf 2013 and 2012, is comprised of the
remainder of our operating segments. Our servioeBbss has lower margins than our software andl@nd hardware businesses. Our
services revenues are impacted by certain of ayuisitions, general economic conditions, governmlgmidgetary constraints, personnel
reductions in our customers’ IT departments, tightentrols over discretionary spending and the dinaw our software and hardware systems
products revenues. Our services business’ offefimgade:

» consulting services that are designed to help ostoeners and global system integrator partners sugeessfully architect and deploy
our products including IT strategy alignment, eptise architecture planning and design, initialduret implementation and
integration, and ongoing product enhancements pgdades. We utilize a global, blended delivery niddl@ptimize value for our
customers and partners, consisting of on-premissuttants from local geographies, industry spestmknd consultants from our
global delivery and solution cente

» advanced customer support services, which are gedvdn-premise and remotely to our customers tblerniacreased performance
and higher availability of their Oracle productsla®rvices; an

» education services for Oracle products and seryvioekiding training and certification programstthee offered to customers, partners
and employees through a variety of formats, inclgdnstructor-led classes at our education cenligesyirtual training, self-paced
online training, private events and custom train
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Acquisitions

An active acquisition program is another importalement of our corporate strategy. In recent yemeshave invested billions of dollars to
acquire a number of complementary companies, ptedservices and technologies including Resporegs(Responsys) and Tekelec Global,
Inc. (Tekelec) in fiscal 2014, and Acme Packet, (Acme Packet) in fiscal 2013, amongst others.

On June 22, 2014, we entered into an AgreemenP&ndof Merger (Merger Agreement) with MICROS SysdeInc. (MICROS), a provider
of integrated software, hardware and services isoisito the hospitality and retail industries. Riarg to the Merger Agreement, we will
commence a tender offer for the outstanding shemdsshares generally representing vested equigniive awards of MICROS (collectively,
MICROS Shares). MICROS shareholders will have itletto tender their MICROS Shares to Oracle inhexge for $68.00 per share in cash
upon consummation of the tender offer. The tenffer avill commence no later than ten business deys June 22, 2014. After completion of
the tender offer and subject to certain limiteddibans, MICROS will merge with and into a whollywaed subsidiary of Oracle. In addition,
unvested equity awards to acquire MICROS commockstmat are outstanding immediately prior to thaatosion of the merger will generally
be converted into equity awards denominated ineshaf our common stock based on formulas contam#te Merger Agreement. The
estimated total purchase price for MICROS is apipnaxely $5.3 billion. This transaction is conditemhupon (i) at least a majority of the
MICROS Shares being validly tendered to Oraclgréigulatory clearance under the Hart-Scott-Rodintitrust Improvements Act of 1976,
(iii) the applicable merger control laws of the &pean Commission and other jurisdictions, andd@rjain other customary closing conditions.

We believe our acquisition program strengthenscounpetitive position, enhances the products andcgsy that we can offer to customers,
expands our customer base, provides greater scatélerate innovation, grows our revenues andregs and increases stockholder value.
We expect to continue to acquire companies, pragdsetvices and technologies in furtherance otorporate strategy. Note 2 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsesvimethis Annual Report provides additional infotioa related to our pending and recent
acquisitions.

We believe we can fund our pending and future aitijpis with our internally available cash, cashieglents and marketable securities, cash
generated from operations, additional borrowinggamn the issuance of additional securities. Waregte the financial impact of any potential
acquisition with regard to earnings, operating rmargash flow and return on invested capital tadpetfore deciding to move forward with an
acquisition.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogmtiinciples (GAAP) as set forth in the
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) Aatting Standards Codification (ASC) and considentiigous staff accounting bulletins
and other applicable guidance issued by the Urgtates Securities and Exchange Commission (SECARGAs set forth within the ASC,
requires us to make certain estimates, judgmemtsssumptions. We believe that the estimates, jed¢grand assumptions upon which we
rely are reasonable based upon information availetbus at the time that these estimates, judgnaemts&issumptions are made. These
estimates, judgments and assumptions can affecefploeted amounts of assets and liabilities ab@fiate of the financial statements as well g
the reported amounts of revenues and expensegdbgerperiods presented. To the extent there #eretices between these estimates,
judgments or assumptions and actual results, nanéiial statements will be affected. The accounpioigcies that reflect our more significe
estimates, judgments and assumptions and whichelievb are the most critical to aid in fully undersding and evaluating our reported
financial results include the following:

» Revenue Recognitic

» Business Combinatior

» Goodwill and Intangible Asse—Impairment Assessmer
» Accounting for Income Taxe

» Legal and Other Contingenci

» Stocl-Based Compensatic
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In many cases, the accounting treatment of a jpéattitransaction is specifically dictated by GAARIadoes not require management’s
judgment in its application. There are also areagshich manageme’s judgment in selecting among available alternativeuld not produce
materially different result. Our senior managentes reviewed our critical accounting policies agldted disclosures with the Finance and
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Revenue Recognitio

Our sources of revenues include: (1) software dmabcrevenues, including new software licensesmags earned from granting licenses to
our software products; cloud SaaS and PaaS revgenesated from fees for granting customers adoes$road range of our software and
related support offerings on a subscription bass $ecure, standards-based cloud computing emvéot) cloud laaS revenues generated fron
fees for deployment and management offerings foisoftware and hardware and related IT infrastmecgenerally on a subscription basis;
software license updates and product support regr{d) hardware systems revenues, which incluelsdle of hardware systems products
including computer servers, storage products, nédwg and data center fabric products, and hardwgséems support revenues; and

(3) services, which includes software and hardwelegted services including consulting, advancedotnsr support and education revenues.
Revenues generally are recognized net of any wolected from customers and subsequently remittepbvernmental authorities.

Revenue Recognition for Software Products and Softvirelated Services (Software Elements)

New software licenses revenues primarily reprefesg earned from granting customers licenses tousdatabase, middleware &

application software and exclude cloud SaaS an& Paznues and revenues derived from softwaresé&apdates, which are included in
software license updates and product support regefthe basis for our new software licenses reveseagnition is substantially governed by
the accounting guidance contained in ASC 985-&aftware-Revenue Recognitidke exercise judgment and use estimates in conmegitb
the determination of the amount of software antinso®e related services revenues to be recognizeddh accounting period.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we recognize new
software licenses revenues when: (1) we enteranégally binding arrangement with a customer ffigr license of software; (2) we deliver the
products; (3) the sale price is fixed or determieamnd free of contingencies or significant undaties; and (4) collection is probable.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eftesdause the foregoing conditions are not meteaegnized when those conditions are
subsequently met.

Substantially all of our software license arrangetsaelo not include acceptance provisions. Howef/atceptance provisions exist as part of
public policy, for example, in agreements with goweent entities where acceptance periods are ejby law, or within previously executed
terms and conditions that are referenced in theentingreement and are short-term in nature, wergéy recognize revenues upon delivery
provided the acceptance terms are perfunctory hiath&r revenue recognition criteria have been. ietcceptance provisions are not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions dha long-term in nature or are not included aadrd terms of an arrangement), revenues
are recognized upon the earlier of receipt of emittustomer acceptance or expiration of the aceeptaeriod.

The vast majority of our software license arrangaiménclude software license updates and prodymiat contracts, which are entered into a
the customer’s option and are recognized ratabdy the term of the arrangement, typically one y8aftware license updates provide
customers with rights to unspecified software patdypgrades, maintenance releases and patchesagléaring the term of the support per
Product support includes internet access to teehnantent, as well as internet and telephone adoatgchnical support personnel. Software
license updates and product support contractsearerglly priced as a percentage of the net newvaddtlicenses fees. Substantially all of our
customers renew their software license updategpeottlict support contracts annually.

Revenue Recognition for Multi-Element Arrangements- Software Products and Software Related Servicdsn@® Arrangements)

We often enter into arrangements with customerspghichase both software related products and asoétwelated services from us at the same
time, or within close proximity of one another @etd to as software related multiple-element geaments). Such software related multiple-
element arrangements include the sale of our sodtaducts, software license updates and prodipgicst contracts and other software
related services whereby software license deliiefgllowed by the subsequent or contemporaneolisgedy of the other elements. For those
software related multiple-element arrangementshaxe applied the residual method to
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determine the amount of new software license reeemo be recognized pursuant to ASC 985-605. Utgeresidual method, if fair value
exists for undelivered elements in a multiple-elatre@rangement, such fair value of the undelivedledhents is deferred with the remaining
portion of the arrangement consideration generaltpgnized upon delivery of the software license. &Nocate the fair value of each element
of a software related multiple-element arrangenbased upon its fair value as determined by our eesplecific objective evidence (VSOE—
described further below), with any remaining amaaltdcated to the software license.

Revenue Recognition for Cloud SaaS, PaaS and |&a8rgs, Hardware Systems Products, Hardware 8ysteupport and Related Services
(Nonsoftware Elements)

Our revenue recognition policy for nonsoftware d@lables including cloud SaaS, PaaS and laaS mifgrhardware systems products and
hardware systems related services is based up@tdoenting guidance contained in ASC 605R&yenue RecognitigiMultiple-Element
Arrangementsand we exercise judgment and use estimates in cbonavith the determination of the amount of cl&&haS, PaaS and laaS
revenues, hardware systems products revenues etddra related services revenues to be recognizedah accounting period.

Revenues from the sales of our nonsoftware elenagateecognized when: (1) persuasive evidence afrmmgement exists; (2) we deliver the
products and passage of the title to the buyerrsc¢8) the sale price is fixed or determinabled é4) collection is reasonably assured.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eftmdause the foregoing conditions are not meteaagnized when those conditions are
subsequently met. When applicable, we reduce regefur estimated returns or certain other incergiaggrams where we have the ability to
sufficiently estimate the effects of these item$iéné an arrangement is subject to acceptanceiarited the acceptance provisions are not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions déha long-term in nature or are not included asdard terms of an arrangement), revenues
are recognized upon the earlier of receipt of emittustomer acceptance or expiration of the aceeptperiod.

Our cloud SaaS and PaaS offerings generally praideomers access to certain of our software wahtioud-based IT environment that we
manage and offer to customers on a subscriptiois.liRevenues for our cloud SaaS and PaaS offesirgggenerally recognized ratably over
contract term commencing with the date our serisigeade available to customers and all other reweacognition criteria have been satisf

Our cloud laaS offerings provide deployment and ag@ment offerings for our software and hardwarerataded IT infrastructure including
comprehensive software and hardware managememhaimienance services arrangements for customerfidsiructure for a stated term that
is hosted at our data center facilities, seledneardata centers or physically on-premise at castdacilities generally for a term-based fee;
and virtual machine instances that are subscrigigsed and designed for computing and reliablesandre object storage. Revenues for thes
cloud laaS offerings are generally recognized tgtaber the contract term commencing with the dhgeservice is made available to custor
and all other revenue recognition criteria havenbsagisfied. Our cloud laaS offerings also inclode Oracle Engineered Systems hardware
related support that are deployed on-premise ircostomers’ data centers for a monthly fee andigeofor the purchase of additional capacity
on demand. Our revenue recognition policy for th@s@remise offerings is in accordance with ASC 688 ASC 840l_eases and
substantially all of these offerings are accourfitecs operating leases as our contracts are staatso that the term of the arrangement is les
than 75% of the economic life of the equipment tredpresent value of the minimum fixed paymentdess than 90% of the fair market value
of the equipment at the inception of the arrangdn@uar evaluation of useful life is based on owtdiiical product development cycles and ou
historical customer hardware upgrade cycles. Capanidemand is a contingent payment and is thexefecluded from our assessment of the
net present value of fixed payments. Revenue fpacity on demand is recognized in the period ostauers access additional capacity
provided all other revenue recognition criteriad&een met.

Revenues from the sale of hardware systems prodejatssent amounts earned primarily from the sbt®mputer servers, storage, and
networking products, including the sales of ourclrd&ngineered Systems.

Our hardware systems support offerings generatlyige customers with software updates for the saféwcomponents that are essential to th
functionality of our server and storage productd ean also include product repairs, maintenancgcas and technical support services.
Hardware systems support contracts are generatiggoas a percentage of the net hardware systerdsqis fees. Hardware systems support
contracts are entered
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into at the customer’s option and are recognizéabtg over the contractual term of the arrangemenitich are typically one year.

Revenue Recognition for Multi-Element Arrangements—Cloud SaaS, PaaS and laa8r@#, Hardware Systems Products, Hardware
Systems Support and Related Services (Nonsoftweegkments)

We enter into arrangements with customers thathase both nonsoftware related products and serfrim@sus at the same time, or within
close proximity of one another (referred to as némgre multiple-element arrangements). Each elémwéhin a nonsoftware multiplelemen
arrangement is accounted for as a separate uadoofunting provided the following criteria are ntae delivered products or services have
value to the customer on a standalone basis; arahfarrangement that includes a general righttofrn relative to the delivered products or
services, delivery or performance of the undelidgyeduct or service is considered probable asdlistantially controlled by us. We consider
a deliverable to have standalone value if the prbduservice is sold separately by us or anotkeder or could be resold by the customer.
Further, our revenue arrangements generally dinohtde a general right of return relative to thedivered products. Where the aforementic
criteria for a separate unit of accounting aremet, the deliverable is combined with the undetrdeglement(s) and treated as a single unit of
accounting for the purposes of allocation of tharmgement consideration and revenue recognitiontHése units of accounting that include
more than one deliverable but are treated as #esimit of accounting, we generally recognize rexeasnover the delivery period or in the case
of our cloud offerings, generally over the estindatestomer relationship period. For the purposesw#nue classification of the elements that
are accounted for as a single unit of accountirggallocate revenue to the respective revenuetimesi within our consolidated statements of
operations based on a rational and consistent melhgy utilizing our best estimate of relative sg]lprices of such elements.

For our nonsoftware multiple-element arrangememésallocate revenue to each element based onigsptice hierarchy at the arrangement’s
inception. The selling price for each element isdubupon the following selling price hierarchy: iS® available, third party evidence (TPE)
if VSOE is not available, or estimated selling priESP) if neither VSOE nor TPE are available dption as to how we determine VSOE,
TPE and ESP is provided below). If a tangible hanamsystems product includes software, we determirether the tangible hardware
systems product and the software work togetheelioar the product’s essential functionality arfdsa, the entire product is treated as a
nonsoftware deliverable. The total arrangementidenation is allocated to each separate unit obaeting for each of the nonsoftware
deliverables using the relative selling pricesadteunit based on the aforementioned selling griesarchy. We limit the amount of revenue
recognized for delivered elements to an amountishabt contingent upon future delivery of addiibproducts or services or meeting of any
specified performance conditions.

When possible, we establish VSOE of selling praredeliverables in software and nonsoftware mudtiplement arrangements using the price
charged for a deliverable when sold separatelyfansioftware license updates and product suppatthandware systems support, based on th
renewal rates offered to customers. TPE is estatliby evaluating similar and interchangeable cditgpgoroducts or services in standalone
arrangements with similarly situated customersvdfare unable to determine the selling price bee®®0E or TPE does not exist, we
determine ESP for the purposes of allocating thengement by reviewing historical transactionsluding transactions whereby the
deliverable was sold on a standalone basis anddarimgy several other external and internal factocguiding, but not limited to, pricing
practices including discounting, margin objectiveampetition, contractually stated prices, the gaphies in which we offer our products and
services, the type of customer (i.e., distributatue added reseller, government agency and diretuser, among others) and the stage of the
product lifecycle. The determination of ESP is mdeugh consultation with and approval by our ngeamaent, taking into consideration our
pricing model and go-to-market strategy. As oupur competitors’, pricing and go-to-market strégsgevolve, we may modify our pricing
practices in the future, which could result in ofpasto our determination of VSOE, TPE and ESP. Aesalt, our future revenue recognition
for multiple-element arrangements could differ materially framn i@sults in the current period. Selling prices analyzed on an annual basi
more frequently if we experience significant changeour selling prices.
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Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable to botht®@afe and Nonsoftware Elements

Revenue Recognition for Multi-Element Arrangements- Arrangements with Software and Nonsoftware Elements

We also enter into multiple-element arrangemerdsniay include a combination of our various sofevaalated and nonsoftware related
products and services offerings including new safenlicenses, software license updates and predpgtort, cloud SaaS, PaaS and laaS
offerings, hardware systems products, hardwaresyssupport, consulting, advanced customer supporices and education. In such
arrangements, we first allocate the total arrangermensideration based on the relative sellinggsriof the software group of elements as a
whole and to the nonsoftware elements. We thehdumllocate consideration within the software grtaithe respective elements within that
group following the guidance in ASC 98®5 and our policies as described above. Afteathengement consideration has been allocated
elements, we account for each respective elemeheiarrangement as described above.

Other Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable tim&oe and Nonsoftware Elements

Many of our software arrangements include consyliitimplementation services sold separately undesuting engagement contracts and are
included as a part of our services business. Cngukvenues from these arrangements are genadbunted for separately from new
software licenses revenues because the arrangequalify as services transactions as defined in A88-605. The more significant factors
considered in determining whether the revenuesldhmuaccounted for separately include the natfisewices (i.e., consideration of whether
the services are essential to the functionalitsheflicensed product), degree of risk, availabitifyservices from other vendors, timing of
payments and impact of milestones or acceptantariaron the realizability of the software licerise. Revenues for consulting services are
generally recognized as the services are perforthddtere is a significant uncertainty about thejpct completion or receipt of payment for
consulting services, revenues are deferred uibticertainty is sufficiently resolved. We estimidige proportional performance on contracts
with fixed or “not to exceed” fees on a monthly isagilizing hours incurred to date as a percentafgetal estimated hours to complete the
project. If we do not have a sufficient basis tcaswee progress towards completion, revenues aogmeed when we receive final acceptance
from the customer that the services have been aiathlWhen total cost estimates exceed revenueacevae for the estimated losses
immediately using cost estimates that are based apaverage fully burdened daily rate applicabléhé consulting organization delivering
the services. The complexity of the estimation pescand factors relating to the assumptions, askisuncertainties inherent with the
application of the proportional performance metbbdccounting affects the amounts of revenues alated expenses reported in our
consolidated financial statements. A number ofrmakand external factors can affect our estimates ding labor rates, utilization and
efficiency variances and specification and testeguirement changes.

Our advanced customer support services are ofteatihindalone arrangements or as a part of arramgeho customers buying other software
and non-software products and services. We offesedtadvanced support services, both on-premiseearate, to Oracle customers to enable
increased performance and higher availability efrtproducts and services. Depending upon the @atiuthe arrangement, revenues from tl
services are recognized as the services are pextbomratably over the term of the service penwlich is generally one year or less.

Education revenues are also a part of our serbigsimess and include instructor-led, media-basddraarnet-based training in the use of our
software and hardware products. Education reveargegcognized as the classes or other educafienngfs are delivered.

If an arrangement contains multiple elements areb dmt qualify for separate accounting for the pobénd service transactions, then new
software licenses revenues and/or hardware sygisgdsicts revenues, including the costs of hardwgséems products, are generally
recognized together with the services based omacirsiccounting using either the percentage-of-detiom or completed-contract method.
Contract accounting is applied to any bundled safénand cloud, hardware systems and services amays: (1) that include milestones or
customer specific acceptance criteria that maycaffellection of the software license or hardwaretams product fees; (2) where consulting
services include significant modification or custeation of the software or hardware systems produetre of a specialized nature and
generally performed only by Oracle;
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(3) where significant consulting services are pdedi for in the software license contract or haréwsystems product contract without
additional charge or are substantially discounteds) where the software license or hardware systgroduct payment is tied to the
performance of consulting services. For the purpadeevenue classification of the elements thatacounted for as a single unit of
accounting, we allocate revenues to software andafowvare elements based on a rational and consistethodology utilizing our best
estimate of the relative selling price of such daats.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentalesntontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof convenience” provisions, when such
provisions are required by law, to determine thabpbility of possible cancellation. We consider tiplg factors, including the history with the
customer in similar transactions, the “essential' w$ the software or hardware systems productsti@glanning, budgeting and approval
processes undertaken by the governmental entitye lietermine upon execution of these arrangentieatshe likelihood of cancellation is
remote, we then recognize revenues once all ofriteria described above have been met. If suaiterchination cannot be made, revenues al
recognized upon the earlier of cash receipt or@agrof the applicable funding provision by the govnental entity.

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinalie diime of sale and recognize revenues if abiotbvenue recognition requirements are
met. Our standard payment terms are net 30 dayset#r, payment terms may vary based on the coimtiich the agreement is executed.
Payments that are due within six months are gdgetaémed to be fixed or determinable based orsoccessful collection history on such
arrangements, and thereby satisfy the requiredrizifor revenue recognition.

While most of our arrangements for sales within lousinesses include short-term payment terms, we &atandard practice of providing
long-term financing to creditworthy customers priityathrough our financing division. Since fisca89, when our financing division was
formed, we have established a history of colle¢twithout concessions, on these receivables wiimeat terms that generally extend up to
five years from the contract date. Provided aleottevenue recognition criteria have been met,egegnize new software licenses revenues
and hardware systems products revenues for theemggaments upon delivery, net of any payment distsofiom financing transactions. We
have generally sold receivables financed througtfinancing division on a non-recourse basis tedtipiarty financing institutions within 90
days of the contractglates of execution and we classify the proceeds fhese sales as cash flows from operating aet$viti our consolidate
statements of cash flows. We account for the sHldsese receivables as “true sales” as definédSi@ 860,Transfers and Servicingas we ar
considered to have surrendered control of thesadimg receivables.

In addition, we enter into arrangements with leggiompanies for the sale of our hardware systeoduats. These leasing companies, in turn
lease our products to end-users. The leasing casgpganerally have no recourse to us in the eviesiefault by the end-user and we recognizc
revenue upon delivery, if all other revenue rectignicriteria have been met.

Our customers include several of our suppliersaésionally, we have purchased goods or servizesuf operations from these vendors at
or about the same time that we have sold our ptedadhese same companies (Concurrent Transact®ofware license agreements or sale:
of hardware systems that occur within a thme@nath time period from the date we have purchasedig or services from that same custome
reviewed for appropriate accounting treatment aasdlasure. When we acquire goods or services framstomer, we negotiate the purchase
separately from any sales transaction, at termsomsider to be at arm’s length and settle the @selin cash. We recognize revenues from
Concurrent Transactions if all of our revenue rexdtign criteria are met and the goods and senacegiired are necessary for our current
operations.

Business Combination

We apply the provisions of ASC 80Business Combinationsn the accounting for our acquisitions. It re@sius to recognize separately from
goodwill the assets acquired and the liabilitiesuased at their acquisition date fair values. Gotichgi of the acquisition date is measured as
the excess of consideration transferred over thefrtbe acquisition date fair values of the asaetwiired and the liabilities assumed. While wi
use our best estimates and assumptions to acguvatak assets acquired and liabilities assuméueadcquisition date as well as contingent
consideration, where applicable, our estimate$ndwerently uncertain and subject to refinementaAssult, during the measurement period,
which may be up to one year from the acquisitiote dae record adjustments to the assets
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acquired and liabilities assumed with the corresjpanoffset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of timeasurement period or final
determination of the values of assets acquirethbilities assumed, whichever comes first, any sghent adjustments are recorded to our
consolidated statements of operations.

Accounting for business combinations requires canagement to make significant estimates and asgumpespecially at the acquisition d
including our estimates for intangible assets, @mital obligations assumed, restructuring liaibsit pre-acquisition contingencies and
contingent consideration, where applicable. AltHoug believe the assumptions and estimates werhade in the past have been reasonable
and appropriate, they are based in part on histiogicperience and information obtained from the ag@ment of the acquired companies and
are inherently uncertain.

Examples of critical estimates in valuing certdithe intangible assets we have acquired includetminot limited to:

 future expected cash flows from software licendess&loud SaaS and PaaS contracts, hardware sypteduct sales, support
agreements, consulting contracts, other customdraxis, acquired developed technologies and s

» expected costs to develop theprocess research and development into commereialbfe products and estimated cash flows fron
projects when complete

» the acquired company’s brand and competitive positis well as assumptions about the period of tiraecquired brand will
continue to be used in the combined com|'s product portfolio; an

 discount rates
Unanticipated events and circumstances may ocatinty affect the accuracy or validity of such agstions, estimates or actual results.

We estimate the fair values of our cloud SaaS @aabRcollectively, cloud software subscriptionsffware license updates and product
support, and hardware systems support obligatissisraed. The estimated fair values of these perfaceabligations are determined utilizing
a cost build-up approach. The cost build-up appgraatermines fair value by estimating the costeel to fulfilling the obligations plus a
normal profit margin. The estimated costs to fltfie obligations are based on the historical dicests related to providing the services
including the correction of any errors in the prouacquired. The sum of these costs and openatofty approximates, in theory, the amount
that we would be required to pay a third partygsume the performance obligations. We do not irchutly costs associated with selling effi
or research and development or the related fuldiitrmargins on these costs. Profit associatedamighselling efforts is excluded because the
acquired entities would have concluded those sgé#iifiorts on the performance obligations priortte cquisition date. We also do not include
the estimated research and development costs ifaiowalue determinations, as these costs areemmed to represent a legal obligation at th
time of acquisition. As a result, we did not reciagrcloud SaaS and PaaS revenues related to ckafl &d PaaS contracts in the amounts o
$17 million, $45 million and $22 million that woulthve been otherwise recorded by the acquired bssiis as independent entities in fiscal
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. We did not reizegsoftware license updates and product suppeenues related to support contracts in
the amounts of $3 million, $14 million and $48 oifl that would have been otherwise recorded bytigiired businesses as independent
entities in fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectiviel addition, we did not recognize hardware systsupport revenues related to hardware
systems support contracts that would have otherses@a recorded by the acquired businesses as mdieqteentities in the amounts of $11
million, $14 million and $30 million for fiscal 2@ 2013 and 2012, respectively. Historically, sahsally all of our customers, including
customers from acquired companies, renew theiwso# license updates and product support contvdwts the contracts are eligible for
renewal and we strive to renew cloud SaaS and RBad8ardware systems support contracts. To thateoiteud SaaS and PaaS, software
support or hardware systems support contracteamwed, we will recognize the revenues for theviallies of the contracts over the contracts
periods, which are generally one year in duration.

In connection with a business combination or offteategic initiative, we may estimate costs assediwith restructuring plans committed to
by our management. Restructuring costs are typicalinprised of employee severance costs, costsnsiotidating duplicate facilities and
contract termination costs. Restructuring expeasedased upon plans that have been committed dartbypanagement, but may be refined in
subsequent periods.
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We account for costs to exit or restructure cerdaitivities of an acquired company separately ftbenbusiness combination pursuant to ASC
420, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligation# liability for costs associated with an exit osplosal activity is recognized and measured aits f
value in our consolidated statement of operatiarthe period in which the liability is incurred. \&h estimating the fair value of facility
restructuring activities, assumptions are applegghrding estimated sub-lease payments to be reeibéch can differ materially from actual
results. This may require us to revise our ingistimates which may materially affect our resuftsmerations and financial position in the
period the revision is made.

For a given acquisition, we may identify certaie4aicquisition contingencies as of the acquisitiatednd may extend our review and
evaluation of these pre-acquisition contingendiesughout the measurement period in order to olstafficient information to assess whether
we include these contingencies as a part of therédile estimates of assets acquired and liaksildEsumed and, if so, to determine their
estimated amounts.

If we cannot reasonably determine the fair valua pfe-acquisition contingency (non-income taxteglaby the end of the measurement
period, which is generally the case given the matdrsuch matters, we will recognize an assetliabdlity for such pre-acquisition contingency
if: (i) it is probable that an asset existed oiadility had been incurred at the acquisition datd (ii) the amount of the asset or liability can b
reasonably estimated. Subsequent to the measurgerod, changes in our estimates of such conticigewill affect earnings and could have
a material effect on our results of operations famahcial position.

In addition, uncertain tax positions and tax relateluation allowances assumed in connection withsiness combination are initially
estimated as of the acquisition date. We reevalhatge items quarterly based upon facts and cinzunoss that existed as of the acquisition
date with any adjustments to our preliminary estéwdoeing recorded to goodwill if identified withime measurement period. Subsequent to
the measurement period or our final determinatioihe tax allowance’s or contingency’s estimateti@awhichever comes first, changes to
these uncertain tax positions and tax related tialmallowances will affect our provision for incentaxes in our consolidated statement of
operations and could have a material impact onmesults of operations and financial position.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets— Impairment Assessments

We review goodwill for impairment annually and wiegar events or changes in circumstances indicataitying value may not be
recoverable in accordance with ASC 3Blangibles—Goodwill and OtherAccording to ASC 350, we can opt to perform aligatave
assessment to test a reporting unit's goodwilifgrairment or we can directly perform the two stepairment test. Based on our qualitative
assessment, if we determine that the fair valuerefporting unit is more likely than not (i.e. jkelihood of more than 50 percent) to be less
than its carrying amount, the two step impairmest will be performed. In the first step, we congptire fair value of each reporting unit to its
carrying value. If the fair value of the reportingit exceeds the carrying value of the net asssigi@ed to that unit, goodwill is not considered
impaired and we are not required to perform furtketing. If the carrying value of the net assstgmed to the reporting unit exceeds the fair
value of the reporting unit, then we must perfohm $econd step of the impairment test in ordeeterchine the implied fair value of the
reporting unit's goodwill. If the carrying value afreporting unit's goodwill exceeds its impliedr faalue, then we would record an impairment
loss equal to the difference.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit imves the use of significant estimates and assumptibhese estimates and assumptions in
revenue growth rates and operating margins usedltolate projected future cash flows, risk-adjdstsscount rates, future economic and
market conditions and determination of appropnmteket comparables. We base our fair value estsr@ateassumptions we believe to be
reasonable but that are unpredictable and inhgrantertain. Actual future results may differ fréhose estimates. In addition, we make
certain judgments and assumptions in allocatingeshassets and liabilities to determine the cagymlues for each of our reporting units. Our
most recent annual goodwill impairment analysisiciwhvas performed on March 1, 2014, did not reisuét goodwill impairment charge, nor
did we record any goodwill impairment in fiscal Z0dr 2012. Our consulting and hardware systemsuatsdeporting units have experienced
revenues and operating margin declines in fisca#i28s compared to prior years. As a result, ouswting and hardware systems products
reporting units may be at greater risk for gooduailpairment than our other reporting units if oatual results for these reporting units differ
from our projections.
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We make judgments about the recoverability of paseld finite lived intangible assets whenever eventhanges in circumstances indicate
that an impairment may exist. Each period we evaltlze estimated remaining useful lives of purctlaseangible assets and whether events
changes in circumstances warrant a revision teehmining periods of amortization. Recoverabilityioite lived intangible assets is measurec
by comparison of the carrying amount of the assété future undiscounted cash flows the assefdeaed to generate. We review indefinite
lived intangible assets for impairment annually arfgtnever events or changes in circumstances tedica carrying value may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of indefinite livedangible assets is measured by comparison of thgimgramount of the asset to its fair value
the asset is considered to be impaired, the anafarty impairment is measured as the differencerdt the carrying value and the fair value
of the impaired asset.

Assumptions and estimates about future values@mdining useful lives of our intangible and othmerd-lived assets are complex and
subjective. They can be affected by a variety ofdis, including external factors such as induatrgt economic trends and internal factors suc
as changes in our business strategy and our ihfeneaasts. Although we believe the historicalumsptions and estimates we have made are
reasonable and appropriate, different assumptindsatimates could materially impact our reportedrfcial results. We did not recognize any
intangible asset impairment charges in fiscal 2@04,3 or 2012.

Accounting for Income Taxe:

Significant judgment is required in determining ewarldwide income tax provision. In the ordinaryucse of a global business, there are man
transactions and calculations where the ultimate@tacome is uncertain. Some of these uncertaiatiss as a consequence of revenue sharir
and cost reimbursement arrangements among relat#igés the process of identifying items of reves@and expenses that qualify for
preferential tax treatment and segregation of preind domestic earnings and expenses to avoidaltaxation. Although we believe that our
estimates are reasonable, the final tax outcontieese matters could be different from that whicreftected in our historical income tax
provisions and accruals. Such differences coule lamaterial effect on our income tax provision aatlincome in the period in which such
determination is made.

Our effective tax rate includes the impact of dartandistributed foreign earnings for which no Ut&es have been provided because such
earnings are planned to be indefinitely reinvesigidide the United States. Remittances of foreagniags to the United States are planned
based on projected cash flow, working capital anvé$tment needs of our foreign and domestic opgrstBased on these assumptions, we
estimate the amount that will be distributed tolthméted States and provide U.S. federal taxes esetamounts. Material changes in our
estimates as to how much of our foreign earningidoeidistributed to the United States or tax legien that limits or restricts the amount of
undistributed foreign earnings that we consideefimitely reinvested outside the United States douéterially impact our income tax
provision and effective tax rate.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our defetax assets to the amount that is more likedy thot to be realized. In order for us to
realize our deferred tax assets, we must be alglerierate sufficient taxable income in those juciszhs where the deferred tax assets are
located. We consider future growth, forecastedirgs) future taxable income, the mix of earningthim jurisdictions in which we operate,
historical earnings, taxable income in prior yedrsarryback is permitted under the law and prudem feasible tax planning strategies in
determining the need for a valuation allowancehievent we were to determine that we would natde to realize all or part of our net
deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustmethietaleferred tax assets valuation allowance wbeldharged to earnings in the period in wi
we make such a determination, or goodwill wouldabisted at our final determination of the valuatidiowance related to an acquisition
within the measurement period. If we later detemnrilmt it is more likely than not that the net defd tax assets would be realized, we would
reverse the applicable portion of the previousiyvated valuation allowance as an adjustment toiegsrt such time.

We calculate our current and deferred tax provikiased on estimates and assumptions that couét #liéfim the actual results reflected in
income tax returns filed during the subsequent.y&djustments based on filed returns are generaliprded in the period when the tax return:
are filed and the global tax implications are knowhich can materially impact our effective taxerat

The amount of income tax we pay is subject to amgeiudits by federal, state and foreign tax autiestiwhich often result in proposed
assessments. Our estimate of the potential outéonasy uncertain tax issue is highly
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judgmental. A description of our accounting policassociated with tax related contingencies ass@®@dpart of a business combinatio
provided under “Business Combinatiorziove. For those tax related contingencies that@tra part of a business combination, we accaan
these uncertain tax issues pursuant to ASC I'ddme Taxeswhich contains a two-step approach to recogniaimdj measuring uncertain tax
positions taken or expected to be taken in a taxmeThe first step is to determine if the weightwvailable evidence indicates that it is more
likely than not that the tax position will be suetad in an audit, including resolution of any rethiappeals or litigation processes. The second
step is to measure the tax benefit as the largestiat that is more than 50% likely to be realizedmultimate settlement. Although we beli
we have adequately reserved for our uncertain @akipns, no assurance can be given with respebetfinal outcome of these matters. We
adjust reserves for our uncertain tax positionstdughanging facts and circumstances, such addkig of a tax audit, judicial rulings, and
refinement of estimates or realization of earniogdeductions that differ from our estimates. Te ¢xtent that the final outcome of these
matters is different than the amounts recordedj slifterences generally will impact our provisiar income taxes in the period in which such
a determination is made. Our provisions for incdeaes include the impact of reserve provisions@rahges to reserves that are considered
appropriate and also include the related intenedtpeenalties.

In addition, as a part of our accounting for bussneombinations, intangible assets are recogniziedr a¥alues and goodwill is measured as th
excess of consideration transferred over the nigbated fair values of assets acquired. Impairnseatges associated with goodwill are
generally not tax deductible and will result ininoreased effective income tax rate in the peri@ad &ny impairment is recorded. Amortization
expenses associated with acquired intangible aseetpenerally not tax deductible pursuant to aistiag tax structure; however, deferred
taxes have been recorded for non-deductible anatidiz expenses as a part of the accounting fonbasicombinations. We have taken into
account the allocation of these identified intategtamong different taxing jurisdictions, includitigpse with nominal or zero percent tax rates
in establishing the related deferred tax liabiitie

Legal and Other Contingencie

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusagh significant matter and assess our
potential financial exposure. A description of agcounting policies associated with contingencessimed as a part of a business combinatio
is provided under “Business Combinations” above.|Egal and other contingencies that are not agfatbusiness combination, we accrue a
liability for an estimated loss if the potentiabfofrom any claim or legal proceeding is considgmetbable and the amount can be reasonably
estimated. Significant judgment is required in bibitlh determination of probability and the deterrtioraas to whether the amount of an
exposure is reasonably estimable. Because of @ictes related to these matters, accruals araedlmadg on the best information available at
the time the accruals are made. As additional médion becomes available, we reassess the potéaliity related to our pending claims and
litigation and may revise our estimates. Such remisin the estimates of the potential liabilitesild have a material impact on our results of
operations and financial position.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for share-based payments to employesading grants of employee stock options, regdatock-based awards and purchases
under employee stock purchase plans, in accordaiticedASC 718,Compensation—Stock Compensatiwhich requires that share-based
payments (to the extent they are compensatoryg@dmgnized in our consolidated statements of omeratbased on their fair values. We
recognize stock-based compensation expense oaighstline basis over the service period of therawanhich is generally four years.

We are required to estimate the stock awards thailtimately expect to vest and to reduce stioaked compensation expense for the effec
estimated forfeitures of awards over the expensegrtion period. Although we estimate the ratéuddire forfeitures based upon historical
experience, actual forfeitures in the future mdfedi To the extent our actual forfeitures arealifint than our estimates, we record a trpder
the difference in the period that the awards vedtsach truaips could materially affect our operating resulidditionally, we also consider ¢
a quarterly basis whether there have been anyfisigmi changes in facts and circumstances thatavaffiéct our expected forfeiture rate.
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We estimate the fair values of employee stock ogtigsing a Black-Scholes-Merton valuation modek Tir value of an award is affected by
our stock price on the date of grant as well asrotissumptions including the estimated volatilitypor stock price over the term of the awards
and the estimated period of time that we expecti@yeps to hold their stock options. The risk-freerest rate assumption we use is based
upon U.S. treasury interest rates appropriatenf@eipected life of the awards. We use the impl@ditility of publicly traded options in our
stock in order to estimate future stock price teeasl we believe that implied volatility is more negentative of future stock price trends than
historical volatility. In order to determine thetiesated period of time that we expect employedsald their stock options, we have used
historical rates of employee groups by senioritjobfclassification. Our expected dividend ratbased upon an annualized dividend yield
based on the per share dividend declared by ourdBieDirectors. The aforementioned inputs enténgal the option valuation model we ust
fair value our stock awards are subjective estimatel changes to these estimates will cause theaflaies of our stock awards and related
stock-based compensation expense that we receatyo

We record deferred tax assets for stock-based casagien awards that result in deductions on ouwrime tax returns, based on the amount of
stock-based compensation recognized and the faiesattributable to the vested portion of stockias assumed in connection with a
business combination, at the statutory tax ratherjurisdiction in which we will receive a tax dedion. Because the deferred tax assets we
record are based upon the stock-based compensati@mses in a particular jurisdiction, the aforetiomed inputs that affect the fair values of
our stock awards may also indirectly affect ounime tax expense. In addition, differences betwbertdéeferred tax assets recognized for
financial reporting purposes and the actual taxudgdn reported on our income tax returns are ain additional paid-in capital. If the tax
deduction is less than the deferred tax assetalvelated shortfall reduces our pool of excesdtmefits. If the pool of excess tax benefits is
reduced to zero, then subsequent shortfalls wogietase our income tax expense.

To the extent we change the terms of our emplotekdased compensation programs, experience maolatlity in the pricing of our
common stock that increases the implied volatd@jculation of publicly traded options in our stposfine different assumptions in future
periods such as forfeiture rates that differ fram current estimates, or assume stock awards fomuiged companies that are different in
nature than our stock award arrangements, amoreg pthential impacts, the stoblesed compensation expense that we record in fparied:
and the tax benefits that we realize may diffengigantly from what we have recorded in previoaparting periods.

Results of Operations
Impact of Acquisitions

The comparability of our operating results in fis2@14 compared to fiscal 2013 is impacted by aguisitions, primarily our acquisitions of
Responsys in the third quarter of fiscal 2014, Teke the first quarter of fiscal 2014 and AcmelRa in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013.

The comparability of our operating results in fis2@13 compared to fiscal 2012 is impacted by aguisitions, primarily our acquisitions of
Acme Packet in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018leb Corporation (Taleo) in the fourth quarteris€él 2012 and RightNow Technologies,
(RightNow) during the third quarter of fiscal 2012.

In our discussion of changes in our results of apens from fiscal 2014 compared to fiscal 2013 fischl 2013 compared to fiscal 2012, we
may qualitatively disclose the impacts of our acegiiproducts (for the one year period subsequethietacquisition date) to the growth in our
new software licenses revenues, cloud SaaS andrBaaisles, software license updates and produpbsugevenues, hardware systems
products revenues and hardware systems supportuesavhere such qualitative discussions would beningful for an understanding of the
factors that influenced the changes in our regiltsperations. When material, we may also providenttative disclosures related to such
acquired products. The contributions of our acgoiss to our other businesses and operating seghrentenues and to the expense
contributions for substantially all of our businessand operating segments in each of the respguived comparisons are not provided as
either were not separately identifiable due toitibegration of these businesses and operating segrimdo our existing operations and/or were
insignificant to our results of operations durihe periods presented.
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We caution readers that, while pre- and post-ag@griscomparisons, as well as any quantified amstimmselves, may provide indications of
general trends, the acquisition information thatpr@vide has inherent limitations for the followirgasons:

» any qualitative and quantitative disclosures caispetifically address or quantify the substantifgats attributable to changes in
business strategies, including our sales forcgiaten efforts. We believe that if our acquirednpmnies had operated independently
and sales forces had not been integrated, théviekaix of products sold would have been differemtg

+ although substantially all of our customers, inahgdcustomers from acquired companies, renew Hofiware license updates and
product support contracts when the contracts &gékd for renewal and we strive to renew cloud Saad PaaS contracts and
hardware systems support contracts, the amountensa® cloud software-as-a-service and platform-asraice deferred revenues,
software license updates and product support defeavenues, and hardware systems support defewedues in our supplemental
disclosure related to certain charges (presentieavpare not necessarily indicative of revenue ioy@ments we will achieve upon
contract renewals to the extent customers do matwe

Constant Currency Presentation

Our international operations have provided and eahtinue to provide a significant portion of oatal revenues and expenses. As a result,
revenues and expenses will continue to be affényerhanges in the U.S. Dollar against major intéonal currencies. In order to provide a
framework for assessing how our underlying busieegerformed excluding the effect of foreign cucsefiuctuations, we compare the perc
change in the results from one period to anothgog@én this Annual Report using constant curredigclosure. To present this information,
current and comparative prior period results fdities reporting in currencies other than U.S. Bdlare converted into U.S. Dollars at con:
exchange rates (i.e., the rates in effect on May20813, which was the last day of our prior fispahr) rather than the actual exchange rates in
effect during the respective periods. For examphm entity reporting in Euros had revenues ofrhilion Euros from products sold on

May 31, 2014 and 2013, our financial statementsldvmflect reported revenues of $1.36 million isctél 2014 (using 1.36 as the month-end
average exchange rate for the period) and $1.2®mih fiscal 2013 (using 1.29 as the month-endrage exchange rate for the period). The
constant currency presentation would translatdisical 2014 results using the fiscal 2013 exchaag¢ge and indicate, in this example, no
change in revenues during the period. In eacheofahles below, we present the percent change loasactual, unrounded results in reported
currency and in constant currency.
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Total Revenues and Operating Expenses

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2014 Actual Constani 2013 Actual Constani 2012
Total Revenues by Geograph
Americas $ 20,32 3% 4% $ 19,71 3% 3% $ 19,23
EMEA @ 11,94¢ 7% 4% 11,15¢ -3% 0% 11,56
Asia Pacific® 6,00¢ -5% 2% 6,30 0% 3% 6,32¢
Total revenue: 38,27¢ 3% 4% 37,18( 0% 2% 37,12
Total Operating Expenses 23,51¢ 5% 6% 22,49¢ -4% -2% 23,41°¢
Total Operating Margin $ 14,75¢ 1% 1% $ 14,68¢ 7% 104 $ 13,70¢
Total Operating Margin % 39% 39% 37%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 53% 53% 52%
EMEA 31% 30% 31%
Asia Pacific 16% 17% 17%
Total Revenues by Busines
Software and Clou $ 29,19¢ 5% 5% $ 27,92( 5% 7% $ 26,56(
Hardware Systemr 5,37 0% 2% 5,34¢ -15% -13% 6,30z
Services 3,704 -5% -4% 3,914 -8% -6% 4,25¢
Total revenue $ 38,27t 3% 4% $ 37,18( 0% 2% $ 37,12
% Revenues by Business:
Software and Clou 76% 75% 72%
Hardware Systemr 14% 14% 17%
Services 10% 11% 11%

() Comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Afi
(@  Asia Pacific includes Jap:

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: On a constant currency basis, our total revemmreased in fiscal 2014 by 4 percentage poiunstad
increases in our software and cloud business regeand our hardware business revenues, partidfigtdfy a decrease in our services busi
revenues. The constant currency growth in our softvand cloud business was substantially attritbeitabgrowth in our software license
updates and product support revenues and, toex lestent, our cloud software-as-a-service (Saa p#atform-as-a-service (PaaS) revenues
due to incremental revenues from our acquisitidihg constant currency revenues growth in our harellvasiness was due to an increase in
our hardware systems support revenues due suladitatdiincremental revenues from our acquisitiand due to increases in our hardware
revenues attributable to our Oracle EngineeredeByst partially offset by revenue decreases ataifilatto reductions in the sales volumes of
certain of our legacy hardware product lines, idisig lower margin products. On a constant currdrasis, the Americas contributed 61%,
EMEA contributed 30% and Asia Pacific contributéd & our total revenues growth during fiscal 2014.

Total constant currency operating expenses incdediseng fiscal 2014 primarily due to an increassales and marketing and research and
development expenses resulting from increased beatichigher sales-based variable compensatiomegrgedue to revenues growth, and an
increase in cloud SaaS and PaaS costs resultimgddalitional expenses incurred to support the as@e in our cloud SaaS and PaasS revenue
These expense increases in fiscal 2014 were paibiet by lower constant currency expenses foumhardware systems support and
services segments due to decreased headcount,hestercturing expenses, and lower intangible ass®brtization. In fiscal 2013, we
recognized a $387 million acquisition related bér(sée Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financiateé3nents included elsewhere in this
Annual Report for additional information) and a $3@illion benefit relating to certain litigationgs Note 18 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in thisuahReport for additional information), both of whidecreased our acquisition related and
other expenses during this period.

Excluding the effect of foreign currency rate fluations, our operating margin increased duringafi2@14 due to our revenues growth, while
our operating margin as a percentage of revenusslata
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Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Excluding the effect of foreign currency ralgcfuations, our total revenues increased in fi2€4!3
due to an increase in our software and cloud besirevenues. This constant currency increase waasllyeoffset by reductions in our
hardware systems and services business’ revenues constant currency basis, the Americas regiofriboited 77% and the Asia Pacific
region contributed 23% to our growth in total rewes during fiscal 2013.

Excluding the effect of foreign currency rate fluations, total operating expenses decreased @l 2843 primarily due to a $387 million
acquisition related benefit and a $306 million Hagnelated to certain litigation (both as notedbab), lower hardware systems products costs
associated with lower hardware systems producenigss, and certain other operating expense desras®st of our other lines of business
primarily due to lower variable compensation exgsnsower external contractor expenses and lowerta@ation of intangible assets. In
constant currency, these total expense decreasieg fiscal 2013 were partially offset by highetass and benefit expenses due primarily to
additional sales and marketing and research anelaf@went headcount added during fiscal 2013.

Excluding the effect of foreign currency rate fluations, our total operating margin and our tofsrating margin as a percentage of total
revenues increased during fiscal 2013 due to ttre#&se in our total revenues and the decrease iotalioperating expenses.
Supplemental Disclosure Related to Certain Charges

To supplement our consolidated financial informatiee believe the following information is helptolan overall understanding of our past
financial performance and prospects for the futMisu should review the introduction under “Impatequisitions” (above) for a discussion
of the inherent limitations in comparing pre- amipacquisition information.

Our operating results included the following busseombination accounting adjustments and expeakded to acquisitions, as well as
certain other significant expense and income items:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013 2012

Cloud softwar-as-a-service and platfor-as-a-service deferred revenu@® $ 17 $ 45 $ 22
Software license updates and product support defeavenue® 3 14 48
Hardware systems support deferred rever®) 11 14 30
Amortization of intangible asse® 2,30( 2,38t 2,43(
Acquisition related and oth()®) 41 (609 56
Restructuring® 18z 352 29t
Stoclk-based compensati(® 79t 722 62€
Income tax effect® (1,09)) (896 (967)

$ 2,25¢ $2,03: $ 2,54(

(@) In connection with our acquisitions, we haveraated the fair values of the cloud SaaS and Padiiase support and hardware systems support digitmassumed. Due to our
application of business combination accountingsubee did not recognize cloud SaaS and PaasS reveelated to contracts that would have otherwissmliecorded by the acquired
businesses as independent entities in the amofififs7anillion, $45 million and $22 million in fist2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. We also did@wognize software license
updates and product support revenues related twasef support contracts that would have otherwesnlyecorded by the acquired businesses as indapesmdtities in the amounts of
$3 million, $14 million and $48 million in fiscaldd4, 2013 and 2012, respectively. In addition, wendt recognize hardware systems support reveraleted to hardware systems
support contracts that would have otherwise beeorded by the acquired businesses as independiigseim the amounts of $11 million, $14 million&$30 million in fiscal 2014,
2013 and 2012, respective

Approximately $3 million of estimated cloude&aand PaaS revenues related to contracts assuithedtwe recognized during fiscal 2015 that wohle otherwise been recognized
as revenues by the acquired businesses as indepemiiges due to the application of the aforerwergd business combination accounting rules. Agprately $2 million of estimate
hardware systems support revenues related to heedsyatems support contracts assumed will notdigrezed during fiscal 2015 that would have otheeAdeen recognized by
certain acquired companies as independent entitiego the application of the aforementioned bissrm®mbination accounting rules. To the extentorasts renew these contracts
with us, we expect to recognize revenues for tefuntract’ values over the respective contr’ renewal periods
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@

®

)

®)

(6)

Represents the amortization of intangible asadistantially all of which were acquired in conitiwvith our acquisitions. As of May 31, 2014, esited future amortization expenses
related to intangible assets were as follows (iltioni):

Fiscal 201¢ $ 1,93¢
Fiscal 201¢ 1,331
Fiscal 2017 741
Fiscal 201¢ 607
Fiscal 201¢ 50€
Thereaftel 98(

Total intangible assets subject to amortiza 6,107
In-process research and developn 30

Total intangible assets, r $ 613

Acquisition related and other expenses primaxgsist of personnel related costs for transitiamal certain other employees, stock-based compengadpenses, integration related
professional services, certain business combinaiifjimstments including certain adjustments aftemtieasurement period has ended and certain otheating items, net. In fiscal
2013, acquisition related and other expenses irdadbenefit of $306 million related to certairgkition (see Note 18 of Notes to Consolidated Fif@rStatements included elsewh
in this Annual Report for additional informatio@nd a net benefit of $387 million due to a chamgene fair value of contingent consideration pagablconnection with an acquisition
(see Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak&tahts included elsewhere in this Annual Reporaéitfitional information)

The significant majority of restructuring expesisiiring fiscal 2014 and 2013 related to emplogseince and facility exit costs in connection waitin Fiscal 2013 Oracle
Restructuring Plan (the 2013 Restructuring PlaestRicturing expenses during fiscal 2012 primaglgted to costs incurred pursuant to our Sun Retstring Plan. Additional
information regarding certain of our restructurigns is provided in Note 9 of Notes to Consoliddaancial Statements included elsewhere in thisual Report

Stock-based compensation was included in the followingraging expense line items of our consolidatecestants of operations (in millions

Year Ended May 31,

2014 2013 2012

Sales and marketing $ 16E $ 137 $ 11F
Cloud softwar-as-a-service and platfor-as-a-service 8 1C 7
Cloud infrastructur-as-a-service 4 8 6
Software license updates and product sug 22 2C 1€
Hardware systems produt 5 3 1
Hardware systems suppt 6 5 5
Services 29 23 17
Research and developmg 38t 352 29t
General and administratiy 171 164 162

Subtotal 79t 72z 62€
Acquisition related and oth 10 & 33

Total stocl-based compensatic $ 80! $ 75! $ 65!

Stock-based compensation included in acqoisitlated and other expenses resulted from urd/etek options and restricted stock-based awaslsaed from acquisitions whose
vesting was accelerated upon termination of thel@yeps pursuant to the terms of those stock optiodsrestricted sto-based award:

The income tax effects presented were calculaatithe above described charges were not inclirdedr results of operations for each of the respe periods presented. Income tax
effects for fiscal 2014 and 2013 were calculatesedaon the applicable jurisdictional tax rates igppio the items within the table above and reduheeffective tax rates of 22.5% and
23.0%, respectively, instead of 20.1% and 21.4%peetively, which represented our effective tarsats derived per our consolidated statement satpes, primarily due to the net
tax effects of acquisition related items, includthg tax effects of amortization of intangible asstncome tax effects for fiscal 2012 were caltdaeflecting an effective tax rate of
24.0%, instead of 23.0% which represented our &ffetax rate as derived per our consolidated istate of operations, due to the disproportionate irapact of certain discrete items,
income tax effects related to our acquired tax expes, and differences in jurisdictional tax rated related tax benefits attributable to our restming expenses in the peric

Software and Cloud Business

Our software and cloud business consists of oursadtware licenses and cloud software subscripts@ggnent, our cloud infrastructure-as-a-
service segment and our software license updatepraduct support segment.

New Software Licenses and Cloud Software Subscoipsi  New software licenses revenues represent geeee from granting customers
licenses to use our database and middleware arapplication software
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products. Cloud software subscriptions include neres from our cloud software-as-a-service and giafas-a-service offerings, which grant
customers access to a broad range of our softvifenéngs on a subscription basis in a secure, statsdbased, cloud computing environment
that includes access, hosting, infrastructure mameagt, the use of software updates, and supportdiMinue to place significant emphasis,
both domestically and internationally, on diredesahrough our own sales force. We also continuadrket our products through indirect
channels. Costs associated with our new softweeedies and cloud software subscriptions segmeimi@dogled in sales and marketing
expenses, cloud software-as-a-service and platbmaservice expenses and amortization of intangibletas¥hese costs are largely persa
related and include commissions earned by our $aies for the sale of our software offerings, neditkg program costs, the cost of providing
our cloud software-as-a-service and platform-asraise offerings and amortization of intangibleedss

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2014 Actual Constani 2013 Actual Constani 2012
New Software Licenses and Cloud Software Subsooipsi Revenues
Americas $ 5,54« 1% 3% $ 5,46t 7% 8% $ 5,101
EMEA 3,24¢ 10% 6% 2,95¢ 3% 5% 2,88¢
Asia Pacific 1,744 -8% -2% 1,897 -1% 3% 1,91¢
Total revenue 10,530 2% 3% 10,32: 4% 6% 9,90¢
Expenses
Cloud softwar-as-a-service and platfor-as-a-service(1) 447 41% 42% 317 58% 58% 20z
Sales and marketir(t) 6,35( % 8% 5,93t 4% 6% 5,691
Stocl-based compensatic 16€ 17% 17% 14z 19% 19% 12C
Amortization of intangible asse(@ 977 1% 1% 98¢ 20% 20% 822
Total expense 7,94( 8% 8% 7,38( 8% 10% 6,841
Total Margin $ 2,59 -12% -11% $ 2,941 -4% -3%  $ 3,06¢
Total Margin % 25% 28% 31%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 53% 53% 52%
EMEA 31% 29% 29%
Asia Pacific 16% 18% 19%
Revenues by Software Offering
New software license $ 9,41¢ 0% 1% $ 9,411 0% 1%  $ 9,451
Cloud softwar-as-a-service and platfor-as-a-service 1,121 23% 24% 91C 100% 100% 45¢
Total new software licenses and cloud software @ifittons revenue $ 10,53 2% 3%  $ 10,32 4% 6% $ 9,90¢
% Revenues by Software Offering
New software license 89% 91% 95%
Cloud softwar-as-a-service and platfor-as-a-service 11% 9% 5%

(@) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@ Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: Excluding the effect of unfavorable currencierfluctuations, total new software licenses amaid|
software subscriptions revenues increased by 3%agltiscal 2014 primarily due to incremental revesdrom our cloud SaaS and PaaS
offerings resulting from our recent acquisitionscbnstant currency, total new software licensescdoud software subscriptions revenues
growth in the Americas and EMEA region was panialffset by a decline in revenues in the Asia Racégion.

In constant currency, our new software licensemaes increased by 1% in fiscal 2014 and our Sad$aaS revenues increased by 24% in
fiscal 2014, both primarily due to incremental newes from our recent acquisitions.

As a result of our acquisitions, we recorded adjiesits to reduce assumed cloud SaaS and PaaS ioblggiat their estimated fair values at the
acquisition dates. Due to our application of bussneombination accounting rules, cloud SaaS an8 Raenues in the amounts of $17 milli
$45 million and $22 million that would have beeherwise recorded by our acquired businesses apendent entities were not recognized in
fiscal 2014,

55



Table of Contents

2013 and 2012, respectively. To the extent undeglgioud SaaS and PaaS contracts are renewed sMitlawing an acquisition, we will
recognize the revenues for the full values of tbeid SaaS and PaaS contracts over the respectimectual periods.

In reported currency, new software licenses revemaened from transactions of $3 million or greatereased by 3% in fiscal 2014 and
represented 33% of our new software licenses regimufiscal 2014 in comparison to 32% in fiscal 20

Excluding the effect of favorable currency ratecfiiations, total new software licenses and clodtiveoe subscriptions expenses increased in
fiscal 2014 primarily due to higher employee refs¢xpenses from increased headcount, higher var@shpensation expenses due to reve
growth, and higher cloud SaaS and PaaS expensgsngg$rom costs incurred to support the relatedenue increases.

Excluding the effect of unfavorable currency radtetuations, total new software licenses and cleaftivare subscriptions margin and margin
as a percentage of revenues decreased in fiscal&aur total expenses increased at a fastethaxteour total revenues for this operating
segment.

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Excluding the effect of foreign currency ralgcfuations, total new software licenses and cloud
software subscriptions revenues increased duringlfi2013 due to growth across all regions anagemental revenues from our acquisitions.
On a constant currency basis, the Americas con&ib69%, EMEA contributed 23% and Asia Pacific cimitted 8% to the increase in new
software licenses and cloud software subscriptiemsnues during fiscal 2013.

In constant currency, our new software licensesmaes increased by 1% and our cloud SaaS and Baasies increased by 100% in fiscal
2013 primarily due to incremental revenues fromaxquisitions. As described above, the amount wf saftware licenses and cloud software
subscriptions revenues that we recognized in fig0aB and fiscal 2012 were affected by businesshamation accounting rules.

In reported currency, new software licenses revemaened from transactions of $3 million or greatereased by 11% in fiscal 2013 and
represented 32% of our total new software licemsesnues in fiscal 2013 in comparison to 29% iodi012.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotttal new software licenses and cloud softwaresstijptions expenses increased in fiscal 201
primarily due to higher employee related expenselsstock-based compensation from increased heatj@ahhigher intangible asset
amortization, partially offset by a decrease irtaierlegal costs.

Excluding the effect of unfavorable currency rdtetuations, total new software licenses and cleaftivare subscriptions margin and margin
as a percentage of revenues decreased in fiscal&dadur total expenses increased at a fastethiateour total revenues for this operating
segment.

Cloud Infrastructure-as-a-Service: Our cloud infrastructure-as-a-service segmeosviges deployment and management offerings for our
software and hardware and related IT infrastruciurkiding virtual machine instances that are stipson-based and designed for computing
and reliable and secure object storage; Oracleneegéd Systems hardware and related support thaeptoyed in our customers’ data center
for a monthly fee; and comprehensive software ardware management and maintenance services fiameess|T infrastructure for a fee for
a stated term that is hosted at our data cent#itiés; select partner data centers or physicatiypremise at customer facilities. Cloud
infrastructure-as-a-service expenses consist pilynarpersonnel related expenditures, technolagsaistructure expenditures and facilities
costs. For all periods presented, our cloud-infaastire-as-a-service segment’s revenues and exparese substantially attributable to our IT
infrastructure management, maintenance and hostingces offerings.
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Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2014 Actual Constani 2013 Actual Constani 2012
Cloud Infastructure-as-a-Service:
Americas $ 33t -6% 5% $ 35t 5% 6% $ 337
EMEA 94 32% 27% 72 -6% -1% 76
Asia Pacific 27 -12% 3% 30 -1% 4% 31
Total revenue: 45¢ 0% 1% 457 3% 5% 444
Expenses
Cloud infastructur-as-a-service® 304 3% 5% 29€ 5% 8% 282
Sales and marketir® 61 0% 1% 61 -15% -14% 72
Stoclk-based compensatic 4 -52% -52% 8 28% 28% 6
Total expense 36¢ 1% 3% 36E 1% 4% 361
Total Margin $ 87 -6% 9% 0§ 92 10% 8% $ 83
Total Margin % 19% 20% 19%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 73% T7% 76%
EMEA 21% 16% 17%
Asia Pacific 6% 7% 7%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: On a constant currency basis, total cloud laaSmg®increased slightly in fiscal 2014 primarilyedu
to incremental revenues from the recent introductibour on-premise Oracle Engineered Systems siphisa offerings. In constant currency,
total cloud laaS revenues growth in the EMEA anthA%&acific regions were partially offset by a deelin revenues in the Americas region.

On a constant currency basis, total cloud laaSresqmincreased during fiscal 2014 primarily dumeéoeased employee related expenses
associated with increased headcount, which rediletbtal margin and margin as a percentage ofwe&for this segment.

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: On a constant currency basis, total cloud laaSg®increased in fiscal 2013 primarily due to
growth in our infrastructure management, mainteeaar hosting services offerings. In constant cuyetotal cloud laaS revenues growth in
the Americas and Asia Pacific regions were paytiaffset by a decline in revenues in the EMEA regio

On a constant currency basis, total cloud laaSresgsincreased during fiscal 2013 primarily dumtoeased employee related expenses
associated with increased headcount. Total margimaargin as a percentage of revenues increasedydiscal 2013 as our total revenues
increased at a faster rate than our total expdoséisis segment.

Software License Updates and Product Suppt Software license updates grant customers rightsspecified software product upgrades
and maintenance releases and patches released th&iaupport period. Product support includegiirieaccess to technical content as well a
internet and telephone access to technical supposbnnel in our global support centers. Expenssscéated with our software license update
and product support line of business include tret cbproviding the support services, largely pars related expenses, and the amortization
of our intangible assets associated with softwappert contracts and customer relationships obdafren acquisitions.
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Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2014 Actual Constani 2013 Actual Constani 2012
Software License Updates and Product Support Reven
Americas $ 9,85¢ 6% % $ 9,32 7% 8% $ 8,67
EMEA 5,90€ 10% 7% 5,36: 3% 7% 5,19¢
Asia Pacific 2,44 -1% 8% 2,451 5% 9% 2,344
Total revenue 18,20¢ 6% 7% 17,14: 6% 8% 16,21(
Expenses
Software license updates and product sug® 1,14C 1% 0% 1,15¢ -4% 2% 1,20¢
Stocl-based compensatic 22 10% 10% 20 12% 12% 18
Amortization of intangible asse(@ 801 -4% -4% 83¢€ -3% 3% 86
Total expense 1,962 2% -1% 2,011 -4% -2% 2,08¢
Total Margin $ 16,24: 7% 8% $ 15,13: 7% 10% $ 14,12:
Total Margin % 89% 88% 87%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 54% 55% 54%
EMEA 33% 31% 32%
Asia Pacific 13% 14% 14%

(@) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
(@ Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: Excluding the effect of unfavorable currency ratetuations, software license updates and product
support revenues increased by 7% in fiscal 201atrasult of new software licenses sold with suliitiy all of these customers electing to
purchase software support contracts during thergad-quarter period, and the renewal of subsédigtall of the software support customer
base eligible for renewal during the trailing 4-gaaperiod. Excluding the effect of currency riiteetuations, the Americas contributed 55%,
EMEA contributed 30% and Asia Pacific contributéfd to the increase in software license updategesdlict support revenues.

As a result of our acquisitions, we recorded adjiesits to reduce assumed software support obligat@their estimated fair values at the
acquisition dates. Due to our application of bustneombination accounting rules, software licenxtates and product support revenues
related to software support contracts in the anmoah$3 million, $14 million and $48 million thatould have been otherwise recorded by our
acquired businesses as independent entities wereaagnized in fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, re$palgt Historically, substantially all of our
customers, including customers from acquired congsanenew their software support contracts wheh sontracts are eligible for renewal.
To the extent these underlying support contraegtsemewed, we will recognize the revenues for titlevlues of these contracts over the
support periods, the substantial majority of whaca one year in duration.

Excluding the effect of favorable foreign curremaye fluctuations, total software license updatesd @roduct support expenses during fiscal
2014 decreased slightly due to a modest decredssmithcount and a decrease in amortization of ifténgssets. Margin and margin as a
percentage of revenues increased during fiscal 2618Lrr total revenues for this segment increadele wur total expenses slightly decreased.

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiossftware license updates and product support
revenues increased in fiscal 2013 for similar reasas those noted above for our fiscal 2014 reveemoeease and due to incremental revenue
from recent acquisitions. Excluding the effect ofrency rate fluctuations, the Americas contribuiééo, EMEA contributed 29% and Asia
Pacific contributed 15% to the increase in softwax@nse updates and product support revenues.

As described above, the amounts of software licapsiates and product support revenues that we mexabin fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012
were affected by business combination accountifegsru
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Excluding the effect of favorable foreign curremaje fluctuations, total software license update$@roduct support expenses decreased in
fiscal 2013 primarily due to lower amortizationinfangible assets, a reduction in certain non-inetxased taxes, lower bad debt expenses, a
lower variable compensation expenses.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiottdal software license updates and product suppargin and margin as a percentage of
revenues increased in fiscal 2013 as our totalmes® for this segment increased while our totabagps decreased.

Hardware Systems Business
Our hardware systems business consists of our laaedsystems products segment and hardware syst@msrssegment.

Hardware Systems Product Hardware systems products revenues are pringgilerated from the sales of our computer sesterage an
networking products, including sales of our Ordehgineered Systems. We market and sell our hardsyastems products through our direct
sales force and indirect channels such as indepéddgributors and value added resellers. Opegaipenses associated with our hardware
systems products include the cost of hardware sysproducts, which consists of expenses for mégeaiad labor used to produce these
products by our internal manufacturing operationbkyothird party manufacturers, warranty expensesthe impact of periodic changes in
inventory valuation, including the impact of invenyt determined to be excess and obsolete. Operaxipgnses associated with our hardware
systems products also include sales and marketipgnses, which are largely personnel related aridde variable compensation earned by
our sales force for the sales of our hardware misgland amortization of intangible assets.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2014 Actual Constant 2013 Actual Constant 2012
Hardware Systems Products Revenu
Americas $1,507 1% 2% $1,49¢ -20% -20%  $1,88(
EMEA 834 -1% -3% 842 -26% -23% 1,14(
Asia Pacific 63E -9% -5% 69€ -14% -12% 807
Total revenue 2,97¢ -2% -1% 3,03 -21% -19% 3,821
Expenses
Hardware systems produ«® 1,51¢ 1% 3% 1,49¢ -19% -17% 1,84z
Sales and marketir® 991 7% 7% 92¢ -16% -14% 1,10¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 12 49% 49% 8 211% 211% 3
Amortization of intangible asse 274 -16% -16% 327 -17% -17% 393
Total expense 2,792 1% 2% 2,76 -17% -16% 3,34¢
Total Margin $ 183 -33% 30§ 271 -44% -42% $ 48¢
Total Margin % 6% 9% 13%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 51% 49% 49Y%
EMEA 28% 28% 30%
Asia Pacific 21% 23% 21%

(@) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@) Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse’ in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotwtal hardware systems products revenues modest
decreased in fiscal 2014. The decrease in revatwayy fiscal 2014, which was attributable to retitugs in the sales volumes of certain of our
legacy product lines, including lower margin
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products, was partially offset by incremental raxenfrom our recently acquired companies and iseea hardware revenues attributable to
our sales of Oracle Engineered Systems.

In constant currency, total hardware systems pitsdymerating expenses increased in fiscal 2014gpiliyrdue to an increase in employee
related expenses due primarily to an increasel@s sand marketing headcount, partially offset leerease in amortization of intangible as:

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiottdal margin and margin as a percentage of re\&edaereased in fiscal 2014 due to a deci
in our total revenues and increase in our totakasps for this segment.

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: On a constant currency basis, hardware systemsigiotevenues decreased in fiscal 2013 primarily
due to reductions in the sales volumes of certhouolegacy product lines, including lower margimducts. These revenue decreases were
partially offset by increases in hardware reveratggutable to our Oracle Engineered Systems.

On a constant currency basis, total hardware syspgoducts operating expenses declined in fischB 2Bimarily due to a reduction in
hardware systems products costs associated wittr loardware revenues, a decrease in employeed@gpenses due to decreased hardware
systems sales headcount, and lower intangible assatization.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiottdal hardware systems products margin and maga percentage of revenues decreased il
fiscal 2013 as our total revenues for this segrdenteased at a faster rate than our total expenses.

Hardware Systems Support: Our hardware systems support offerings provideotnsts with software updates for software componttratis
are essential to the functionality of our servearage and networking products, such as OracleiSaad certain other software products, and
can include product repairs, maintenance serviaddechnical support services. Expenses assoaiatiedur hardware systems support
operating segment include the cost of materiald tseepair customer products, the cost of progdinpporservices, largely personnel rela
expenses, and the amortization of our intangitdetasassociated with hardware systems supportamisind customer relationships obtained
from our acquisitions.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2014 Actual Constani 2013 Actual Constani 2012
Hardware Systems Support Revenu
Americas $ 1,22 11% 12%  $ 1,10¢ -4% 4% $ 1,15
EMEA 73€ -2% -4% 752 -14% -10% 87C
Asia Pacific 42¢ -5% 2% 452 1% 4% 44¢
Total revenue: 2,39¢ 4% 5% 2,31 -T% -4% 2,47¢
Expenses
Hardware systems supp@ 83C -6% -5% 88t -15% -13% 1,041
Stoclk-based compensatic 6 26% 26% 5 -3% -3% 5
Amortization of intangible asse® 231 8% 8% 213 -30% -30% 30E
Total expense 1,065 -3% -3% 1,10:¢ -18% -17% 1,351
Total Margin $ 1,32¢ 10% 12% $ 1,21C 8% 1% $ 1,12
Total Margin % 55% 52% 45%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 51% 48% 47%
EMEA 31% 32% 35%
Asia Pacific 18% 20% 18%

(@) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
() Included as a component‘Amortization of Intangible Asse in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: Excluding the impact of unfavorable currency rédtietiiations, hardware systems support revenues
increased in fiscal 2014 primarily due to increna¢névenues from our
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recent acquisitions. These hardware support rexeingecases were partially offset by certain haréveaipport revenues decreases that were
generally caused by the reductions in sales volwhesrtain of our legacy hardware systems protines for which we offer hardware
systems support. In constant currency, hardwaremsgssupport revenues growth in the Americas aria Racific region was partially offset
by a decline in revenues in the EMEA region.

As a result of our acquisitions, we recorded adjiesits to reduce assumed hardware systems supfigetimmns to their estimated fair values
the acquisition dates. Due to our application cfibess combination accounting rules, hardware systipport revenues related to hardware
systems support contracts in the amounts of $1liomil$14 million and $30 million that would havedn otherwise reported by our acquired
businesses as independent entities were not rexamhim fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectivelythiEoextent these underlying hardware
systems support contracts are renewed, we willgrize the revenues for the full values of thesdreats over the future support periods.

Total hardware systems support expenses decraasiedadl 2014 primarily due to a reduction in enyge related expenses attributable to
decreased headcount and reduced service delivety doe to operational initiatives, partially offbg an increase in amortization of intangible
assets.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotital hardware systems support margin and masym@ercentage of total revenues increase
in fiscal 2014 as our total revenues for this sagnrereased while our total expenses for this sagrdecreased.

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Excluding the impact of currency rate fluctuationardware systems support revenues decreased i
fiscal 2013 primarily due to reductions in salefumoes of certain of our legacy hardware systemdymblines for which we offer hardware
systems support. As described above, the amouii@rdivare systems support revenues that we reeagjinifiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 were
affected by business combination accounting rules.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiottdal hardware systems support expenses decrgafsdal 2013 primarily due to a reduction
in employee related expenses attributable to deetklheadcount, reduced service delivery costsalapdrational initiatives, lower bad debt
expenses, and lower amortization of intangibletasse

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiottdal hardware systems support margin and magym@ercentage of total revenues increase
in fiscal 2013 due to the reduction in our totaldveare systems support expenses.

Services Business

Our services business consists of consulting, ashcinustomer support services and education sen@mnsulting revenues are earned by
providing services to customers in business angtifitegy alignment, enterprise architecture plagnaind design, initial product
implementation and integration, and ongoing proémttancements and upgrades. Advanced customerrsgppgdces are provided gremise
and remotely to our customers to enable increasgdnmance and higher availability of their Orapteducts and services. Education revenue
are earned by providing instructor-led, media-bas#drnet-based and custom training in the ussuofoftware and hardware offerings. The
cost of providing our services consists primarilypersonnel related expenses, technology infrastra@xpenditures, facilities expenses and
external contractor expenses.
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Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2014 Actual Constani 2013 Actual Constani 2012
Services Revenue
Americas $1,85( -6% 5% $1,97:¢ -5% -4%  $2,08:
EMEA 1,12¢ -4% -T% 1,17 -16% -13% 1,39
Asia Pacific 72¢€ -5% 2% 771 -1% 4% 77¢
Total revenue: 3,70¢ -5% -4% 3,91¢ -8% -6% 4,25¢
Expenses
Services®) 2,92¢ -T% -6% 3,15¢ -6% -4% 3,36¢
Stocl-based compensatic 29 25% 25% 23 39% 39% 17
Amortization of intangible asse® 17 -26% -26% 23 -52% -52% 47
Total expense 2,971 -T% -6% 3,20¢ -T% -4% 3,42¢
Total Margin $ 73 3% 5% $§ 70¢  -15% -12%  $ 83(
Total Margin % 20% 18% 19%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 50% 50% 49%
EMEA 30% 30% 33%
Asia Pacific 20% 20% 18%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic
@ Included as a component‘ Amortization of Intangible Asse in our consolidated statements of operati

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctoat, our total services revenues decreased ifl #6d4
due to revenue decreases in each of our servigesesds. The largest services revenues decreas® was consulting segment’s revenues.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioosr total services expenses decreased durind 2844 primarily due to expense decreases i
our consulting services segment due to decreassttbant, lower external contractor costs, lowearngtble asset amortization, and a decreas
in certain other operating expenses, net.

In constant currency, total services margin anal toiargin as a percentage of total services reveimeeeased during fiscal 2014 due to our
expense reductions for this business.

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctoas, our total services revenues decreased irl 8643
due to revenue decreases in each of our servigesesds. The largest services revenues decreaseah 2013 was to our consulting segment’
revenues.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotttal services expenses decreased during fisda gfmarily due to expense decreases ac
all of our services segments, which consisted milynaf decreases in external contractor costsglovariable compensation expenses, and
lower intangible asset amortization.

In constant currency, total services margin anal toiargin as a percentage of total services rexedeereased during fiscal 2013 as our total
services revenues declined at a faster rate thatotal services expenses.

Research and Development Expens Research and development expenses consistrifyimigpersonnel related expenditures. We intemd t
continue to invest significantly in our researchl aevelopment efforts because, in our judgmeny; #ne essential to maintaining our
competitive position.
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Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2014 Actual Constani 2013 Actual Constani 2012
Research and developm¢® $ 4,76t 6% 7% $ 4,49 6% 8% $ 4,22
Stoclk-based compensatic 38t 9% 9% 352 19% 19% 29t
Total expense $ 5,151 6% 7% $ 4,85( 7% 8% $§ 4,52t
% of Total Revenues 13% 13% 12%

(@) Excluding stoc-based compensatic

On a constant currency basis, total research avela@Ement expenses increased during fiscal 201£28t8, each relative to the respective
prior year period, primarily due to increases iméoyee related expenses from increased headcoamiglfy offset by lower variable
compensation expenses.

General and Administrative Expenses: General and administrative expenses primadhsist of personnel related expenditures for
information technology, finance, legal and humasotgces support functions.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2014 Actual Constani 2013 Actual Constani 2012
General and administrativ® $ 867 -4% 3% $  90¢ -6% 4% $ 964
Stoclk-based compensatic 171 4% 4% 164 2% 2% 162
Total expense $ 1,03 -3% 2% $ 1,07 -5% 3% ¢ 11
% of Total Revenue 3% 3% 3%

(1) Excluding stoc-based compensatic

On a constant currency basis, total general andragtnative expenses decreased during fiscal 20842813, each relative to the respective
prior year period, primarily due to lower professbfees, variable compensation expenses and ettaer operating expenses, net, partially
offset by slightly higher salaries and benefitsenges due to an increase in headcount.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2014 Actual Constant 2013 Actual Constant 2012
Software support agreements and related relatips $ 571 -2% 2% $ 582 -1% 1% ¢ 58t
Hardware systems support agreements and relatg@rehips 142 18% 18% 121 2% 2% 11¢
Developed technolog 70€ -15% -15% 82¢ -11% -11% 928
Core technolog' 31¢ -3% -3% 32¢ -2% -2% 337
Customer relationships and contract bacl 334 -5% -5% 35( -5% -5% 37C
SaaS and PaaS agreements and related relatioasiighe! 15C 33% 33% 113 242% 242% 33
Trademarks 78 22% 22% 64 2% 2% 63

Total amortization of intangible ass: $  2,30( -4% 4% $ 2,38 2% 2% $ 2,43

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: Amortization of intangible assets decreasedhduiscal 2014 as certain of our intangible assets
pertaining to our legacy acquisitions became fattyortized. These decreases were partially offsetdojtional amortization from intangible
assets that we acquired in connection with ourmegequisitions, including our acquisitions of Reisgys and Tekelec in fiscal 2014 and Acme
Packet in fiscal 2013, among others. Note 7 of BltaeConsolidated Financial Statements includeewdigre in this Annual Report has
additional information regarding our intangible etssand related amortization.
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Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Amortization of intangible assets decreasedhduiscal 2013 as certain of our intangible assets
pertaining to our legacy acquisitions became fattyortized. These decreases were partially offsetdojtional amortization from intangible
assets that we acquired in connection with ourmeaequisitions, including our acquisitions of Aciacket in fiscal 2013, and RightNow and
Taleo in fiscal 2012, among others.

Acquisition Related and Other Expense Acquisition related and other expenses cowsigersonnel related costs for transitional andage
other employees, stock-based compensation expentagation related professional services, celtaisiness combination adjustments
including certain adjustments after the measuremeridbd has ended and certain other operating jtapts Stocksased compensation exper
included in acquisition related and other expemesslted from unvested stock options and restristedk-based awards assumed from
acquisitions whereby vesting was accelerated uganibation of the employees pursuant to the origerans of those stock options and
restricted stock-based awards.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2014 Actual  Constant 2013 Actual Constant 2012
Transitional and other employee related c $ 27 1% 2% $ 2 6% 9% $ 2t
Stoclk-based compensatic 10 -69%  -69% 33 1% 1% 33
Professional fees and other, 20 107% 107% (27€) -2,314% -2,216% 13
Business combination adjustments, (16) 96% 96% (38¢) -2,543% -2,426% (15
Total acquisition related and other exper $ 41 107% 107% $ (604 -1,183% -1,200% $ 5€

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: On a constant currency basis, the increasarimequisition related and other expenses in fig0ah
was primarily due to certain benefits that we rdedrduring fiscal 2013, which reduced our expedsemg this period. We recorded a net
benefit of $387 million during fiscal 2013 relatexdthe change in fair value of contingent considenspayable in connection with an
acquisition (see Note 2 of Notes to Consolidatetfcial Statements included elsewhere in this AhReport). We also recorded a $306
million benefit in fiscal 2013 to professional femsd other, net related to certain litigation (ke 18 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Rgport

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: On a constant currency basis, the decreaseriaagjuisition related and other expenses in fi20aB
was primarily due to the aforementioned benefitcdbed above.

Restructuring expenses Restructuring expenses result from the exesufananagement approved restructuring plans teat wenerally
developed to improve our cost structure and/oratp@rs, often in conjunction with our acquisitioridgration strategies. Restructuring
expenses consist of employee severance costs gndlsasinclude charges for duplicate facilities arigler contract termination costs to
improve our cost structure prospectively. For addal information regarding our restructuring plasse Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in thisuahReport.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2014 Actual Constani 2013 Actual Constani 2012

Restructuring expenses -
$ 18¢ 48% -49%  $ 352 19% 23% $ 29t

Restructuring expenses in fiscal 2014 and 201 3gnilynrelated to our 2013 Restructuring Plan, whicin management approved, committe
and initiated in order to restructure and furtmepiove efficiencies in our operations. We amentied?013 Restructuring Plan in the third
quarter of fiscal 2013 and in the first quartefisal 2014 to reflect additional actions that w@ect to take to improve efficiencies in our
operations. The total estimated restructuring casteciated with the 2013 Restructuring Plan aé $illion and will be recorded to the
restructuring expense line item within our consatiédl statements of operations as they are incuftegltotal estimated remaining restructui
costs associated with the 2013 Restructuring Pkne @pproximately
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$206 million as of May 31, 2014. The majority oétlemaining costs are expected to be incurred gifirtlee end of fiscal 2015. Our estimated
costs may be subject to change in future periods.

Restructuring expenses in fiscal 2012 primarihated to our Sun Restructuring Plan, which our mamamnt approved, committed to and
initiated in order to better align our cost struetas a result of our acquisition of Sun.

Interest Expense

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2014 Actual Constant 2013 Actual Constant 2012
Interest expens $ 91« 15% 15% $ 797 4% 4% $ 76¢€

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: Interest expense increased in fiscal 2014 pilyndue to higher average borrowings resultingriro
our issuance of $3.0 billion and €2.0 billion ohi&® notes in July 2013 and our issuance of $3ldbiof senior notes in October 2012,
partially offset by a reduction in interest experssulting from the maturity and repayment of $1b#bon of senior notes in April 2013 (see
Recent Financing Activities below and Note 8 of &oto Consolidated Financial Statements includeewdiere in this Annual Report for
additional information).

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Interest expense increased in fiscal 2013 dinégher average borrowings resulting from our aseg
of $5.0 billion of senior notes in October 201 2itidly offset by the maturity and repayment of 38 billion of senior notes in April 2013.

Non-Operating (Expense) Income, net: Non-operating (expense) income, net consisisguily of interest income, net foreign currency
exchange gains (losses), the noncontrolling inteliesthe net profits of our majority-owned subatits (Oracle Financial Services Software
Limited and Oracle Japan) and net other incomeélgsincluding net realized gains and losses cetatall of our investments and net
unrealized gains and losses related to the smalbpmf our investment portfolio that we classéfy trading.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2014 Actual Constant 2013 Actual  Constant 2012
Interest incom: $ 26 10% 7% $ 237 3% % $ 23
Foreign currency losses, r (375)  131% 127% (162) 54% 51% (10t
Noncontrolling interests in incon (98) -12% -12% (112) -6% -4% (11¢
Other income, ne 69 44% 44% 48 220%  225% 15
Total nor-operating (expense) income, | $ (141 1,343% 1,749% $ 11 -49% 1% $ 22

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: We recorded non-operating expense, net inlf@b4 in comparison to non-operating income, net i
fiscal 2013 primarily due to an increase in foreggmrency losses, net that were incurred in fig€dl4 including foreign currency
remeasurement losses of $213 million that relatetieé remeasurement of certain assets and liabilitf our Venezuelan subsidiary. The
Venezuelan economy has been determined to be $highétionary” in accordance with ASC 83Boreign Currency MattersAs a result, we
report all net monetary assets related to our Vieglan subsidiary in U.S. Dollars with the assodatepacts of periodic changes of Bolivar
Fuerte (“VEF”) to U.S. Dollar exchange rates in statements of operations for each respective tieggoeriod. During fiscal 2014, the
Venezuelan government issued new exchange agreethangllowed for certain foreign currency tranigars, which previously were subject
to Venezuela's official Bolivar Fuerte (“VEF”) to.8. Dollar exchange rate (the “Official Ratett),be subject to conversion at rates establi
at the Venezuelan government’s auction-based egehaate programs, the Complementary System forigrof@urrency Administration
(“SICAD”) rates. These SICAD rates were lower thlaa Official Rate that we had used historicallyaport the VEF based transactions and
net monetary assets of our
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Venezuelan subsidiary. To determine which of théous VEF rates to use during fiscal 2014, we eat@d our individual facts and
circumstances taking into consideration our legdlitg to convert VEF at or to settle VEF basedhsactions using the SICAD rates, amongst
other factors. We concluded that using the SICAiBsavas the most appropriate for our reportingusf\éenezuelan subsidiary’s VEF based
transactions and net monetary assets in U.S. Bolidrich resulted in the $213 million of fiscal 20emeasurement losses referenced above
Future devaluations of the Venezuelan currencynat@xpected to have a significant impact on omsotidated financial statements. As a
large portion of our consolidated operations aterimational, we could experience additional foreigmrency volatility and incur additional
remeasurement losses in the future, the amountsraimd) of which are unknown.

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: On a constant currency basis, our non-operaticgme, net decreased in fiscal 2013 primarily due

an increase in foreign currency transaction logsets that included a foreign currency loss retatmour Venezuelan subsidiary’s operations.
During our third quarter of fiscal 2013, the Venelam government devalued its currency and we rezedra $64 million foreign currency loss
as a result of the remeasurement of certain agedttabilities of our Venezuelan subsidiary. Ttiécrease in non-operating income, net was

partially offset by an increase in other incomd,dging fiscal 2013, which was primarily due tdargafrom our marketable securities that we

designated as trading that were held to supportiefarred compensation plan obligations.

Provision for Income Taxes Our effective tax rate in all periods is theut of the mix of income earned in various taxgdictions that
apply a broad range of income tax rates. The pi@vi®r income taxes differs from the tax compud¢dhe U.S. federal statutory income tax
rate due primarily to earnings considered as imitefy reinvested in foreign operations, state satiee U.S. research and development tax
credit and the U.S. domestic production activitdutgion. Future effective tax rates could be adsgraffected if earnings are lower than
anticipated in countries where we have lower stayutax rates, by unfavorable changes in tax lawgsragulations or by adverse rulings in tax
related litigation.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2014 Actual Constani 2013 Actual Constani 2012
Provision for income taxe $ 2,74 -T% 6% $ 2,97 0% 3% $ 2,98
Effective tax rate 20.1% 21.4% 23.0%

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013: Provision for income taxes in fiscal 2014 desed, relative to the provision for income taxefisical
2013, due to a tax favorable change in the jurigzhial mix of our earnings and the effects of asdigin related settlements with tax authorities
during fiscal 2014.

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012: Provision for income taxes in fiscal 2013 desed slightly due to acquisition related items, the
retroactive extension of the U.S. research andldpxeent credit, offset by higher income before jsmn for income taxes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2014 Change 2013 Change 2012
Working capital $ 33,74 17% $ 28,82 17% $ 24,63
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable sect $ 38,81¢ 206 $ 32,21¢ 5% $ 30,67¢

Working capital:  The increase in working capital as of May 3112in comparison to May 31, 2013 was primarily tueur issuance of
€2.0 billion and $3.0 billion of long-term seniortes in July 2013, the favorable impact to our netent assets resulting from our net income
during fiscal 2014, and, to a lesser extent, cashgeds from stock option exercises. These worgapital increases were partially offset by
reclassification of $1.5 billion of senior notesediuly 2014 from long-term to current, cash useadpurchases of our common stock (we use
$9.8 billion of cash for common stock repurchasesng fiscal 2014), cash used to pay dividendsuiostockholders, and cash used for
acquisitions, all of which occurred during fiscall2. Our working capital
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may be impacted by some of the aforementioned faatdfuture periods, the amounts and timing ofclibare variable.

The increase in working capital as of May 31, 201.8omparison to May 31, 2012 was primarily du@to issuance of $5.0 billion of senior
notes in October 2012, the favorable impact tormircurrent assets resulting from our net inconrenddiscal 2013, and, to a lesser extent,
cash proceeds from stock option exercises. Thie@se was partially offset by cash used for re@mses of our common stock (we used $11.0
billion of cash for common stock repurchases dufiscpl 2013), cash used to pay dividends to aueldtolders, and cash used for acquisitit

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitiesCash and cash equivalents primarily consistepiosits held at major banks, Tier-1
commercial paper and other securities with originaturities of 90 days or less. Marketable se@gitirimarily consist of time deposits held at
major banks, Tier-1 commercial paper, corporatesi@nd certain other securities. The increasash,acash equivalents and marketable
securities at May 31, 2014 in comparison to MayZ8l1,3 was due to an increase in cash generatedduomperating activities, our issuance
€2.0 billion and $3.0 billion of senior notes iny@013, and to a lesser extent, cash proceedsdtock option exercises. These increases wel
partially offset by $9.8 billion of repurchasesofr common stock, $3.5 billion of net cash paiddoguisitions and $2.2 billion used for the
payment of cash dividends to our stockholders. Cemth equivalents and marketable securities irdl®85.2 billion held by our foreign
subsidiaries as of May 31, 2014. We consider $BRlién of our undistributed earnings as indefihjteeinvested in our foreign operations
outside the United States. These undistributedmgswould be subject to U.S. income tax if refdéd to the United States. Assuming a full
utilization of the foreign tax credits, the potahiileferred tax liability associated with theseistributed earnings would be approximately
$10.0 billion as of May 31, 2014 should the amolngsepatriated to the United States. The amoucasi, cash equivalents and marketable
securities that we report in U.S. Dollars for andfigant portion of the cash held by our foreigisidiaries is subject to translation adjustments
caused by changes in foreign currency exchangs aatef the end of each respective reporting pétiadoffset to which is substantially
recorded to accumulated other comprehensive logssrigonsolidated balance sheets and is also fegbas a line item in our consolidated
statements of comprehensive income included elsahehis Annual Report). As the U.S. Dollar matiestrengthened against certain major
international currencies during fiscal 2014, theoant of cash, cash equivalents and marketable ifesuhat we reported in U.S. Dollars for
these subsidiaries decreased on a net basis agyo8M 2014 relative to what we would have repousidg constant currency rates from our
May 31, 2013 balance sheet date.

The increase in cash, cash equivalents and mat&etaburities at May 31, 2013 in comparison to NMay2012 was due to an increase in cast
generated from our operating activities, our isseanf $5.0 billion of senior notes in October 2048d to a lesser extent, cash proceeds from
fiscal 2013 stock option exercises. This increaas partially offset by $11.0 billion of repurchasé®ur common stock, $3.3 billion of net
cash paid for acquisitions, the repayments of $ilion of short-term borrowings pursuant to ouperd revolving credit facilities, the
repayment of $1.25 billion of senior notes whichtimed in April 2013, and the payment of cash dindieto our stockholders. Additionally,
our reported cash, cash equivalents and markesablgities balances as of May 31, 2013 decreasashiparison to May 31, 2012 due to the
general strengthening of the U.S. Dollar in comgarito certain major international currencies dyfiacal 2013.

Days sales outstanding, which was calculated biglidig period end accounts receivable by averagg dales for the quarter, was 48 days at
May 31, 2014 compared with 50 days at May 31, 20h&. days sales outstanding calculation excludedntipact of revenue adjustments
resulting from business combinations that redueagdaoquired cloud SaaS and PaaS obligations, s&fthicense updates and product support
obligations and hardware systems support obligatiorfair value.

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2014 Change 2013 Change 2012

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 14,92 5% $ 14,22¢ 3% $ 13,74
Net cash used for investing activiti $ (7,539 27% $ (5,956 -29% $ (8,38)
Net cash used for financing activiti $ (4,06%) -52% $ (8,500 39% $ (6,099
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Cash flows from operating activities: Our largest source of operating cash flowsghacollections from our customers following the
purchase and renewal of their software license tggdand product support agreements. Payments fustaraers for these support agreements
are generally received near the beginning of timtraots’ terms, which are generally one year iglenWe also generate significant cash from
new software licenses sales and sales of hardwatenss support arrangements, and to a lesser ggtdes$ of services, hardware systems
products, and cloud SaaS and PaaS offerings. @uapr uses of cash from operating activities areefaployee related expenditures, material
and manufacturing costs related to the productfauohardware systems products, taxes and leasddiés.

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 201 Net cash provided by operating activities iased in fiscal 2014 in comparison to fiscal 2013
primarily due to the following: the fiscal 2013 rogcurring impacts of a reduction of contingentsideration payable in connection with an
acquisition of $387 million (see Note 2 of Notesdonsolidated Financial Statements included elsesvimethis Annual Report for additional
information) and the impact of a $306 million nowrrent receivable related to certain litigatioag$Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Finar
Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Rdpordditional information), both of which incrembour net income in fiscal 2013 without
the corresponding cash flow benefits. These iteichsiot recur during fiscal 2014.

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 201 Net cash provided by operating activities iased in fiscal 2013 in comparison to fiscal 2012
primarily due to cash favorable impacts of increaset income adjusted for amortization of intangia$sets, stock-based compensation and
depreciation during fiscal 2013 in comparison szdil 2012.

Cash flows from investing activities: The changes in cash flows from investing atégiprimarily relate to acquisitions and the tighiof
purchases, maturities and sales of our investniemisirketable debt securities. We also use castvést in capital and other assets, including
certain intangible assets, to support our growth.

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 201 Net cash used for investing activities increasefiscal 2014 due to an increase in net casH tse
purchase marketable securities (net of proceedsvet from sales and maturities) and an increasash used for acquisitions, net of cash
acquired, in each case during fiscal 2014 in comparto fiscal 2013.

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 201 Net cash used for investing activities decrdasdiscal 2013 primarily due to a decrease inagasth
used to purchase marketable securities (net okpascreceived from sales and maturities) and a&dserin cash used for acquisitions, net of
cash acquired, in each case during fiscal 2018imparison to fiscal 2012.

Cash flows from financing activities: The changes in cash flows from financing atiésiprimarily relate to borrowings and repayments
related to our debt instruments as well as stopknehases, dividend payments and proceeds frork efuion exercises.

Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 201 Net cash used for financing activities in fis2@14 decreased in comparison to fiscal 2013 pilyna
due to the repayment of $3.0 billion of borrowiqmssuant to senior notes maturities and certaifrespevolving credit facilities in fiscal
2013 (no repayments during fiscal 2014), a neteiase in borrowings during fiscal 2014 (we issue@® ®#8lion and $3.0 billion of senior notes
during fiscal 2014 in comparison to $5.0 billiongghior notes issued during fiscal 2013), loweclstepurchase activity during fiscal 2014 ;
higher proceeds from stock option exercidesng fiscal 2014. These fiscal 2014 cash favaablriances were partially offset by an increa:
payments of cash dividends to stockholders in fi2644 in comparison to fiscal 2013.

Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 201 Net cash used for financing activities in fis2@13 increased in comparison to fiscal 2012 prilypa
due to an increase in our common stock repurch@seased $11.0 billion of cash for common stockurepases during fiscal 2013 in
comparison to $5.9 billion in fiscal 2012) and marease in repayments of borrowings (we repaid B®ion of borrowings pursuant to senior
notes maturities and certain expired revolving ttrieilities in fiscal 2013 in comparison to thepayments of $1.4 billion of short-term
borrowings from expired revolving credit facilitiend legacy convertible notes assumed from Righthdiscal 2012), partially offset by our
issuance of $5.0 billion of senior notes in Octab@t2, an increase in proceeds from stock opti@noéses and certain other financing activity
cash flow increases, net.
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Free cash flow: To supplement our statements of cash flowsaptesl on a GAAP basis, we use non-GAAP measureasbi flows on a
trailing 4-quarter basis to analyze cash flows gateel from our operations. We believe free cash flalso useful as one of the bases for
comparing our performance with our competitors. presentation of non-GAAP free cash flow is not mea be considered in isolation or as
an alternative to net income as an indicator ofpmrformance, or as an alternative to cash floasfoperating activities as a measure of
liquidity. We calculate free cash flows as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2014 Change 2013 Change 2012

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 14,92 5% $ 14,22 3% $ 13,74
Capital expenditure® (580 -11% (650 0% (649)
Free cash flov $ 14,34: 6% $ 13,57¢ 4% $ 13,09¢
Net income $ 10,95¢ $ 10,92¢ $ 9,98
Free cash flow as percent of net incc 131% 124% 131%

(@) Derived from capital expenditures as reported shdtows from investing activities as per our cditsted statements of cash flows presented in decme with U.S. GAAF

Long-Term Customer Financing: We offer certain of our customers the option toudiegour software products, hardware systems ptsduc
and services offerings through separate long-texym@nt contracts. We generally sell these contthatswe have financed for our customers
on a non-recourse basis to financial institutioithiw 90 days of the contracts’ dates of executide. record the transfers of amounts due fron
customers to financial institutions as sales ddffitial assets because we are considered to haeadared control of these financial assets. W
financed $1.6 billion, $1.8 billion and $1.6 billiprespectively, or approximately 17%, 19% and li@spectively, of our new software licen
revenues in fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, and $18®&mi$161 million and $134 million, respectivelyr approximately 6%, 5%, and 3%,
respectively, of our hardware systems productsmees in fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Recent Financing Activities

Senior Notes As of May 31, 2014, we had $24.2 billion ohi&e notes outstanding ($18.5 billion outstandisgpMay 31, 2013). In July
2013, we issued €2.0 billion ($2.7 billion as of /&, 2014) of fixed rate senior notes comprise@l®5 billion of 2.25% notes due January
2021 (2021 Notes) and €750 million of 3.125% nahes July 2025 (2025 Notes, and together with tiE 20otes, the Euro Notes). The Euro
Notes are registered and trade on the New Yorkk3fachange. We are accounting for the 2025 Notesras investment hedge of ¢
investments in certain of our international sulzsigis that use the Euro as their functional cugrémorder to reduce the volatility in
stockholders’ equity caused by the changes indoreurrency exchange rates of the Euro with reqpeitite U.S. Dollar pursuant to ASC 815,
Derivatives and Hedgin(ASC 815).

In July 2013, we also issued $3.0 billion of semotes comprised of $500 million of floating ratetes due January 2019 (2019 Floating Rate
Notes), $1.5 billion of 2.375% notes due Januai2@2019 Notes) and $1.0 billion of 3.625% notes duly 2023 (2023 Notes, and toget
with the Floating Rate Notes and 2019 Notes, ti& Dollar Notes).

We issued the Euro Notes and the U.S. Dollar Nimtegeneral corporate purposes, which may includeksrepurchases, payment of cash
dividends on our common stock and future acquisitid\dditional details regarding the Euro Notes, thS. Dollar Notes, and the related
hedge accounting are included in Note 8 and Notef Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementdyuded elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Interest Rate Swap Agreementsin July 2013, we entered into certain interag¢ swap agreements that have the economic effect
modifying the fixed interest obligations associatéth our 2019 Notes so that the interest payahléhese notes effectively became variable
based on LIBOR. As of May 31, 2014, our 2019 Ndtad an effective interest rate of 0.88% after aterang the effects of the aforementionec
interest rate swap arrangements. We are accouiatitgese interest rate swap agreements as faievadges pursuant to ASC 815. Additic
details regarding our senior notes and relateddntgate swap agreements are included in Notel&ate 11 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, included elsewhere in thisu&hReport.
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Cross Currency Swap Agreementsin July 2013, in connection with the issuantéhe 2021 Notes, we entered into certain crossogy
swap agreements to manage the related foreignnoyrexchange risk by effectively converting theefixrate, Euro denominated 2021 Notes,
including the annual interest payments and the gayrmof principal at maturity, to fixed-rate, U.Sollar denominated debt. The economic
effect of the swap agreements was to eliminataittoertainty of the cash flows in U.S. Dollars asseal with the 2021 Notes by fixing the
principal amount of the 2021 Notes at $1.6 billwith an annual interest rate of 3.53%. We havegieded these cross-currency swap
agreements as qualifying hedging instruments a@@derounting for these as cash flow hedges pursoa@&8C 815. Additional details
regarding our senior notes and related cross-ccyrswap agreements are included in Note 8 and Nbt#f Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, included elsewhere in this Annual Repor

Cash Dividends In fiscal 2014, we declared and paid cashdéints of $0.48 per share that totaled $2.2 billiodune 2014, our Board of
Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend ol $@er share of outstanding common stock payablbn30, 2014 to stockholders of record
as of the close of business on July 9, 2014. Futectarations of dividends and the establishmefitofe record and payment dates are subje
to the final determination of our Board of Director

Common Stock Repurchases Our Board of Directors has approved a progi@nus to repurchase shares of our common stockluba 20,
2013, we announced that our Board of Directors @ an expansion of our stock repurchase progsaamtadditional $12.0 billion. As of
May 31, 2014, approximately $4.3 billion remaineditable for stock repurchases under the stockrodyase program. We repurchased
280.4 million shares for $9.8 billion, 346.1 milishares for $11.0 billion, and 207.3 million sisdier $6.0 billion in fiscal 2014, 2013 and
2012, respectively. Our stock repurchase authdoizatoes not have an expiration date and the ploeraepurchase activity will depend on
factors such as our working capital needs, our caghirements for acquisitions and dividend paymemir debt repayment obligations
(described further below), our stock price and eooic and market conditions. Our stock repurchasagme effected from time to time
through open market purchases or pursuant to aFlig-1 plan. Our stock repurchase program maycbelerated, suspended, delayed or
discontinued at any time.

Contractual Obligations: The contractual obligations presented in the thblew represent our estimates of future paymerdgufixed
contractual obligations and commitments. Changealiirbusiness needs, cancellation provisions, dhgrigterest rates and other factors may
result in actual payments differing from theseraates. We cannot provide certainty regarding tinéng and amounts of payments. We have
presented below a summary of the most significasti@ptions used in preparing this information watfie context of our consolidated
financial position, results of operations and cialvs. The following is a summary of certain of aamtractual obligations as of May 31, 20
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Year Ending May 31,

(Dollars in millions) Total 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter
Principal payments on borrowin® $ 2412 $ 1500 $ 2000 $ — $ 5000 $ 2000 $ 13,62
Interest payments on borrowin®) 10,39( 88:¢ 87:% 76¢ 752 592 6,522
Operating lease® 1,39¢ 373 304 23C 16¢ 12C 203
Purchase obligations and otl® 51C 46¢ 28 12 1 — —

Total contractual obligatior $ 36,41¢ $ 322¢ $ 320f $101C $ 5921 $ 2,712 $ 20,34¢

(€3]

@

®

Our total borrowings consisted of the followingadsviay 31, 2014 (dollars in millions

Amount

3.75% senior notes due July 2014, net of fair valdjgstment of $8 $ 1,50¢
5.25% senior notes due January 2016, net of disai$2 1,99¢
1.20% senior notes due October 2017, net of digcuib8 2,49
5.75% senior notes due April 20 2,50(
Floating rate senior notes due January Z 50(
2.375% senior notes due January 2019, net of &irevadjustment of $15 and discount of 1,51(
5.00% senior notes due July 2019, net of discofii8: 1,74
3.875% senior notes due July 2020, net of discofiil 99¢
2.25% senior notes due January 2021, net of disci$9 1,691
2.50% senior notes due October 2022, net of didcufub2 2,49¢
3.625% senior notes due July 2023, net of discofii8 997
3.125% senior notes due July 2025, net of discofii8 1,015
6.50% senior notes due April 2038, net of discair2 1,24¢
6.125% senior notes due July 2039, net of discotiiv 1,24:%
5.375% senior notes due July 2040, net of discofliie3 2,22

Total borrowings $ 2417

We have entered into certain interest rate swapemgents related to our 3.75% senior notes due2il¥ (2014 Notes) and our 2019 Notes that havet¢bromic effect of modifying
the fixed interest obligations associated with ¢h&snior notes so that the interest obligatiorecéffely became variable pursuant to a LIBOR-basdéx. Interest payments on the
2014 Notes and 2019 Notes presented in the con&laabligations table above have been estimatedjusterest rates of 1.29% and 0.88%, respectivefjch represented our
effective interest rates for these senior notesf &ay 31, 2014 after consideration of these fik@dariable interest rate swap agreements, ansldnject to change in future periods.
The changes in fair values of our debt associattfdthe interest rate risks that we are hedgingpamt to these agreements were included in nojedfeand other current borrowin
for the 2014 Notes and notes payable and othecnment borrowings for the 2019 Notes in our coitlsdéd balance sheet and have been included ebitne table of total
borrowings as of May 31, 2014.

Our floating rate senior notes due January 2016 lmerest at a rate of 0.81% as of May 31, 20H¥iaterest payments on these notes presented ootiteactual obligations table
above have been estimated using this rate.

The 2021 Notes and the 2025 Notes are denominatédrd. In connection with the issuance of the 2R2fes, we entered into certain cross-currency sagaeements that have the
economic effect of converting our fixed rate, Edemominated debt, including annual interest paysant the payment of principal at maturity, toxadi rate, U.S. Dollar
denominated debt of $1.6 billion with a fixed anhningerest rate of 3.53%. Principal and interestpents for the 2021 Notes presented in the coniahobligations table above were
calculated based on the terms of the aforementioress-currency swap agreements. Principal antesttpayments for the 2025 Notes presented ingh&actual obligations table
above were estimated using foreign currency exahaatgs as of May 31, 2014.

Primarily represents leases of facilities andudes future minimum rent payments for facilitibattwe have vacated pursuant to our restructuridgn@erger integration activities. We
have approximately $112 million in facility obligans, net of estimated sublease income, for ceviaiated locations in accrued restructuring inammsolidated balance sheet at
May 31, 2014

Primarily represents amounts associated with agea&nthat are enforceable, legally binding andi§p&rms, including: fixed or minimum quantities be purchased; fixed, minimt
or variable price provisions; and the approximatertg of the payment. We utilize several externahufacturers to manufacture sub-assemblies fohatgtware products and to
perform final assembly and testing of finished kaack products. We also obtain individual hardwamapgonents for our products from a variety of indial suppliers based on
projected demand information. Such purchase comenitsnare based on our forecasted component andiactuming requirements and typically provide folfiftment within agreed
upon lead-times and/or commercially standard |&aés for the particular part or product and havenbacluded in the amount presented in the abomgactual obligations table.
Routine arrangements for other materials and gtwtsare not related to our external manufactuaadscertain other suppliers and that are entetedrirthe ordinary course of
business are not included in the amounts preseittee as they are generally entered into in orlseture pricing or other negotiated terms andliffieult to quantify in a
meaningful way
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On June 22, 2014, we entered into an AgreemenP&ndof Merger (Merger Agreement) with MICROS SysdeInc. (MICROS), a provider

of integrated software, hardware and services isoisito the hospitality and retail industries. Riarg to the Merger Agreement, we will
commence a tender offer for the outstanding shemmdsshares generally representing vested equigniive awards of MICROS (collectively,
MICROS Shares). MICROS shareholders will have iletto tender their MICROS Shares to Oracle inhexge for $68.00 per share in cash
upon consummation of the tender offer. The tenffer avill commence no later than ten business deys June 22, 2014. After completion of
the tender offer and subject to certain limiteddibans, MICROS will merge with and into a whollywoed subsidiary of Oracle. In addition,
unvested equity awards to acquire MICROS commockstuat are outstanding immediately prior to theatosion of the merger will generally
be converted into equity awards denominated ineshaf our common stock based on formulas contam#te Merger Agreement. The
estimated total purchase price for MICROS is apipnaxely $5.3 billion. This transaction is conditemhupon (i) at least a majority of the
MICROS Shares being validly tendered to Oraclgréigulatory clearance under the Hart-Scott-Rodintitrust Improvements Act of 1976,

(iii) the applicable merger control laws of the &pean Commission and other jurisdictions, andd@rjain other customary closing conditions.
We also have entered into certain other agreenterisquire other companies and expect these propaspiisitions to close during the first
quarter of fiscal 2015. We intend to finance owpmsed acquisitions through a combination of oterimally available cash, our cash generate
from operations, our existing available debt cayaeidditional borrowings, or from the issuancead€litional securities.

As of May 31, 2014, we had $4.5 billion of grossagognized income tax benefits, including relatedriest and penalties, recorded on our
consolidated balance sheet and all such obligatiame been excluded from the table above due tartbertainty as to when they might be
settled. We cannot make a reasonably reliable astinf the period in which the remainder of ouragoignized income tax benefits will be
settled or released with the relevant tax autlemjtalthough we believe it is reasonably posshaeé ¢ertain of these liabilities could be settled
or released during fiscal 2015.

We believe that our current cash, cash equivatemismarketable securities and cash generated fpemations will be sufficient to meet our
working capital, capital expenditures and contraktbligation requirements. In addition, we beligwe could fund any future acquisitions,
dividend payments and repurchases of common stodg&ld with our internally available cash, cashiegjents and marketable securities, casl
generated from operations, additional borrowinggan the issuance of additional securities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements: We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangentleat have or are reasonably likely to have sectiror
future effect on our financial condition, changedinancial condition, revenues or expenses, resilbperations, liquidity, capital expenditu
or capital resources that are material to investors

Selected Quarterly Financial Data

Quarterly revenues, expenses and operating incamwe fistorically been affected by a variety of sea$factors, including sales force
incentive compensation plans. In addition, our [Beem operations generally provide lower revenueslirfirst fiscal quarter because of the
reduced economic activity in Europe during the semrihese seasonal factors are common in the éajimology industry. These factors hi
caused a decrease in our first quarter revenuesmapared to revenues in the immediately precedingti quarter, which historically has been
our highest revenue quarter within a particulasdis/ear. Similarly, the operating income of ousimess is affected by seasonal factors in a
consistent manner as our revenues (in particularnew software licenses and cloud software suttsons segment) as certain expenses w
our cost structure are relatively fixed in the $hlerm. We expect these trends to continue in fi26a5.
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The following tables set forth selected unauditedrterly information for our last eight fiscal qtems. We believe that all necessary
adjustments, which consisted only of normal reagradjustments, have been included in the amotetisdsbelow to present fairly the results
of such periods when read in conjunction with thesolidated financial statements and related rintdsded elsewhere in this Annual Report.
The sum of the quarterly financial information mayy from the annual data due to rounding.

Fiscal 2014 Quarter Ended (Unaudited

(in millions, except per share amounts August 31 November 3( February 28 May 31

Revenue: $ 8,37: $ 9,27t $ 9,307 $ 11,32(
Gross profit $ 6,607 $ 7,42 $ 7,49( $ 9,34(
Operating incomi $ 2,87: $ 3,41C $ 3,56 $ 4,90¢
Net income $ 2,191 $ 2,55: $ 2,56¢ $ 3,64¢
Earnings per sha—basic $ 0.4¢ $ 0.5¢ $ 0.57 $ 081
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 0.47 $ 0.5¢ $ 0.5€ $ 0.8

Fiscal 2013 Quarter Ended (Unaudited

(in millions, except per share amounts August 31 November 3( February 28 May 31

Revenue! $ 8,181 $ 9,094 $ 8,95¢ $ 10,94°
Gross profit $ 6,30¢ $  7,20C $ 7,127 $ 8,98/
Operating incomi $ 2,87¢ $ 3,471 $ 3,33 $ 5,00(
Net income $ 2,03« $ 2,581 $ 2,504 $ 3,80
Earnings per sha—basic $ 0.4z $ 0.5¢ $ 0.5% $ 0381
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 0.41 $ 0.5: $ 0.52 $ 0.8C

Stock Options and Restricted Stock-Based Awards

Our stock-based compensation program is a key coemg@f the compensation package we provide tadctand retain certain of our talented
employees and align their interests with the irgeref existing stockholders. We historically hgvanted only stock options to our employees
and any restricted stock-based awards outstandéng assumed as a result of our acquisitions.

We recognize that stock options and restrictecksbased awards dilute existing stockholders ane lsaught to control the number of stock
options and restricted stock-based awards granbdd providing competitive compensation packagem<istent with these dual goals, our
cumulative potential dilution since June 1, 201& been a weighted average annualized rate of 2e8%e@r. The potential dilution percentage
is calculated as the average annualized new sigtdéns or restricted stock-based awards grantecaasdmed, net of stock options and
restricted stock-based awards forfeited by empleyeaving the company, divided by the weighted ayeroutstanding shares during the
calculation period. This maximum potential dilutiefil only result if all stock options are exeraisand restricted stock-based awards vest. O
the outstanding stock options at May 31, 2014, tvigienerally have a 10-year exercise period, lems 1h0% have exercise prices higher than
the current market price of our common stock. berg years, our stock repurchase program has ianedffset the dilutive effect of our
stock-based compensation program; however, we athyce the level of our stock repurchases in theduds we may use our available cash
for acquisitions, to pay dividends, to repay omurghase indebtedness or for other purposes. At3ag014, the maximum potential dilution
from all outstanding and unexercised stock optamd restricted stock-based awards, regardless efighanted and regardless of whether
vested or unvested and including stock options tiee strike price is higher than the current migpkiee, was 10.4%.
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The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directeviews and approves the organization-wide sbption grants to selected employees,
all stock option grants to executive officers ang adividual stock option grants in excess of D00, shares. A separate Plan Committee,
which is an executive officer committee, approvestividual stock option grants of up to 100,000 skap non-executive officers and
employees. Stock option and restricted stock-basedd activity from June 1, 2011 through May 311£2& summarized as follows (shares in
millions):

Stock options and restricted st-based awards outstanding at May 31, 2 35¢€
Stock options grante 362
Stock options and restricted st-based awards assum 28
Stock options exercised and restricted s-based awards vest (219
Forfeitures, cancellations and other, (69

Stock options and restricted st-based awards outstanding at May 31, 2 467

Weighted average annualized stock options andaestrstock-based awards granted and assumedf, foetestures and

cancellation: 10¢

Weighted average annualized stock repurch (27%)

Shares outstanding at May 31, 2( 4,46¢

Basic weighted average shares outstanding from Ju2@11 through May 31, 20: 4,771

Stock options and restricted st-based awards outstanding as a percent of shaamding at May 31, 201 10.4%

In the money stock options and total restrictedlstmased awards outstanding (based on the closiog @f our common stock on

the last trading day of our fiscal period presenteda percent of shares outstanding at May 314 10.3%

Weighted average annualized stock options andaestrstock-based awards granted and assumedf, foetestures and

cancellations and before stock repurchases, ascanief weighted average shares outstanding frore 1, 2011 through

May 31, 201¢ 2.3%
Weighted average annualized stock options andaesirstock-based awards granted and assumedf, foetestures and

cancellations and after stock repurchases, ascamenf weighted average shares outstanding frara 1u2011 through May 31,

2014 -3.5%

Our Compensation Committee approves the annuahaagon-wide option grants to certain employedsese annual option grants were
historically made during the ten business day pefiddlowing the second trading day after the anmeument of our fiscal fourth quarter
earnings report.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to recent accountingnouncements and the impact of these pronouncemertur consolidated financial
statements, see Note 1 of Notes to ConsolidatezhEial Statements included elsewhere in this AnReglort.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosues About Market Risk
Cash, Cash Equivalents, Marketable Securities anchterest Income Risk

Our bank deposits and time deposits are generaltywith large, diverse financial institutions waalide with high investment grade credit
ratings, which we believe mitigates certain ridksaddition, we purchase high quality debt securityestments, approximately 45% of which
have maturity dates within one year and 55% of wihiave maturity dates within one to four yearsfdday 31, 2014 (see a description of our
debt securities held in Note 3 and Note 4 of NtdeSonsolidated Financial Statements included éisegvin this Annual Report anditjuidity
and Capital Resources” above). Interest rate momts@an impact the valuation of our debt securltigisare presently not significant to our
valuations considering the current interest ratdrenment and the duration of our portfolio. Subsily all of our marketable securities are
designated as available-for-sale. We generallyalause our investments for trading purposes.

Changes in the overall level of interest ratescaffiee interest income that is generated from eshccash equivalents and marketable
securities. For fiscal 2014, total interest incomas $263 million with our cash, cash
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equivalents and marketable investments yieldingwamrage 0.79% on a worldwide basis. The table bel@sents the approximate fair values
of our cash, cash equivalents and marketable siesuaind the related weighted average interest fateour investment portfolio at May 31,
2014 and 2013.

May 31,
2014 2013

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Interest Interest

(Dollars in millions) Fair Value Rate Fair Value Rate
Cash and cash equivalel $ 17,76 0.37% $ 14,61 0.50%
Marketable securitie 21,05( 1.14% 17,601 0.88%
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sies $ 38,81¢ 0.79% $ 32,21¢ 0.71%

Interest Expense Risk

Our total borrowings were $24.2 billion as of Maly, 2014, consisting of $23.7 billion of fixed rdterrowings and $500 million of floating r:
borrowings. In July 2013, we issued €2.0 billio2.@billion as of May 31, 2014) of fixed rate sanimtes and $3.0 billion of senior notes
comprised of $500 million of floating rate notesl&#®.5 billion of fixed rate notes as describethim “Recent Financing Activities” section of
Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@hdition and Results of Operations (Item 7) in thisiual Report.

In July 2013, we entered into certain interest satap agreements that have the economic effecbdffying the fixed interest obligations
associated with our $1.5 billion of 2.375% seniotes due January 2019 (2019 Notes) so that theegitpayable on the 2019 Notes effectively
became variable based on LIBOR. In September 200%®ntered into certain interest rate swap agretntleat have the economic effect of
modifying the fixed interest obligations associatéth our $1.5 billion of 3.75% senior notes dué¢yR014 (2014 Notes) so that the interest
payable on the 2014 Notes effectively became viribahsed on LIBOR. The critical terms of the ing¢mate swap agreements and the 2019
Notes and 2014 Notes that the interest rate swageaments pertain to match, including the notiomabants and maturity dates. We do not
these interest rate swap arrangements or our fadedborrowings for trading purposes. We are aciiogifior these interest rate swap
agreements as fair value hedges pursuant to AS(I&thvatives and HedgingAdditional details regarding our senior notes esldted

interest rate swap agreements are included in 8lated Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financiate®bents, included elsewhere in this
Annual Report.

By entering into these interest rate swap arrangé&nee have assumed risks associated with variiateleest rates based upon LIBOR. As of
May 31, 2014, our 2014 Notes and 2019 Notes hagtife interest rates of 1.29% and 0.88%, respagtiafter considering the effects of the
aforementioned interest rate swap arrangementsigélsan the overall level of interest rates afthetinterest expense that we recognize in oL
statements of operations. An interest rate riskisigity analysis is used to measure interest riateby computing estimated changes in cash
flows as a result of assumed changes in markaestteates. As of May 31, 2014, if LIBOR-based riegt rates increased by 100 basis points,
the change would increase our interest expenseainiy approximately $22 million as it relatesdor fixed to variable interest rate swap
agreements and floating rate borrowings.

Currency Risk

Foreign Currency Transaction and Translation RisksFereign Currency Borrowings and Related Hedges

In July 2013, we issued €1.25 billion of 2.25% sadele January 2021 (2021 Notes) and we enteredéntain cross-currency swap
agreements to manage the related foreign exchasigby effectively converting the fixed-rate Eurendminated debt, including the annual
interest payments and the payment of principalatnity, to a fixed-rate, U.S. Dollar denominatexbtl The economic effect of the swap
agreements was to eliminate the uncertainty ot#sh flows in U.S. Dollars associated with the 2821es by fixing the principal amount of
the 2021 Notes at $1.6 billion with an annual iegtrate of 3.53%.
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In July 2013, we also issued®0 million of 3.125% notes due July 2025 (2025d¥pt We designated the 2025 Notes as a net invastradge
of our investments in certain of our internatiosabsidiaries that use the Euro as their functionedency in order to reduce the volatility in
stockholdersequity caused by the changes in foreign currenchaxge rates of the Euro with respect to the Udlab As a result, the chan
in the carrying value of the Euro denominated 2R2%es due to fluctuations in foreign currency exaerates on the effective portion is
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive losaiogonsolidated balance sheet and is also pexbassta line item in our consolidated
statements of comprehensive income included elsewhdhis Annual Report and totaled $34 milliomneft other comprehensive losses for
fiscal 2014. Any remaining change in the carryimdue of the 2025 Notes representing the ineffegiivgion of the net investment hedge is
recognized in non-operating (expense) income,Wetdid not record any ineffectiveness during fis2@il4.

Fluctuations in the exchange rates between the &unldhe U.S. Dollar will impact the amount of UC®llars that we will require to settle the
2025 Notes at maturity. If the U.S. Dollar weakebgdl0% in comparison to the Euro as of May 31,£2@Lr obligation to settle the 2025
Notes in U.S. Dollars would have increased by axprately $102 million

Foreign Currency Transaction Risk— Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

We transact business in various foreign curreraigshave established a program that primarilyzaiforeign currency forward contracts to
offset the risks associated with the effects ofaterforeign currency exposures. Under this prograun strategy is to enter into foreign
currency forward contracts so that increases aredses in our foreign currency exposures are dffsgains or losses on the foreign currency
forward contracts in order to mitigate the risksl aolatility associated with our foreign currencgrtsactions. We may suspend this program
from time to time. Our foreign currency exposungsdally arise from intercompany sublicense feetgricompany loans and other
intercompany transactions. Our foreign currencyéod contracts are generally short-term in duration

We neither use these foreign currency forward eatsrfor trading purposes nor do we designate tleea@rd contracts as hedging instrum
pursuant to ASC 815. Accordingly, we record the Yailues of these contracts as of the end of quorting period to our consolidated balance
sheet with changes in fair values recorded to ounsalidated statement of operations. Given thetshoation of the forward contracts, the
amount recorded is not significant. The balancetsbtlassification for the fair values of these fard/contracts is prepaid expenses and other
current assets for a net unrealized gain positimhadher current liabilities for a net unrealizedd position. The statement of operations
classification for changes in fair values of thém®ard contracts is non-operating (expense) ingareefor both realized and unrealized gains
and losses.

We expect that we will continue to realize gainsosses with respect to our foreign currency expesunet of gains or losses from our foreign
currency forward contracts. Our ultimate realizathgr loss with respect to foreign currency expeswvill generally depend on the size and
type of crosssurrency transactions that we enter into, the cusrexchange rates associated with these exposndeshanges in those rates,
net realized gain or loss on our foreign currerarwhrd contracts and other factors. As of May 3M,£and 2013, the notional amounts of the
forward contracts we held to purchase U.S. Dollaesxchange for other major international curreseiere $3.6 billion and $3.0 billion,
respectively. As of May 31, 2014 and 2013, thear@! amounts of forward contracts we held to se8.UDollars in exchange for other major
international currencies were $2.0 billion and #dillion, respectively. The fair values of our diatsding foreign currency forward contracts
were nominal at May 31, 2014 and 2013. Net for@igchange transaction losses included in non-operétixpense) income, net in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatiene $375 million, $162 million and $105 millionfiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. Included in the net foreign exchatrgasaction losses for fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2@&8e foreign currency losses relating to our
Venezuelan subsidiary’s operations, which are ntuweoughly described under “Non-Operating (Expehsedme, net” in Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations above. As a large portioounfconsolidated operations are
international, we could experience additional fgneturrency volatility in the future, the amountgldiming of which are unknown.
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Foreign Currency Translation Risk—Impact on Cashash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Fluctuations in foreign currencies impact the ant@frotal assets and liabilities that we reportdar foreign subsidiaries upon the translation
of these amounts into U.S. Dollars. In particullae, amount of cash, cash equivalents and marketableities that we report in U.S. Dollars
for a significant portion of the cash held by theabsidiaries is subject to translation varianaesed by changes in foreign currency exchange
rates as of the end of each respective reportinggpé&he offset to which is recorded to accumudatéher comprehensive loss on our
consolidated balance sheet and is also presengtiresitem in our consolidated statements of caiensive income included elsewhere in
this Annual Report).

As the U.S. Dollar fluctuated against certain intgional currencies as of the end of fiscal 204 ,amount of cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities that we reported in U.S.@slfor foreign subsidiaries that hold internatianarencies as of May 31, 2014 decreased
relative to what we would have reported using astaomt currency rate as of May 31, 2013. As repdrtexir consolidated statements of cash
flows, the estimated effect of exchange rate chswgeour reported cash and cash equivalents balamé¢&S. Dollars for fiscal 2014, 2013 ¢
2012 were decreases of $158 million, $110 milliod 471 million, respectively. The following tableludes estimates of the U.S. Dollar
equivalent of cash, cash equivalents and markessdlerities denominated in certain major foreigmencies as of May 31, 2014:

U.S. Dollar

Equivalent at

(in millions) May 31, 201«
Euro $ 1,84:
Indian Rupes 1,172
Australian Dollar 724
Japanese Ye 55C
Chinese Renmint 53t
Canadian Dolla 38t
South African Rani 341
British Pounc 32t
Other foreign currencie 2,14¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable smsudénominated in foreign currenc $ 8,02t

If overall foreign currency exchange rates in coriguen to the U.S. Dollar uniformly weakened by 1G#& amount of cash, cash equivalents
and marketable securities we would report in U.Qlldds would decrease by approximately $802 milli@ssuming constant foreign currency
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitiandes.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementar®ata

The response to this item is submitted as a sapseation of this Annual Report. See Part IV, ItEn

Iltem 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accatants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

As of the end of the period covered by this AnriR@port on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluatinder the supervision and with the
participation of our Disclosure Committee and o@niagement, including our Chief Executive Officed aur President and Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design andrapen of our disclosure controls and procedurasymnt to Exchange Act Rules 1B5(e) anc
15d-15(e). Disclosure controls are proceduresatatiesigned to ensure that information requirduktdisclosed in our reports filed under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange $uh as this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is rded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified by th& Usecurities and Exchange Commission. Disclosomérols are also designed to ensure the
such information is accumulated and communicatexlito
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management, including our Chief Executive Officed &#resident and Chief Financial Officer, as appabd@ to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Our quarterly evéduneof disclosure controls includes an evaluattbsome components of our internal control
over financial reporting. We also perform a sepaeatnual evaluation of internal control over finahoeporting for the purpose of providing
the management report below.

The evaluation of our disclosure controls include@view of their objectives and design, our impatation of the controls and the effect of
the controls on the information generated for ushis Annual Report on Form 10-ki the course of the controls evaluation, we reegwate
errors or control problems identified and soughtdafirm that appropriate corrective actions, inlahg process improvements, were being
undertaken. This type of evaluation is performedauarterly basis so that the conclusions of mamagt, including our Chief Executive
Officer and President and Chief Financial Offiamncerning the effectiveness of the disclosurerotsitan be reported in our periodic reports
on Form 10-Q and Form 10-K. Many of the componeitsur disclosure controls are also evaluated oorgoing basis by both our internal
audit and finance organizations. The overall goalhese various evaluation activities are to nwmiur disclosure controls and to modify
them as necessary. We intend to maintain our digobocontrols as dynamic processes and procedaewée adjust as circumstances merit.

Based on our management’s evaluation (with theqiaation of our Chief Executive Officer and oureBident and Chief Financial Officer), as
of the end of the period covered by this report, @hief Executive Officer and our President andeCRinancial Officer have concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures were effecti

Managemen's Report on Internal Control over Financial Repdrtg

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Untlersupervision and with the participation of oumangement, including our Chief
Executive Officer and President and Chief FinanGtiicer, we conducted an evaluation of the effeatiess of our internal control over
financial reporting as of May 31, 2014 based ongiielelines established Internal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comimiss 1992 framework. Our internal control over finahe¢eporting includes policies a
procedures that provide reasonable assurance negding reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external reporting purposes in accordance with geBerally accepted accounting principles.

Based on the results of our evaluation, our managéroncluded that our internal control over finaheporting was effective as of May 31,
2014. We reviewed the results of management’s sissag with our Finance and Audit Committee.

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of May 31, 2014 has been auditeBrnst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated inrtieport which is included in Part IV, Item 15thbis Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting identified in connection withet evaluation required by paragraph (d) of
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15 that occurtethd our last fiscal quarter that have materiaffigcted, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over fingalareporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Contro

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ifiand President and Chief Financial Officer, hgethat our disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial répg are designed to provide reasonable assum@mmehieving their objectives and are
effective at the reasonable assurance level. Howeue management does not expect that our diseasantrols and procedures or our inte
control over financial reporting will prevent alirers and all fraud. A control system, no mattewtveell conceived and operated, can provide
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance thatijleetives of the control system are met. Further,design of a control system must reflect th
fact that there are resource constraints and thefite of controls must be considered relativenirtcosts. Because of the inherent limitations
in all control systems, no evaluation
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of controls can provide absolute assurance thabalirol issues and instances of fraud, if anyehasen detected. These inherent limitations
include the realities that judgments in decisiorkimg can be faulty and that breakdowns can occoalge of a simple error or mistake.
Additionally, controls can be circumvented by thdividual acts of some persons, by collusion of wonore people or by management
override of the controls. The design of any systéirontrols also is based in part upon certainmgsions about the likelihood of future eve
and there can be no assurance that any desigausideed in achieving its stated goals under afimi@l future conditions; over time, controls
may become inadequate because of changes in amyjitr the degree of compliance with policiesrocpdures may deteriorate. Because of
the inherent limitations in a cost effective cohsystem, misstatements due to error or fraud ntaymoand not be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART lIl
Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corprate Governance

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 1GHe€, information required by this item relating tar @xecutive officers is included under the
caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant” iarPI of this Annual Report.

The other information required by this Item 10nsarporated by reference from the information cimetd in our Proxy Statement to be filed
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commissiaoimection with the solicitation of proxies forrd014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
(the “2014 Proxy Statement”) under the sectiongledt‘Board of Directors—Nominees for Director§Board of Directors—Committees,
Membership and Meetings—Committee Memberships @uFiscal 2014,” “Board of Directors—Committees, Mamship and Meetings—
The Finance and Audit Committee,” “Corporate Goesee—Employee Matters—Code of Conduct,” aBdction 16(a) Beneficial Ownerst
Reporting Compliance”.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item 11 is incargted by reference from the information to be cioretdh in our 2014 Proxy Statement under
the sections entitled “Board of Directors—Commigtelembership and Meetings—The Compensation ComesiCompensation Committee
Interlocks and Insider Participation,” “Board ofrBitors—Director Compensation,” and “Executive Cemgation”.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Benefi@l Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required by this Item 12 is incagted herein by reference from the informationdéacbntained in our 2014 Proxy Statement
under the sections entitled “Security Ownershieftain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “EXge Compensation—Equity
Compensation Plan Information”.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trasactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 is incagted herein by reference from the informationdéacbntained in our 2014 Proxy Statement
under the sections entitled “Corporate Governancear@ of Directors and Director Independence” andifiBactions with Related Persons”.

Iltem 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 is incarged herein by reference from the informationéacbntained in our 2014 Proxy Statement
under the section entitled “Ratification of Selentbf Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedes

(a) 1. Financial Statements

The following financial statements are filed asaat pf this report:

Page
Reports of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registdrablic Accounting Firm 82
Consolidated Financial Statemer
Balance Sheets as of May 31, 2014 and - 84
Statements of Operations for the years ended Mag(®t4, 2013 and 201 85
Statements of Comprehensive Income for the yeatsceMay 31, 2014, 2013 and 2C 86
Statements of Equity for the years ended May 31420013 and 201 87
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended Mag@®4, 2013 and 20! 88
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem 89
2. Financial Statement Schedule
The following financial statement schedule is fikexla part of this repol
Page
Schedule Il. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 134

All other schedules are omitted because they aresgaired or the required information is shownha financial statements or notes thereto.
(b) Exhibits
The information required by this Item is set faritthe Index of Exhibits that follows the signatyr@ge of this Annual Report.
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Oracle Corporation as of May 31, 20142013, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehemsdome, equity, and cash flows for each of theeglyears in the period ended May 31,
2014. Our audits also included the financial staeinschedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)l&sE financial statements and schedule are
the responsibility of the Comparsymanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspémian on these financial statements and schechdedo
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Oracle
Corporation at May 31, 2014 and 2013, and the dafaed results of its operations and its cash $lder each of the three years in the period
ended May 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. genlgratcepted accounting principles. Also, in oumin, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the Hasanicial statements taken as a whole, presentyg faiall material respects the information
set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), Oracle
Corporation’s internal control over financial refiog as of May 31, 2014, based on criteria estabtisin Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@mgtions of the Treadway Commission (1992 franrkjvand our report dated June
2014 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLF

San Jose, California
June 26, 2014
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited Oracle Corporation’s internal aidrdver financial reporting as of May 31, 2014, déen criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cassion (1992 framework) (the
COSO criteria). Oracle Corporation’s managementsponsible for maintaining effective internal gohbver financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting included in the accomgagyManagement’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsipiig to express an opinion on the company’s infezaatrol over financial reporting based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the staigdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etnadutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiralecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezeéssary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (&ajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Oracle Corporation maintained, limaaterial respects, effective internal controkofinancial reporting as of May 31, 2014,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Oracle Corporation as of May814 and 2013, and the related consolidated statsmé&operations, comprehensive
income, equity, and cash flows for each of thedlyears in the period ended May 31, 2014 of Or@cigoration and our report dated June 26
2014 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLF

San Jose, California
June 26, 2014
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of May 31, 2014 and 2013

May 31,
(in millions, except per share data 2014 2013
ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $ 17,76 $ 14,61
Marketable securitie 21,05( 17,60
Trade receivables, net of allowances for doubtfgbants of $306 and $296 as of May 31, 2014 and
2013, respectivel 6,087 6,04¢
Inventories 18¢ 24C
Deferred tax asse 914 974
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,12¢ 2,21:
Total current asse 48,13¢ 41,69:
Non-current asset:
Property, plant and equipment, | 3,061 3,05:
Intangible assets, n 6,137 6,64(
Goodwill 29,65: 27,34
Deferred tax asse 837 76€
Other asset 2,51¢ 2,31¢
Total nor-current assel 42,20¢ 40,12(
Total asset $ 90,34« $ 81,81:
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Notes payable, current and other current borrow $ 1,50¢ $ —
Accounts payabl 471 41¢
Accrued compensation and related ben: 1,94( 1,851
Income taxes payab 41¢€ 911
Deferred revenue 7,26¢ 7,11¢
Other current liabilitie: 2,78t 2,57
Total current liabilities 14,38¢ 12,87:
Non-current liabilities:
Notes payable and other r-current borrowing: 22,66" 18,49
Income taxes payab 4,18¢ 3,89¢
Other nor-current liabilities 1,65 1,402
Total nor-current liabilities 28,50¢ 23,79¢
Commitments and contingenci
Oracle Corporation stockhold’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par va—authorized: 1.0 shares; outstanding: n — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value and additional paichpital—authorized: 11,000 shares; outstandir
4,464 shares and 4,646 shares as of May 31, 2@l 2Cr8, respectivel 21,07" 18,89:
Retained earning 25,96 25,85«
Accumulated other comprehensive I (164) (99
Total Oracle Corporation stockhold’ equity 46,87¢ 44 ,64¢
Noncontrolling interest 56¢ 497
Total equity 47,44 45,14
Total liabilities and equit' $ 90,34 $ 81,81:

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data 2014 2013 2012
Revenues
New software license $ 9,41¢ $ 9,411 $ 9,451
Cloud softwar-as-a-service and platfor-as-a-service 1,121 91C 45k
Cloud infrastructur-as-a-service 45€ 457 444
Software license updates and product sug 18,20¢ 17,14: 16,21(
Software and cloud revenu 29,19¢ 27,92( 26,56(
Hardware systems produ 2,97¢ 3,03: 3,821
Hardware systems supp 2,39¢ 2,318 2,47¢
Hardware systems revent 5,372 5,34¢ 6,30z
Services revenue 3,704 3,914 4,25¢
Total revenue: 38,27t 37,18( 37,12:
Operating expense
Sales and marketir® 7,567 7,06z 6,99(
Cloud softwar-as-a-service and platfor-as-a-service®) 45E 327 20¢
Cloud infrastructur-as-a-service 30¢ 304 28¢
Software license updates and product sug® 1,162 1,17¢ 1,22¢
Hardware systems produ«® 1,521 1,501 1,84:
Hardware systems supp® 83€ 89C 1,04¢
Service<® 2,95¢ 3,18: 3,38
Research and developmt 5,151 4,85( 4,52
General and administrati 1,03¢ 1,07z 1,12¢
Amortization of intangible asse 2,30(¢ 2,38t 2,43(
Acquisition related and oth: 41 (604) 56
Restructuring 18z 352 29t
Total operating expens 23,51¢ 22,49¢ 23,41¢
Operating incom: 14,75¢ 14,68« 13,70¢
Interest expens (919 (797) (76€)
Non-operating (expense) income, | (147) 11 22
Income before provision for income ta» 13,70« 13,89¢ 12,96:
Provision for income taxe 2,74¢ 2,97: 2,981
Net income $ 10,95 $ 10,92! $ 9,98
Earnings per shan
Basic $ 2.42 $ 2.2¢ $ 1.9¢
Diluted $ 2.3¢ $ 2.2¢€ $ 1.9¢
Weighted average common shares outstani
Basic 4,52¢ 4,76¢ 5,01¢
Diluted 4,60/ 4,84¢ 5,09t
Dividends declared per common sh $ 0.4¢ $ 0.3C $ 0.2

1) Exclusive of amortization of intangible assets, abhis shown separatel
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Years Ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Net income $ 10,95¢ $ 10,92t $ 9,981
Other comprehensive loss, net of t
Net foreign currency translation loss (78) (229 (39¢)
Net unrealized gains (losses) on defined benedits 23 (68) (102)
Net unrealized (losses) gains on marketable sézs (15) (20) 70
Net unrealized gains on cash flow hed 5 — —
Total other comprehensive loss, (65) (211) (430
Comprehensive incon $ 10,89 $ 10,71 $ 9,55

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

For the Years Ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

Common Stock and Total
Additional Paid in Accumulated Oracle
Capital Other Corporation
Number of Comprehensive  Stockholders’  Noncontrolling
Retained Total

(in millions) Shares Amount Earnings (Loss) Income Equity Interests Equity
Balances as of May 31, 20 5,06¢ $ 16,65: $ 22,58 $ 54z $ 39,77¢  $ 46 $ 40,24t
Common stock issued under st-based compensation ple 40 622 — — 622 — 622
Common stock issued under stock purchase | 4 111 — — 111 — 111
Assumption of stock-based compensation plan awardsnnection

with acquisitions — 29 — — 29 — 28
Stocl-based compensatic — 65¢ — — 65¢ — 65¢
Repurchase of common sta (207) (69€) (5,270 — (5,96%) — (5,96%)
Cash dividends declared ($0.24 per sh — — (1,20%) — (1,20%) — (1,20%)
Tax benefit from stock plar — 113 — — 113 — 113
Other, ne' — — — — — 2 2
Distributions to noncontrolling interes — — — — — (163) (169)
Other comprehensive loss, | — — — (430) (430) (28) (45¢)
Net income — — 9,981 — 9,981 11¢ 10,10(
Balances as of May 31, 20 4,90t 17,48¢ 26,08 112 43,68¢ 39¢ 44,08
Common stock issued under st-based compensation ple 84 1,417 — — 1,417 — 1,417
Common stock issued under stock purchase | 3 11C — — 11C — 11C
Assumption of stock-based compensation plan awardsnnection

with acquisitions — 15 — — 15 — 15
Stocl-based compensatic — 75¢ — — 75t — 75t
Repurchase of common sta (34€) (1,269 (9,725 — (10,999 — (10,99¢)
Cash dividends declared ($0.30 per sh — — (1,439 — (1,439 — (1,437
Tax benefit from stock plar — 257 — — 257 — 257
Other, ne — 11¢ — — 1LILE 66 18t
Distributions to noncontrolling interes — — — — — 31 (31)
Other comprehensive loss, 1 — — — (211) (211) (49) (260)
Net income — — 10,92t — 10,92¢ 112 11,03:
Balances as of May 31, 20 4,64¢ 18,89: 25,85¢ (99) 44,64¢ 497 45,14
Common stock issued under st-based compensation ple 95 2,02¢ — — 2,02¢ — 2,02¢
Common stock issued under stock purchase | 3 10¢ — — 10¢ — 10¢
Assumption of stock-based compensation plan awardsnnection

with acquisitions — 14¢ — — 14¢ — 14¢
Stocl-based compensatic — 80& — — 80& — 80t
Repurchase of common sta (280) (1,160 (8,639 — (9,799 — (9,799
Cash dividends declared ($0.48 per sh — — (2,17¢) — (2,17¢) — (2,179
Tax benefit from stock plar — 254 — — 254 — 254
Other, ne — 2 (28) — (26) 12 (14)
Distributions to noncontrolling interes — — — — — (28) (29)
Other comprehensive loss, | — — — (65) (65) (20 (79)
Net income — — 10,95¢ — 10,95¢ 98 11,05!
Balances as of May 31, 20 446 $ 21,07 $ 2596 $ (164 $ 46,87¢  $ 56 $ 47,44

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Cash Flows From Operating Activitie
Net income $ 10,958 $10,92¢ $ 9,98
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciatior 60¢ 54¢€ 48€
Amortization of intangible asse 2,30( 2,38t 2,43(
Allowances for doubtful accounts receiva 12z 11€ 92
Deferred income taxe (24¢) (117) 9
Stocl-based compensatic 80¢ 75& 65¢
Tax benefits on the exercise of stock options asling of restricted sto-based award 48C 41C 182
Excess tax benefits on the exercise of stock optoml vesting of restricted st-based award (250 (24)) 97)
Other, ne 311 15t 84
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffetts from acquisition:
Decrease (increase) in trade receiva 24 267 8)
Decrease (increase) in inventor 57 (6€) 15C
Increase in prepaid expenses and other a (143 (555) (51)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and d@béities 48 (54)) (720
(Decrease) increase in income taxes pay (320 85 54
Increase in deferred revent 172 14¢ 492
Net cash provided by operating activit 14,92 14,22« 13,741
Cash Flows From Investing Activitie
Purchases of marketable securities and other imezgs (32,31¢) (32,160) (38,62%)
Proceeds from maturities and sales of marketalslerisies and other investmer 28,84t 30,15¢ 35,59
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir (3,489% (3,309 (4,702)
Capital expenditure (580) (650) (64¢)
Net cash used for investing activiti (7,539 (5,95¢€) (8,387)
Cash Flows From Financing Activitie
Payments for repurchases of common s (9,819 (11,02 (5,85¢)
Proceeds from issuances of common s 2,13¢ 1,52 z
Payments of dividends to stockhold (2,17¢) (1,439 (1,205
Proceeds from borrowings, net of issuance ¢ 5,56¢ 4,97 1,70(C
Repayments of borrowing — (2,950 (1,409
Excess tax benefits on the exercise of stock optoml vesting of restricted st-based award 25C 241 97
Distributions to noncontrolling interes (29 (31) (169)
Other, ne — 19z —
Net cash used for financing activiti (4,06%) (8,500 (6,099
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casraénts (15¢) (110) (471)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisy 3,15¢ (342) (1,209%)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 14,61% 14,95¢ 16,16
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $17,76¢ $ 14,610 $ 14,95¢
Non-cash investing and financing transactic
Fair value of stock options and restricted s-based awards assumed in connection with acquis $ 14t $ i $ 2¢
Fair value of contingent consideration payablednrection with acquisitio $ — $ — $ 34¢
(Decrease) increase in unsettled repurchases ahoanstock $ @15 $ (@) $ 11z
Increase in unsettled purchases of marketableigest $ 78 $ — $ —
Supplemental schedule of cash flow d
Cash paid for income tax $ 2,841 $ 2,64¢ $ 2,73:
Cash paid for intere: $ 827 $ 781 $ 737

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1. ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Oracle Corporation develops, manufactures, marketts and supports database and middleware seftasgplication software, cloud
infrastructure, hardware systems—including compséever, storage and networking productsid-related services that are engineered to
together in cloud-based and on-premise informatghnology (IT) environments. We offer our custosniiie option to purchase our software
and hardware systems products and related setgiceanage their own cloud-based or on-premise Virenments, or to deploy our Oracle
Cloud offerings, which are a comprehensive setaid service offerings including cloud softwareaaservice (SaaS), platform-as-a-service
(PaaS) and infrastructure-as-a-service (laaSmbananage, host and support. Customers that pérchasoftware products may elect to
purchase software license updates and product gupgaracts, which provide our customers with tigto unspecified product upgrades and
maintenance releases issued during the suppoddpasiwell as technical support assistance. Cussotingt purchase our hardware products
may elect to purchase hardware systems supportaotsitwhich provide customers with software upslfde software components that are
essential to the functionality of our server, stgrand networking products, such as Oracle Saadscertain other software products, and car
include product repairs, maintenance servicesteatthical support services. We also offer custoradnoad set of services offerings incluc
consulting services, advanced customer supporicesrand education services.

Oracle Corporation conducts business globally aas wcorporated in 2005 as a Delaware corporationisithe successor to operations
originally begun in June 1977.

Basis of Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements includedamaounts and the accounts of our wholly- and migjarivned subsidiaries. Noncontrolling
interest positions of certain of our consolidatatities are reported as a separate component gsbtidated equity from the equity attributable
to Oracle’s stockholders for all periods presentét: noncontrolling interests in our net incomeeaweot significant to our consolidated results
for the periods presented and therefore have medudied as a component of non-operating (expensejie, net in our consolidated
statements of operations. Intercompany transactioddalances have been eliminated.

We have reclassified certain revenues and expeosEsmform to the current period’s presentationdibperiods presented in our consolidated
statements of operations. All such reclassificatidiul not affect our consolidated total revenuessolidated operating income or consolidatec
net income.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014, we addedoperating segment, cloud infrastructure-as-@essras a result of a reorganization of
financial information presented to our chief opirgdecision maker for operational decision anduese allocation purposes. We concluded
this operating segment is a reporting unit for geiticllocation and impairment assessment purposes.

Acquisition related and other expenses as presémi@al consolidated statement of operations frdi 2013 included a change in fair value o
contingent consideration payable, which resultea et benefit of $387 million in fiscal 2013 (d¢ete 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements below), and a $306 million benefit thatecorded in fiscal 2013 related to certain ditign (see Note 18 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements below).

Use of Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogigiinciples (GAAP) as set forth in the
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) Aatting Standards Codification (ASC) and considentdigous staff accounting bulletins
and other applicable guidance issued by the U.&ir8ies and Exchange Commission (SEC). These aticmuprinciples require us to make
certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. ll&vbdhat the estimates, judgments and assumptipos which we rely are reasonable
based upon information available to us at the tina¢ these estimates, judgments and
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assumptions are made. These estimates, judgmehesanmptions can affect the reported amountssetsand liabilities as of the date of the
financial statements as well as the reported ansafievenues and expenses during the periodsmeesd o the extent there are differences
between these estimates, judgments or assumptiohacéual results, our consolidated financial shatets will be affected. In many cases, the
accounting treatment of a particular transactiospiscifically dictated by GAAP and does not requir@nagemens judgment in its applicatio
There are also areas in which management’s judgimeseiecting among available alternatives woultproduce a materially different result.

Revenue Recognition

Our sources of revenues include: (1) software dmabcrevenues, including new software licensesmags earned from granting licenses to
our software products; cloud SaaS and PaaS revgenesated from fees for granting customers adoes$road range of our software and
related support offerings on a subscription bass $ecure, standards-based cloud computing emvéot) cloud laaS revenues generated fron
fees for deployment and management offerings foisoftware and hardware and related IT infrastmgcgenerally on a subscription basis;
software license updates and product support regrfd) hardware systems revenues, which incluelsdle of hardware systems products
including computer servers, storage products, nédwg and data center fabric products, and hardwgséems support revenues; and

(3) services, which includes software and hardwelagted services including consulting, advancedotnsr support and education revenues.
Revenues generally are recognized net of any wolected from customers and subsequently remittepbvernmental authorities.

Revenue Recognition for Software Products and SafitevRelated Services (Software Elemer

New software licenses revenues primarily reprefesrg earned from granting customers licenses tousdatabase, middleware &

application software and exclude cloud SaaS an& Paznues and revenues derived from softwaresé&apdates, which are included in
software license updates and product support regefthe basis for our new software licenses reveseagnition is substantially governed by
the accounting guidance contained in ASC 985-&aftware-Revenue Recognitiowe exercise judgment and use estimates in coonestth
the determination of the amount of software antisoke related services revenues to be recognizeddh accounting period.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we recognize new
software licenses revenues when: (1) we enteranégally binding arrangement with a customer ffigr license of software; (2) we deliver the
products; (3) the sale price is fixed or determieamnd free of contingencies or significant undaties; and (4) collection is probable.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eftesdause the foregoing conditions are not meteaegnized when those conditions are
subsequently met.

Substantially all of our software license arrangetaelo not include acceptance provisions. Howef/atceptance provisions exist as part of
public policy, for example, in agreements with goweent entities where acceptance periods are egjby law, or within previously executed
terms and conditions that are referenced in theentingreement and are short-term in nature, wergéy recognize revenues upon delivery
provided the acceptance terms are perfunctory hiath&r revenue recognition criteria have been. ietcceptance provisions are not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions dha long-term in nature or are not included aadrd terms of an arrangement), revenues
are recognized upon the earlier of receipt of emittustomer acceptance or expiration of the aceeptaeriod.

The vast majority of our software license arrangaiménclude software license updates and prodymiat contracts, which are entered into a
the customer’s option and are recognized ratabdy the term of the arrangement, typically one y8aftware license updates provide
customers with rights to unspecified software patdypgrades, maintenance releases and patchesagléaring the term of the support per
Product
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support includes internet access to technical conés well as internet and telephone access hmitead support personnel. Software license
updates and product support contracts are gengrédlyd as a percentage of the net new softwaeadies fees. Substantially all of our
customers renew their software license updategpeottlict support contracts annually.

Revenue Recognition for MultiplElement ArrangementsSoftware Products and Software Related Serviceftw&e Arrangements)

We often enter into arrangements with customersghichase both software related products and aoftwelated services from us at the same
time, or within close proximity of one another @atd to as software related multiple-element gearents). Such software related multiple-
element arrangements include the sale of our sodtaducts, software license updates and prodipgicst contracts and other software
related services whereby software license deliiefgllowed by the subsequent or contemporaneolisgedy of the other elements. For those
software related multiple-element arrangementshawe applied the residual method to determine theuat of new software license revenues
to be recognized pursuant to ASC 985-605. Underdbielual method, if fair value exists for undef@ elements in a multiple-element
arrangement, such fair value of the undeliverethelds is deferred with the remaining portion of diheangement consideration generally
recognized upon delivery of the software license. Alfocate the fair value of each element of ansarie related multiple-element arrangement
based upon its fair value as determined by our eesplecific objective evidence (VSOHescribed further below), with any remaining am«
allocated to the software license.

Revenue Recognition for Cloud SaaS, PaaS and lad&fihgs, Hardware Systems Products, Hardware SysteSupport and Relate
Services (Nonsoftware Element

Our revenue recognition policy for nonsoftware d@lables including cloud SaaS, PaaS and laaS mgfgrhardware systems products and
hardware systems related services is based up@tdoeinting guidance contained in ASC 605R8&yenue RecognitigiMultiple-Element
Arrangementsand we exercise judgment and use estimates in cbonavith the determination of the amount of cl&&haS, PaaS and laaS
revenues, hardware systems products revenues etddra related services revenues to be recognizedah accounting period.

Revenues from the sales of our nonsoftware elenagateecognized when: (1) persuasive evidence afrmmgement exists; (2) we deliver the
products and passage of the title to the buyerrsc¢8) the sale price is fixed or determinabled é4) collection is reasonably assured.
Revenues that are not recognized at the time eftesdause the foregoing conditions are not meteagnized when those conditions are
subsequently met. When applicable, we reduce reagefur estimated returns or certain other incergiagrams where we have the ability to
sufficiently estimate the effects of these item$iéné an arrangement is subject to acceptanceiatited the acceptance provisions are not
perfunctory (for example, acceptance provisions déha long-term in nature or are not included asdard terms of an arrangement), revenues
are recognized upon the earlier of receipt of emittustomer acceptance or expiration of the aceeptaeriod.

Our cloud SaaS and PaaS offerings generally praideomers access to certain of our software wahtioud-based IT environment that we
manage, host and support and offer to customeassaibscription basis. Revenues for our cloud Sad¥aaS offerings are generally
recognized ratably over the contract term commaengiith the date the service is made available giaruers and all other revenue recognitior
criteria have been satisfied.

Our cloud laa$S offerings provide deployment and ag@ment offerings for our software and hardwarerataded IT infrastructure including
comprehensive software and hardware managememhaimienance services arrangements for customefidstructure for a stated term that
is hosted at our data center facilities, seledneardata centers or physically on-premise at castdacilities generally for a term-based fee;
and virtual machine instances that are subscrigiised and designed for computing and reliablesandre object storage. Revenues for thes
cloud laaS offerings are generally recognized fgataber the contract term commencing with the dhteservice is made available to custor
and all other revenue recognition criteria havenbee
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satisfied. Our cloud laa$S offerings also include ©wacle Engineered Systems hardware and relafgubsithat are deployed giremise in ou
customers’ data centers for a monthly fee and peofar the purchase of additional capacity on dem@ur revenue recognition policy for
these on-premise offerings is in accordance witieA85 and ASC 84Q.eases and substantially all of these offerings are aoted for as
operating leases as our contracts are structurtithsthe term of the arrangement is less than @bfte economic life of the equipment and
present value of the minimum fixed payments are tkan 90% of the fair market value of the equipnag¢nhe inception of the arrangement.
Our evaluation of useful life is based on our histl product development cycles and our historicetomer hardware upgrade cycles.
Capacity on demand is a contingent payment arfteigtore excluded from our assessment of the msept value of fixed payments. Revenue
for capacity on demand is recognized in the pesiadcustomers access additional capacity provitlaxtteer revenue recognition criteria have
been met.

Revenues from the sale of hardware systems prodejmtssent amounts earned primarily from the sbt®mputer servers, storage, and
networking products, including the sales of ourclr&ngineered Systems.

Our hardware systems support offerings generatlyige customers with software updates for the saféwcomponents that are essential to th
functionality of our server and storage producis ean also include product repairs, maintenanocgcgsr and technical support services.
Hardware systems support contracts are generatiggoas a percentage of the net hardware systerdsqis fees. Hardware systems support
contracts are entered into at the customer’s ogti@hare recognized ratably over the contractual té the arrangements, which are typically
one year.

Revenue Recognition for MultiplElement ArrangementsCloud SaaS, PaaS and laaS Offerings, HardwarerByfReoducts, Hardware
Systems Support and Related Services (Nonsoftwasnéements)

We enter into arrangements with customers thathfase both nonsoftware related products and serfrim@sus at the same time, or within
close proximity of one another (referred to as wémsre multiple-element arrangements). Each eléméhin a nonsoftware multiplelemen
arrangement is accounted for as a separate uadoofunting provided the following criteria are ntae delivered products or services have
value to the customer on a standalone basis; arahfarrangement that includes a general righ¢tofrn relative to the delivered products or
services, delivery or performance of the undelidgrmduct or service is considered probable asdlstantially controlled by us. We consider
a deliverable to have standalone value if the prbduservice is sold separately by us or anotkeder or could be resold by the customer.
Further, our revenue arrangements generally dinohtde a general right of return relative to thedivered products. Where the aforementic
criteria for a separate unit of accounting aremet, the deliverable is combined with the undekdeglement(s) and treated as a single unit of
accounting for the purposes of allocation of thrargement consideration and revenue recognitiontifése units of accounting that include
more than one deliverable but are treated as #&esimit of accounting, we generally recognize rexesmover the delivery period or in the case
of our cloud offerings, generally over the estindatestomer relationship period. For the purposesw#nue classification of the elements that
are accounted for as a single unit of accountirggallocate revenue to the respective revenuetimesi within our consolidated statements of
operations based on a rational and consistent melbgy utilizing our best estimate of relative sglprices of such elements.

For our nonsoftware multiple-element arrangememésallocate revenue to each element based onigsptice hierarchy at the arrangement’s
inception. The selling price for each element isdohupon the following selling price hierarchy: iS@ available, third party evidence (TPE)
if VSOE is not available, or estimated selling priESP) if neither VSOE nor TPE are available (@dption as to how we determine VSOE,
TPE and ESP is provided below). If a tangible hanawmsystems product includes software, we determiether the tangible hardware
systems product and the software work togetheelioar the product’s essential functionality arfdsa, the entire product is treated as a
nonsoftware deliverable. The total arrangementidenation is allocated to each separate unit obacting for each of the nonsoftware
deliverables using the relative selling prices axte
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unit based on the aforementioned selling priceanidry. We limit the amount of revenue recognizedifdivered elements to an amount that is
not contingent upon future delivery of additionedgucts or services or meeting of any specifiedgoerance conditions.

When possible, we establish VSOE of selling praredeliverables in software and nonsoftware mudtiplement arrangements using the price
charged for a deliverable when sold separatelyfansioftware license updates and product suppatthamndware systems support, based on th
renewal rates offered to customers. TPE is estaliby evaluating similar and interchangeable cditgpgoroducts or services in standalone
arrangements with similarly situated customersudfare unable to determine the selling price bec®®0E or TPE does not exist, we
determine ESP for the purposes of allocating thengement by reviewing historical transactionsluding transactions whereby the
deliverable was sold on a standalone basis anddarimgy several other external and internal factocguiding, but not limited to, pricing
practices including discounting, margin objectiveampetition, contractually stated prices, the gaphies in which we offer our products and
services, the type of customer (i.e., distributatue added reseller, government agency and diretuser, among others) and the stage of the
product lifecycle. The determination of ESP is mdeugh consultation with and approval by our ngemaent, taking into consideration our
pricing model and go-to-market strategy. As oupur competitors’, pricing and go-to-market strégsgevolve, we may modify our pricing
practices in the future, which could result in o to our determination of VSOE, TPE and ESP. Aesalt, our future revenue recognition
for multiple-element arrangements could differ materially framm i@sults in the current period. Selling prices analyzed on an annual basi
more frequently if we experience significant changeour selling prices.

Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable to both t3@re and Nonsoftware Elemen
Revenue Recognition for MultiplElement ArrangementsArrangements with Software and Nonsoftware Elements

We also enter into multiple-element arrangemerdsniay include a combination of our various sofevaalated and nonsoftware related
products and services offerings including new safenlicenses, software license updates and predpgtort, cloud SaaS, PaaS and laaS
offerings, hardware systems products, hardwaresyssupport, consulting, advanced customer supporices and education. In such
arrangements, we first allocate the total arrangermensideration based on the relative sellinggsriof the software group of elements as a
whole and to the nonsoftware elements. We thehdumllocate consideration within the software grtaithe respective elements within that
group following the guidance in ASC 98®5 and our policies as described above. Afteathengement consideration has been allocated
elements, we account for each respective elemeheiarrangement as described above.

Other Revenue Recognition Policies Applicable téivare and Nonsoftware Elements

Many of our software arrangements include consyliitimplementation services sold separately undesuting engagement contracts and are
included as a part of our services business. Cingukvenues from these arrangements are genadbunted for separately from new
software licenses revenues because the arrangequalify as services transactions as defined in A88-605. The more significant factors
considered in determining whether the revenuesldhmuaccounted for separately include the nattisewices (i.e., consideration of whether
the services are essential to the functionalitsheflicensed product), degree of risk, availabitifyservices from other vendors, timing of
payments and impact of milestones or acceptantariaron the realizability of the software licerise. Revenues for consulting services are
generally recognized as the services are perforthddtere is a significant uncertainty about thejpct completion or receipt of payment for
consulting services, revenues are deferred umibticertainty is sufficiently resolved. We estimidige proportional performance on contracts
with fixed or “not to exceed” fees on a monthly isagilizing hours incurred to date as a percentafgetal estimated hours to complete the
project. If we do not have a sufficient basis tcasw@e progress towards completion, revenues angmexed when we receive final
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acceptance from the customer that the services e completed. When total cost estimates exaethues, we accrue for the estimated
losses immediately using cost estimates that asedoapon an average fully burdened daily rate egpplé to the consulting organization
delivering the services. The complexity of therastion process and factors relating to the assemgtrisks and uncertainties inherent witt
application of the proportional performance metbbdccounting affects the amounts of revenues alated expenses reported in our
consolidated financial statements. A number ofrmakand external factors can affect our estimates ding labor rates, utilization and
efficiency variances and specification and testaguirement changes.

Our advanced customer support services are ofteatihindalone arrangements or as a part of arramgeiho customers buying other software
and non-software products and services. We offesettadvanced support services, both on-premiseeamate, to Oracle customers to enable
increased performance and higher availability efrthbroducts and services. Depending upon the eatuthe arrangement, revenues from tl
services are recognized as the services are pertbomratably over the term of the service penwalich is generally one year or less.

Education revenues are also a part of our serbigsmess and include instructor-led, media-basddraarnet-based training in the use of our
software and hardware products. Education reveargegcognized as the classes or other educafierngfs are delivered.

If an arrangement contains multiple elements aresd ot qualify for separate accounting for the pobénd service transactions, then new
software licenses revenues and/or hardware sysisydsicts revenues, including the costs of hardwgséems products, are generally
recognized together with the services based omacirsiccounting using either the percentage-of-detiom or completed-contract method.
Contract accounting is applied to any bundled saférand cloud, hardware systems and services amaergs: (1) that include milestones or
customer specific acceptance criteria that maycatfellection of the software license or hardwagrgtesms product fees; (2) where consulting
services include significant modification or custeation of the software or hardware systems produetre of a specialized nature and
generally performed only by Oracle; (3) where digant consulting services are provided for in saftware license contract or hardware
systems product contract without additional changare substantially discounted; or (4) where tfensre license or hardware systems
product payment is tied to the performance of chiimguservices. For the purposes of revenue cliassibn of the elements that are accounted
for as a single unit of accounting, we allocateeraies to software and nonsoftware elements basadaiional and consistent methodology
utilizing our best estimate of the relative sellprice of such elements.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentalesntontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof convenience” provisions, when such
provisions are required by law, to determine thabpbility of possible cancellation. We consider tiple factors, including the history with the
customer in similar transactions, the “essential' w§ the software or hardware systems productst@glanning, budgeting and approval
processes undertaken by the governmental entitye lietermine upon execution of these arrangentleatshe likelihood of cancellation is
remote, we then recognize revenues once all ofriteria described above have been met. If suaiterchination cannot be made, revenues al
recognized upon the earlier of cash receipt or@amrof the applicable funding provision by the govnental entity.

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinalie ditme of sale and recognize revenues if abiotbvenue recognition requirements are
met. Our standard payment terms are net 30 daysettsr, payment terms may vary based on the coimtiich the agreement is executed.
Payments that are due within six months are gdgataémed to be fixed or determinable based orsoacessful collection history on such
arrangements, and thereby satisfy the requiredr@ifor revenue recognition.

While most of our arrangements for sales within lousinesses include short-term payment terms, we aatandard practice of providing
long-term financing to creditworthy customers pnityathrough our financing
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division. Since fiscal 1989, when our financingigion was formed, we have established a histoigobéction, without concessions, on these
receivables with payment terms that generally ekignto five years from the contract date. Providiédther revenue recognition criteria have
been met, we recognize new software licenses regeaind hardware systems products revenues for dheseyements upon delivery, net of
any payment discounts from financing transactid¥is.have generally sold receivables financed thraugtfinancing division on a non-
recourse basis to third party financing institutievithin 90 days of the contracts’ dates of exexutind we classify the proceeds from these
sales as cash flows from operating activities inamnsolidated statements of cash flows. We acclmuribe sales of these receivables as “true
sales” as defined in ASC 860ransfers and Servicingas we are considered to have surrendered cadttiobse financing receivables. During
fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, $2.0 billion, $2.2ibilland $1.6 billion of our financing receivableere sold to financial institutions,
respectively.

In addition, we enter into arrangements with legsiompanies for the sale of our hardware systeodugts. These leasing companies, in turn
lease our products to end-users. The leasing casgpganerally have no recourse to us in the eviesiefault by the end-user and we recognizc
revenue upon delivery, if all other revenue rectignicriteria have been met.

Our customers include several of our suppliersamésionally, we have purchased goods or servizesuf operations from these vendors at
or about the same time that we have sold our ptedadhese same companies (Concurrent TransactBofware license agreements or sale:
of hardware systems that occur within a thme@nth time period from the date we have purchasedig or services from that same custome
reviewed for appropriate accounting treatment dadi@sure. When we acquire goods or services framstomer, we negotiate the purchase
separately from any sales transaction, at termsomsider to be at arm’s length and settle the @selin cash. We recognize revenues from
Concurrent Transactions if all of our revenue rexdtign criteria are met and the goods and senacggliired are necessary for our current
operations.

Business Combinations

We apply the provisions of ASC 80Business Combinationsn the accounting for our acquisitions. It re@sius to recognize separately from
goodwill the assets acquired and the liabilitiesuased, at their acquisition date fair values. Gdbés of the acquisition date is measured as
the excess of consideration transferred over thefrtbe acquisition date fair values of the asaetwiired and the liabilities assumed. While wi
use our best estimates and assumptions to acguvatak assets acquired and liabilities assuméueadcquisition date as well as contingent
consideration, where applicable, our estimatesndmerently uncertain and subject to refinementaAssult, during the measurement period,
which may be up to one year from the acquisitiote dae record adjustments to the assets acquikdtiailities assumed with the
corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conabusof the measurement period or final determinatibiine values of assets acquired or
liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, anysegjuent adjustments are recorded to our consdlidgétements of operations.

Costs to exit or restructure certain activitiegofacquired company or our internal operationsiaceunted for as ortéme termination and e»
costs pursuant to ASC 42Bxit or Disposal Cost Obligationsand are accounted for separately from the busioesbination. A liability for
costs associated with an exit or disposal actigitgcognized and measured at its fair value inconsolidated statement of operations in the
period in which the liability is incurred. When iesating the fair value of facility restructuringtadgties, assumptions are applied regarding
estimated sub-lease payments to be received, whitliffer materially from actual results. This nraguire us to revise our initial estimates
which may materially affect our results of operati@nd financial position in the period the revisi® made.

For a given acquisition, we may identify certaie4aicquisition contingencies as of the acquisitiatednd may extend our review and
evaluation of these pre-acquisition contingendiesughout the measurement period in order to olstafificient information to assess whether
we include these contingencies as a part of the/édiie
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estimates of assets acquired and liabilities asdwand, if so, to determine their estimated amoufige cannot reasonably determine the fair
value of a pre-acquisition contingency (non-incdmerelated) by the end of the measurement pewbith is generally the case given the
nature of such matters, we will recognize an asisatliability for such pre-acquisition contingeri€y(i) it is probable that an asset existed or a
liability had been incurred at the acquisition dael (i) the amount of the asset or liability denreasonably estimated. Subsequent to the
measurement period, changes in our estimates bfartingencies will affect earnings and could haveaterial effect on our results of
operations and financial position.

In addition, uncertain tax positions and tax relataluation allowances assumed in connection whihsiness combination are initially
estimated as of the acquisition date. We reevalhatge items quarterly based upon facts and cirzunmoss that existed as of the acquisition
date with any adjustments to our preliminary esténdoeing recorded to goodwill if identified withime measurement period. Subsequent to
the measurement period or our final determinatioihe tax allowance’s or contingency’s estimatethi@awhichever comes first, changes to
these uncertain tax positions and tax related tialmallowances will affect our provision for incentaxes in our consolidated statement of
operations and could have a material impact onesults of operations and financial position.

Marketable and Non-Marketable Securities

In accordance with ASC 32(vestments— Debt and Equity Securitieand based on our intentions regarding these instntsnwe classify
substantially all of our marketable debt and egségurities as available-for-sale. Marketable @glot equity securities are reported at fair
value, with all unrealized gains (losses) refleatetiof tax in stockholders’ equity on our consatetl balance sheets, and as a line item in our
consolidated statements of comprehensive inconvee dletermine that an investment has an othertdraporary decline in fair value, we
recognize the investment loss in non-operatingérgp) income, net in the accompanying consolidstigeéments of operations. We
periodically evaluate our investments to deternifii@pairment charges are required. Substantidllpfeour marketable debt and equity
investments are classified as current based onatwge of the investments and their availabilitydee in current operations.

We hold investments in certain non-marketable ggeéturities in which we do not have a controliimiggrest or significant influence. These
equity securities are recorded at cost and includether assets in the accompanying consolidaaéghbe sheets. If based on the terms of our
ownership of these non-marketable securities, vierohéne that we exercise significant influence loa ¢ntity to which these non-marketable
securities relate, we apply the requirements of 838, Investments— Equity Method and Joint Ventureto account for such investments
Our non-marketable securities are subject to pariotpairment reviews.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We apply the provisions of ASC 82Bair Value MeasuremerfASC 820), to our assets and liabilities that weraquired to measure at fair
value pursuant to other accounting standards, dimofuour investments in marketable debt and eqdturities and our derivative financial
instruments.

The additional disclosures regarding our fair vaheasurements are included in Note 4.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

We record allowances for doubtful accounts baseuh @pspecific review of all significant outstandingoices. For those invoices not
specifically reviewed, provisions are provided iffieding rates, based upon the age of the receg/dbe collection history associated with the
geographic region that the receivable was recoiredd current economic trends. We write-off a heslele and charge it against its recorded
allowance when we have exhausted our collecticortsfivithout success.
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Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that are potentially subjeatoncentrations of credit risk consist primagfycash and cash equivalents, marketable
securities and trade receivables. Our cash andezpshalents are generally held with large, divdnsagncial institutions worldwide to reduce
the amount of exposure to any single financialitmson. Investment policies have been implemenked limit purchases of marketable debt
securities to investment grade securities. We gdligato not require collateral to secure accouateivable. The risk with respect to trade
receivables is mitigated by credit evaluations wegq@m on our customers, the short duration ofgayment terms for the significant majority
of our customer contracts and by the diversificatib our customer base. No single customer accduotel0% or more of our total revenues
in fiscal 2014, 2013 or 2012.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or mtavklue. Cost is computed using standard costwdgpproximates actual cost, on a first-in,
first-out basis. We evaluate our ending inventofigestimated excess quantities and obsolesc@&hég evaluation includes analysis of sales
levels by product and projections of future demwaittlin specific time horizons (generally six to aimonths). Inventories in excess of future
demand are written down and charged to hardwatersgsproducts expenses. In addition, we assesspiaet of changing technology to our
inventories and we write down inventories that@esidered obsolete. At the point of loss recognijta new, lower-cost basis for that
inventory is established, and subsequent chandast®and circumstances do not result in the ratm or increase in that newly established
cost basis.

Other Receivables

Other receivables represent value-added tax ard &at receivables associated with the sale opmducts and services to third parties. Othe
receivables are included in prepaid expenses drad otirrent assets in our consolidated balancashead totaled $906 million and $826
million at May 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Deferred Sales Commissions

We defer sales commission expenses associatesdwittloud SaaS, PaaS and laaS offerings, and rezeptire related expenses over the non-
cancelable term of the related contracts, whichygieally one to three years. Amortization of deéel sales commissions is included as a
component of sales and marketing expense in owgadtidiated statements of operations.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at therd@ivcost or realizable value, net of accumulakegreciation. Depreciation is computed
using the straight-line method based on estimasefullives of the assets, which range from oniétipyears. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the lesser of the estimated usizies lof the improvements or the lease terms, asopppte. Property, plant and equipment are
periodically reviewed for impairment whenever egeort changes in circumstances indicate that thrgingramount of an asset may not be
recoverable. We did not recognize any significanpprty impairment charges in fiscal 2014, 2012@t2.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Impairment Assessnmes

Gooduwill represents the excess of the purchase pria business combination over the fair valueeatftangible and intangible assets acquired
Intangible assets that are not considered to hawvedefinite useful life are amortized over thesetul lives, which generally range from one to
ten years. Each period we evaluate the estimatedinéng useful lives of purchased intangible asaatswhether events or changes in
circumstances warrant a revision to the remaingripds of amortization.
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The carrying amounts of these assets are peribdiealiewed for impairment (at least annually faogwill and indefinite lived intangible
assets) and whenever events or changes in circooesténdicate that the carrying value of thesetassay not be recoverable. According to
ASC 350,Intangibles—Goodwill and Othemve can opt to perform a qualitative assessmetgistoa reporting ung’ goodwill for impairment ¢
we can directly perform the two step impairment.tBased on our qualitative assessment, if we dterthat the fair value of a reporting unit
is more likely than not (i.e., a likelihood of mdtean 50 percent) to be less than its carrying adhe two step impairment test will be
performed. In the first step, we compare the falug of each reporting unit to its carrying vallig¢he fair value of the reporting unit exceeds
the carrying value of the net assets assignecatauttit, goodwill is not considered impaired andawe not required to perform further testing.
If the carrying value of the net assets assigndélddaeporting unit exceeds the fair value of #yorting unit, then we must perform the seconc
step of the impairment test in order to determireeilmplied fair value of the reporting unit's goadwif the carrying value of a reporting unit's
goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, then weulbrecord an impairment loss equal to the diffeeerRecoverability of finite lived intangik
assets is measured by comparison of the carryimmyahof the asset to the future undiscounted das¥sfthe asset is expected to generate.
Recoverability of indefinite lived intangible assét measured by comparison of the carrying amoiiiite asset to its fair value. If the asset is
considered to be impaired, the amount of any imnpaiit is measured as the difference between thgimgwalue and the fair value of the
impaired asset. We did not recognize any goodwilhtangible asset impairment charges in fiscal2@D13 or 2012.

Derivative Financial Instruments

During fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, we used dereatind non-derivative financial instruments to nggnéoreign currency and interest rate
risks (see Note 11 below for additional informajioiWe account for these instruments in accordaritte A6C 815 Derivatives and Hedging
(ASC 815), which requires that every derivativerimsient be recorded on the balance sheet as eithasset or liability measured at its fair
value as of the reporting date. ASC 815 also regttinat changes in our derivatives’ fair valuesdeegnized in earnings, unless specific hedg
accounting and documentation criteria are met, (he.instruments are accounted for as hedges).

The accounting for changes in the fair value oéavétive depends on the intended use of the dérevand the resulting designation. For a
derivative instrument designated as a fair valudghethe gain or loss is recognized in earningkérperiod of change. The loss or gain
attributable to the risk being hedged is recognineghrnings with an offset recorded to the itemvbich the risk is being hedged. For a
derivative instrument designated as a cash flovglgeeach reporting period we record the changaiirvélue on the effective portion to
accumulated other comprehensive loss in our calesell balance sheets and an amount is reclassifteaf accumulated other comprehensive
loss into earnings to offset the earnings impaat ihattributable to the risk being hedged. Ferribn-derivative financial instrument
designated as a net investment hedge of our ineesfnin certain of our international subsidiartbs, change on account of remeasurement o
the effective portion for each reporting perioddsorded to accumulated other comprehensive losariconsolidated balance sheets.

We perform the effectiveness testing of our aforetineed designated hedges on a quarterly basithenchanges in ineffective portions, if
any, are recognized immediately in earnings.

Legal Contingencies

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusagh significant matter and assess our
potential financial exposure. For legal and othartingencies that are not a part of a business t@tibn or related to income taxes, we acc

a liability for an estimated loss if the potentiads from any claim or legal proceeding is consgdgsrobable and the amount can be reasonab
estimated. A description of our accounting policissociated with contingencies assumed as a paroginess combination is provided undel
“Business Combinations” above.
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Shipping and Handling Costs

Our shipping and handling costs for hardware systeraducts sales are included in hardware systeoasipts expenses for all periods
presented.

Foreign Currency

We transact business in various foreign currentiiegeneral, the functional currency of a foreigretion is the local country’s currency.
Consequently, revenues and expenses of operatinsisi® the United States are translated into UdllaBs using weighted average exchange
rates while assets and liabilities of operationside the United States are translated into U.$aBousing exchange rates at the balance she
date. The effects of foreign currency translatidjustments are included in stockholders’ equita @mponent of accumulated other
comprehensive loss in the accompanying consolidad¢ahce sheets and related periodic movementiarmarized as a line item in our
consolidated statements of comprehensive incomeforkEign exchange transaction losses includedmaperating (expense) income, net in
the accompanying consolidated statements of opesatiere $375 million, $162 million and $105 miflim fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for share-based payments, includingg@fremployee stock options, restricted stock-h@seards and purchases under employe
stock purchase plans, in accordance with ASC b8 pensation-Stock Compensatiwhjch requires that share-based payments (to ttemex
they are compensatory) be recognized in our catesteld statements of operations based on theivdhies and the estimated number of share
we ultimately expect will vest. We recognize stdidsed compensation expense on a straight-line tnasishe service period of the award,
which is generally four years.

We record deferred tax assets for stock-based casagien plan awards that result in deductions arirmome tax returns based on the amour
of stock-based compensation recognized and thet@tattax rate in the jurisdiction in which we witceive a tax deduction.

Advertising

All advertising costs are expensed as incurred.efibing expenses, which are included within sale$ marketing expenses, were $79 milli
$85 million and $79 million in fiscal 2014, 2013d2R012, respectively.

Research and Development and Software Developmenb§&ts

All research and development costs are expensied@sed.

Software development costs required to be capélimder ASC 985-2@osts of Software to be Sold, Leased or Marketed,under ASC
350-40,Internal-Use Softwareyere not material to our consolidated financiatesteents in fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Acquisition Related and Other Expenses

Acquisition related and other expenses consiseadgnnel related costs for transitional and certtier employees, stock-based compensatio
expenses, integration related professional servogatain business combination adjustments inclydidjustments after the measurement pi
has ended and certain other operating items, tmtk®ased compensation included in acquisitioateel and other expenses resulted from
unvested options and restricted stock-based avessisned from acquisitions whereby vesting was acteld
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upon termination of the employees pursuant to tigérmal terms of those options and restricted stoaked awards.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Transitional and other employee related c $ 2i $ 23 $ 2t
Stocl-based compensatic 1C 33 33
Professional fees and other, 2C (27¢) 13
Business combination adjustments, (16) (38§ (15)

Total acquisition related and other exper $ 41 $ (609 $ 56

Included in acquisition related and other expeifisefiscal 2013 were changes in estimates for cgaint consideration payable, which redu
acquisition related and other expenses by $387omitluring fiscal 2013 (see Note 2 for additiomdbrmation). Acquisition related and other
expenses for fiscal 2013 also included a beneff3@6 million related to certain litigation (seetdd8 for additional information), which
reduced our acquisition related and other expensés period.

Non-Operating (Expense) Income, net

Non-operating (expense) income, net consists primafiipterest income, net foreign currency exchaggias (losses), the noncontrolling
interests in the net profits of our majority-owrsdsidiaries (Oracle Financial Services Softwareitad and Oracle Japan) and net other
income (losses), including net realized gains asdds related to all of our investments and netalized gains and losses related to the small
portion of our investment portfolio that we clagsifs trading.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Interest incom: $ 26: $ 23 $ 23!
Foreign currency losses, r (375) (162) (10%)
Noncontrolling interests in incon (98) (112) (119
Other income, ne 69 48 15

Total nor-operating (expense) income, | $ (14)) $ 11 $ 22

Included in our non-operating (expense) incomefardiiscal 2014 are foreign currency remeasurenas#es of $213 million. These
remeasurement losses were related to the remeasuirefrcertain assets and liabilities of our Vergdan subsidiary. The Venezuelan econc
has been determined to be “highly inflationary'aitcordance with ASC 83Bpreign Currency MattersAs a result, we report all net monet
assets related to our Venezuelan subsidiary in DioBars with the associated impacts of periodiaraes of Bolivar Fuerte (“VEF") to

U.S. Dollar exchange rates in our statements ofatipes for each respective reporting period. Dayifiacal 2014, the Venezuelan government
issued new exchange agreements that allow forieddiign currency transactions, which previoushre subject to Venezuela's official
Bolivar Fuerte (“VEF”) to U.S. Dollar exchange rdtke “Official Rate”), to be subject to conversiairates established at the Venezuelan
government’s auction-based exchange rate progthmsomplementary System for Foreign Currency Adstiation (“SICAD”) rates. These
SICAD rates were lower than the Official Rate tvathad used historically to report the VEF basaddactions and net monetary assets of oL
Venezuelan subsidiary. To determine which of théous VEF rates to use during fiscal 2014, we eatad our individual facts and
circumstances taking into consideration our legéltg to convert VEF at or to settle VEF basedsactions using the SICAD rates, amongst
other factors. We concluded that using the SICABsavas the most
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appropriate for our reporting of our Venezuelansidiary’s VEF based transactions and net monetssgta in U.S. Dollars, which resulted in
the fiscal 2014 remeasurement losses referencaaabaring fiscal 2013, we also incurred a foretgmrency remeasurement loss of $64
million related to our Venezuelan subsidiary dughdevaluation of the VEF official exchange iayehe Venezuelan government. Future
devaluations of the Venezuelan currency are no¢eegl to have a significant impact on our constdiddinancial statements. As a large
portion of our consolidated operations are intaéomat, we could experience additional foreign caoesevolatility and incur additional
remeasurement losses in the future, the amountsraimd) of which are unknown.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with A8GC,Income TaxesDeferred income taxes are recorded for the erpdeix
consequences of temporary differences betweerathleases of assets and liabilities for financipbréng purposes and amounts recognize
income tax purposes. We record a valuation allowaoceduce our deferred tax assets to the amddutuve tax benefit that is more likely
than not to be realized.

A two-step approach is applied pursuant to ASC 740 imgbegnition and measurement of uncertain tax jposittaken or expected to be tal

in a tax return. The first step is to determinthé weight of available evidence indicates that more likely than not that the tax position will
be sustained in an audit, including resolutionrof eelated appeals or litigation processes. Thergkstep is to measure the tax benefit as the
largest amount that is more than 50% likely todmized upon ultimate settlement. We recognized@steand penalties related to uncertain tax
positions in our provision for income taxes lineoof consolidated statements of operations.

A description of our accounting policies associatgtth tax related contingencies and valuation aloees assumed as a part of a business
combination is provided under “Business Combinatiabove.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Share-Based Payments with Performance Targets:In June 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Stededdpdate No. 2014-12ccounting

for Shar-Based Payments When the Terms of an Award Pravidea Performance Target Could Be Achieved afterRequisite Service
Period (ASU 2014-12). ASU 2014-12 requires that a perfaroeatarget that affects vesting and could be aekiafter the requisite service
period be treated as a performance condition. Arteqy entity should apply existing guidance in ABT8,Compensatior— Stock
Compensation as it relates to such awards. ASU 2014-12 iscaffe for us in our first quarter of fiscal 201 7tkviearly adoption permitted
using either of two methods: (i) prospective toaallards granted or modified after the effectiveefat (ii) retrospective to all awards with
performance targets that are outstanding as dielgenning of the earliest annual period presemnidtie financial statements and to all new or
modified awards thereafter, with the cumulativeseffof applying ASU 2014-12 as an adjustment toofening retained earnings balance as ¢
the beginning of the earliest annual period preskimt the financial statements. We are currentbiuating the impact of our pending adoption
on ASU 2014-12 on our consolidated financial statets.

Revenue Recognitior In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Staddddpdate No. 2014-0Revenue from Contracts with Customers:
Topic606 (ASU 2014-09), to supersede nearly all existeggnue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP. ddre principle of ASU 2014-09
is to recognize revenues when promised goods wicsesrare transferred to customers in an amouhtéfiacts the consideration that is
expected to be received for those goods or serviced 2014-09 defines a five step process to aehikis core principle and, in doing so, it is
possible more judgment and estimates may be ratjuiithin the revenue recognition process than meguinder existing U.S. GAAP
including identifying performance obligations irethontract, estimating the amount of variable atersition to include in the transaction price
and allocating the transaction price to each sép@erformance obligation. ASU 2014-09 is effecfiveus in our first quarter of fiscal 2018
using either of two methods: (i) retrospective &oleprior reporting period presented with the aptimelect
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certain practical expedients as defined within AZ14-09; or (ii) retrospective with the cumulatefect of initially applying ASU 2014-09
recognized at the date of initial application anoMaling certain additional disclosures as defiped ASU 201409. We are currently evaluati
the impact of our pending adoption of ASU 2014-8%ar consolidated financial statements.

Reporting Discontinued Operations: In April 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standddgslate No. 2014-0&eporting Discontinued
Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Comptmehan Entitf ASU 2014-08), to change the criteria for determgnivhich disposals can
be presented as discontinued operations and erthémeeelated disclosure requirements. ASU 2084s effective for us on a prospective b
in our first quarter of fiscal 2016 with early adiom permitted for disposals (or classificationshatd for sale) that have not been reported in
financial statements previously issued. We areetitly evaluating the impact of our pending adoptdASU 2014-08 on our consolidated
financial statements.

2.  ACQUISITIONS
Proposed Acquisitions of MICROS Systems, Inc. and thers

On June 22, 2014, we entered into an AgreemenP&ndof Merger (Merger Agreement) with MICROS SysdeInc. (MICROS), a provider
of integrated software, hardware and services isoisito the hospitality and retail industries. Riargt to the Merger Agreement, we will
commence a tender offer for the outstanding shemdsshares generally representing vested equigniive awards of MICROS (collectively,
MICROS Shares). MICROS shareholders will have itletto tender their MICROS Shares to Oracle inhexge for $68.00 per share in cash
upon consummation of the tender offer. The tenffer avill commence no later than ten (10) busingggs from June 22, 2014. After
completion of the tender offer and subject to éedianited conditions, MICROS will merge with andtd a whollyowned subsidiary of Oracl
In addition, unvested equity awards to acquire MBERcommon stock that are outstanding immediatedy po the conclusion of the merger
will generally be converted into equity awards deirated in shares of our common stock based onuiasrcontained in the Merger
Agreement. The estimated total purchase price i@ROS is approximately $5.3 billion. This transantis conditioned upon (i) at least a
majority of the MICROS Shares being validly tendkete Oracle, (ii) regulatory clearance under thett$ott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements
Act of 1976, (iii) the applicable merger controM&of the European Commission and other jurisdisti@nd (iv) certain other customary
closing conditions.

We also have entered into certain other agreenterisquire other companies and expect these propaspiisitions to close during the first
quarter of fiscal 2015.

Fiscal 2014 Acquisitions

Acquisition of Responsys, In

On February 6, 2014, we completed our acquisitioResponsys, Inc. (Responsys), a provider of erigeryscale cloud-based business-to-
consumer marketing software. We have includedittantial results of Responsys in our consolidateahicial statements from the date of
acquisition. The total preliminary purchase priceResponsys was approximately $1.6 billion, whdiohsisted of approximately $1.4 billion
cash and $147 million for the fair value of stogkions and restricted stoddased awards assumed. We have preliminarily reddg@8 million

of net tangible liabilities, related primarily teftrred tax liabilities, $580 million of identifilbintangible assets, and $14 million of in-process
research and development, based on their estirfetedalues, and $1.0 billion of residual goodwill.

Other Fiscal 2014 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2014, we acquired certain other conmigsand purchased certain technology and developassets primarily to expand our
products and services offerings. These acquisiticere not individually
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significant. We have included the financial resoftshese companies in our consolidated finan¢&kesments from their respective acquisition
dates and the results from each of these compamiesnot individually material to our consolidafethncial statements. In the aggregate, the
total preliminary purchase price for these acqioisg was approximately $2.3 billion, which consisggimarily of cash consideration, and we
preliminarily recorded $213 million of net tangibiabilities, related primarily to deferred taxliities, $1.1 billion of identifiable intangible
assets, and $99 million of in-process researchdamdlopment, based on their estimated fair valed,$1.3 billion of residual goodwill.

The preliminary fair value estimates for the asaetyuired and liabilities assumed for our acquisiicompleted during fiscal 2014 were base
upon preliminary calculations and valuations andestimates and assumptions for each of thesestiqus are subject to change as we ok
additional information for our estimates during thepective measurement periods (up to one year the respective acquisition dates). The
primary areas of those preliminary estimates theewot yet finalized related to certain tangitdeeds and liabilities acquired, identifiable
intangible assets, certain legal matters and incamdenon-income based taxes.

Fiscal 2013 Acquisitions
Acquisition of Acme Packet, Inc

On March 28, 2013, we completed our acquisitioAahe Packet, Inc. (Acme Packet), a provider ofisassorder control technology. We
have included the financial results of Acme Padakeiur consolidated financial statements from theef acquisition. The total purchase price
for Acme Packet was approximately $2.1 billion, ethtonsisted of approximately $2.1 billion in castd $12 million for the fair value of
stock options and restricted stock-based awardsreess. We have recorded $247 million of net tangitsigets, $525 million of identifiable
intangible assets, and $45 million of in-proceseaech and development, based on their estimatecafaes, and $1.3 billion of residual
goodwill.

Acquisition of Eloqua, Inc.

On February 8, 2013, we completed our acquisitfoaloqua, Inc. (Eloqua), a provider of cloud-basearketing automation and revenue
performance management software. We have includde@irnancial results of Eloqua in our consoliddiedncial statements from the date of
acquisition. The total purchase price for Eloqua approximately $935 million, which consisted opapximately $933 million in cash and $2
million for the fair value of stock options assumeéde have recorded $1 million of net tangible assed $327 million of identifiable intangil
assets, based on their estimated fair values, @dd &illion of residual goodwill.

Other Fiscal 2013 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2013, we acquired certain other conmigsand purchased certain technology and developassets primarily to expand our
products and services offerings. These acquisiticer® not significant individually or in the aggete.

Fiscal 2012 Acquisitions

Acquisition of Taleo Corporatior

On April 5, 2012, we completed our acquisition @léo Corporation (Taleo), a provider of cloud-batdent management solutions. We have
included the financial results of Taleo in our aaidated financial statements from the date of &itjon. The total purchase price for Taleo
was approximately $2.0 billion, which consistecapproximately $2.0 billion in cash and $10 millifam the fair value of stock options and
restricted stock-based awards assumed. We recéddédillion of identifiable intangible assets a##4 million of net tangible liabilities
related primarily to deferred tax liabilities anastomer performance obligations that were assumedpart of this acquisition, based on their
estimated fair values, and $1.1 billion of residyabdwill.
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Acquisition of RightNow Technologies, Inc

On January 25, 2012, we completed our acquisitidRightNow Technologies, Inc. (RightNow), a providg cloud-based customer service.
We have included the financial results of RightNiaveur consolidated financial statements from thtef acquisition. The total purchase
price for RightNow was approximately $1.5 billiomhich consisted of approximately $1.5 billion irshaand $14 million for the fair value of
stock options and restricted stock-based awardsress. We recorded $697 million of identifiable imgéble assets and $259 million of net
tangible liabilities related primarily to customegrformance obligations, convertible debt and detktax liabilities that were assumed as a
of this acquisition, based on their estimatedalues, and $1.1 billion of residual goodwill.

Acquisition of Pillar Data Systems, Inc

On July 18, 2011, we acquired Pillar Data Systdnts,(Pillar Data), a provider of enterprise st@aystems solutions. Prior to the acquisition
Pillar Data was directly and indirectly majority-oed and controlled by Lawrence J. Ellison, our €BRieecutive Officer, director and largest
stockholder. Pursuant to the agreement and plameojer dated as of June 29, 2011 (Pillar Data Mekgeeement), we acquired all of the
issued and outstanding equity interests of Pillatadrom the stockholders in exchange for rightet®ive contingent cash consideration (Eari
Out), if any, pursuant to an Ea@ut calculation. An affiliate of Mr. Ellison haspaeference right to receive the first approxima&$g5 millior
of the Earn-Out, if any, and rights to 55% of anyoaint of the Earn-Out that exceeds $565 million.

The Earn-Out will be calculated with respect thi@é-year period that commenced with our secondeuaf fiscal 2012 and will conclude
with our first quarter of fiscal 2015 (Earn-Out Pel). The Earn-Out will be an amount (if positivaglculated based on the product of (i) the
difference between (x) future revenues generatad fhe sale of certain Pillar Data products dufdrgcle’s last four full fiscal quarters during
the Earn-Out Period minus (y) certain losses aasetiwith certain Pillar Data products incurredrabe entire Earn-Out Period, multiplied by
(ii) three. Our obligation to pay the Earn-Out vii# subject to reduction as a result of our rigtget-off the amount of any indemnification
claims we may have under the Pillar Data Mergere&grent. We do not expect the amount of the Earneits potential impact will be
material to our results of operations or finanpasition.

We have included the financial results of Pillat®im our consolidated financial statements fromdhte of acquisition. These results were nc
material to our consolidated financial statemenite estimated fair value of the liability for cargent consideration as of the acquisition date,
representing the purchase price payable for owisitipn of Pillar Data, was approximately $346 linit and was included in other nao+rent
liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet. {ability for contingent consideration payable isgect to change until the liability is settled
with the related impact recorded to our consolidatatements of operations as acquisition relateldbsher expenses. In connection with our
acquisition of Pillar Data, we recorded $142 miiliof identifiable intangible assets and $16 millafmet tangible liabilities, based on their
estimated fair values, and $220 million of residyabdwill. As of May 31, 2014 and 2013, we estindatee fair value of the Earn-Out liability
to be zero. We recorded a net benefit to acquisiitated and other expenses of $387 million icafi013 to reduce the Earn-Out liability to
zero primarily as a result of a change in our estémof year three revenues related to our acquisitf Pillar Data and the related impact to the
liability calculation in accordance with the Earnt@ormula as noted above.

In June 2014, Mr. Ellison agreed to pay to Ora&@&df all amounts, if any, that are paid to him enthe Earn-Out (see Note 18 below for
additional information).
Other Fiscal 2012 Acquisitions

During fiscal 2012, we acquired certain other conipsand purchased certain technology and develajpassets primarily to expand our
products and services offerings. These acquisiticar® not individually significant. We have inclutithe financial results of these companies
in our consolidated financial statements
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from their respective acquisition dates and thelte$rom each of these companies were not indaligiumaterial to our consolidated financial
statements. In the aggregate, the total purchase for these acquisitions was approximately $1llb, which consisted of approximately
$1.6 billion in cash and $5 million for the fairlua of stock options assumed. We recorded $540omitif identifiable intangible assets and
$29 million of net tangible assets, based on thstimated fair values, and $1.1 billion of residyabdwill.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The unaudited pro forma financial information ie ttable below summarizes the combined results efatjpns for Oracle, Responsys, Acme
Packet, Eloqua and certain other companies thatogeired since the beginning of fiscal 2013 (whighre considered significant for the
purposes of unaudited pro forma financial informatilisclosure) as though the companies were comlzEis®f the beginning of fiscal 2013.
The pro forma financial information for all periopesesented also included the business combinaticouating effects resulting from these
acquisitions including our amortization chargesrfracquired intangible assets (certain of which vpeediminary), stock-based compensation
charges for unvested stock options and restridtezk<sbased awards assumed, if any, and the refateeffects as though the aforementioned
companies were combined as of the beginning oc&lfi2813. The pro forma financial information asgeneted below is for informational
purposes only and is not indicative of the resofltsperations that would have been achieved iftmuisitions had taken place at the beginnin
of fiscal 2013.

The unaudited pro forma financial information feachl 2014 combined the historical results of Gedol fiscal 2014, the historical results of
Responsys for the nine months ended Septembe038, (adjusted due to differences in reporting piriand considering the date we acquire
Responsys), the historical results of certain otloanpanies that we acquired since the beginnirigadl 2014 based upon their respective
previous reporting periods and the dates these anmp were acquired by us, and the effects of théguma adjustments listed above.

The unaudited pro forma financial information fechl 2013 combined the historical results of Gedol fiscal 2013, the historical results of
Responsys for the twelve months ended June 30, @lE3to differences in reporting periods), thedrisal results of Acme Packet for the y
ended December 31, 2012 (adjusted due to diffeseinceeporting periods and considering the dat@aeepiired Acme Packet), the historical

results of Eloqua for the nine months ended Septerd®, 2012 (adjusted due to differences in repgnieriods and considering the date we
acquired Eloqua), the historical results of certatimer companies that we acquired since the beggnuii fiscal 2013 based upon their respec
previous reporting periods and the dates these aniep were acquired by us, and the effects of thégsma adjustments listed above. The

unaudited pro forma financial information was atofes for fiscal 2014 and 2013:

Year Ended May 31,
(in millions, except per share data 2014 2013

Total revenue 38,48! $ 38,25
Net income 10,82¢ $ 10,67¢
Basic earnings per she 2.3¢ $ 2.24
Diluted earnings per sha 2.3t $ 2.2C

&\ H B P

3. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of digpbeld at major banks, Tier-1 commercial paper ather securities with original
maturities of 90 days or less. Marketable secusripigmarily consist of time deposits held at mdjanks, Tier-1 commercial paper, corporate
notes and certain other securities.

The amortized principal amounts of our cash, caglivalents and marketable securities approximdteit fair values at May 31, 2014 and
2013. We use the specific identification methodétermine any realized gains or
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losses from the sale of our marketable securiteessified as available-faale. Such realized gains and losses were ingignififor fiscal 2014
2013 and 2012. The following table summarizes tmagonents of our cash equivalents and marketabigities held, substantially all of
which were classified as available-for-sale:

May 31,
(in millions) 2014 2013
Commercial paper debt securit $ 7,96¢ $ 14,04:
Corporate debt securities and ot 16,65 4,93¢
Total investment $ 24,62 $ 18,97
Investments classified as cash equival $ 3,57¢ $ 1,37
Investments classified as marketable secur $ 21,05( $ 17,60

As of May 31, 2014 and 2013, approximately 45% @hth, respectively, of our marketable securitieggtments mature within one year and
55% and 9%, respectively, mature within one to fgears. Our investment portfolio is subject to nearisk due to changes in interest rates. A
described above, we limit purchases of marketable securities to investment grade securities &allianit the amount of credit exposure to
any one issuer. As stated in our investment poli@yare averse to principal loss and seek to presmir invested funds by limiting default ri
and market risk.

4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

We perform fair value measurements in accordante ABC 820. ASC 820 defines fair value as the pitieet would be received from selling
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an ogdransaction between market participants atieasurement date. When determining the fair
value measurements for assets and liabilities requo be recorded at their fair values, we comdiake principal or most advantageous market
in which we would transact and consider assumptibasmarket participants would use when pricingdBsets or liabilities, such as inherent
risk, transfer restrictions and risk of nonperfonoe.

ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy thatireg an entity to maximize the use of observatyeiis and minimize the use of unobserv
inputs when measuring fair value. An asset’s dafaillty’s categorization within the fair value hachy is based upon the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value measurem&8C 820 establishes three levels of inputs that beaysed to measure fair value:

» Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for idegitassets or liabilitie:

» Level 2: inputs other than Level 1 that are obdalejeeither directly or indirectly, such as quogettes in active markets for similar
assets or liabilities, quoted prices for identimasimilar assets or liabilities in markets that aot active, or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observablkendata for substantially the full term of theetssor liabilities; ol

» Level 3: unobservable inputs that are supportelitttey or no market activity and that are signifitdo the fair values of the assets or
liabilities.
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Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Our assets measured at fair value on a recurrigig,texcluding accrued interest components, catsist the following (Level 1 and 2 inputs

are defined above):

May 31, 2014

May 31, 2013

Fair Value Measurements
Using Input Types

Fair Value Measurements
Using Input Types

(in_millions) Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Commercial paper debt securit $ — & 796¢ $ 796¢ $ — 0§ 14,041 $ 14,04:
Corporate debt securities and ot 11¢ 16,53¢ 16,651 24¢€ 4,68¢ 4,93t
Derivative financial instrumen — 97 97 — 41 41
Total asset $ 11¢ $ 2460: $ 2472 $ 246 $ 18,77 $ 19,01¢

Our valuation techniques used to measure the #ireg of our marketable securities that were dladsas Level 1 in the table above were

derived from quoted market prices and active mari@tthese instruments exist. Our valuation teghes used to measure the fair values of
Level 2 instruments listed in the table above,dbenterparties to which have high credit ratingstenderived from the following: non-binding
market consensus prices that are corroborated $gredble market data, quoted market prices forairimstruments, or pricing models, such
as discounted cash flow techniques, with all sigaift inputs derived from or corroborated by obable market data including LIBOR-based

yield curves, among othel

Based on the trading prices of our $24.2 billiod &48.5 billion of borrowings, which consisted ehgor notes that were outstanding as of
May 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, the estimfted/alues of our borrowings using Level 2 inpatdViay 31, 2014 and 2013 were $26.4

billion and $20.7 billion, respectively.

5. INVENTORIES
Inventories consisted of the following:

May 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013
Raw materials $ 74 $ 114
Work-in-process 28 31
Finished good 87 95

Total $ 18! $ 24(
6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment, net consisted ofdhewing:

Estimated May 31,

(Dollars in millions) Useful Life 2014 2013
Computer, network, machinery and equipn 1-5 year: $ 2,46¢ $ 2,13¢
Buildings and improvemen 1-50 year 2,58 2,471
Furniture, fixtures and oth: 3-10 year 531 481
Land — 632 632
Construction in progres — 26 28

Total property, plant and equipme 1-50 year 6,23¢ 5,75¢
Accumulated depreciatic (3,17¢) (2,707%)

Total property, plant and equipment, $ 3,06 $ 3,05
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
The changes in intangible assets for fiscal 2014the net book value of intangible assets at Mgy2814 and 2013 were as follows:

Intangible Assets, Gros:¢ Accumulated Amortization Intangible Assets, Ne  Weighted
May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, Average
(Dollars in millions) 2013  Additions Retirements 2014 2013 Expense Retirements 2014 2013 2014 Useful Life (1)
Software support agreements and relate
relationships $ 529 $ — $ 8C)$ 521t $ (391H) % (B57) % 80 $ (4409 % 138t $ 81t N.A.
Hardware systems support agreements and
related relationship 817 15z — 96¢ (387) (143) — (530 43C 43¢ 9 years
Developed technolog 7,46¢€ 92¢ (4,007) 4,381 (5,47 (70€) 4,007 (2,17¢) 1,98¢ 2,211 7 years
Core technolog 2,57¢ — (962) 1,611 (1,939 (31¢) 962 (1,299 641 32t N.A.
Customer relationships and contract bac 2,43t 131 (512) 2,05¢ (2,637 (339 51z (1,459 79¢ 59t 4 years
SaaS and PaaS agreements and related
relationships and oth 1,22 562 — 1,78¢ (155) (150) — (305) 1,07z 1,484 10 years
Trademarks 63E 39 (15¢) 51€ (356) (78) 15¢ (27¢) 27¢ 24C 10 years
Total intangible assets subject to
amortization 20,45’ 1,812 (5,719 16,55( (13,86:) (2,300 5,71¢ (10,44 6,59¢ 6,107 8 years
In-process research and development 48 (15) — 3C — — — — 48 3C N.A.
Total intangible assets, r $ 2050 $ 1,797 $ (5,719 $ 16,581 $ (13,86) $ (2,300 $ 571¢ $ (10,44) $ 6,64 $ 6,13]

(1) Represents weighted average useful lives of intdegissets acquired during fiscal 20

Total amortization expense related to our intargéssets was $2.3 billion in fiscal 2014 and $2libib in each of fiscal 2013 and 2012. As of
May 31, 2014, estimated future amortization expgsmekted to intangible assets were as followsn{llions):

Fiscal 201¢ $ 1,93
Fiscal 201¢€ 1,33
Fiscal 2017 741
Fiscal 201¢ 607
Fiscal 201¢ 50¢
Thereafte! 98C

Total intangible assets subject to amortiza 6,107
In-process research and developn 30

Total intangible assets, r $ 6,130

The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwilliclis generally not deductible for tax purposes,dur operating segments for fiscal 2014
and 2013 were as follows:

New Software Software
Licenses and Uplalg‘ta;ss gn( Hardware
Cloud
Software Product Systems
(Dollars in millions) Subscriptions Support Support Other ® Total
Balances as of May 31, 20 $ 7,360 $ 12,47¢ $ 1,19t $ 4,08( $ 25,11¢
Allocation of goodwill® 2,34¢ — — (2,346 —
Goodwill from acquisition: 93¢ 27 62 1,341 2,36:
Goodwill adjustment® (113 (32 4 2 (139)
Balances as of May 31, 20 10,53: 12,47: 1,25¢ 3,07 27,34
Allocation of goodwill® 87t — 38C (1,255 —
Goodwill from acquisition: 1,721 4 43€ 134 2,29t
Goodwill adjustment® 10 (6) 7 3 14
Balances as of May 31, 20 $ 13,13¢ $ 12,47: $ 2,08: $ 1,95¢ $ 29,65:
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(1) Represents the allocation of goodwill to our ofiacasegments upon completion of our intangible sakeations

(3 Pursuant to our business combinations accouptitigy, we recorded goodwill adjustments for thizef on goodwill of changes to net assets acquitethg the measurement period
(up to one year from the date of an acquisitiomo@will adjustments were not significant to ouryoeisly reported operating results or financialipos.

(®)  Represents goodwill allocated to our other opegasiegments and goodwill to be allocated to ouratpey segments upon completion of our intangibieggaluations, if any

8. NOTES PAYABLE AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Notes payable and other borrowings consisted ofdal@wving:

May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2014 2013
3.75% senior notes due July 2014, net of fair valijestments of $8 and $41 as of May 31, 2014 @@ espectivelT) $ 1,50¢ $ 1,541
5.25% senior notes due January 2016, net of disai$®? and $3 as of May 31, 2014 and 2013, respg! 1,99¢ 1,997
1.20% senior notes due October 2017, net of didcuiB each as of May 31, 2014 and 2! 2,497 2,497
5.75% senior notes due April 2018, net of discafr&l as of May 31, 201 2,50( 2,49¢
Floating rate senior notes due January Z 50C —
2.375% senior notes due January 2019, net of &irevadjustment of $15 and discount of $5 as of MlayZOlA(l) 1,51(C —
5.00% senior notes due July 2019, net of discobifiB@nd $4 as of May 31, 2014 and 2013, respdgt 1,747 1,74¢
3.875% senior notes due July 2020, net of discofifit and $2 as of May 31, 2014 and 2013, respegt 99¢ 99¢
2.25% senior notes due January 2021, net of disai® as of May 31, 201(2) 1,691 —
2.50% senior notes due October 2022, net of dideufu? each as of May 31, 2014 and 2! 2,49¢ 2,49¢
3.625% senior notes due July 2023, net of discolii8 as of May 31, 201 992 —
3.125% senior notes due July 2025, net of discoti#i8 as of May 31, 201(2) 1,017 —
6.50% senior notes due April 2038, net of discafr$2 each as of May 31, 2014 and 2! 1,24¢ 1,24¢
6.125% senior notes due July 2039, net of discotii7 each as of May 31, 2014 and 2( 1,247 1,24%
5.375% senior notes due July 2040, net of discobi$i23 and $24 as of May 31, 2014 and 2013, ressdy 2,227 2,22¢
Capital lease — 1
Total borrowings $ 2417t $ 18,49:
Notes payable, current and other current borrow $ 1,50¢ $ —
Notes payable, n-current and other ni-current borrowing: $ 2266 $ 18,49

(1) Refer to Note 11 for a description of our accoumfior fair value hedge:
(2 Euro based notes valued at May 31, 2014 foreighange rates (see further discussion be

Senior Notes and Other

In July 2013, we issued €2.0 billion ($2.7 billies of May 31, 2014) of fixed rate senior notes casep of €1.25 billion of 2.25% notes due
January 2021 (2021 Notes) and €750 million of 3% 2®tes due July 2025 (2025 Notes, and togethértivit 2021 Notes, the Euro Notes).
The Euro Notes are registered and trade on the YW Stock Exchange. We issued the Euro Notes éoegal corporate purposes, which r
include stock repurchases, payment of cash divislencdbur common stock and future acquisitions.

In connection with the issuance of the 2021 Notesentered into certain cross-currency swap agretentieat have the economic effect of
converting our fixed rate, Euro denominated defatiliding annual interest payments and the paymgmirncipal at maturity, to a fixed rate,
U.S. Dollar denominated debt of $1.6 billion witlfixeed annual interest rate of 3.53% (see Noteathéditional information). Further, we
designated the 2025 Notes as a net investment leddge investments in certain of our internatiosalbsidiaries that use the Euro as their
functional currency in order to reduce the volgtiln stockholders’ equity caused by the changdsngign currency exchange rates of the Eur
with respect to the U.S. Dollar. Refer to Note @i ddditional information.

In July 2013, we also issued $3.0 billion of semiotes comprised of $500 million of floating ratees due January 2019 (2019 Floating Rate
Notes), $1.5 billion of 2.375% notes due Januard@2@anuary 2019 Notes) and $1.0 billion of 3.62
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notes due July 2023 (2023 Notes). The 2019 Flod&Reug Notes bear interest at a floating rate etpuiiree-month LIBOR plus 0.58% (0.81%
as of May 31, 2014) with interest payable quartéNe issued these senior notes for general cogpraposes, which may include stock
repurchases, payment of cash dividends on our constazk and future acquisitions.

In October 2012, we issued $5.0 billion of fixeteraenior notes comprised of $2.5 billion of 1.208tes due October 2017 (2017 Notes) and
$2.5 billion of 2.50% notes due October 2022 (2N2fes).

In July 2010, we issued $3.25 billion of fixed ratmnior notes comprised of $1.0 billion of 3.8758tas due July 2020 (2020 Notes) and $2.2-
billion of 5.375% notes due July 2040 (2040 Noses] together with the 2020 Notes, the Original S8eNiotes). As part of the offering of the
Original Senior Notes, we entered into a registratights agreement with the initial purchaserdlierbenefit of the holders of the Original
Senior Notes in which we agreed to file with theCS&registration statement with respect to seritesidentical in all material respects to the
Original Senior Notes within fourteen months aftex issue date of the Original Senior Notes anBecember 16, 2011 we completed a
registered offer to exchange the Original Senioteldor new freely tradable notes having terms tauibiglly identical to the Original Senior
Notes. An aggregate of $994 million principal amoithe 2020 Notes and an aggregate of $2.24hilbrincipal amount of the 2040 Nof
were tendered and exchanged in the offer.

In July 2009, we issued $4.5 billion of fixed ratnior notes comprised of $1.5 billion of 3.75%esadue July 2014 (2014 Notes), $1.75 bil
of 5.00% notes due July 2019 (July 2019 Notes)$nd5 billion of 6.125% notes due July 2039 (2039€¥).

In April 2008, we issued $5.0 billion of fixed ragenior notes, of which $1.25 billion of 4.95% semotes was due and paid in April 2013,
$2.5 hillion of 5.75% senior notes due April 202818 Notes) and $1.25 billion of 6.50% senior nates April 2038 (2038 Notes) remained
outstanding as of May 31, 2014.

In January 2006, we issued $5.75 billion of senmtes, of which $2.25 billion of 5.00% senior notess due and paid in January 2011 and
$2.0 billion of 5.25% senior notes due January 2@08.6 Notes) remained outstanding as of May 31420

The effective interest yields of the 2014 Notesl @0lotes, 2017 Notes, 2018 Notes, January 2019%Nawty 2019 Notes, 2020 Notes, 2022
Notes, 2023 Notes, 2025 Notes, 2038 Notes, 2038\mtd 2040 Notes (collectively and together with2021 Notes, the Senior Notes
May 31, 2014 were 3.75%, 5.32%, 1.24%, 5.76%, 2,8196%, 3.93%, 2.51%, 3.73%, 3.17%, 6.52%, 6.18865845%, respectively. In July
2013, we entered into certain interest rate swapeagents that have the economic effect of modifyiregfixed interest obligations associated
with the January 2019 Notes so that the intereglgla on these notes effectively became variab&3(8 at May 31, 2014; see Note 11 for
additionalinformation). In September 2009, we entered inttade interest rate swap agreements that haveciheoenic effect of modifying tr
fixed interest obligations associated with the 2B8lbes so that the interest payable on these effiestively became variable (1.29% at

May 31, 2014; see Note 11 for additional informafiorhe effective interest yield of the 2021 Notess 2.33% (3.53% after the economic
effects of the cross-currency swap agreementsitdescabove and in Note 11). Interest is payabld-semually for the Senior Notes except
the 2021 Notes and 2025 Notes for which interegtigble annually. We may redeem some or all oB#rgior Notes of each series at any
time, subject to payment of an applicable make-wlpoémium. The 2019 Floating Rate Notes may noedeemed prior to their maturity.

The Senior Notes and the 2019 Floating Rate Natals pari passu with any other notes we may isstieeifiuture pursuant to our commercial
paper program (see additional discussion regamimgommercial paper program below) and all exgstind future unsecured senior
indebtedness of Oracle Corporation. All existing &uture liabilities of the subsidiaries of Ora€lerporation are or will be effectively seniol
the Senior Notes and the 2019 Floating Rate Natdsaay future issuances of commercial paper niteswere in compliance with all debt-
related covenants at May 31, 2014.
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In the third quarter of fiscal 2012, shortly aftee closing of our acquisition of RightNow, we ri&han full, $255 million of RightNows legac!
convertible notes.

Future principal payments for all of our borrowiregdMay 31, 2014 were as follows (in millions):

Fiscal 201t $ 1,50
Fiscal 201¢ 2,00(
Fiscal 2017 —
Fiscal 201¢ 5,00(
Fiscal 201¢ 2,00(
Thereaftel 13,62(

Total $ 24,12

Commercial Paper Program and Commercial Paper Notes

On April 22, 2013, pursuant to our existing $3.Midm commercial paper program which allows usssuie and sell unsecured short-term
promissory notes pursuant to a private placemesigkion from the registration requirements unddefel and state securities laws, we
entered into new dealer agreements with variouksand a new Issuing and Paying Agency Agreemeht3dA Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. As
of May 31, 2014 and 2013, we did not have any antlihg commercial paper notes. We intend to bagg-ahy commercial paper notes that
we may issue in the future with the 2013 Crediteggnent (see additional details below).

Revolving Credit Agreements

In April 2013, we entered into a $3.0 billion Reviolg Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.Bank of America, N.A., BNP Paribas,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and certain other lendlees2013 Credit Agreement). The 2013 Credit Agreet provides for an unsecured 5-
year revolving credit facility to be used for geslezorporate purposes including b-stopping any commercial paper notes that we nmayeis
Subject to certain conditions stated in the 201&d@Agreement, we may borrow, prepay and re-bomowunts under the 2013 Credit
Agreement at any time during the term of the 201&dE Agreement. Interest under the 2013 Credite&grent is based on either (a) a LIBOR-
based formula or (b) the Base Rate formula, eade&f®rth in the 2013 Credit Agreement. Any ameutrawn pursuant to the 2013 Credit
Agreement are due on April 20, 2018. No amounts®veertstanding pursuant to the 2013 Credit Agreemgiof May 31, 2014 and 2013.

The 2013 Credit Agreement contains certain custpmegresentations and warranties, covenants amtswédefault, including the
requirement that our total net debt to total cdigiion ratio not exceed 45% on a consolidatedsbéfsany of the events of default occur and
are not cured within applicable grace periods dvedy any unpaid amounts under the 2013 Credit &ment may be declared immediately
due and payable and the 2013 Credit Agreement magriminated. We were in compliance with the 201€d Agreement’s covenants as of
May 31, 2014.

On May 29, 2012, we borrowed $1.7 billion pursuard revolving credit agreement with JPMorgan Clizesek, N.A., as initial lender and
administrative agent; and J.P. Morgan Securitie€,las sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner2@i@ Credit Agreement). During fiscal
2013, we repaid the $1.7 billion and the 2012 Gradreement expired pursuant to its terms.

On May 27, 2011, we entered into two revolving @ragreements with BNP Paribas, as initial lendet administrative agent, and BNP
Paribas Securities Corp., as sole lead arranges@erdookrunner (the 2011 Credit Agreements),mrcowed $1.15 billion pursuant to these
agreements. During fiscal 2012, we repaid the $hillibn and the 2011 Credit Agreements expiredspant to their terms.
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9. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES
Fiscal 2013 Oracle Restructuring Plan

During the first quarter of fiscal 2013, our managat approved, committed to and initiated planesbructure and further improve
efficiencies in our operations (the 2013 RestruntuPlan). Our management subsequently amende2Dtti2 Restructuring Plan in the third
quarter of fiscal 2013 and in the first quartefistal 2014 to reflect additional actions that w@ect to take. The total estimated restructuring
costs associated with the 2013 Restructuring Rlai$205 million and will be recorded to the restming expense line item within our
consolidated statements of operations as theyhatered. We recorded $174 million and $325 milladmestructuring expenses in connection
with the 2013 Restructuring Plan in fiscal 2014 @0d3, respectively, and we expect to incur theonitgjof the estimated remaining $206
million through the end of fiscal 2015. Any changeshe estimates of executing the 2013 Restruwurian will be reflected in our future
results of operations.

Sun Restructuring Plan

During the third quarter of fiscal 2010, our marragat approved, committed to and initiated a plarestructure our operations due to our
acquisition of Sun Microsystems, Inc. (the Sun Restiring Plan) in order to improve the cost effitties in our merged operations.
Restructuring costs associated with the Sun Resting Plan were recorded to the restructuring agpdine item within our consolidated
statements of operations as they were recognized:edbrded $215 million of net restructuring ex@sns connection with the Sun
Restructuring Plan in fiscal 2012. The executiothef Sun Restructuring Plan was substantially cetefs of the end of fiscal 2012.

Summary of All Plans
Fiscal 2014 Activity

Total
Year Ended May 31, 201« Total Expectec
Initial Adj. to Cash Costs
Accrued Accrued Accrued - Program
May 31 Cost May 31,
(in millions) 2013@  Costs® @ Payment: Others®)  2014®  to Date Costs
Fiscal 2013 Oracle Restructuring Plar®)
New software licenses and cloud software subsorip $ 1€ $ 57 $ (8 $ 55 $ 2 % 12 $ 126 $ 15¢
Software license updates and product sug 1 11 — (20 3 5 18 24
Hardware systems busine 24 48 3 (52 1 18 13¢ 23¢
Services 18 39 ) (39 — 11 99 16€
General and administrative and ot 12 42 (5) (39) 5 15 117 11¢
Total Fiscal 2013 Oracle Restructuring F $ 71 $ 197 $ (23 $ (199 $ 1 8 61 $ 49¢ $ 7Ot
Total other restructuring plai® $ 17¢ $ 24 $ (15 $ (58 $ (220 $  10¢
Total restructuring plar $ 25C $ 221 $ (38 $ (259 $ (1) $  16¢
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Fiscal 2013 Activity
Year Ended May 31, 201:
Adj. to
Accrued Accrued
May 31, Initial Cost Cash May 31,
(in millions) 2012 Costs(®) @) Payment:  Others () 2013(2)
Fiscal 2013 Oracle Restructuring Plarit)
New software licenses and cloud software subsorip $ — $ 8 $ B8 $ 6O $ (1) $ 16
Software license updates and product sug — 13 (6) (11) 5 1
Hardware systems busine — 99 (5) (68) 2 24
Services — 72 5) (50 1 18
General and administrative and ot — 81 (1) (52 (16) 12
Total Fiscal 2013 Oracle Restructuring P $ — $35C $(25 $ (24) $ (13 $ 171
Total other restructuring plai® $ 337 $ 53 $(26 $ (18) $ — $ 17¢
Total restructuring plan $ 337 $ 40 $(B1)) $ (426 $ (13 $ 25C
Fiscal 2012 Activity
Year Ended May 31, 201:
Adj. to
Accrued Accrued
May 31, Initial Cost Cash May 31,
(in millions) 2011 Costs®) 4 Payment:  Others () 2012
Sun Restructuring Plan®
New software licenses and cloud software subsorip $ 14 $ 46 $ 8 $ 4) $ (@ $ 9
Software license updates and product sug 19 31 2 (35) D 12
Hardware systems busine 10 34 1 (33 — 12
Services 9 32 2 (25) 2 12
General and administrative and ot 10C 92 (9) (129) (1) 53
Total Sun Restructurin $ 152 $ 23E $(200 $ (269 $ (6) $ 98
Total other restructuring plai® $ 297 $ 65 $ 18 $ (129 $ (16 $ 23¢
Total restructuring plan $ 44 $30C $ 5 $ 38 $ (22 $ 337

() Restructuring costs recorded for individual lites primarily related to employee severance amstspt for general and administrative and othéickvalso included $46 million and
$23 million recorded during fiscal 2013 and 20E&pectively, for facilities related restructurimgntract termination and other cos

3  The balances at May 31, 2014 and 2013 included #iiion and $160 million, respectively, recordedather current liabilities, and $69 million andd®illion, respectively, recorde
in other no-current liabilities.

(®)  Costs recorded for the respective restructuringspthuring the current period present
) All plan adjustments were changes in estimates ehyeincreases and decreases in costs were geneaiiyled to operating expenses in the period josadents
() Represents foreign currency translation and cectier adjustment:

()  Other restructuring plans presented in the tabteve included condensed information for other @rhased plans and other plans associated with ceftaiar acquisitions whereby \
continued to make cash outlays to settle obligatiomler these plans during the periods presentegdbwhich the periodic impact to our consolidattdtements of operations was not
significant.
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10. DEFERRED REVENUES
Deferred revenues consisted of the following:
May 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013
Software license updates and product suf $ 590¢ $ 570!
Hardware systems support and ot 664 70€
Services 364 35k
Cloud SaasS, PaaS and le 24¢ 228
New software license 84 12¢

Deferred revenues, curre 7,26¢ 7,11¢

Deferred revenues, n-current (in other nc-current liabilities) 404 31z

Total deferred revenut $ 7677 $ 7,43(

Deferred software license updates and product suppeenues and deferred hardware systems sugp@mnues represent customer payments
made in advance for support contracts that areajlgibilled on a per annum basis in advance watltesponding revenues being recognized
ratably over the support periods. Deferred servieesnues include prepayments for our servicesibasiand revenues for these services are
generally recognized as the services are perforDefitrred cloud SaaS, PaaS and laaS revenuesltypesult from our cloudased offering
that are typically billed in advance and recogniaedr the corresponding contractual term. Defen@d software licenses revenues typically
result from undelivered products or specified emeaments, customer specific acceptance provisiastomer payments made in advance for
time-based license arrangements and software Bdeassactions that cannot be segmented from wedetl consulting or other services.

In connection with our acquisitions, we have estadahe fair values of the cloud SaaS and PaaSya@f license updates and product suppor
and hardware systems support obligations, amortlgsts) assumed from our acquired companies. We@gnkave estimated the fair values
of these obligations assumed using a cost buildpggoach. The cost build-up approach determinesdie by estimating the costs related to
fulfilling the obligations plus a normal profit ngin. The sum of the costs and operating profit apipnates, in theory, the amount that we
would be required to pay a third party to assumeseracquired obligations. These aforementioned/ddire adjustments recorded for
obligations assumed from our acquisitions redubecttoud SaaS and PaaS, software license updateg@stuct support and hardware syst
support deferred revenues balances that we recasikabilities from these acquisitions and alstuced the resulting revenues that we
recognized or will recognize over the terms ofdkquired obligations during the post-combinationiqais.

11. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair Value Hedges— Interest Rate Swap Agreements

In July 2013, we entered into certain interest satap agreements that have the economic effecodffying the fixed interest obligations
associated with our January 2019 Notes so thahtbeest payable on these senior notes effectivebame variable based on LIBOR. In
September 2009, we entered into certain interésisieap agreements that have the economic effenbdifying the fixed interest obligations
associated with our 2014 Notes so that the intg@gable on these notes effectively became varlzdded on LIBOR. The critical terms of the
interest rate swap agreements and the JanuaryNate€8 and 2014 Notes that the interest rate swageagents pertain to match, including the
notional amounts and maturity dates.

We have designated the aforementioned interestvaap agreements as qualifying hedging instrumamdsare accounting for them as fair
value hedges pursuant to ASC 815. These transadi@ncharacterized as fair value
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hedges for financial accounting purposes becawseptotect us against changes in the fair valuegéin of our fixed rate borrowings due to
benchmark interest rate movements. The changesrindiues of these interest rate swap agreemeat®eognized as interest expense in our
consolidated statements of operations with theesponding amounts included in prepaid expensested current assets or other current
liabilities for the 2014 Notes, and other assetstber non-current liabilities for the January 20&es in our consolidated balance sheets. Th
amount of net gain (loss) attributable to the bskng hedged is recognized as interest expensgricomsolidated statements of operations witl
the corresponding amount included in notes payableent and other current borrowings for the 2Bibdes, and notes payable and other non
current borrowings for the January 2019 Notes. gémgodic interest settlements for the interest satap agreements for the 2014 Notes and
January 2019 Notes are recorded as interest expense

We do not use any interest rate swap agreementiafiing purposes.

Cash Flow Hedges— Cross Currency Swap Agreements

In connection with the issuance of the 2021 Notesentered into certain cross-currency swap agreente manage the related foreign
currency exchange risk by effectively converting fixed-rate, Euro denominated 2021 Notes, inclydire annual interest payments and the
payment of principal at maturity, to fixed-rate 3JDollar denominated debt. The economic effe¢chefswap agreements was to eliminate the
uncertainty of the cash flows in U.S. Dollars ass@d with the 2021 Notes by fixing the principed@unt of the 2021 Notes at $1.6 hillion v

a fixed annual interest rate of 3.53%. We havegieded these cross-currency swap agreements afyigqgathedging instruments and are
accounting for these as cash flow hedges pursaak8€ 815. The critical terms of the cross-curresawap agreements correspond to the 202
Notes, including the annual interest payments bbeédged, and the cre-currency swap agreements mature at the same tithe 2021 Note:

We used the hypothetical derivative method to mesathe effectiveness of our cross-currency swapeagents. The fair values of these cross:
currency swap agreements are recognized as otsetisa® other non-current liabilities in our cotdaled balance sheets. The effective
portions of the changes in fair values of thesssimirrency swap agreements are reported in acatedudther comprehensive loss in our
consolidated balance sheets and an amount is sé@dsout of accumulated other comprehensive ilogsnonoperating (expense) income, |

in the same period that the carrying value of theoElenominated 2021 Notes is remeasured and téredh expense is recognized. The
ineffective portion of the unrealized gains andséxson these cross-currency swaps, if any, isdéeddmmediately to non-operating (expense)
income, net. We evaluate the effectiveness of mgsccurrency swap agreements on a quarterly b&siglid not record any ineffectiveness
during fiscal 2014.

We do not use any cross-currency swap agreemartiméing purposes.

Net Investment Hedge— Foreign Currency Borrowings

In July 2013, we designated our Euro denominat&b 2btes as a net investment hedge of our investnecertain of our international
subsidiaries that use the Euro as their functionaiency in order to reduce the volatility in stbolders’ equity caused by the changes in
foreign currency exchange rates of the Euro wiipeet to the U.S. Dollar.

We used the spot method to measure the effectigaesferur net investment hedge. Under this methmdedch reporting period, the change in
the carrying value of the Euro denominated 202%Bldiue to remeasurement of the effective portioagsrted in accumulated other
comprehensive loss on our consolidated balance ahdehe remaining change in the carrying valuthefineffective portion, if any, is
recognized in non-operating (expense) income,metr consolidated statements of operations. Whiateathe effectiveness of our net
investment hedge at the beginning of every quartierdid not record any ineffectiveness during fig 4.
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Foreign Currency Forward Contracts Not Designated a Hedges

We transact business in various foreign currermieshave established a program that primarilyzetiliforeign currency forward contracts to
offset the risks associated with the effects ofagerforeign currency exposures. Under this prograum strategy is to enter into foreign
currency forward contracts so that increases ore@dses in our foreign currency exposures are dfsgains or losses on the foreign currency
forward contracts in order to mitigate the risksl aolatility associated with our foreign currencgrtsactions. We may suspend this program
from time to time. Our foreign currency exposunrgsdally arise from intercompany sublicense feetericompany loans and other
intercompany transactions that are generally exgetct be cash settled in the near term. Our foreigrency forward contracts are generally
short-term in duration. Our ultimate realized gaioss with respect to currency fluctuations w#nerally depend on the size and type of
cross-currency exposures that we enter into, thewrcy exchange rates associated with these exgmand changes in those rates, the net
realized and unrealized gains or losses on foreigrency forward contracts to offset these expasaral other factors.

We neither use these foreign currency forward emtsrfor trading purposes nor do we designate tloegerd contracts as hedging instrum
pursuant to ASC 815. Accordingly, we recorded Hievalues of these contracts as of the end ofeporting period to our consolidated
balance sheet with changes in fair values recotaledr consolidated statement of operations. Thanoa sheet classification for the fair val
of these forward contracts is prepaid expense®#ret current assets for a net unrealized gairtipnsaind other current liabilities for a net
unrealized loss position. The statement of opematatassification for changes in fair values ostérward contracts is hon-operating
(expense) income, net, for both realized and uimeglains and losses.

As of May 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, thear@l amounts of the forward contracts we held teipase U.S. Dollars in exchange for
other major international currencies were $3.6dsilland $3.0 billion, respectively, and the notlcem@ounts of forward contracts we held to
sell U.S. Dollars in exchange for other major intfonal currencies were $2.0 billion and $1.1idmil) respectively. The fair values of our
outstanding foreign currency forward contracts wesminal at May 31, 2014 and 2013.

Included in our non-operating (expense) incomewee $(69) million, $(64) million and $43 milliaf net (losses) gains related to these
forward contracts for the years ended May 31, 28043 and 2012, respectively.

The effects of derivative and non-derivative instemts designated as hedges on our consolidatettiaatatements were as follows as of or
for each of the respective periods presented béowounts presented exclude any income tax effects):

Fair Values of Derivative and Non-Derivative Instrunents Designated as Hedges in Consolidated Balarseeets

May 31, 2014 May 31, 2013
(in millions) Balance Sheet Locatior  Fair Value Balance Sheet Locatior Fair Value
Interest rate swap agreements designated as fa@ kiadge: Other asset $ 15 Not applicable $ —
Prepaid expenses and
Interest rate swap agreements designated as fa@ kiadge: other current asse $ 8 Other asset $ 41
Crost-currency swap agreements designated as cash fldges Other asset $ 74 Not applicable $ =

Notes payable an
other non-current
Foreign currency borrowings designated as net tmest hedgt borrowings $ (1,110 Not applicable $ —
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Effects of Derivative and Non-Derivative Instrumens Designated as Hedges on Income and Other Compreiséve Loss (OCL)

Amount of Gain (Loss)

Recognized in Accumulate Location and Amount of Gain
Reclassified from Accumulated OCL
OCL (Effective Portion) into Income (Effective Portion)
Year Ended Year Ended
(in millions) May 31, 2014 May 31, 201«
Crost-currency swap agreements designated as cash fldges $ 74  Nor-operating (expensincome, ne $ 69
Foreign currency borrowings designated as net tmerst hedg: $ (34) Not applicable $ —

Location and Amount of Gain on

Location and Amount of Loss Hedged Item Recognized in Income
Recognized in Income on Derivative Attributable to Risk Being Hedged
Year Ended May 31, Year Ended May 31,
(in millions) 2014 2013 2014 2013
Interest rate swap agreements designated as fa@ kadge: Interest expens $ (18) $ (28) Interest expens $ 1€ $ 28

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Lease Commitments

We lease certain facilities, furniture and equiptnerder operating leases. As of May 31, 2014, futnmimum annual operating lease
payments and future minimum payments to be recdiead non-cancelable subleases were as follows:

(in millions)
Fiscal 201t $ 37c
Fiscal 201¢€ 304
Fiscal 2017 23C
Fiscal 201¢ 16¢
Fiscal 201¢ 12C
Thereafte! 202
Future minimum operating lease payme 1,39¢
Less: minimum payments to be received from-cancelable subleas (63

Total future minimum operating lease payments, $ 1,33

Lease commitments included future minimum rent payts for facilities that we have vacated pursuamiur restructuring and merger
integration activities, as discussed in Note 9.hee approximately $112 million in facility obligens, net of estimated sublease income and
other costs, in accrued restructuring for thesatlons in our consolidated balance sheet at MayG14.

Rent expense was $278 million, $313 million and%8gllion for fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, respeelyy net of sublease income of
approximately $55 million, $69 million and $89 rolh, respectively. Certain lease agreements congéaiewal options providing for extensic
of the lease terms.

Unconditional Obligations

In the ordinary course of business, we enter iettain unconditional purchase obligations with suppliers, which are agreements that are
enforceable, legally binding and specify termsluding: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchasided, minimum or variable price
provisions; and the approximate timing of the
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payment. We utilize several external manufactui@raanufacture sub-assemblies for our hardwareystedand to perform final assembly and
testing of finished hardware products. We alsoialitadividual components for our hardware systemwglpcts from a variety of individual
suppliers based on projected demand informatiooh $urchase commitments are based on our forecesitegonent and manufacturing
requirements and typically provide for fulfillmenithin agreed upon lead-times and/or commercialiydard lead-times for the particular part
or product and have been included in the amourdtsso®outine arrangements for other materials asatlg that are not related to our externa
manufacturers and certain other suppliers andateaéntered into in the ordinary course of busiaessiot included in the amounts below as
they are generally entered into in order to sepui@ng or other negotiated terms and are diffitcaluantify in a meaningful way.

As of May 31, 2014, our unconditional purchase egdain other obligations were as follows (in roitis):

Fiscal 201t $ 46¢
Fiscal 201¢ 28
Fiscal 2017 12
Fiscal 201¢ 1
Fiscal 201¢ —
Thereaftel —

Total $ 51C

We have a commitment to acquire certain compamiesash consideration that we expect to pay uperlibsing of these acquisitions. As
described in Note 8 and Note 11 above, as of Ma®314 we have notes payable and other borrowingganding of $24.2 billion that matt
at various future dates and derivative financiatrimnments outstanding that we leverage to managgmeisks and exposures.

Guarantees

Our software and hardware systems product saleeagnts generally include certain provisions fdemnifying customers against liabilities
if our products infringe a third party’s intelleetuproperty rights. To date, we have not incurney material costs as a result of such
indemnifications and have not accrued any matgaihllities related to such obligations in our colidated financial statements. Certain of our
product sales agreements also include provisiatenmifying customers against liabilities in the mvwee breach confidentiality or service
level requirements. It is not possible to deterntiemaximum potential amount under these indegatifin agreements due to our limited anc
infrequent history of prior indemnification clainragd the unique facts and circumstances involvezhah particular agreement.

Our software license and hardware systems prodgreements also generally include a warranty thiapmducts will substantially operate as
described in the applicable program documentatiom foeriod of one year after delivery. We alsoravatrthat services we perform will be
provided in a manner consistent with industry séadd for a period of 90 days from performance efdérvice.

We occasionally are required, for various reastimenter into financial guarantees with third pEstin the ordinary course of our
business including, among others, guarantees delatioreign exchange trades, taxes, import licelasal letters of credit on behalf of parties
with whom we conduct business. Such agreementstatead a material effect on our results of openat financial position or cash flows.
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13. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Stock Repurchases

Our Board of Directors has approved a program $aiourepurchase shares of our common stock. On2yr2013, we announced that our
Board of Directors approved an expansion of outkstepurchase program by an additional $12.0 billlspproximately $4.3 billion remained
available for stock repurchases as of May 31, 2flissuant to our stock repurchase program. We cépsed 280.4 million shares for $9.8
billion (including 2.2 million shares for $94 mibin that were repurchased but not settled), 346lliomshares for $11.0 billion and

207.3 million shares for $6.0 billion in fiscal 2812013 and 2012, respectively, under the stockrodyase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not hawxpination date and the pace of our repurchaseitsatill depend on factors such as our
working capital needs, our cash requirements fquistions and dividend payments, our debt repayrabligations or repurchase of our debt,
our stock price, and economic and market conditions stock repurchases may be effected from torterte through open market purchases
or pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan. Our stock rdmse program may be accelerated, suspended, delagestontinued at any time.

Dividends on Common Stock

During fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, our Board ofbiors declared cash dividends of $0.48, $0.305ar2# per share of our outstanding
common stock, respectively, which we paid durirggghme period.

In June 2014, our Board of Directors declared atqug cash dividend of $0.12 per share of our tanding common stock payable on July 30
2014 to stockholders of record as of the closeusfriess on July 9, 2014. Future declarations afldivds and the establishment of future re
and payment dates are subject to the final detetioimof our Board of Directors.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The following table summarizes, as of each balahest date, the components of our accumulated otimprehensive loss, net of income
taxes:

May 31,
(in millions) 2014 2013
Foreign currency translation losses and other $ (82 $ 3
Unrealized losses on defined benefit plans, (159 (176
Unrealized gains on marketable securities, 65 80
Unrealized gains on cash flow hedges, 5 —
Total accumulated other comprehensive $ (169 $ (99

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Stock-based Compensation Plans
Stock Option Plan

In fiscal 2001, we adopted the 2000 Long-Term Bauitentive Plan, which provides for the issuantean-qualified stock options and
incentive stock options, as well as stock purchigds, stock appreciation rights, and long-termfqgrenance awards, including restricted stock
based awards, to our eligible employees, officatsdirectors who are also employees or consultamdependent consultants and advisers. In
fiscal 2011, our
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stockholders, upon the recommendation of our Boaiirectors, approved the adoption of the Amended Restated 2000 Lorigerm Equity
Incentive Plan (the 2000 Plan), which extendedéhmination date of the 2000 Plan by ten yearsiacr@ased the number of authorized share
of stock that may be issued by 388,313,015 shhrdiscal 2014, our stockholders, upon the reconuhagion of our Board of Directors,
approved a further increase in the number of aitedrshares of stock that may be issued under@®@ Rlan by 305,000,000 shares. Unde
terms of the 2000 Plan, options to purchase constuok are granted at not less than fair marketeyddeacome exercisable as established by
the Board (generally 25% annually over four yeardan our current practice) and generally expirenooe than ten years from the date of
grant. As of May 31, 2014, options to purchase @dlBon shares of common stock were outstandingeurtde 2000 Plan, of which 183 milli
were vested. As of May 31, 2014, approximately Alion shares of common stock were available fdaufe awards under the 2000 Plan. To
date, we have not issued any stock purchase rigfiotsk appreciation rights, restricted stock-basedrds or long-term performance awards
under the 2000 Plan.

In fiscal 1993, the Board adopted the 1993 DiretStock Option Plan (the Directors’ Plan), whidloyides for the issuance of non-qualified
stock options to non-employee directors. The DaectPlan has from time to time been amended astdted. Under the terms of the Directors
Plan, options to purchase 10 million shares of comstock were reserved for issuance (including@afi2013 amendment to increase the
number of shares of our common stock reservedsfuraince by 2 million shares), options are grarttedtdess than fair market value, become
exercisable over four years and expire no more tharyears from the date of grant. The DirectotahRrovides for automatic grants of
options to each non-employee director upon firsbb@ng a director and thereafter on an annual pasigell as automatic nondiscretionary
grants for chairing or vice chairing certain Boaoinmittees. The Board will determine the partictéaims of any such stock awards at the -

of grant, but the terms will be consistent withgbmf options granted under the Directors’ Plainwnéispect to vesting or forfeiture schedules
and treatment on termination of status as a direé®of May 31, 2014, options to purchase appratety 3 million shares of common stock
were outstanding under the 1993 Directors’ Plamwlith approximately 2 million were vested. As o&31, 2014, approximately 2 million
shares were available for future option awards uttds plan.

In connection with certain of our acquisitions, assumed certain outstanding stock options and o#iséicted stock-based awards of each
acquiree’s respective stock plans. These stockig@tnd other restricted stock-based awards génestdin all of the rights, terms and
conditions of the respective plans under which theye originally granted. As of May 31, 2014, stagkions to purchase 11 million shares of
common stock and 1 million shares of restrictedlsteased awards were outstanding under these plans.
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The following table summarizes stock option acyi¥dr our last three fiscal years ended May 31,4201

Options Outstanding

Shares Unde Weighted

Average
(in millions, except exercise price Option Exercise Pric¢
Balance, May 31, 201 354 $ 19.5¢
Grantec 11z $ 320t
Assumec 8 $ 1217
Exercisec (39 $ 16.6]
Cancelec (13) $ 29.31
Balance, May 31, 201 42z $ 22.6¢
Grantec 11¢ $ 29.9(
Assumec 9 $ 3252
Exercisec (83 $ 17.3¢
Cancelec (20 $ 28.9¢
Balance, May 31, 201 447 $  25.4¢
Grantec 131 $ 31.0C
Assumec 5 $ 9.0z
Exercisec (95) $ 21.57
Cancelec (26) $  30.6(
Balance, May 31, 201 462 $ 2730

Options outstanding that have vested and thatqrected to vest as of May 31, 2014 were as follows:
Weighted In-the-Money
. Average

Qusiandng o Remamng o Clssmd aggregae

Average ' Intrinsic

Options Exercise Value ()
(in millions) __Price __(inyears) (in_millions) (in millions)
Vested 192 $ 23.4¢ 5.12 19C $ 3,60¢
Expected to ve«? 241 $ 30.01 8.1¢ 241 2,88t
Total 433 $ 27.1: 6.8:2 431 $ 6,49:

(1) The aggregate intrinsic value was calculateddasethe gross difference between our closing spoite on the last trading day of fiscal 2014 02 $2 and the exercise prices for all
“in-the-money’ options outstanding, excluding tax effe«

() The unrecognized compensation expense calculaiger the fair value method for shares expectegs$o (unvested shares net of expected forfeitaesf May 31, 2014 was
approximately $1.2 billion and is expected to bepgmized over a weighted average period of 2.5tsyé@proximately 29 million shares outstandingéday 31, 2014 were not
expected to ves
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StockBased Compensation Expense and Valuation of Stptiods

Stock-based compensation is included in the follmwoperating expense line items in our consolidatatements of operations:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Sales and marketir $ 16t $ 137 $ 11t
Cloud softwar-as-a-service and platfor-as-a-service 8 1C 7
Cloud infrastructur-as-a-service 4 8 6
Software license updates and product sug 22 2C 18
Hardware systems produ 5 3 1
Hardware systems supp 6 5 5
Services 29 23 17
Research and developmt 38t 352 29t
General and administrati 171 164 162
Acquisition related and oth: 10 33 33

Total stocl-based compensatic 80t 75& 65¢
Estimated income tax benefit included in provisionincome taxe: (260 (249 (216

Total stocl-based compensation, net of estimated income taefil $ b4t $ 51z $ 44c:

We estimate the fair values of our share-based patgnusing the Black-Scholes-Merton option-prigimgdel, which was developed for use in
estimating the fair values of stock options. Optiatuation models, including the Black-Scholes-Marbptionpricing model, require the inp
of assumptions, including stock price volatilityha@hges in the input assumptions can materiallyctffes fair value estimates and ultimately
how much we recognize as stock-based compensagmanse. The fair values of our stock options wetgrgted at the grant dates or at the
acquisition dates for options assumed in a busio@sbination. The weighted average input assumgtised and resulting fair values of our
stock options were as follows for fiscal 2014, 2@h8l 2012:

Year Ended May 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected life (in years) 4.9 5.C 5.1
Risk-free interest rat 1.3% 0.7% 1.6%
Volatility 27% 31% 30%
Dividend yield 1.5% 0.8% 0.8%
Weightec-average fair value per she $ 7.4i $ 7.9¢ $ 9.3C

The expected life input is based on historical eiserpatterns and post-vesting termination behatherrisk-free interest rate input is based or
U.S. Treasury instruments, the annualized dividgaltl input is based on the per share dividendated by our Board of Directors and the
volatility input is calculated based on the implieaatility of our publicly traded options.

Tax Benefits from Exercise of Stock Options andtwesof Restricted StocBased Awards

Total cash received as a result of option exersisgesapproximately $2.0 billion, $1.4 billion ané2® million for fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of amiexercised and vesting of restricted stock-basedds was $1.5 billion, $1.3 billion and
$587 million for fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, regpety. In connection with these exercises andimgsbf restricted stock-based awards, the
tax benefits realized by us were $480 million, $4dilion and $182 million for fiscal 2014, 2013 a@@12, respectively. Of
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the total tax benefits received, we classified sxdax benefits from stodkased compensation of $250 million, $241 milliod &37 million as
cash flows from financing activities rather thasltlows from operating activities for fiscal 2020913 and 2012, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (PurchesgtPat allows employees to purchase sharesrofmmn stock at a price per share that
is 95% of the fair market value of Oracle stoclofithe end of the semi-annual option period. AMaly 31, 2014, 60 million shares were
reserved for future issuances under the Purchase ®le issued 3 million shares under the Purchiaseif each of fiscal 2014 and 2013 and
4 million shares in fiscal 2012.

Defined Contribution and Other Postretirement Plans

We offer various defined contribution plans for @us. and non-U.S. employees. Total defined coutidn plan expense was $357 million,
$353 million and $344 million for fiscal 2014, 2048d 2012, respectively. The number of plan pandicis in our benefit plans has generally
increased in recent years primarily as a resudtdafitional eligible employees from our acquisitions

In the United States, regular employees can ppéieiin the Oracle Corporation 401(k) Savings am@d$tment Plan (Oracle 401(k) Plan).
Participants can generally contribute up to 40%hefr eligible compensation on a per-pay-periodsas defined by the Oracle 401(k) Plan
document or by the section 402(g) limit as defibgdhe United States Internal Revenue Service (IR& match a portion of employee
contributions, currently 50% up to 6% of comper@atach pay period, subject to maximum aggregatehimg amounts. Our contributions to
the Oracle 401(k) Plan, net of forfeitures, wer84pnillion, $129 million and $125 million in fisc&014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

We also offer non-qualified deferred compensatiampto certain key employees whereby they mayrdefmrtion of their annual base and/or
variable compensation until retirement or a datcggd by the employee in accordance with the ql&éreferred compensation plan assets ani
liabilities were each approximately $367 millionasMay 31, 2014 and were each approximately $32ilomas of May 31, 2013 and were
presented in other assets and other non-currdailitlies in the accompanying consolidated balariesess.

We sponsor certain defined benefit pension plaasdte offered primarily by certain of our foreigmbsidiaries. Many of these plans were
assumed through our acquisitions or are requirdddaf regulatory requirements. We may deposit uiwd these plans with insurance
companies, third party trustees, or into governmmeamhaged accounts consistent with local regulategquirements, as applicable. Our total
defined benefit plan pension expenses were $64omil$81 million and $55 million for fiscal 2014023 and 2012, respectively. The aggre
projected benefit obligation and aggregate netlitplffunded status) of our defined benefit plarssof May 31, 2014 was $853 million and
$436 million, respectively, and as of May 31, 208 $734 million and $364 million, respectively.

15. INCOME TAXES
The following is a geographical breakdown of incdmegore the provision for income taxes:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013 2012

Domestic $ 5397 $ 6612 $ 6,28

Foreign 8,301 7,28¢ 6,67¢
Income before provision for income tay $ 13,700 $ 13,89 $ 12,96
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The provision for income taxes consisted of théofeing:
Year Ended May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Current provision
Federa $ 1,61 $ 1,72 $ 1,61
State 337 254 257
Foreign 1,04 1,11¢ 1,104
Total current provisiol $ 2,99 $ 3,09( $ 2,97
Deferred (benefit) provisior
Federa $ (68) $ (179 $ 267
State (100 82 14
Foreign (80) (20) (272)
Total deferred (benefit) provisic $ (249 $ (119) $ 9
Total provision for income taxe $ 2,74¢ $ 2,97:¢ $ 2,981
Effective income tax rat 20.1% 21.4% 23.0%

The provision for income taxes differed from thecamt computed by applying the federal statutorg tatour income before provision for
income taxes as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Tax provision at statutory ra $ 47% $ 4860 $ 4,53
Foreign earnings at other than United States (1,790 (1,637 (1,479
State tax expense, net of federal ber 154 29¢ 171
Settlements and releases from judicial decisiodsssatute expirations, n (16¢) (149 (132
Domestic production activity deductis (1749 (15%) (17¢)
Other, ne (69) (25%) 57
Total provision for income taxe $ 2,74¢ $ 2,97 $ 2,981
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The components of our deferred tax liabilities andets were as follows:

May 31,
(in millions) 2014 2013
Deferred tax liabilities
Unrealized gain on stoc $ (130 $ (130
Acquired intangible asse (1,809 (2,795
Unremitted earning (510 (249
Total deferred tax liabilitie $ (2,449 $ (2,179
Deferred tax asset
Accruals and allowance $ 44C $ 481
Employee compensation and bene 1,06: 997
Differences in timing of revenue recogniti 21C 15¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 242 242
Tax credit and net operating loss carryforwe 2,81( 2,70t
Other 96 44
Total deferred tax asse $ 4,861 $ 4,62¢
Valuation allowanct $ (1,059 $ (999
Net deferred tax asse $ 1,364 $ 1,45¢
Recorded as
Current deferred tax asst $ 914 $ 974
Non-current deferred tax asst 837 76€
Current deferred tax liabilities (in other currdiabilities) (129) (117
Non-current deferred tax liabilities (in other r-current liabilities) (258 (173
Net deferred tax asse $ 1,36/ $ 1,45¢

We provide for United States income taxes on thdistributed earnings and the other outside basipdeary differences of foreign
subsidiaries unless they are considered indefiniihvested outside the United States. Duringhive quarter of fiscal 2012, we increased the
number of foreign subsidiaries in countries wittvéw statutory rates than the United States, theiregs of which we consider to be indefinit
reinvested outside the United States. If theseidialb®s generate sufficient earnings in the futore provision for income taxes may continue
to be favorably affected to a meaningful extenth@ligh any such favorable effects could be sigaifity reduced under a variety of
circumstances. At May 31, 2014, the amount of terapgodifferences related to undistributed earniagd other outside basis temporary
differences of investments in foreign subsidiatipsn which United States income taxes have not pemrided was approximately $32.4
billion and $6.9 billion, respectively. If thesedistributed earnings were repatriated to the UnBtdes, or if the other outside basis differel
were recognized in a taxable transaction, they @vgeherate foreign tax credits that would redueeféderal tax liability associated with the
foreign dividend or the otherwise taxable transactAt May 31, 2014, assuming a full utilizationtbé foreign tax credits, the potential net
deferred tax liability associated with these tenappdifferences of undistributed earnings and othaside basis temporary differences would
be approximately $10.0 billion and $2.2 billionspectively.

Our net deferred tax assets were $1.4 billion an8 Billion as of May 31, 2014 and 2013, respedyiv@/e believe it is more likely than not
that the net deferred tax assets will be realinatié foreseeable future. Realization of our nétrded tax assets is dependent upon our
generation of sufficient taxable income in futueas in appropriate tax jurisdictions to obtaindferirom the reversal of temporary
differences, net operating
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loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwardse @imount of net deferred tax assets considereidabhd is subject to adjustment in future
periods if estimates of future taxable income cleang

The valuation allowance was $1.1 billion and $998ion at May 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Sabgally all of the valuation allowances
as of May 31, 2014 and 2013 relate to tax asstbleshed in purchase accounting. Any subsequelnicten of that portion of the valuation
allowance and the recognition of the associatedbéaefits associated with our acquisitions willreeorded to our provision for income taxes
subsequent to our final determination of the vatuaallowance or the conclusion of the measurermperibd (as defined above), whichever
comes first.

At May 31, 2014, we had federal net operating tzsyforwards of approximately $1.0 billion. Thdssses expire in various years between
fiscal 2016 and fiscal 2033, and are subject t@ditions on their utilization. We had state netmapiag loss carryforwards of approximately
$2.8 billion at May 31, 2014, which expire betwdiscal 2015 and fiscal 2033, and are subject t@ditions on their utilization. We had total
foreign net operating loss carryforwards of appmadely $1.8 billion at May 31, 2014, which are |dbjto limitations on their utilization.
Approximately $1.7 billion of these foreign net oping losses are not currently subject to exmratiates. The remainder of the foreign net
operating losses, approximately $143 million, egjietween fiscal 2015 and fiscal 2034. We had teditcarryforwards of approximately
$1.1 billion at May 31, 2014, which are subjeclitaitations on their utilization. Approximately $8Imillion of these tax credit carryforwards
are not currently subject to expiration dates. fémainder of the tax credit carryforwards, appraatiefy $478 million, expire in various years
between fiscal 2015 and fiscal 2033.

We classify our unrecognized tax benefits as eitierent or non-current income taxes payable irtewmpanying consolidated balance
sheets. The aggregate changes in the balance gf@es unrecognized tax benefits, including actjoiss, were as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Gross unrecognized tax benefits as of Ju $ 3,601 $ 3,27¢ $ 3,16(
Increases related to tax positions from prior fisesrs 94 27¢ 99
Decreases related to tax positions from prior figears (11€) (12%) (169
Increases related to tax positions taken duringectifiscal yea 307 312 522
Settlements with tax authoritir 2 (72) (187)
Lapses of statutes of limitatic (53 (72) (84)
Other, ne 7 1 (65)
Total gross unrecognized tax benefits as of Ma $ 3,83 $ 3,60: $ 3,27t

As of May 31, 2014, $2.6 billion of unrecognizechbéits would affect our effective tax rate if reaimed. We recognized interest and penaltie:
related to uncertain tax positions in our provisionincome taxes line of our consolidated stateehoperations of $24 million, $31 million
and $46 million during fiscal 2014, 2013 and 20E3pectively. Interest and penalties accrued dayf31, 2014 and 2013 were $693 million
and $666 million, respectively.

Domestically, U.S. federal and state taxing authlesriare currently examining income tax return®wdcle and various acquired entities for
years through fiscal 2013. Many issues are at sarexkd stage in the examination process, the mgrsfisant of which include th

deductibility of certain royalty payments, trangfeicing, extraterritorial income exemptions, dotieproduction activity, foreign tax credits,
and research and development credits taken. Gibges are related to years with expiring statutésigation. With all of these domestic au
issues considered in the aggregate, we believastreasonably possible that, as of May 31, 20B4gtbss unrecognized tax benefits related t
these audits could decrease (whether by payméeases or a
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combination of both) in the next 12 months by asimas $460 million ($364 million net of offsettitax benefits). Our U.S. federal and, with
some exceptions, our state income tax returns bega examined for all years prior to fiscal 2008 e are no longer subject to audit for
those periods.

Internationally, tax authorities for numerous norslurisdictions are also examining returns affecbur unrecognized tax benefits. We
believe it was reasonably possible that, as of Blgy2014, the gross unrecognized tax benefits dodetrease (whether by payment, releas
a combination of both) by as much as $190 milli®b42 million net of offsetting tax benefits) in thext 12 months, related primarily to
transfer pricing. Other issues are related to y@itsexpiring statutes of limitation. With someoeptions, we are generally no longer subje
tax examinations in non-U.S. jurisdictions for yeprior to fiscal 1997.

We believe that we have adequately provided forraagonably foreseeable outcomes related to owudits and that any settlement will not
have a material adverse effect on our consoliditetcial position or results of operations. Howewkere can be no assurances as to the
possible outcomes.

We previously negotiated three successive unilefaaance Pricing Agreements with the IRS that gawany of our intercompany transfer

pricing issues and preclude the IRS from makinguasfer pricing adjustment within the scope of ¢hagreements. These agreements were
effective for fiscal years through May 31, 2006. Wave reached final agreement with the IRS forwehef this Advance Pricing Agreement
for the years ending May 31, 2007 through May 31,3 However, these agreements do not cover sulastalements of our transfer pricing
and do not bind tax authorities outside the UnB&ates. We have finalized bilateral Advance Pridhggeements, which are effective for the
years ending May 31, 2004 through May 31, 2006Mayg 31, 2007 through May 31, 201

16. SEGMENT INFORMATION

ASC 280,Segment Reportingestablishes standards for reporting informatiooud operating segments. Operating segments arededs
components of an enterprise about which separsedial information is available that is evaluategularly by the chief operating decision
maker, or decision making group, in deciding howaltocate resources and in assessing performancechef operating decision maker is our
Chief Executive Officer. We are organized geogrealy and by line of business. While our Chief BExtve Officer evaluates results in a
number of different ways, the line of business ngemaent structure is the primary basis for whichathecation of resources and financial
results are assessed.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014, we addegportable segment, cloud infrastructure-as-@icsgras a result of the reorganization of
financial information presented to our chief opergdecision maker for operational decision anduwese allocation purposes. As a result, we
reclassified certain revenues and expenses fpestds presented within this note to conform ®dhrrent presentation.

We have three businesses—software and cloud, heedsyatems and services—which are further dividéal ¢ertain operating segments. Our
software and cloud business is comprised of thpegating segments: (1) new software licenses anticdoftware subscriptions, which
includes our cloud SaaS and PaaS offerings, (2)dalafrastructure-as-a-service and (3) softwarense updates and product support. Our
hardware systems business is comprised of two tpgrsegments: (1) hardware systems products grithf@ware systems support. All other
operating segments are combined under our sericgRess.

The new software licenses and cloud software sigignrs line of business is engaged in the licepsihour database and middleware
software, as well as our application software, aryiding access to a broad range of our softwan@ugh Oracle Cloud SaaS and PaaS
offerings on a subscription basis via a cloud-bd$eshvironment that we manage, host and support.

The cloud infrastructure-as-a-service line of bassprovides deployment and management offeringsufosoftware and hardware and relatec
IT infrastructure including virtual machine instascthat are subscription-
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based and designed for computing and reliable aodrs object storage; Oracle Engineered Systendsvaae and related support that are
deployed in our customerdata centers for a monthly fee; and comprehensiftesare and hardware management and maintenandeesefor
customer IT infrastructure for a fee for a statmunt that is hosted at our data center facilitiekect partner data centers or physically on-
premise at customer facilities.

The software license updates and product supmertof business provides customers with rights ttwswe product upgrades and maintenanc
releases, patches released, internet access todaictontent, as well as internet and telephoesscto technical support personnel during the
support period.

The hardware systems products line of businesdstensimarily of servers, storage, networkingtuadization software, operating systems
including the Oracle Solaris Operating System aadagement software to support diverse IT environspémcluding cloud computing
environments. As a part of this line of business,offer our Oracle Engineered Systems, includingc@rExadata Database Machine, Oracle
Exalogic Elastic Cloud, Oracle Exalytics In-Memadwachine, Oracle SuperCluster, Oracle Database Appd, and Oracle Big Data
Appliance, which are the core building blocks fam€le’s data center and cloud computing produatssanvices.

Our hardware systems support line of business gesvtustomers with software updates for the sofflwamponents that are essential to the
functionality of our server and storage produaishsas Oracle Solaris and certain other softwardymts, and can include product repairs,
maintenance services and technical support services

Our services business is comprised of the remaiofdeur operating segments and offers consultidgaaced customer support services and
education services. Our consulting line of busin@srarily provides services to customers in buséinend IT strategy alignment, enterprise
architecture planning and design, initial produegpiementation and integration and ongoing prodobaacements and upgrades. Advanced
customer support provides support services, botbremise and remote, to our customers to enabieased performance and higher
availability of their products and services. Edigraservices provide training to customers, pag@erd employees as a part of our mission of
accelerating the adoption and use of our softwadeh@rdware products and to create opportunitiggde our product revenues.

We do not track our assets by operating segmentssegjuently, it is not practical to show assetefmrating segment.
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The following table presents summary results faheaf our three businesses and for the operatiggssts of our software and hardware
systems businesses:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013 2012
New software licenses and cloud software subsoript
Revenue® $ 10,54: $ 10,35 $ 9,91(
Cloud softwar-as-a-service and platfor-as-a-service expense 437 313 19¢
Sales and distribution expens 5,66¢€ 5,22 5,01¢
Margin @ $ 443¢ $ 481 $ 4,69:
Cloud infrastructur-as-a-service:
Revenue! $ 491 $ 491 $ 48¢
Cloud infrastructur-as-a-service expense 31C 30C 28¢
Sales and distribution expens 62 61 72
Margin @ $ 11¢ ¢ 13C $ 12¢
Software license updates and product sup
Revenue® $ 18,20¢ $ 17,15¢ $ 16,25¢
Software license updates and product support erg 1,111 1,12( 1,15¢
Margin @ $ 17,09¢ $ 16,03¢ $ 15,09¢
Total software and cloud busine
Revenue® $ 29,24; $27,99. $ 26,65
Expense! 7,58€ 7,021 6,73¢€
Margin @ $ 21,65¢ $ 20,97¢ $ 19,91f
Hardware systems produc
Revenue! $ 297¢ $ 3,03¢ §$ 3,82i
Hardware systems products exper 1,51¢ 1,49¢ 1,841
Sales and distribution expens 94( 88t 1,05(
Margin @ $ 52 $ 65 $ 93¢
Hardware systems suppc
Revenue® $ 2407 $ 2,327 $ 2,50t

Hardware systems support exper 80z 857 1,00¢

Margin @ $ 1608 $ 147C $ 1,49¢

Total hardware systems busine
Revenue® $ 538 $ 536( $ 6,33
Expense! 3,25¢ 3,24( 3,89i
Margin @ $ 2,128 $ 2,120 $ 2,43¢

Total services busines
Revenue® $ 3681 $ 389% $ 4,23¢
Services expenst 2,81¢ 3,04 3,24¢
Margin @ $ 866 $ 84S $ 99C
Totals:

Revenue® $ 38,30¢ $ 37,25 $ 37,22
Expense! 13,65¢ 13,30¢ 13,88!
Margin @ $ 24,64 $ 23,94¢ $ 23,34(

(1) New software licenses and cloud software subsoriptievenues for management reporting includechtsgrelated to cloud SaaS and PaaS contractwdinit have otherwise be
recorded by the acquired businesses as indepeanities but were not recognized
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the accompanying consolidated statements of opesatn the amounts of $17 million, $45 million &2 million for fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, respety. Software license upda
and product support revenues for management ragartcluded revenues related to software suppartracts that would have otherwise been recordetidpacquired businesses as
independent entities but were not recognized irattdmpanying consolidated statements of operaitiothe amounts of $3 million, $14 million and $4dlion for fiscal 2014, 2013

and 2012, respectively. In addition, we did nobggize hardware systems support revenues relateartivare systems support contracts that would btherwise been recorded by

the acquired businesses as independent entitthe mmounts of $11 million, $14 million and $30 it for fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectivE8lge Note 10 for an explanation of

these adjustments and the table below for a reliatian of our total operating segment revenuesuototal revenues. Our new software license, claa® and services revenues for
management reporting also differ from amounts rigloper our consolidated statements of operationthé periods presented due to certain insignificeclassifications between
these lines for management reporting purpc

(@ The margins reported reflect only the direct oolfable costs of each line of business and ddnbide allocations of product development, marigind partner programs, and
corporate, general and administrative and inforomatizchnology expenses. Additionally, the margiosdt reflect amortization of intangible assetsjuasition related and other
expenses, restructuring expenses, -based compensation, interest expense or certaén expenses, ne

The following table reconciles total operating segtirevenues to total revenues as well as totahtipg segment margin to income before
provision for income taxes:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Total revenues for operating segme $ 38,30¢ $ 37,25:! $ 37,22
Cloud softwar-as-a-service and platfor-as-a-service revenue® a7 (45) (22
Software license updates and product support reas®) 3 (14) (48)
Hardware systems support reven(®) (17) ()] (30
Total revenue: $ 38,27 $37,18C $ 37,12
Total margin for operating segme! $ 24,647 $ 23,94t $ 23,34(
Cloud softwar-as-a-service and platfor-as-a-service revenue® (17) (45) (22
Software license updates and product support reas®) 3 (149 (48)
Hardware systems support reven() (12) (14) (30
Product developmel (4,590 (4,327 (4,050
Marketing and partner program expen (5649) (597 (581)
Corporate, general and administrative and inforomatiechnology expens (1,389 (1,427 (1,496
Amortization of intangible asse (2,300 (2,38%) (2,430
Acquisition related and oth: (47) 604 (56)
Restructuring (189 (352 (295)
Stoclk-based compensatic (795) (722) (62€)
Interest expens (9149 (797) (76€)
Non-operating (expense) income, | (147) 11 22
Income before provision for income tay $ 13,70 $ 13,89t $ 12,96:

(@) New software licenses and cloud software subsoriptievenues for management reporting includechtsgrelated to cloud SaaS and PaaS contractwdinit have otherwise be
recorded by the acquired businesses as indepeanities but were not recognized in the accompangonsolidated statements of operations in the amsaf $17 million, $45 millio
and $22 million for fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012 pesgively. Software license updates and produgpesrpevenues for management reporting includedmaes related to software
support contracts that would have otherwise beeorded by the acquired businesses as independirgshut were not recognized in the accompangmgsolidated statements of
operations in the amounts of $3 million, $14 milliand $48 million for fiscal 2014, 2013 and 20¥&pectively. In addition, we did not recognize fark systems support revenues
related to hardware systems support contractswbald have otherwise been recorded by the acqbiusthesses as independent entities in the amotififslamillion, $14 million and
$30 million for fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012, respaty. See Note 10 for an explanation of these stdjents

130



Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2014
Geographic Information

Disclosed in the table below is geographic infoinrafor each country that comprised greater thaeetipercent of our total revenues for an
fiscal 2014, 2013 or 2012.

As of and for the Year Ended May 31

2014 2013 2012

Long Long Long

Lived Lived Lived
(in millions) Revenues Assets) Revenues Assets(®) Revenues Assets(1)
United State: $ 16,80¢ $ 2,99¢ ¢ 16,000 $ 2,921 $ 15767 $ 2,46¢
United Kingdom 2,30¢ 23€ 2,16t 203 2,302 171
Japar 1,55¢ 414 1,77(C 42¢ 1,86¢ 55C
Germany 1,48: 35 1,30¢ 44 1,48¢ 47
Canade 1,19( 31 1,232 34 1,234 37
France 1,14¢ 28 1,054 17 1,162 16
Australia 994 63 1,084 54 1,162 38
Other countrie: 12,78¢ 81¢€ 12,56¢ 814 12,14« 741
Total $ 38,27 $ 461¢ $ 37,18( $ 451t $ 37,12. $ 4,06¢

(@) Long-lived assets exclude goodwill, intangible assagsitg investments and deferred taxes, which arehotated to specific geographic locations as iiipracticable to do s

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividingnu@me for the period by the weighted average lmemof common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share mmated by dividing net income for the period by weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period, plus thdiddweffect of outstanding stock options, restidicstock-based awards and shares issuable
under the employee stock purchase plan using ¢asury stock method. The following table sets ftrthcomputation of basic and diluted
earnings per share:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data 2014 2013 2012
Net income $ 10,95! $ 10,92! $ 9,98:
Weighted average common shares outstan 4,52¢ 4,76¢ 5,01t
Dilutive effect of employee stock pla 76 75 80
Dilutive weighted average common shares outstar 4,60¢< 4,84« 5,09¢
Basic earnings per she $ 2.4z $ 2.2¢ $ 1.9¢
Diluted earnings per sha $ 2.3¢ $ 2.2 $ 1.9¢
Shares subject to anti-dilutive stock options agslricted stock-based awards excluded from

calculation® 76 20¢ 11C

(1) These weighted shares relate to anti-dilutivelstiptions and restricted stoblased awards as calculated using the treasury stettlod and could be dilutive in the future. Se¢eNat
for information regarding the exercise prices of outstanding, unexercised optio
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18. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
SAP Intellectual Property Litigation

On March 22, 2007, Oracle Corporation, Oracle UB&, and Oracle International Corporation (colleely, Oracle) filed a complaint in the
United States District Court for the Northern Ditiof California against SAP AG, its wholly-ownedbsidiary, SAP America, Inc., and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, TomorrowNow, Inc., (the B&Subsidiary, and collectively, the SAP Defendaali€ging that SAP unlawfully
accessed Oracle’s Customer Connection support teedosil improperly took and used Oracle’s intellacproperty.

Trial commenced on November 1, 2010 on the issulapfages, as SAP had stipulated to liability. T awarded Oracle $1.3 billion. On
September 1, 2011, the court granted the SAP Dafesdnotion for judgment as a matter of law and for @ tigal. The court vacated the $:
billion award and held that Oracle could eitheregat@ reduced amount or remittitur of $272 mill@rmproceed to a new trial. On February 6,
2012, Oracle rejected the remittitur and requeatedw trial.

On August 2, 2012, Oracle and the SAP Defendaipslated to a judgment of $306 million against 8%P Defendants, in lieu of having a
second jury trial, while preserving both partigghts to appeal prior court orders. We recorde8@63$million non-current receivable, included
in other assets, in our consolidated balance strektve recognized a corresponding benefit to ault®of operations for the first quarter of
fiscal 2013. Previously during trial we receivegmeent of $120 million in attorneys’ fees from SARder a stipulation, and we recorded this
payment upon receipt as a benefit to our resultpefations during the second quarter of fiscall2@n August 3, 2012, the court entered the
judgment and vacated the date set for the new @iacle filed a Notice of Appeal on August 31, 20and the SAP Defendants filed a no

of appeal on September 14, 2012. The SAP Defendabequently dismissed their appeal. Oracle’sa s been fully briefed. The
appellate court heard oral argument on May 13, 20hé court has not yet ruled on this appeal.

Hewlett-Packard Company Litigation

On June 15, 2011, Hewlett-Packard Company (“HR&gfa complaint in the California Superior Couru@ity of Santa Clara against Oracle
Corporation alleging numerous causes of actioruttioly breach of contract, breach of the covenagbofl faith and fair dealing, defamation,
intentional interference with prospective econoadvantage, and violation of the California UnfaursBess Practices Act. The complaint
alleged that when Oracle announced on March 228n8011 that it would no longer develop futuresiens of its software to run on HP’s
Itanium-based servers, it breached a settlemereawnt signed on September 20, 2010 between HRlarkdHurd (the “Hurd Settlement
Agreement”), who was both HP’s former chief exegaifficer and chairman of H®board of directors. HP sought a judicial declarabf the
parties’ rights and obligations under the Hurd ISetent Agreement, and other equitable and monegdisf.

Oracle answered the complaint and filed a crossptaimt, which was amended on December 2, 2011 ahtrended cross-complaint alleged
claims including violation of the Lanham Act. Oracllleged that HP had secretly agreed to pay totebntinue to develop and manufacture
Itanium microprocessor, and had misrepresentedgtomers that the Itanium microprocessor had atoagmap, among other claims. Oracle
sought equitable rescission of the Hurd Settlemgnéement, and other equitable and monetary relief.

The court bifurcated the trial and tried HP’s causkaction for declaratory relief and promissosyoppel without a jury in June 2012. The
court issued a final statement of decision on Atg8s2012, finding that the Hurd Settlement Agreatrequired Oracle to continue to
develop certain of its software products for uséiés Itanium-based servers and to port such ptsdatano cost to HP for as long as HP sells
those servers. Oracle has announced that it isatipgehis decision. The issues of breach, HP'$goerance, causation and damages, HP’s tol
claims, and Oracle’s cross-claims will all be trieefore a jury. As of April 8, 2013, the trial imged pending Oracle’s appeal of the court’s
denial of its anti-SLAPP motion, which is fully bfed, although
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oral argument has not yet been scheduled. We cann@ntly estimate a reasonably possible randessffor this action. We believe that we
have meritorious defenses against this actionyandill continue to vigorously defend it.

Derivative Litigations and Related Action

On September 30, 2011, a stockholder derivativeddvwas filed in the Delaware Court of Chancerg arsecond stockholder was permitte
intervene as a plaintiff on November 15, 2011. Ataugust 22, 2012, hearing, the court dismissethiteclaims but permitted certain claims
for breach of fiduciary duty to proceed. On May813, plaintiffs filed an amended complaint. Thedsive suit is brought by two alleged
stockholders of Oracle, purportedly on Oracle’sdiglagainst one former director and all but twaaf current directors, including against our
Chief Executive Officer as an alleged controllingckholder. Plaintiffs allege that Oracle’s dirastbreached their fiduciary duties in agreeing
to purchase Pillar Data Systems, Inc. at an exoegsice. Oracle’s acquisition of Pillar is strugd as an earn out, under which Oracle is
scheduled to make a single payment, if any, by Ndwer 30, 2014, to Pillar's former shareholders Basean agreed-upon Earn-Out formula.
Plaintiffs seek declaratory relief, rescissiontwd Pillar Data transaction, damages, disgorgenfesroChief Executive Officer’s alleged
profits, disgorgement of all compensation earneddfgndants as a result of their service on Ora@eard or any committee of the Board,
an award of attorneys’ fees and costs.

On June 13, 2014, plaintiffs and defendants fil&tipulation and Agreement of Compromise, Settldraed Release, under which our Chief
Executive Officer agreed to pay to Oracle 95% qgf and all amounts, if any, that are paid to himemttie Pillar earn out. Oracle will pay
plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and costs, which wittrexceed $15 million. The settlement is subje@gproval by the Delaware Chancery Court,
which has scheduled a fairness hearing for Augsp@14, at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Time.

While the outcome of the derivative litigation cabbe predicted with certainty, we do not belidvatthe outcome will result in losses that are
materially in excess of amounts already recognifedy.
Other Litigation

We are party to various other legal proceedingscaichs, either asserted or unasserted, which arige ordinary course of business,
including proceedings and claims that relate taiaitipns we have completed or to companies we lageired or are attempting to acquire.
While the outcome of these matters cannot be piediiwith certainty, we do not believe that the oute of any of these matters, individually
or in the aggregate, will result in losses thatraederially in excess of amounts already recogniexhy.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Translation
Additions Adjustments
Beginning Charged to
Operations or and Ending
(in millions) Balance Other Accounts Write -offs Other Balance
Allowances for Doubtful Trade Receivab
Year Ended
May 31, 2012 $ 37¢ $ 92 $ (107) $ (34 $ 32¢
May 31, 201% $ 32¢ $ 11€ $ (167) $ 22 $ 29€
May 31, 201< $ 29€ $ 122 $ (120 $ 8 $ 30€
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduty authorized.

ORACLE CORPORATION

Date: June 26, 2014 By: /s/ L AWRENCEJ. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellisol
Chief Executive Officer and Directt

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed &ydhowing persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the ddiedted.

Name Title Date
/'s/ L AWRENCEJ. ELLISON Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal June 26, 2014
Lawrence J. Elliso Executive Officer)
/sl SaAFrRAA. CATZ President, Chief Financial Officer and Director June 26, 2014
Safra A. Cat: (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ WiLLiam C oREYW EST Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller ance€hi June 26, 2014
William Corey Wes Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ JeFFrReYO. HENLEY Chairman of the Board of Directors June 26, 2014
Jeffrey O. Henle
/s!/  JEFFREYS. BERG Director June 26, 2014
Jeffrey S. Ber
/s/ H.RAYMOND B INGHAM Director June 26, 2014
H. Raymond Binghar
/'s/ MICHAEL J. BOSKIN Director June 26, 2014
Michael J. Boskir
/s/ BRUCER. CHIZEN Director June 26, 2014
Bruce R. Chizel
/s/ GEORGEH. C ONRADES Director June 26, 2014
George H. Conrade
/s/ HECTORG ARCIA -M OLINA Director June 26, 2014
Hector Garci-Molina
/s/ MARKV. HURD President and Director June 26, 2014
Mark V. Hurd
/s/ Naowmi O. SELIGMAN Director June 26, 2014

Naomi O. Seligmal
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ORACLE CORPORATION
INDEX OF EXHIBITS

The following exhibits are filed herewith or areamporated by reference to exhibits previouslydfikeith the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Exhibit
No.

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form

File No. Exhibit Filing Date Filed By

Filed
Herewith

3.01

3.02

4.01

4.02

4.03

4.04
4.05

4.06

4.07

Amended and Restated Certificate of 8-K
Incorporation of Oracle Corporation and 12G3
Certificate of Amendment of Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Oracle
Corporation

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Oracle 8-K
Corporation

Specimen Certificate of Registrant's Common S-3
Stock ASR

Indenture dated January 13, 2006, among 8-K
Ozark Holding Inc., Oracle Corporation and
Citibank, N.A.

Form of Old 2016 Note, together with the 8-K
Officers’ Certificate issued January 13, 2006
pursuant to the Indenture dated January 13,
2006, among Oracle Corporation (formerly
known as Ozark Holding Inc.) and Citibank,

N.A.

Form of New 5.25% Note due 20 S-4/A

First Supplemental Indenture dated May 9, S-3
2007 among Oracle Corporation, Citibank, = ASR
N.A. and The Bank of New York Tru

Company, N.A

Forms of 4.95% Note due 2013, 5.75% Note 8-K
due 2018 and 6.50% Note due 2038, together
with Officers’ Certificate issued April 9, 2008
setting forth the terms of the Not

Forms of 3.75% Note due 2014, 5.00% Note 8-K
due 2019 and 6.125% Note due 2039, together
with Officers’ Certificate issued July 8, 2009
setting forth the terms of the Not

000-51788 3.1 2/6/06 Oracle Corporation

000-51788  3.02 7/14/06 Oracle Corporation
333-166643 4.04 5/7/10 Oracle Corporation

000-14376 10.34  1/20/06 Oracle Systems Corporati

000-14376 10.35 1/20/06 Oracle Systems Corporati

333-132250 4.4 4/14/06 Oracle Corporatiol
333-142796 4.3 5/10/07 Oracle Corporation

000-51788  4.09 4/8/08 Oracle Corporation

000-51788  4.08 7/8/09 Oracle Corporation
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Exhibit
No.

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed By

Filed
Herewith

4.08

4.09
4.10

411

412

10.01*

10.02*

10.03*

10.04*

10.05*

Forms of Original 2020 Note and Original
2040 Note, together with Officers’ Certificate
issued July 19, 2010 setting forth the terms of
the Notes

Forms of New 2020 Note and New 2040 N S4

Forms of 1.20% Note due 2017 and 2.50%  8-K
Note due 2022, together with Offic’

Certificate issued October 25, 2012 setting

forth the terms of the Note

Forms of 2.25% Note due 2021 and 3.125% 8-K
Note due 2025, together with Offic’

Certificate issued July 10, 2013 setting forth

the terms of the Note

Forms of Floating Rate Note due 2019, 2.3° 8-K
Note due 2019 and 3.625% Note due 2(

together with Officers’ Certificate issued

July 16, 2013 setting forth the terms of the

Notes

10Q

Oracle Corporation 1993 Deferred 10Q
Compensation Plan, as amended and restated
as of January 1, 20(

Oracle Corporation Employee Stock Purchasel0K
Plan (1992), as amended and restated as of
October 1, 200!

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 10-Q
1993 Directors’ Stock Plan, as amended and
restated on September 4, 2(

Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term
Equity Incentive Plan, as approved on
October 31, 201

Form of Stock Option Agreements under the 10-Q
Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term

Equity Incentive Plan for U.S. Executive Vice
Presidents and Section 16 Offic

10-Q

000-51788

33%-176405
000-51788

001-35992

001-35992

000-51788

000-51788

001-35992

001-35992

000-51788
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4.08

4.5
4.10

411

4.12

10.01

10.02

10.03

10.30

10.05

9/20/10

8/19/11
10/25/12

7/10/13

7/16/13

3/23/09

7/1/10

12/20/13

12/20/13

12/23/11

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporatiol

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation

Oracle Corporation



Table of Contents

Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
No. Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Filed By Herewith
10.06* Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 10-Q 000-51788 10.06  12/23/11 Oracle Corporation
Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated
1993 Director’ Stock Plar
10.07* Form of Indemnity Agreement for Directors  10-Q 000-51788 10.07 12/23/11 Oracle Corporation
and Executive Officer
10.08 Form of Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement 8-K 000-51788 10.2 2/9/06 Oracle Corporation
relating to the $3,000,000,000 Commercial
Paper Prograr
10.09 Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement 8-K 000-51788  10.09 4/26/13 Oracle Corporation
between Oracle Corporation and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, National Association dated as of
April 23, 2013
10.10* Offer letter dated February 2, 2010 to John  10-Q 000-51788 10.26 3/29/10 Oracle Corporation
Fowler and employment agreement dated
February 2, 201
10.11* Offer letter dated September 2, 2010 to Mark 8-K 000-51788 10.28 9/8/10 Oracle Corporation
V. Hurd and employment agreement dated
September 3, 201
10.12* Oracle Corporation Executive Bonus P 8-K 00C-51788 10.29 10/13/10 Oracle Corporatiol
10.13* Sun Microsystems, Inc. 2007 Omnibus 10Q 000-15086 10.1 2/6/08 Sun Microsystems, Inc.
Incentive Plar
10.14 $3,000,000,000 5-Year Revolving Credit 8-K 000-51788 10.14 4/26/13 Oracle Corporation
Agreement dated as of April 22, 2013 among
Oracle Corporation and the lenders and agents
named thereil
12.01 Consolidated Ratio of Earnings to Fixed X
Charges
21.01 Subsidiaries of the Registre X
23.01 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent X
Registered Public Accounting Fir
31.01 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of X

Principal Executive Office
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
No. Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Filed By Herewith

31.02 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of X
Principal Financial Office

32.01 Section 1350 Certification of Principal X
Executive Officer and Principal Financial
Officer

101 Interactive Data Files Pursuant to Rule 405 of X

Regulation S-T: (i) Consolidated Balance
Sheets as of May 31, 2014 and 2013,

(ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations for
the years ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
(iii) Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income for the years ended
May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

(iv) Consolidated Statements of Equity for the
years ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2!

(v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for
the years ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
(vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements and (vii) Financial Statement
Schedule |

* Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangemer
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

Exhibit 12.01

(Unaudited)
Year Ended May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Earnings @
Income before provision for income tay $13,70¢ $13,89¢ $12,96: $11,41 $8,24:
Add: Noncontrolling interest 98 112 11¢ 97 95
Add: Fixed charge 96¢ 85( 827 87E 80¢
Total earning: $14,77C  $14,86( $13,90¢ $12,38! $9,14¢
Fixed Charges(®
Interest expens $ 914 $ 797 $ 766 $ 80E $ 754
Estimate of interest in rent exper 54 53 61 67 54
Total fixed charge $ 96 $ 85C $ 827 $ 87E $ 80¢
Ratio of earnings to fixed charg 15x 17x 17x 14x 11x

(@) The term “earnings” means the amounts resulting filee following: (a) our income before provisiom focome taxes, plus (b) the
noncontrolling interests in the net income of owjonity owned subsidiaries, plus (c) our fixed des.

(@ The term “fixed charges” means the amounts reguftiom the following: (a) our interest expensedisa(b) our estimate of the interest
component of rent expens

We do not report any shares of preferred stock@audiéng in our consolidated financial statementsabese our outstanding preferred stock is
owned by one or more of our wholly-owned subsiéisriOur ratio of earnings to combined fixed chaayes preferred dividends for any given
period is equivalent to our ratio of earnings t@fl charges.



Name of Subsidia

Oracle International Corporatic
Oracle Global Holdings, In
Oracle America, Inc

Oracle Technology Compai
OCAPAC Holding Compan
OCAPAC Research Partn
OCAPAC Research Compal
OCAPAC Distributor Partne
OCAPAC Hardware Partni

ORACLE CORPORATION
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Place of Incorporatic
California

Delaware
Delaware
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland

Ireland

Exhibit 21.01



Exhibit 23.01

CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP,
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

Form &-8
Form &-8
Form S-8

Form ¢-8
Form &-3
Form S-8

Form S-8

Form ¢-8
Form S-8

Form S-8

Form S-8

Form ¢4

Form S-8

Form S-8

Form &-3
Form S-8

33E-195502
33E-194705
333-193006

33:-187924
335187919
333-186971

333-184062

33:-181023
333-179586

333-179132

333-176986

33E-176405

333-171939

333-169089

335-166643
333-164734

Blue Kai, Inc. 2007 Stock Plan, TrackSimple, InB08 Equity Incentive Pla
Responsys, Inc. 1999 Stock Plan, as amended, Respadnc. 2011 Equity Incentive Pl

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 2000 LargrTEquity Incentive Plan, Bitzer Mobile Inc. 20&tock
Incentive Plan, as amend

Acme Packet, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive P

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 1993 Dirgcdtock Plan, Eloqua Limited 2006 Stock OptidarP
Eloqua, Inc. 2012 Stock Option and Incentive F

Vitrue, Inc. 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plasamended, Vitrue, Inc. 2011 Stock Option andritice Plan,
Xsigo Systems, Inc. 2004 Stock P

Taleo Corporation 2004 Stock Plan, Taleo Corponai@09 Equity Incentive Ple

RightNow Technologies, Inc. 2004 Equity Incentitar®? as amended and restated, RightNow Technoldgies
Amended and Restated 1998 L-Term Incentive and Stock Option PI

Endeca Technologies, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Ffadleca Technologies, Inc. Amended and Restat@d 19
Stock Incentive Plan, GoAhead Software, Inc. 20felSPlan

FatWire Corporation 2007 Stock Option Plan, as atedn FatWire Corporation Second Amended 1999 Stock
Option Plan, as amended, InQuira, Inc. AmendedRestated 2002 Stock Plan, InQuira, Inc. Amended and
Restated 2002 Stock Plan for Officers and Direc

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 2000 Loegr Equity Incentive Plan Art Technology Group,.Inc
Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Option Plan, Ashii@ogy Group, Inc./Primus Knowledge Solutions, In
1999 Stock Incentive Compensation P

Phase Forward Incorporated Amended and Restatetl20@k Option and Incentive Plan, Convergin, lacaeli
2001 Stock Option Plan, as ament

Sun Microsystems, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Incentive Plam Microsystems, Inc. 1990 Long-Term Equity Iridan
Plan, Sun Microsystems, Inc. Equity Compensatioguigtion Plan, Sun Microsystems, Inc. 1988 Direg'to
Stock Option Plan, Su



Form &-8
Form &-8
Form &-8
Form S-8

Form ¢-8
Form S-8

Form S-8

Form S-8

Form S-8

335-163147
33E-157758
33E-153660
333-151045

335147400
333-145162

333-142776

333-142225

333-139901

Microsystems, Inc. 1997 French Stock Option Plafiay@Websystems, Inc. 2000 Equity Incentive Plaohdalt
Networks, Inc. Amended and Restated 1997 Employeek$lan, Forte Software, Inc. 1996 Stock OptitanF
Forte Software, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan, Gridwanc. 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, HighGroundt8yss, Inc
Stock Option Plan, InnoSoft International, Inc. 2&ock Incentive Plan, InnoSoft International,. Ih899 Equity
Incentive Plan, Isopia Inc. Stock Option Plan, Kaedhc. Amended and Restated 2001 Stock Plane &tgrage
Configurations, Incorporated 1992 Stock Option PMRSQL AB Global Share Option Plan 2005, Neogémt,
2001 Stock Incentive Plan, Pirus Networks, Inc.®28@ock Option Plan, SeeBeyond Technology Corpamati
1998 Stock Plan, SevenSpace, Inc. Amended andtRe&800 Stock Incentive Plan, Star Division Cogpion
1998 Stock Plan, Amended and Restated Storage dlegynCorporation 1995 Equity Participation Platgrage
Technology Corporation 2004 Long Term IncentivenPIBarantella, Inc. 2002 Incentive Stock OptionnPla
Tarantella, Inc. 2003 Stock Option Plan, Wavesehhelogies, Inc. Amended and Restated 2000 Stauk Pl
Silver Creek Systems, Inc. 2003 Equity Incentivani

GoldenGate Software, Inc. 2002 Equity IncentivenPés amende
Primavera Software, Inc. Amended and Restated 388k Option Pla
AdminServer, Inc. 2003 Stock Option P!

BEA Systems, Inc. 1995 Flexible Stock IncentivenPBBEA Systems, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan, BEA
Systems, Inc. 2000 NoQualified Stock Incentive Plan, BEA Systems, IN@0@ Stock Incentive Plan, The Thei
Center Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Option/3¢sclance Plan, Plumtree Software, Inc. 1997 Equity
Incentive Plan, Plumtree Software, Inc. 2002 Stk

Bridgestream 1999 Stock Plan, Logical Apps, In@28&quity Incentive Pla

Agile Software Corporation 1995 Stock Option Plagile Software Corporation 2000 Nonstatutory St@ition
Plan, The Digital Market, Inc. 1995 Stock P

Hyperion Solutions Corporation 2004 Equity Inceat®Rian, Hyperion Solutions Corporation 1999 Stopkidh
Plan, Hyperion Solutions Corporation 1995 Stocki@p&tock Issuance Plan, Hyperion Solutions Corjpama
1992 Stock Option Plan, Hyperion Software Corporafi991 Stock Plan, Hyperion Software Corporati®fll
Stock Plan, Decisioneering, Inc. 1997 Stock Opktan, SQRIBE 1995 Stock Option Plan, Hyperion Safav
Corporation 1991 Non-Employee Director Stock Opfdan, Brio Software, Inc. 2000 Non-Executive Dicgc
Stock Option Plan, Brio Software, Inc. 1998 Stoqiion Plan, Brio Software, Inc. 1998 Directors’ &dDption
Plan, Brio Software, Inc. 1998 Non-Executive St@ion Plan, Arbor Software Corporation 1995 Stock
Option/Stock Issuance Pl

Hyperion Solutions Corporation 2004 Equity Inceat®Rian, Hyperion Solutions Corporation 1995 Stock
Option/Stock Issuance Plan and the Arbor Softwarp@ration 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance |

Stellent, Inc. 1994-1997 Stock Option and Compémsdlan, InfoAccess, Inc. 1990 Stock Option Plan a
amended September 29, 1999, InfoAccess, Inc. 189k ®ption Plan as amended September 29, 1998:18te
Inc. 1999 Employee Stock Option and Compensatian,Ptellent, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, StdllInc.
Amended and Restated 2000 Employee Stock InceRtaug Stellent, Inc. Amended and Restated 1997ciuire
Stock Option Plan, Optika Imaging Systems, Inc.4l



Form &8 333139875
Form &8 33138694
Form S-8 333-136275

Form S-8 333-131988

Form S-8 333-131427

Stock Option /Stock Issuance Plan, Amendment tek@ptnaging Systems, Inc. 1994 Stock Option/Stock
Issuance Plan, Optika Inc. 2000 Non-Officer Staatehtive Plan, Optika Inc. 2003 Equity Incentivar®|
Amendment to Optika Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive Rl&tellent, Inc. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, Fredeimex to
the Stellent, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive P

MetaSolv, Inc. 1992 Stock Option Plan, MetaSole, lnon¢-Term Incentive Pla
SPL WorldGroup Holdings, LLC 2005 Option Plan, SRbrldGroup Holdings, LLC 2004 Equity Incentive P!

Portal Software, Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plant&&oftware, Inc. 2000 Supplemental Stock Op#dam, Porta
Software, Inc. 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Rda amended and succeeded by the 1999 StocKilrecen
Plan)

Siebel Systems, Inc. 1996 Equity Incentive Plaab&li Systems, Inc. 1996 Supplemental Stock Op8ahel
Systems, Inc. 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, IntengetiVorkPlace, Inc. 1996 Stock Option Plan, Janrse®ys Inc
Amended and Restated Share Compensation Plan,eQuftware, Inc. 1997 Employee Stock Option and
Compensation Plan, OnLink Technologies, Inc. 19Q8I50ption Plan, OnTarget, Inc. 1999 Stock AwalahP
OpenSite Technologies, Inc. 1998 Stock Option PEates.Com, Inc. 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, OiGmante:
Outside of Sales.com, Inc. 1999 Equity IncentivenPBalesRepsOnline.com, Inc. 2000 Stock OptionkSto
Issuance Plan, Scopus Technology, Inc. 1991 Statio®Plan, Scopus Technology, Inc. 1995 Directpti@h
Plan

Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 2000 LargriEEquity Incentive Plan, Oracle Corporation Amahd
and Restated 1993 Directors’ Stock Plan, Oracl@@mation 1991 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amen@edcle
Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Plan (1992)nanded and restated, ProfitLogic, Inc. Secondrted
and Restated 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as ameReeplesoft, Inc. Amended and Restated 1989 Stiack P
Peoplesoft, Inc. 2001 Stock Plan, Peoplesoft,2000 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan, Peoplesoit, 11992
Directors’Stock Option Plan, Peoplesoft, Inc. 2003 Directticeck Plan, Intrepid Systems, Inc. 1992 Stock Ox.
Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company 1992 Incentive Stopkdd Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company 1992 Nonqualifie
Stock Option Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company 1997 fyduicentive Plan, J.D. Edwards & Company 2003 Bqui
Incentive Plan, Red Pepper Software Company 198&Sdption Plan, Skillsvillage 1999 Stock Plan, msaape
Corporation 1998 Stock Plan, Trimark Technologiss, 1993 Stock Option Plan, The Vantive Corpormatio
Amended and Restated 1991 Stock Option Plan, TimiwéaCorporation 1997 Nonstatutory Stock OptioarR|
Oracle Corporation 1993 Deferred Compensation Rdaacle Corporation 401(k) Savings and Investméam

of our reports dated June 26, 2014, with respetttd@onsolidated financial statements and schexfulizacle Corporation and the
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting of Oracle Corporation included in this Amh&eport (Form 10-K) of Oracle
Corporation for the year ended May 31, 2014.

San Jose, California
June 26, 2014

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLF



Exhibit 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Lawrence J. Ellison, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nlaadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtg,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over foialhreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiikineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRoe and Audit Committee of the registraribard of directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions)

a) all significant deficiencies and material weads®s in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: June 26, 2014 By: /s/ L AwRENCEJ. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellison
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Safra A. Catz, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nlaadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtg,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over foialhreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiikineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRoe and Audit Committee of the registraribard of directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions)

a) all significant deficiencies and material weads®s in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: June 26, 2014 By: /s/ SAFRAA.CATz

Safra A. Catz
President, Chief Financial Officer and Director
(Principal Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitte connection with the report on Form 10-K of @eaCorporation for the purpose of

complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b}leé Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Sectio® 3% hapter 63 of Title 18 of the
United States Code.

Lawrence J. Ellison, the Chief Executive Officei@acle Corporation, and Safra A. Catz, the Chie&Rcial Officer of Oracle Corporation,
each certifies that, to the best of his or her Kedge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc
2. the information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of Oracle

Corporation.
Date: June 26, 2014 By: /s/ L AwRENCEJ. ELLISON
Lawrence J. Ellison
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer
Date: June 26, 2014 By: /s/ SAFRAA.CATz

Safra A. Catz
President, Chief Financial Officer and Director
(Principal Financial Officer



